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PROCEEDINGS HELD ON 15 MARCH 2019 

CHAIRPERSON:  Good morning Mr Mokoena, good morning everybody.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Good morning Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Good morning Mr Jonas. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Good morning Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  Just before you say anything Mr Mokoena we have 

started a little late - later than we should have.  In the main I think that is because of me 

I arrived at about twenty-five past which left five minutes for counsel to see me so that 

had I arrived a little earlier, much earlier we would have been able to start on time.  So I 

apologise for that.  Yes Mr Mokoena. 10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Thank you Chair.  Chair today we will be proceeding 

with the testimony of Mr Jonas as a reminder to ourselves Mr Jonas will be completing 

his evidence focussing mainly on the terms of reference 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3.  And 

subsequent to that he will then be cross-examined by the legal teams of Mr Duduzane 

Zuma as well as Mr Fana Hlongwane who were granted leave to cross-examine Mr 

Jonas.  You will also recall Mr Chair that Mr Jonas testified on the 24 August 2018 at 

that time he was not afforded an opportunity to react to the versions of the implicated 

parties which only came after his testimony.  And it is for that reason that he is here 

today to complete that evidence and to also proffer his own version in relation to what 

the implicated parties are saying in their Rule at 3.4 applica tions.  Mr Chair the legal 20 

teams of both Mr Jonas and Mr Duduzane Zuma are currently – are present maybe I 

should afford them an opportunity to place themselves on record?  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes thank you. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:   May it please you Chair my name is Wim Trengrove I 

appear for the witness instructed by attorneys Nortons. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you Mr Trengrove. 

ADV PIET LOUW:   Mr Chair I am Piet Louw and I appear with Mr Joubert to my left on 

instructions from Messrs Krause and Van der Merwe to his left . 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:   Mr Chair we are ready to proceed may the witness be 

sworn in? 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes please do that Registrar? 

REGISTRAR:  Please state your full names for the record? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Mcedbisi Jonas. 

REGISTRAR:  Do you have any objections to taking the prescribed oath?  10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 

REGISTRAR:  Do you consider the oath to be binding on your conscience?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

REGISTRAR:  Do you swear that the evidence you give will be the truth; the whole 

truth and nothing but the truth if so please raise right hand and say, so help me God.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Help me God. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you.  You may proceed Mr Mokoena. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Mr Jonas the last time when we parted ways there were 

some assignments which were given to you to undertake and let me remind you the 

first one, the first assignment that you were supposed to do was to read the transcript 20 

of the Public Protector containing your interview with the Public Pro tector.  The second 

assignment which you were supposed to do was to read the version of - different 

versions of the implicated parties in order to afford you an opportunity to react to those 

versions and the third assignment arises from the questions which  were posed by the 

Chair when you testified you informed the Chair that there was general hostility towards 
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the Minister of Finance and the Department of Finance or the Treasury and the Chair 

requested you to ponder around that evidence and for you to give much more details.  

And lastly I will canvass with you a specific issue that arises from your interview with 

the Public Protector before being handed over for cross-examination.  Do you recall 

that those were the four main assignments which you were requi red to undertake? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Now let us deal with the first assignment.  Did you 

have an opportunity to peruse the transcript of your interview with the Public Protector?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did Chair. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Does it fairly record the substance of your interview 10 

with her? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Generally consistent with the conversation.  I must also add 

that it was a free flowing conversation guided by the questions raised.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Are there any serious inaccuracies which you may 

wish to highlight to the Chair arising from that transcript?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No major inconsistencies probably there are a few grammatical 

and spelling errors like Luanda is spelt wrongly.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  But generally I think the content remains. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  But you are happy with the substance and the content 20 

at least? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Generally the substance reflects the conversation.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Now let us deal with the second issue which you 

were required to undertake.  On the 24 August 2018 you testified before the 

commission.  You told the Chair that there was that general hostility towards the 
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Minister of Finance and the Department itself by some of the executive members.  You 

were requested to reflect on that evidence Mr Jonas and to provide more details on that 

topic.  Are you ready to do so? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am ready to do that. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Could you please proceed Mr Jonas? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The – essentially I will probably focus on a few points just to 

underline and underscore the importance of and the effect of that hostility.  Firstly I think 

we must understand the hostility as arising in the very nature of Treasury and the 

Minister of Finance.   

CHAIRPERSON:  Maybe before you proceed it would help to indicate up front whether 10 

what you said was hostility towards the Minister of Finance or hostility towards the 

Ministry of Finance or hostility towards National Treasury I seem to have understood it 

was National Treasury. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  But I am just mentioning this so that you appreciate the importance 

of making it clear as to who the hostility was directed at.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was directed primarily at Treasury but also at the Ministry of 

Finance.  So probably I – probably navigate in and out to…  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes no that is fine. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  So I think the first is to understand that the hostility is probab ly 20 

inherently imbedded in the very constitutional and legal rule that Treasury has to play.  

Now you have many government departments.  Treasury is probably the only 

department where it is I mean constitutionally determined what its role should be.  Now 

part of that role entails managing budgets and managing fiscal – [indistinct] managing 

generally fiscal allocation and expenditure.  It also managing revenue generally but it 
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also relates to managing macroeconomic policy.  And these are all probably sensitiv e 

issues and I will try to show that later.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Now inherent in that responsibility is always an ever existing 

possibility of people raising concerns about what Treasury does or the implications of 

Treasury on their work.  I will give a few examples to just to  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  To illustrate it. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  To illustrate the point. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The first would be there was a time when provinces 10 

expenditures – expenditure of provinces went through the roof.  They were 

overspending hugely.  Free State at some point the Department of Health was runaway 

train and Eastern Cape and different other provinces were facing the same problems.  

Essentially the role of Treasury was actually to step in and try to manage that and block 

that and redirect expenditure and refocus those provinces but also build capacity in 

some instances.  Now if you look at the political landscape in the country and I always 

say that we are in a state where there is no national leadership.  You have provincial 

leadership playing national rule essentially.  Because what you find in ministers  and 

probably everybody that they see they tend to be in the national executives and 

national government because they have been supported by provinces.  So over the last 20 

ten years this – the importance of provinces has been – has grown so tremendously.  

That actually naturally opens up Treasury to hostility at a political level from both in the 

political organisation but also generally from all sorts of angles and provinces etcetera.  

I will use another second example just to demonstrate this and I am – there was I mean 

at Treasury manages amongst other things borrowing, government borrowing.  Now the 
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formula for government borrowing is such that you must not break the fiscal ceiling 

basically you cannot borrow to a point where you cannot pay.  And in fact South Africa 

as we stand has a crisis of debt already.  So you had examples I will take the 

Department of Water and for that matter all most ministers in the Department of Water 

had this novel idea of having a dam in the Eastern Cape they call Umzimvubu dam in 

the Eastern Cape and all of them think which probably different times it ranges between 

20 billion and 30 billion.  Now obviously I mean at different points you – as Treasury 

you have to step in and say how do you finance that?  And sometimes more 

enthusiastic ministers will say no, no, no, we will talk to China.    They will give the 30 

billion and we will sort out… 10 

CHAIRPERSON:  They will talk to who? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  They have spoken to China. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The government of China they will give us the 30 billion and we 

will sort it.  And effectively you have to tell you have – as Treasury you have to say to 

them by the way there is a process of borrowing it entails the following steps.  So in the 

– because of that misunderstanding generally about the role of Treasury generally 

people respond with hostility to Treasury.  That is the firs t point.  I could give a number 

of other examples just I am trying to be brieg 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  But that is the first point.  The second point I think I would raise 

around the hostility is can I call it for lack of a better word the political and ideological 

context which is probably …  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Can you explain what you mean by that? 

 MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am about to get into that.   
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I think there – if you look at the – our notions of 

transformation, our notions of the state, our notion of service delivery as in the –

politically and in South Africa at the moment they all lend to an expansive fiscal 

framework basically.  So in other words most of the things that we say we want to do 

either whether it is transformation, whether it is service delivery, everything else it does 

in a sense the trust of it is an expansive fiscal framework.  Now this is easy I mean if 

your economy is growing and therefore you have in a  sense revenue because you can 

easily fund your expansive growth.  The problem is that since 2012 our economy has 

not been growing and in fact if you look at our figures we have been spending 10 

continuing the trend of spending in that space.  So located in Treasury you are 

essentially seen as the one who holds back this whole process.  And I want to give an 

example again on this point just to illustrate it.  There was a huge debate I understand 

that some people erred the thing.  There was a huge debate that s ays take away the 

budget office from Treasury to the Presidency.  Now the more – if you look at a more 

naïve explanation was because expenditure is not aliant to the national development 

plan.  That was the – if you look at the simplistic explanation.  But  at the core of that 

injunction was an understanding that – an understanding that you need to place it at a 

point where regulation is not taken seriously.  So the regulational  - so ultimately the law 

says the financial regulatory. 20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Responsibility ultimately sits with the Minister of 

Finance.  So I mean the idea was that – so we had a whole process by the way that 

runs from the cabinet right into the ANC structures where people were saying you need 

to restructure and the restructuring must actually take the budget office into the 
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Presidency. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  What time period are you talking about there more or 

less, the years? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Oh,  It is actually – it happened over an extended period I mean 

before I got fired or I probably – that was the time when they had the document to 

outline this. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  How that was to happened. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Alright. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And it led by the way it led to a lot of senior officials in Treasury 10 

leaving Treasury because they thought it is absurd you have to – the constitution says 

you manage expenditure and revenue on the other hand you have a policy that says 

you are taking away budgeting from you.  Which is a constitutionally assigned 

responsibility as it were. 

CHAIRPERSON:  It might – I am sorry – it might be difficult to answer this but maybe 

you can if you are able to.  Did this idea emanate from within the governing party or did 

it emanate from within different structures of government? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It emanated from government.   

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  But then it went into party structures and people started talking 20 

about that and had the regulation. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Now the – this was very useful on it by the way because if you 

manage budget this thing of state capture becomes very easy.  I mean it becomes easy 

to discharge and dispense with resources.  But the third point and I am raising this poi nt 
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very cautiously Chair in all respects because I think I am – I have been grappling with 

raising it because in part I am actually asking myself it is within the ambit of the 

commission but I think it is fundamentally important in understanding state capture and 

corruption in our system.  And this is the – what again for lack of a better word it the 

overall developmental framework of South Africa.  Can I put it differently some people 

would use the term the growth strategy.  Some people will say the accumu lation 

strategy whatever term you use.  I want to simplify it and the way I understand it.  It is 

essentially and again it is embedded in the deal we made in 1994.  If you look at the 

deal and cut out the frills of who are the best constitution and everyth ing else that – and 

cut them out it is essentially entails the following. One it is a deal that says ensure that 10 

the established elite remains protected.  You do not disrupt it.  And I mean you 

understand why because it is crucial for continuing with growth and everything else. So 

you have instruments like protection of property rights and all of other things that you 

use to do that.  The second element of it is also about – is also about ensuring that you 

strengthen the new elite.  Again you kind of use al l sorts of instruments to build and 

strengthen and grow the new elite so that is why you have BEE policies, you issue 

licences, mining licences and you do all other sorts – procurement, public procurement 

to actually booster that as it were.  The third element is ensure that the working class 

the under-class and the poor are serviced through re-distribution.  Now that is the 

model that we have if you think about it.  Now looked at it differently it is a patronage 20 

model because you actually dispensing patronage across these three layers effectively.  

But that model depends effectively on three things to work.  One it depends on a strong 

state and an efficient state.  It is a state that is able to manage resources very well and 

dispense them more efficiently.  But secondly it also depends on growth because and 

without growth then you would not be able to do that things.  The third one is revenue, 
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consistent revenue that you have.  Now what you see now I think is a = in many – so in 

many ways what has come to happen over particularly over the last ten years has been 

that model unravelling. It unravels because your state is weak and sometimes it is 

consciously weakened I mean if you think about the Eskom’s and the SOE’s and what 

has been happening in SOE’s but growth has not happened.  And therefore you do not 

have the revenue to service this. Now the manner in which it unravels it actually means 

you have tensions across all those three layers that you normally service and support.  

I mean you start having – at the bottom people started talking – start talk about we 

need more houses, we need more this and you have like the new elite also rumbling 

that transformation is not happening at the pace that it is supposed to happen.  10 

Procurement is still astute to white companies etcetera, etcetera, etcetera.  And that is 

the crisis.  Now if you – and for me that is the basis the structural basis of corruption 

and state capture in the current context.  It is the unravelling of this model that we have 

so to speak.  So your – you take a case in point then you have then somebody at 

Eskom saying we need to procure to companies that are 51% black and coal from 

companies that are 51% black.  I mean the fact that of course they end up being 

Gupta’s that is another story.  But essent ially then that you can easily say that because 

the atmosphere is incensed and people are not looking at the structural issues they are 

looking at the challenges they are facing inequalities rising, jobs are not there because 

of the unravelling of the model.  Now we could use a couple of examples to show the 20 

impact of that.  But it also means that it also means that racism becomes bigger, 

stronger because people start looking at okay who owns more and people start thinking 

about oh it is – they happen to be white and you have all sorts of other things. Tribalism 

by the way rises because people start saying ag if you stay in a particular province you 

get more etcetera, etcetera.  So it is an unravelling of this.  Why am I saying all this 
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because again the hostility on Treasury arises out of that because the response if 

normally a populous response to say spend and spend and spend?  Sitting in Treasury 

then your role is to say who can spend the money that we do not have and that 

naturally creates all sorts of problems for Treasury as it were.  But I am also raising it to 

say that – to say that it will be amiss of the commission not to talk about growth issues 

at some point, not to talk about – not to look at this kind of growth issues, these 

developmental challenges because ultimately they are embedded in the narrative that 

you guys we are currently dealing with Chair about state capture and so on and so on.  

The last two points Chair I will not be long.  It is what I would call the political system 

that we have.  Now and I am again I will be crude and less sophisticated in articulating 10 

it.  Essentially what you have I mean in our system if you kind of cut out the frills again 

you – it is – you have a particular relationship between the state and the party.  Now 

firstly the – you go into elections and elect a party.  And normally whilst the party gets 

elected of course the party goes to its own conference.  Once it goes to its own 

conference it takes power to in provinces it takes to provisional executives it nation ally 

takes it to the national executive.  Ultimately power then gets taken to the working 

committee and at a later point then power gets taken to another committee the top six. 

Then later on it gets taken to the President basically.  Now effectively what i t actually 

means is that there again I do not know whether this is in the ambit of the commission 

but I think ultimately you going to have a problem where – a problem where capturing 20 

the party is the easy vehicle of capturing the state.  Because the relati onship between 

the party and the state is so – it is not – there is no kind of lines that are as strong as 

you would want to have.  So again part of I think again I am being [indistinct]  part of the 

things that I think as we think constructively about this  is actually to revisit our political 

system particularly how do you draw a wall between the political party and the state 
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and how do you build institutions of the state that go beyond political cycles like 

election cycles for instance I mean and so on and so on.  And I mean there is a clear 

example institutions in South Africa that have survived it is because they are not linked 

to political cycles.  The judiciary survives, it survives simply because it is not – when 

you have a new president you do not jump and fire all judges etcetera.  I wish you do 

that but I mean if you do not do that. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Well it is good that we know your weakness Mr Jonas.   

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja that was a joke. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The same with the Reserve Bank you do not change 10 

government there is no change of government you fire the Reserve Bank as it were but 

all those institutions that are like that have been durable.  Now think about it most 

institutions where the monetary of a new minister walking in  they have to change have 

become unsustainable and in fact have been part of a problem as it were.  So part of I 

think the thinking around this separation should be about the – how do you kind of 

effectively separate the state from the political party.  How do you build institutions that 

not just institutions some of them macroeconomic institutions, some of them economic 

institutions.  I mean SARS for instance I mean it will be a sad story that you have a 

SARS that links with the – it is linked with political cycle.  And DG’s get fired when new 

minister comes in by the way if you look at the turnover of DG’s it is a normal case.  20 

Boards are fired because you have a new minister.  So those are the kinds of things 

that I would think that in exploring solutions  to this problem win it.  My last point Chair is 

that we have in South Africa an over personalised political system.  Our politics are so 

over personalised that we hardly talk structural issues that is why we cannot resolve 

these issues of racism is nice if it is said by Mcebisi Jonas or somebody else.  I mean if 
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somebody else says racist remarks we tolerate because of the personality.  But even 

our political cycles I mean we kind of – and that is why I think the days I would still 

argue with the process of state capture is can I use the term “to-over-zuma-nise” it.  To 

think that it was about Zuma.  That is – that would be a biggest mistake because it is 

bigger, it is structural, it is systemic because we will miss the point and then if you do 

that.  And again I mean because whether you can have I mean there is an interesting 

story somebody talking to a chief in one country of the president and he asked the chief 

of the president he was asking the chief of the president are you worried that you have 

a new president in your country because your menu might change. So this guy 

responded he says, actually I am not worried because normally the visitors of the C – 10 

so effectively what I am saying is that I think we must also avoid a danger where we do 

not look at the structure relations.  We do not give attention to them and fortunately I 

think looking at the way things are going presently in the country it seems there is a 

focus on trying to resolve them.  I think I – there is something that we need to say 

around how do you decouple our politics and structures from personalities and actually 

make them embedded in the system.  Sorry for being long with it.   

CHAIRPERSON: No no it is – it was important but certainly some of the points you 

have made you know are points that I have raised with some of the people particularly 

Ministers who or past Ministers or present Ministers to say when this commission looks 

at the issues that it must look at one of the things that it must do is to ask the question 20 

what is the environment that made it easy for certain things to happen?  And it may well 

be that we must look at what our political or constitutional arrangements are because it 

may well be that some of them made it easy for certain things to happen and if we are 

looking at taking measures to make sure that for example state capture never happens 

again and we do not address things.  Whatever measures we might come up with might 
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not assist and in that regard one of the things one looks at is what structures and what 

bodies and what functionaries were supposed to take certain steps once they realise 

that certain things were happening and if they did not take those steps is it that held 

them back, because certainly if I conclude in the end that there was state capture.  I will 

have to look at why certain bodies or what role certain bodies may have played in either 

facilitating it or in looking away and not doing what they should have done and in this 

regard it may well be that one must thing about the oversight function of Parliamen t.  

Did Parliament play the kind of role that it was supposed to play?  The governing party 

is not a statutory body, but in our system it has an important role to play.  Is there 

something that it ought to have done?  Did it do it and if it did not do it w hy?  Was there 10 

an environment or is there something in our systems that made it possible or that 

prevented it from doing what maybe it ought to have done.  So I think part of what you 

say raises those issues and I think they are very important issues.  So I do not know 

whether you want to say anything or? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Thank you Chair.  I agree Chair [indistinct] that that is probably 

the direction we should be taking. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Mr Jonas. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Mokoena. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  You have raised very important issues which I have no 20 

doubt that the Chair will take into consideration when he ultimately makes his 

recommendations.  However to sum up on this issue just before you were fired are you 

able simply to sum up for us the type of hostility that you experienced within Treasury?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Again I mean there; I think we were at a point where before we 

kind of and I am talking for most of the officials and myself and the Minister, before  we 
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even attend any meeting of Government we used to kind of think very hard about what 

is likely to be, to come out because I think it was becoming; I think it was most of it 

centred around the nuclear like I mean particularly the nuclear deal, but it als o centred 

around issues of expenditure management and the other more difficult one was the 

revenue management just to ensure that revenue comes in and so and so and; so the 

tension was almost I mean reaching personal proportions basically.  I mean it was a nd I 

was surprised recently I went to some function and I saw some Ministers and they 

hugged me and greeted me and I said wow, because I think there is time when I felt, 

you felt like we were ostracised and it was almost palpable.  So like ostracised in a 

subtle manner that you will greet.  You were ostracised in a palpable manner in a sense 10 

and the pressure on officials meant that also we were like worried about almost tittering 

on the brink of losing most of the technical capacity that we had in Treasury at the time.  

So it was at a personal level very serious.  I mean I think at a personal level very 

serious and when I say serious to the point where I think some of us were even worried 

for our lives actually because it was real.  It was very serious and the way it was 

panning out to be and it was also, I mean, I remember that there were also 

investigations on Ministers and investigations by this and this and this and I was 

listening, I mean, if you watch some of these things there were, intelligence was be ing 

used to pursue some of the people and I think the intelligence report that came out now 

shows that that was real.  It was not just imaginary.  I see that some of the witnesses 20 

quoted their big intelligence report that depicted Treasury to be what it has and what it 

was not by the way and I think by the time we got fired I think again there was some 

intelligence report used to fire us saying that, I think I remember they said they were 

going to go and mobilise against the country etcetera.  So in summary  I think the 

pressure was like at a personal level, at a professional level very palpable I think.  The 
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most excruciating experience being the whole charging of Minister  Gordhan and I am 

not arguing about the content of that, but I am just saying the whole  process that we 

went through in that process was probably, it reminded me of the apartheid era 

basically.  I mean in the way it was so vicious.  It was so vicious absolutely vicious as it 

were. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Where was this pressure coming from? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Look I mean it was clear.  I mean at all different points.  I mean 

clearly I mean as I have mentioned in the thing, in my earlier submission I think I 

mentioned that apart from being constitutionally mandated to do A, B, C, D your 

success relies on political support and political support by the Head of State.  So if you 10 

do not have that I mean forget it and quite frankly I will advise any Minister of Finance 

that does not have that must just resign, because it does not work.  It just doe s not 

work as it were.  So that was one part of it, but the security parenthesis were in how 

they were looking at Treasury was not fun.  It was not so bad in that period.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Of course it might be something that should be taken as normal that 

if any Minister does not have political support they should resign, but based on the 

evidence that has been given by previous Ministers of Finance.  I think it [indistinct] at a 

certain stage if some or other Minister of Finance has resigned some people would say 

another Minister might have been put in who might not have been seen to be on that 20 

would be strict with regard to compliance with regulations and legislation and policies 

and that may have resulted in certain problems for  the country economically and 

financially. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I would say yes.  I mean in part that is true, but again I mean I 

am saying I was actually, I keep on, we had a long debate in Treasury at some point.  I 
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mean in one strategic planning session and my attitude was that we were essentially 

stalling or slowing down the pace of destruction essentially.  I mean that was what we 

were doing and because I mean we were allocated you could manage our expenditure.  

You can do all of those things.  So it helped I mean to a certain extent, but imagine if 

we did not reach a point were society gets alarmed about what was happening and 

acted and so and so and so if we did not reach that point.  I would not and we were not 

fired.  Would we still be trying to play that role?  Personally as Mcebisi  Jonas I would 

not. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Now let us move to the third assignment that you 10 

were required to do.  At the time when you testified Mr Jonas you were not afforded an 

opportunity to react to the versions of the implicated parties, Mr Duduzane Zuma and 

Mr Fana Hlongwane has since applied to cross-examine you and they have furnished 

the Chair with their versions in terms of Rule 3 and four and they were subsequently 

also granted leave to cross-examine you.  May I refer you to an exhibit before you, you 

will see.  It is marked EXHIBIT D3.  If you look at the spine of the file you will be able to 

easily locate it.  Now let me assisted you to navigate that file and only refer you to the  

relevant portions which we will be conversing.  The affidavit of Mr  Fana Hlongwane 

commences from page 57 and it runs up until page 67 and the affidavit of 

Mr Duduzane Zuma runs from page 171 to page 177.  For completeness Mr  Jonas 20 

what I will do also I will refer you to the affidavit of Mr Ajay Gupta which is on page 165 

and it runs up until 170 for you to be able to react to some of the allegations that he 

says about you and I will also refer you to the affidavit of Mr  Rajesh Gupta which you 

will locate on page 178 and it runs up until page 181.  Even though they were not 

afforded the right to cross-examine but it is important for you to react to some of the 
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specific allegations which are made about you in those affidavits.  Now if we may start 

with the one of Mr Fana Hlongwane on page 59.  Without having to read the contents 

you will see that from paragraphs 3 to 3.2 Mr Hlongwane states that your evidence 

which you have adduced before this Commission is untrue and has an effect of serious 

damage to his reputation.  Do you wish to comment before we proceed on other 

specific paragraphs? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In my understanding everything that I said and presented to this 

Commission is true. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Now may I refer you to page 62 with particular 

reference to paragraph 11, because of it is importance I will read it to you and allow you 10 

to comment thereafter.  In paragraph 11 Mr Hlongwane says that: 

“During October 2015 I had been made aware by 

Mr Duduzane Zuma that Mr Jonas had made allegations to the 

effect that I was blackmailing him.  These allegations seemed 

incredible and completely at odds with our relationship and true 

affects.  In view of our relationship I was very perturbed by the 

allegations and decided to address the issue.  I therefore asked 

Mr Duduzane Zuma to urgently convene a meeting between the 

three of us.” 

Now are you aware of any allegations which you have made to the effect that 20 

Mr Hlongwane was blackmailing you? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Chair we dealt with the issue now our affidavit.  There are no 

allegations.  They talked about rumours and there were no rumours that I ever heard 

and denied that. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  I am sorry.  I just want to make sure I understood.  One, you 

never said that Mr Hlongwane was blackmailing you? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes, I did not. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And two, you said something and I do not know whether it was that 

there were no rumours or I am not sure.  There was something that you said.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, I never heard of the rumours. 

CHAIRPERSON:  You have never heard?  Oh, you had never heard of any rumours.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Both from Duduzane and from Fana. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  Let me ask this question before Mr  Mokoena proceeds.  Prior 

to October 2015 as far as you recall had you had any discussion with 10 

Mr Duduzane Zuma? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I do not, I did not know Duduzane at all and. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The only time I knew about him was in October when 

Fana Hlongwane indicated to me that he wanted to talk to me. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  At that point I requested the cell number, the cell phone 

number. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  We had a couple of telephone calls and text messages right 20 

through that period until we have ultimately arranged a meeting at the Hyatt.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  So I do not know.  I did not know him personally at all.  

CHAIRPERSON:  So certainly prior to October you had never had any?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I never had. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Discussions with him, you had never met him? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

CHAIRPERSON:  As such, but sometime during October you did speak to him following 

upon what Mr Hlongwane said to you and you asked for Mr Duduzane Zuma’s number? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  [No audible reply]. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, thank you. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now having regard to what Mr Hlongwane stated in this 

paragraph were you at any stage informed about the nature or the extent of these 

rumours? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC: Or the content of it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes and when was the first time you heard about these 

allegations of rumours, of blackmailing? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I state in my affidavit that when the Gupta brother who 

entered when we were at Saxonwold the first thing that he talked about is that I hear 

that Fana Hlongwane is blackmailing you, but he then quickly proceeded.  I responded 

quickly to say that is nonsense.  That is not there.  That is not true and he responded 

quickly, but anyway that is not the purpose of the meeting and he proceeded with 

whatever conversation he wanted. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Just refresh our memory again going back to the phone call that you 

received from Mr Hlongwane in October as you have said.  Can you just tell me the 

content, remind me of the content of that discussion between the two of you?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The phone call was that they, the first phone call I remember 

very well.  I was in Luanda and he called to say Duduzane was looking for me.  
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CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And it had to do with an event which was the ANN7 awards.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That were happening in a few weeks from there and the second 

time I was, it was a physical meeting where I went there with a friend of mine and I 

state the name in the affidavit. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In the presence of him he then said by the way Duduzane 

would want to talk to you and wants to invite you to this event [intervenes].  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I said to him listen let me take his number so that he 

contacts me directly. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And we can talk directly [intervenes]. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And that is how then. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The contact happened. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, thank you. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  And you have now told the Chair that the first time you 20 

heard about these blackmailing rumours were on 23  October 2015? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Prior to that Mr Hlongwane did not even call you or 

discuss with you about these rumours? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  No one else had done that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No one else. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now may I refer you to page 63 paragraph 13 and there 

Mr Hlongwane says to the Chair that: 

“I was subsequently informed by Mr  Duduzane Zuma that he 

convened a meeting at the Rosebank Hyatt on that day.  Prior 

to my arrival I decided that because of the private nature of the 

discussions and possible confrontation that the Hyatt might not 

be a suitable venue due to the fact that it was not private.  I 

therefore called Mr Duduzane Zuma and also spoke to 10 

Mr Jonas.  I proposed to them that we move the meeting to a 

more private venue.  Mr Duduzane Zuma informed me that he 

has a venue available in the vicinity.  I was provided with an 

address and arranged to meet with them in a couple of 

minutes.” 

A number of things arises from that paragraph Mr  Jonas.  Firstly would you wish to 

comment generally on what is being stated there by Mr Hlongwane? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I cannot comment on the first line because it was not a 

conversation with me. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  So I really cannot say I mean whether that conversation 

happened between him and Duduzane, but certainly I think and again I stated in my 

affidavit that I phoned Duduzane and made arrangements to meet at Hyatt because I 

was in an event close by.  So the conversation between Duduzane and Fana I cannot 

comment on that, because I was not privy to that.  Secondly that the suggestion to 
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move I think it arose when Duduzane raised that there are other people who must join.  

He never mentioned who they are.  He said there are other people who must join and 

let us move.  So I do not actually agree with the explanation of events.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  As stated here. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now what might be able to help us if you could if 

indeed this meeting, the purpose of this meeting was to discuss the rumour about 

blackmail do you know why it was supposed to be held in a private location?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I would not know, I mean definitely know. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  And in your statement you refer to the SMS and the 10 

calls that were made between yourself and Mr Duduzane and yourself and 

Mr Hlongwane on the day in question.  Were you ever told about the purpose of the 

meeting? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Definitely not.  I even spoke to Fana a couple of days before 

the actual meeting and there was no mention of blackmail at all. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes and what also arises in that paragraph 

Mr Hlongwane justifies the moving of the location to a private venue because of a 

possible confrontation that might ensure.  Are you able to assist the Chair in 

understanding? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There was no confrontation at all.  There was no possibility of 20 

confrontation because there was no tension. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Before 23 October, before the meeting in question how 

would you describe your relationship with Mr Fana Hlongwane? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  They were very good.  They were very good and cordial.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now may I refer you to page 64. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  I am sorry. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Your question Mr Mokoena was it before, was it about after the 

meeting? 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  No, before, before the meeting. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh, okay. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  So meaning that even on the day when you went to 

meet with Mr Hlongwane there was no incident that you can refer to that might result in 

the confrontation? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  May I refer you to page 64 paragraphs 14 and 15 and 

to save time I will simply paraphrase them.  In those paragraphs Mr  Hlongwane says 

that the people who were present in the meeting, now we are talking about the meeting 

of 23 October, it was himself Mr Hlongwane, Mr Duduzane Zuma and yourself Mr Jonas 

and no one else.  Do you wish to comment? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is untrue.  There was a fourth person which was the Gupta 

brother. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  He says that, I mean if you look at paragraph 16, he 

says: 

“I mention that a member of the Gupta family did enter the 20 

room briefly at some stage, but immediately left.  This was 

definitely not Mr Ajay Gupta.  I do not know the identity of the 

person who briefly entered the room.”  

So what we can infer from that paragraph is that there was a Gupta brother, but he 

simply entered and went out without participating in any discussions.  
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is untrue. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now in paragraph 17 Mr Hlongwane denies that there 

were any of us that were made to you during the meeting in question and what it is your 

comment? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is untrue. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  So you maintain what you have stated in your 

testimony before the Chair when you testified? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes Chair. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  Now let us move on to deal with the version of 

Mr Duduzane Zuma. 10 

CHAIRPERSON:  Before you do this Mr Mokoena, Mr Jonas you have said that your 

relationship with Mr Hlongwane was before that meeting.  How was it after the 

meeting? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I have never spoken to him.  I spoke to him once on the phone 

and I stated in the. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In my affidavit when I said to him he must never do that again 

to anybody. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes and when you say he must not do that again you were talking 

about? 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I was talking about. 

CHAIRPERSON:  About the meeting? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The meeting itself. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes and what happened at the meeting on your version.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  If you say after the meeting you spoke to him only once that 

suggests that whatever friendship or relationship the two of you might have had  before 

ended? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes, it did. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes, Chair.  It did. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  Okay, alright.  Thank you. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Thank you Chair.  The affidavit of Mr Zuma you will 

locate it on page 171.  However may I refer you to paragraph 4 page 172?  Are you 

there? 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  In that paragraph Mr Zuma states that: 

“I depose to this affidavit to give my version of the events both 

leading up to and during a meeting that was held between the 

erstwhile Deputy Minister of Finance Mr  Mcebisi Jonas, 

Mr Fana Hlongwane and myself on the afternoon of 

23 October 2015 first at the Hyatt Hotel in Rosebank where I 

met Mr Jonas alone where after the meeting was moved to the 

premises situated at 5 Saxonwold Drive Gauteng.”  

Can you see that? 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now when you received a call from Mr Zuma on the 

23rd did you agree on a specific location where the meeting must take place?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Can I just correct?  Remember that we have been talking.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And the venue, because I chose, I said I was in Rosebank, can 

we make it Hyatt because the office where I was going is close to the Hyatt.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  So the agreed venue was the Hyatt? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hyatt. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  You were going to meet at the Hyatt? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Did Mr Zuma object to that venue or raise any issues of 

privacy? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, he did not. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Now when you moved from the Hyatt Hotel to this 10 

private place, 5 Saxonwold Drive were you informed that the meeting was now going to 

take place at the Gupta residence? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 

CHAIRPERSON:  I am sorry Mr Mokoena, Mr Jonas just going back to paragraph 5 of 

that affidavit where Mr Duduzane Zuma says his first interaction with you was to invite 

you to the South African of the Year Awards as he had invited various people.  Do you 

recall, are you able to tell when that conversation was which can be said to have been 

your first interaction with him or the day when he spoke, he invited you to the awards?  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  It was a call after I came back from Luanda. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And well I assume you have had a look at your affidavits and 20 

statements and I’m just wondering whether somewhere it is dated roundabout what 

date that must have been? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  The dates are stated in the affidavit.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh, can you just tell me if it’s possible to – I just want to locate 

...(intervention)  
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:    If you can go to Exhibit C1 Mr Jonas and then if you 

can turn to page 2 Mr Chair paragraph 6 might be the one that the Chair is looking for.  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:   Mr Jonas you can simply, you can read it for yourself 

and confirm whether would that be the date that you are looking for?       

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  At approximately 5.30pm on the 17 th of October 2015, I sent 

Mr Zuma a text stating: 

“Hi Comrade, tried to call you approximately 5.36pm.  I had a short 

telephone conversation with Duduzane.”  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :   And paragraph 7. 10 

CHAIRPERSON:  Just read it aloud. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Seven is: 

“Mr Duduzane requested me to attend what I recall to be the South African 

Year Awards hosted by African News Network on Saturday the 17 th in 

Johannesburg.  I ultimately indicated that I would not be able to attend, 

telling him that my schedule would not permit it.”  

CHAIRPERSON:  So is the position that the first interaction that you had with Mr 

Duduzane Zuma was on or about the 17 th of October 2015, that’s the date given in 

paragraph 6, but it says approximately 5.30 on 17 October.  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  So that would be the first interaction you ever had directly with him? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, and it was on that occasion that he invited you to the South 

African of the Year Awards which was to be held – oh was it going to be held on the 

same day? 
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MR MCEBESI JONAS:  There must be a problem with dates there. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh there might be a problem with the date, but it was going, was it 

going, as far as you recall ...(intervention)  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  It was a couple of days later. 

CHAIRPERSON:  It was a couple of days within a week or so. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Less than a week I think. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh less than a week okay.  But the date of the 17 th October do you 

feel confident that it must be correct as the date when ...(intervention)  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I think that was the date. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Because that would be from your sms’s, you first sent him an sms I 10 

think you said. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes sir. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja, okay so that would – it looks like at least in that regard when Mr 

Duduzane Zuma doesn’t say what day it was that the two of you had that interaction at 

least he doesn’t say so in paragraph 5 what the date was, but it seems that both of you 

are agreed that you first spoke to each other on the day you spoke about he invited you 

to the awards, the South African of the Year Awards. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes sir. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And on your version that conversation was on the 17 th of October 

2015.  Okay, thank you, you may proceed Mr Mokoena.  20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     Yes, if you may turn to page 173, Mr Jonas, page 173 

paragraph 8, in that paragraph Mr Zuma say that you met with him as agreed at the 

Hyatt and then moved to the Gupta residence, number 5 Saxonwold.  Now I want to 

know if you were told Mr Jonas that you were going to meet at the Gupta residence 

how were you going to react to that request? 
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MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I definitely would have avoided to go. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :    Why? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Look I mean – they were already in the media about their 

activities and certainly I would not have loved to be associated with them. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     Yes, now if you look on the second portion of 

paragraph 8 Mr Zuma says that we accordingly agreed to move to Number 5 

Saxonwold and in brackets he says (Gupta residence), what is your reac tion to that 

statement? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  That’s untrue, that is untrue. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Now he also says that you travelled with him in his 10 

vehicle, can you see that? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  That’s correct yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Are you able to explain to the Chair why did you 

travel with him in his vehicle? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Look I mean his vehicle as the closest; it was just down the 

parking area at Hyatt, secondly I didn’t see any difficulty, I was not – I didn’t have any 

reason not to trust him quite frankly. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      And then what about the bodyguards, I mean I take it 

at the time you are with your bodyguards, why did you leave your bodyguards behind?  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I leave them all the time, all the time. 20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      May I refer you to page – the very same page if you 

go down to paragraph 9, Mr Zuma says that I point out at no stage since the suggestion 

was made that a meeting be moved to the Gupta residence did Mr Jonas either object 

thereto and/or express any reservation and/or display any discomfort of having the 

meeting there, that’s what Mr Zuma says.  
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MR MCEBESI JONAS:  That’s untrue because there was no knowledge that the 

meeting is going to be at the Gupta residence. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:    Now may I refer you to page 174, paragraph 11 and 

12, I will simply paraphrase them to save time.  There Mr Zuma states that there were 

only three people present in the meeting and he state that no one else was there.  Mr 

Rajesh Gupta simply came in for a few seconds and thereafter exited the room, what is 

your comment on that? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  That’s untrue, there was a Gupta present right through the 

discussion. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     Right through the discussion, okay.  Now if you go to 10 

paragraph 13 Mr Zuma says that after the meeting I was required to stay behind to 

attend further meetings and a driver took Mr Jonas to where he wanted to be.  Mr 

Hlongwane also remained behind with me.  Would this be consistent with what you told 

the Chair that after the meeting Mr Hlongwane and Duduzane remained?  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes they remained. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Yes.  Now if you can turn the page over to page 175, 

and paragraph 16 because of its importance I will read it to you and to all ow you to 

comment.  In that paragraph Mr Duduzane Zuma says: 

“I further confirm that on this specific day in question, being the 23 rd October 

2015 Mr Atul Gupta was not present as he was as far as I can recall 20 

overseas.  I also confirm that Mr Ajay Gupta was not at the Gupta residence 

at the time, to the best of my recollection he was somewhere else or at his 

office in Sandton.  He therefore had no interaction at all with Mr Jonas.”  

Are you able to comment? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I am not able to comment on that except to say that I am 
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confident that there was a Gupta brother in the room. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :    And in paragraph 17 Mr Jonas Mr Zuma denies that 

there were ever discussions which took place about the removal of the Minister of 

Finance, he further denies that there were any monetary offers which were made to 

you, he further denies that there were any threats that were advanced towards you, 

what is your comment? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I don’t agree with it, it is untrue.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :    It is untrue.  Now on paragraph 18 Mr Zuma says that:  

“I did not take Mr Jonas to the airport after the meeting, nor did I receive a 

call from Mr Jonas.  I wish to point out that subsequent to the meeting of 23 rd 10 

October 2015 I informally bumped into Mr Jonas on two occasions, once at 

the Hyatt Hotel again and once at a Parliamentary event.  I can state that on 

both occasions, on both these occasions we had friendly interactions with 

each other and there was no indication whatsoever of animosity.”  

Now he is telling the Chair about your relationship with him subsequent to the event of 

the 23rd and he specifies the occasions that he met with you and that there was no 

animosity and you were friendly with one another.   

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  The first part of the – I did not take Mr Jonas to the airport is 

correct, and I also wish to point out subsequent to the meeting ...(intervention)  

CHAIRPERSON:  Just raise your voice a little bit Mr Jonas.  20 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I’m saying the part that talks about taking me to the airport is 

correct, he didn’t take me to the airport, the part about receiving calls I recall very 

strictly that we did text each other and I have those in the ...(intervention)  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      In your statement? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  In the statement, subsequent to the meeting, when he was 
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requesting to meet after that, so there was some interaction after that.  The two 

occasions are correct but I don’t think we even came into contact, so I don’t know how 

he would, there would have animosity arising or friendliness, because we were very 

apart.   This wasn’t like a meeting, he was walking past and I was walking in the other 

direction. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      Now let me provide you with an opportunity to react 

to the versions of the Gupta brothers starting first with Ajay Kumar Gupta and we will 

then deal with the one of Rajesh Gupta.  The of Ajay Kumar Gupta you will find it on 

page 165.  If you can turn to page 165 Mr Jonas.  That’s where it begins but I wish to 

refer you to paragraph 5 which you will find on page 166. 10 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I’ve got it. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      And in that paragraph you will see that from 

paragraph 5 to 5.3 Mr Gupta paraphrases your statement but what I wish that you may 

provide a comment on is the contents of paragraph 5.3 where he says a belated 

allegation in his latest signed statement dated 8 August 2018 to the Commission of the 

Inquiry wherein for the first time claims that I also threatened to kill him should he not 

cooperate with me or the Gupta family.  Now before you react to that statement let me 

tie that statement with a similar allegation that is made by Mr Gupta, you will find it on 

page 168 paragraph 10, so as you may be able to comment at once.  At paragraph 10 

Mr Gupta says that Mr Jonas also for the first time ever incorporated in his most recent 20 

statement dated 8 August 2019 and claimed that I threatened to kill him should he not 

give his cooperation to me.  In his version to the Public Protector he never had such 

claims, even when he was specifically questioned about any threats he may have 

received.  If he may comment on those two paragraphs.  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Firstly I think the first formal statement we made was with an 
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extensive statement we made was at the Commission.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Yes. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  The conversation and questioning with the Public Protector 

happened in a different environment and I stated already it was conversational and 

responded to many of the questions that she raised and it was a different context 

because the context was very hostile at the time, I was still Minister of Finance and I 

wouldn’t want to do that.  The second statement, the other statement I made was with 

the  Hawks, and we had already given the Hawks a statement to say we would not give 

you a statement because already they had already indicated that their intention was to 

destroy the case and based on that we sent them a statement and later on they insisted 10 

I draft a statement responding to questions that they gave, which I signed.  Again  I am 

saying in all those, this is the statement to the Commissioner was the first formal 

extensive statement I made in a context where I was confident that there would be no 

reprisals. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Yes what Mr Gupta takes issue with is that when you 

had all these opportunities even before the Public Protector you did not mention any 

threats that you were to be killed if you were not going to cooperate with the Guptas 

and why does it appear only for the first time in this Commission.  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Again I am saying you must understand the context, I mean at 

the time was – I mean that was probably the most difficult period for us.  Even the 20 

conversation with the Public Protector Chair, we want into the conversation, she asked 

us questions, I was very uncertainty, even if we’re talking to her, I didn’t trust anybody, I 

didn’t trust the police, quite frankly and I mean when I went to the Commissioner I knew 

that it’s a public thing, I have my confidence back, I can say what I want to say, 

probably if reprisals come they will come through legal mechanisms.  
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 I outlined earlier on how the Hawks treated us.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :    Yes, now may I refer to page 167, with particular 

reference to paragraph 6 and 7, I won’t read them I will simply  paraphrase them to save 

time, Mr Ajay Gupta in those paragraphs denies ever meeting with you on the 23 rd of 

October 2015 and he says that he was at his office at Oakbay in Katherine, do you wish 

to comment? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I maintain my position that in my and based on the information 

that I had at the time I said it was Mr Ajay Gupta who was there, but I am certain now I 

mean there was a Gupta brother and as I have always said and right through I had 

always had the disclaimers on the matter.  10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:   Yes, and let’s deal with page 168, what you stage in 

paragraph 9, in fact Mr Jonas in order for that paragraph to make sense let’s begin on 

paragraph 8 on page 167, I will read them quickly.  There Mr Gupta says that:  

“It is also plain and indisputable that my identity was introduced to Mr Jonas 

by way of a leading question, suggested to him and of photos of me being 

shown to him to enable him to conclude that he in fact met with me 

specifically and not with anybody else, whereafter he accep ted and claimed 

that he in fact did have a meeting with me.”  

And paragraph 9: 

“He later in an application in High Court Pretoria which was dismissed with 20 

costs by the then Minister of Finance, Minister Gordhan, against Oakbay 

Group of Companies without any qualification and/or hesitation in fact 

confirmed under oath that he met with me and nobody else.  However in his 

later statement dated 8 August 2018 to the investigators of the Commission 

of the Inquiry on State Capture Mr Jonas claims that he still unsure with 
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whom he has met on that specific day, as he did not know the Gupta 

brothers and had never been introduced to the Gupta Brothers before and it 

may have been my brother Rajesh Gupta with whom he met on that specific 

day.” 

Now he’s pointing out to wha t he terms the alternatives and at some stage you having 

said it was him and now at the Commission it appears that you are unsure about who 

exactly was present.  What is your comment? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Again I’m at – probably if you go back to the Oakbay affidavit 

there was already a disclaimer there and if you read the full affidavit you will see that t 

here was a disclaimer that says it could be any other Gupta brother but definitely there 10 

was a Gupta brother, that’s what we were trying to convey.  Of course we were saying 

Ajay because based on the information I had at the time and the assumption, and that’s 

again looking at the pictures, this was four years ago by the way and I have met the 

guys for the first time and I have never met them after that, and that’s the reality. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      So on the 23rd of October it was the first time that 

you met. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  That was the first meeting I had with him, that brief encounter, 

and I have never seen him again, and he was just looking at pictures and I conclude 

that it could be Ajay so to the best of my knowledge at the time I assumed that it was 

him.  But when I was preparing the statements for the Commission it was the first time 20 

that a couple of pictures I looked at and I realised that  you can’t tell, I can’t tell the 

difference between the two. 

 But anyway I think at the moment it’s common cause that there was a Gupta 

Brother. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Yes.  On ...(intervention)  
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CHAIRPERSON:  Well certainly on your version there was a Gupta brother and I think 

on Mr Duduzane Zuma’s and Mr Hlongwane’s version, on your version there was a 

Gupta brother throughout the meeting or the discussion, on their version a Gupta 

brother I think came in for a short time and went out.  Is that your understanding of the 

difference between the two versions? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Chair I think the central point is there was a Gupta brother in 

the room and all of us agree, we can go back and look at the statements.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, alright, Mr Mokoena? 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      Can you now turn to page 169, paragraph 12, Mr 

Gupta says that I also gave evidence under oath to the public protector denying the 10 

allegations and the  version claimed by Mr Jonas and I also deposed to an affidavit in 

the Minister of Finance application in the High Court Pretoria which is self explanatory.  

I point out that it is highly unlikely that the meeting took place because if it did in the 

manner alleged by Mr Jonas he would immediately have reported it to the nearest 

police station as he – as any other ordinary citizen was legally obliged and duty-bound 

under the law to do so.  And your comment? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I don’t agree with the statement at all.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:    Yes, do you have anything to say about it or anything 

to add. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Look I mean on the reporting part which probably was what I 20 

covered it’s quite extensively in the affidavit and the position articulated in my affidavit I 

still think it’s valid. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :     Yes, and mostly ...(intervention) 

CHAIRPERSON:  And basically that was that you didn’t have much confidence in the 

law enforcement agencies, is that right? 
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MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja, okay. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      And lastly on the version of Mr Gupta on paragraph 

15 on page 170 he concludes by saying that there were no offers made at all to you, be 

it monetary or ministerial position. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  I do not agree. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Well I don’t think you represented what Mr Gupta says there 

accurately Mr Mokoena, he says he did not make any offer.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Yes, he, yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, not that no offers were made. 10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :     That he, Mr Gupta, did not make those offers, Mr 

Jonas the answer is the same? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  The same yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      Now ...(intervention)  

CHAIRPERSON:  Well the answer can’t be the same if you are not sure whether he 

was at the meeting because you don’t know which of the brothers, you just know there 

was a Gupta brother, isn’t it?   

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So you can’t say it was him who made the offer, all you can say is 

...(intervention)  20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :     The offer was made. 

CHAIRPERSON:  An offer was made by a Gupta brother. 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja, okay. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     Now let’s deal with the version of Mr Rajesh Gupta, 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-271



15 MARCH 2019 – DAY 67 
 

Page 40 of 102 

 

you will find it on page 178. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Well Mr Mokoena just bear in mind that if they say the same thing 

and he has already responded there is no need to ...(intervention)  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :      To repeat that yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  To repeat ja. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:      Did you have an occasion to read the affidavit of Mr 

Rajesh Gupta? 

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes I did. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     You did and I take it that to the extent that they deny 

that anyone made an offer to you on the day in question your answers would be as 10 

reflected in your statement?  

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  And do the extent that there was no Gupta brother that 

was present throughout the conversation he will remain, you persist with what you’ve 

said in your statement before the Chair?       

MR MCEBESI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :     Now may I refer to Exhibit C1, if you look at the spine 

Mr Jonas they are marked, page, it is the transcript of the Public Protector containing 

your interview with the Public Protector, it starts from page 21, it runs up until page 89, 

however I wish to refer you to page 50, page 50 Mr Chair.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Five zero? 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:     Five zero.  Now on page 50 against line 40 that’s 

where you begin to respond to a question posed to you by the Public Protector.  

CHAIRPERSON:  And where it is possible to just paraphrase the point that was being 

point please do so without reading unless there is something significant about the 
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wedding. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC :     Definitely Mr Chair.  In this one Mr Jonas I would read 

it from paragraph 14 to line two on the next page because there are a nu mber of issues 

that are quite unclear which you told the Public Protector.  You said that it is not as if it 

did not cross my mind, you know because it did cross my mind that I should.  I in fact 

was thinking seriously about doing it and I just thought about it seriously, and I ended 

up saying no, maybe there’s no need.  Now pay attention to what I am going to read 

now Mr Chair that is why I say two reasons.  One was that I did not trust that he would 

do anything about it.  I mean government by the way and in political circles.  I hear 

people saying they have done – they have been approached by these guys.  That is the 10 

first thing. Secondly say I know that I mean there are people there are many people 

who say that I mean I cannot mention their names here but I know they always say you 

know I mean it as – it is a common thing in the system that that happens in the first 

instance.  That is what you told the Public Protector he proceeds by saying but the 

second problem I had is that what guidance was I going to take from him on a matter 

like that because it is his son and I thought I cannot take guidance from him when I 

think he is conflicted on the matter,.  Now the first clarity which I am seeking from you 

can you elaborate to us on what you state that in government and in political circles you 

heard people saying that they were approached by these guys.  Who are these people 

that you are talking about?  And who are the guys who approached them?  20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I mean it is – it has been a known fact at the time that a lot of 

people I mean in the circles people will say Mbalula for instance stood out and say they 

[indistinct] a meeting formally that he received the news from the Gupta’s.  You also 

have a couple of other people I mean that Themba Maseko for ins tance had a story 

already at the time and there are many more stories of people who and many of them 
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have sat where I am sitting now Wako for instance Ramatlhodi …  

CHAIRPERSON:  Well I am not sure you are right. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And some .. 

CHAIRPERSON:  To say many of them have sat there. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Some of them. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Some have but …  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Some have…  

CHAIRPERSON:  But I would like many to sit there. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Some have I mean have sat here and – before.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Are there… 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I mean there is also…  

CHAIRPERSON:  Basically you are talking about Ministers Deputy Ministers maybe 

some DG’s. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  DG’s  

CHAIRPERSON:  And other officials. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And CEO’s and of companies, parastatal. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Of parastatal. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Parastatals ja. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  And secondly what appears to be unclear you say 

what guidance was I going to take from him, who are you referring to?  20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The question was relating to why did I not tell the President.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And my attitude was it is like my son does something and he 

come to me and tell me.  I thought it was like a wasteful – it was wasting energy.  I did 

not have confidence that he would have done anything about it.  
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Yes.  And last – Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Well I am not sure about that example Mr Jonas.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is a bad example. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Where I grew up any adult person who finds you as a child or boy 

doing something wrong anywhere could discipline you and you would not even tell your 

parents because they could give you a hiding and say, an adult person was not going to 

discipline you for nothing you must have done something wrong?  So some parents 

would really enquire into what did you do and so on.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  But I mean the scale of what we are talking about Chair it is just 

that an ended – the news I mean have been running about some of the events and 10 

things that were happening so certainly he should have known about some of these 

things. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja.  Well I was talking more about you and your son.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Oh my son yes.  If the scale of what he does is this I will 

probably decide to do something else.   

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay Mr Mokoene. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Finally Mr Jonas in order to short circuit your evidence 

you are aware that Mr Gordhan Minister Gordhan, Minister Nene and Mr Fuzile 

including Mr Mogajane did testify before this commission. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am aware. 20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  And did you have an opportunity to consider their 

evidence in as far as it related to you? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  And do you confirm that evidence to the extent that 

they referred to yourself? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Probably I do. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  Mr Chair that concludes my questions for Mr Jonas.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay that is just the – at the right time for the tea break.  I think we 

will take the short break and we come back which will be half past eleven then counsel 

for Mr Duduzane Zuma can commence with cross-examination.  We adjourn we will 

resume at half past.  We adjourn. 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Louw I now give you the opportunity to cross-examine Mr Jonas.  

I did indicate that although I thought 30 minutes might be fine, I will not be rigid.  I will 10 

see how things go and I rely on your cooperation and your bona fide attempt also to try 

and make sure that we deal with real important issues. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chair of course.  Good I before I commence. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And I do know that you would like more. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Oh certainly, but could I say this? 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Just to preface perhaps the cross-examination. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The aspects on which I am going to cross-examine Mr Chair are 

front and centre in your enquiry. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  If one recalls that item 1.1 of your terms of reference.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Makes specific reference. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To the incident on which I am going to cross-examine. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You will recall that what it says is: 

“The Commission must investigate…” 

And here comes the important part. 

“…the veracity…” 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  “...of allegations that former Deputy Minister of 

Finance Mr Jonas and Ms Mentor were offered Cabinet 

positions by the Gupta family.” 10 

It is thus not a matter where we can perhaps deal with on a very elevated scale like we 

did this morning with the 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  With respect the grand theories of political issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Grand political theory perhaps.  We have to drill down to some 

facts. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Now as you have pointed out Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  There are two completely conflicting versions.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Only about a small part. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of the whole incident.  You have summarised. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Where the differences of opinion lie. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And unfortunately when one then has to test the veracity.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of a witness. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You have no choice. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But to deal with the rather difficult issues of contradictions and 10 

probabilities and credibility. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So half an hour is going to be exceptionally difficult.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To fit in a lot of this work. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:   

CHAIRPERSON:  Huh-uh. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  There is also an issue of these proceedings and what they are 

about. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chair you are enjoined to determine the veracity.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You use of course your legal or the legal team. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To do the footwork, but at the end of the day you must make all 
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enquiries that are necessary. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Even if that means that from this cross-examination. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Further enquiries have to be done. 

CHAIRPERSON:  [Intervenes]. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  In order to determine whether there is. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Objective evidence one way or the other. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And that should be done.  So these are not adversarial 

proceedings. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And I am not here simply to meet a case. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And so forth. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Because Mr Zuma will testify. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And he will testify. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Completely different to what Mr Jonas has testified. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  As a matter of fairness perhaps. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The cross-examination should deal with some of what we see.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To be glaring inconsistencies and contradictions.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And issues of credibility. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And to fit all of that into a half an hour package will be difficult.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Which means that if at the end of all of this.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  We do not succeed. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  For purposes of fairness. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Showing Mr Jonas what all the issues are that we believe count 

against his version. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Then perhaps another plan should be made and perhaps we 

should be allowed. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Hm. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To present you with a list perhaps of contradictions and so forth. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To be looked at in your own good time. 

CHAIRPERSON:  I think all of that, all of what you have just said Mr Louw is fair 

enough and quite legitimate and I am in agreement with what you have said .  So I do 
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not see any problem. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So the only point I am trying to make is.  

CHAIRPERSON:  I just hope that our agreement will endure to cover.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, they certainly. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Time as well. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The only point. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  That I actually wish to make is if I do not put certain points to 10 

Mr Jonas. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  In these proceedings, it must not be held. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Against Mr Zuma when he testifies. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  No, no that is fine. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Maybe I should just say this that the idea or part of the idea behind I 

think it is Rule 3.4 which says that an implicated person who applies for leave to cross-

examine the application must be accompanied by a statement which deals with the 20 

areas where he or she is implicated and that the idea is that that statement will give his 

version and I think. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Everybody has understood it that way. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-281



15 MARCH 2019 – DAY 67 
 

Page 50 of 102 

 

CHAIRPERSON:  Because that is also helpful when I have to determine how much 

time I should allow for cross-examination, ja but I have no problem whatsoever with a 

situation where an opportunity maybe given for you to submit certain other let us say 

inconsistencies as you may see it.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  By way of something in writing. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And that is, no that is not a problem. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Once again these are not adversarial proceedings.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I am not here to meet a case. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I am simply to assist the Commission. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And then two people and they sit front and centre of this case.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Who have conflicting versions. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  About something that you have. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chair in your wisdom and it is going to be a difficult task.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  To determine the veracity of. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  No, thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  If I then against that background may. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  May the clock tick. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja that is right.  It is just now. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Jonas I do not have a lot of time.  So you must please bear 

with me.  I am going to touch on a few topics as you have just heard from the 

exchange.  There are a few more that I perhaps would have wanted to deal with if I had 

unlimited time, but we will; that is how things are.  The first point that I would want to 

ask you about is the Public Protector, the proceedings at the Public Protector, can you 10 

recall whether you were represented by attorneys or advocates?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I was with my attorney. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  With your attorney and he is or was? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Max Boqwana. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Do you have a copy of, well you would because my learned 

colleague asked you about that; the transcript of the Public Protector in the Bundle C1 

as he has pointed out previously just look at the spine and you should see it.  Do you 

have it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  [No audible reply]. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  What we find is, if I can just ask you quickly to help me.  The 20 

proceedings at the Public Prosecutor commenced at page 21.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, I have got it. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You have got it.  The person referred thereto as 

Advocate Boqwana should be Attorney Boqwana.  Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But we see consistently that the person is referred to as 

advocate and addressed as that as well.  Can I then ask you at the end of that meeting 

can you recall that your attorney undertook to provide a statement to the Public 

Protector called a timeline that would deal with various points that were raised during 

the conversation with the Public Protector that you were not too clear about dates and 

so forth? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  He did promise to do that. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And was it done? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes, it was done, but I must also say that when it was 

effectively done there were lots of I think contradictions in the dates, because we have 10 

not had the chance of looking at phones and other things like that.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  We cannot hear the last part of your answer.  

CHAIRPERSON:  I am sorry Mr Louw.  I am sorry.  I must just check is Mr  Jonas 

sufficiently audible at the back?  Ja, some cannot hear him well.  So one, you might 

wish to just raise your voice a little more. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

CHAIRPERSON:  But it might be the equipment.  So they will look at it as well.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Thanks Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, thank you. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am saying he did put together a document.  20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes and you say there are some difficulties with dates in the 

document? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  At the time, because it was a rushed process at the time.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But the contents of it the narrative contained in it never mind the 

dates that would be correct? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  They are even in the narrative.  I do not have it in front of me.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Turn to page 90? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  90. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Is that the statement? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, it is. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright [intervenes]. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  He was giving the content.  In the content there were a couple 

of confusions in the way he articulated it.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It is very curious, because it was sent to the Public Protector 

and we find aspects of this document to be reflected in the Public Protector’s report that 10 

is the genesis of this very Commission. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In part. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did you; I just put that to you as a statement.  The question is 

did you look at the statement before it went out?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did look at it broadly and I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You did look at it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes.  Go on, sorry I interrupted you. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am saying I did look at it and I pointed some of the things that 

were lumped together and things that could have articulated differently based on my 20 

own recollection of facts, but I. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And was it corrected or not corrected? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  They were never corrected. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So your attorney, Mr Boqwana, sent out knowingly a wrong 

statement to the Public Protector? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was not wrong.  The content broadly speaking is correct.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But are there points now that you look back at it that are 

incorrect? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, there are points that you could say were incorrect.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  In what sense were they incorrect?  Misunderstanding perhaps, 

what? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In a case where an idea, ideas are lumped together and where 

points that are separated could have been separated could be separated.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright.  Let us look a few of those points that were according to 

you lumped together and gave a wrong impression.   Let us commence with on page 90 10 

I think I am not going, because of the limit of time, I am not going to deal with all of it, 

but could I ask you the second bullet point you have there.  Meeting with 

Advocate Fana Hlongwane and Mr Bongani More and Mr Jonas yourself and then the 

narrative below that, I have got to just quickly place that on record.  

“I decided to meet with Advocate Hlongwane to hear him out on 

the issue of meeting Mr Duduzane Zuma and the Gupta family.”  

Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is not correct. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So this is an incorrect statement that your attorney sent to the 

Public Protector? 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is; there are two.  If you look at my own statement I 

corrected it in my statement, because essentially there are were two discussions in this 

meeting and I make that very clear in my statement.  The one discussion was the 

invitation by Duduzane Zuma to go to the awards.  The second part of the discussion 

that arose and I state that in my statement was a discussion about, a general 
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discussion, where Fana started talking to us about how important the Guptas are and 

there was a third person in the meeting.  So he could verify that.  These are separate 

issues. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Sorry, I am not quite with you.  If I look at this, this is before; 

what you are dealing with here in this paragraph happened prior to the introduction to 

Mr Zuma. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I still maintain these, there were two separate issues.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, but. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  One is the issue about meeting Duduzane.  The second is an 

issue about Fana telling us how important the Guptas were.  10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes.  They are two separate issues.  I do not dispute that, but 

you find them here.  Let us go on. 

“…and I went to see him with another friend.” 

That is now Mr Hlongwane, Mr Bongani More. 

“The discussion ensued I suppose briefly with reasons why it is 

important to meet with Mr Zuma and the Gupta family.” 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No that is incorrect.  Again the discussion we had and I state it 

quite categorically, the discussion we had was a discussion about the meeting with 

Duduzane which turned out to be a meeting about arranging an invitation to go to the 

awards.  The second discussion that happened was a general discussion where Fana 20 

was talking about general politics and the importance of the Guptas, generally.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, I do not dispute that.  One reads that there were two 

separate discussions, but what we do not find in any of your other statements are 

sentences like meeting the Gupta family, why it is important to meet the Gupta family.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There was. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It is only in this statement. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There was no discussion on the importance of meeting the 

Gupta family. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  [Intervenes]. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The discussion was about the importance of the Gupta family 

and that I capture in the statement that I signed.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So this is just patently wrong? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I said so.  The compilation was wrong. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Right, let us go on.  Then you go on in that same paragraph.  

“We agree to revisit this issue as I was not really convinced I 10 

needed to meet them.  Not really convinced that I needed to 

meet them.” 

Is this also wrong? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is wrong.  I mean the discussion was never.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Once again is it affection from the attorney and not yourself?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I still think that it was a confusion about the discussion at the 

time and this was actually very, kind of,  done in a rush and that is precisely why I could 

not even sign it. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Jonas you were a Deputy Minister.  This was a serious affair.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Investigated at the highest level.  Are you seriously tell ing this 

Commission that you were happy to let a statement containing errors, [indistinct] errors 

to go out in your name? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  If I had to sign the statement I would have gone through it with 

a fine comb and actually found out all the contradictions in the statement. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So if it goes out under your name, but you do not sign it does 

not matter? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, no I am not saying that. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am saying if I had an opportunity to sign it and peruse it I 

would have come to a different conclusion, but all those points it was lumping together 

issues that could have been separated. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  We will see how much it was lumped together.  Let us go with 

this passage. 

“I further expressed my view that I would never want to be 10 

associated with the Gupta family.”  

Did you express that view? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I have expressed it quite [indistinct].  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  In that meeting with Mr Hlongwane? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Who is Mr More? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  He is a friend of mine. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Where is he?  Who is he? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  He is a friend of mine.  He was part of that conversation.  In fact 

he wrote a statement about the same meeting.  20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Is it and that was provide to the? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Not yet. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Not yet? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So is it a private statement? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, no.  He will be providing a statement to the Commission.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  When? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I do not know. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I suppose when the Commission decides to investigate this 

matter further and ask him questions? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of course and then you go on to say: 

“My impression was that he…”  

That is Mr Fana Hlongwane. 

“…was working with them…”  10 

Of course now being the Guptas. 

“…for financial gain.”  

Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am saying again, again this paragraph I would have, if I had 

written it I would have written it differently. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Hm. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Because in essence the discussion was about firstly is it, are 

you going to be able to talk to Duduzane because he wants to talk to you in relation to 

the ANN7.  The second one as we were talking about the politics in the country.  He 

then raised the issue about the importance of the Guptas etcetera and in that context I 20 

specifically said I would not have anything to do with the Guptas, but also proceeded to 

say that and this point about my impression again.  I thought I mean there was nothing 

else that could combine Fana with the Guptas except money anyway, but that is not 

what was in the statement. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Hm.  When the Public Protector had her interview with yourself 
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she asked you certain questions about motives, possible motives for this topic of 

blackmail that you explained this morning to the Commissioner was an issue that was 

raised at the Saxonwold meeting on 25 October 2015, sorry 23 October 2015.  Is that 

correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes, indeed. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And she asked you about your motives, whether you had any 

issue with Mr Hlongwane, historical issue. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did you not have any issue with him? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I do not have any historical issue. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But you were, were you old friends?  Let me ask you in that.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  We are friends. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Old friends? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I would not say old.  I mean I do not know what is old.  Is it two 

years, five years? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no, no.  From the Eastern Cape days. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Well we know each other from the struggle, but I think as in the 

transition we interacted more. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of course.  Did you have; there was an issue that arose in the 

Eastern Cape to which the Public Protector refers and I do not want to take you there, 

because it is going to waste time.  Do you recall that that she mentioned an issue, an 

issue that she from her office investigated at the time?  The Public Protector 

investigated concerning the Eastern Cape where you were personally involved in as 
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well. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Well the issue that Thuli at the time was investigating was the 

Mandela Funeral and I did give evidence to her on that issue and it was probably 

irrelevant to the discussion. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  What was your position at that point in the Eastern Cape?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I was MEC for Economic Development. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And then what happened to you after that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I moved to National. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Was there a period in between? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was almost that period of transition where you did not know, 10 

in fact I was moving out of Government at the time. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You were moving out of Government? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja that was my intention [intervenes]. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And how long were you out of Government or did you now, were 

not an MEC or a Deputy Minister? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I was called back in probably a month or two. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Can, but those dates can be checked in any event?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  You can, ja you can. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Objectively, yes.  Alright, thank you.  So if we then can move 

on.  Then in that same document let us just quickly deal with the document not page 20 

too much.  I am almost halfway through my cross-examination.  If you look at page 90, 

just a little from the bottom.  You see the date October, the 23 rd 2015? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Where are you now? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Page 90 still. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  90.  Ja. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright.  There is a sentence there: 

“Later on I agreed to meet with Mr Duduzane Zuma and 

Advocate Fana Hlongwane.” 

Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So you met, the agreement; can I just get this very clear.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Can I correct that again?  I agreed to Fana that I will meet 

Duduzane. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But it stated [intervenes]. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And following that we heard I took the number for Duduzane. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  From that point on the conversation was between myself and 

Duduzane. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes.  The point simply is this that the meeting at the Hyatt that 

commenced at the Hyatt on 23 October you knew you were going to meet both 

Mr Hlongwane and Mr Zuma.  Is that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You did not? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No.  The meeting in the Hyatt as arranged between myself and 

Duduzane.  It was. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did you not? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was only when I was sitting at Hyatt that I Fana called and in 

his call his said I understand that you are meeting with Duduzane and I said yes.  He is 

here already anyway. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright.  Look at least from that point onwards the call that was 
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made by Mr Hlongwane was you and Mr Zuma were together in the Hyatt already at 

about 1 o’ clock.  Is that correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  On the 23rd? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It is about 1 o’ clock. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Right.  So you get a phone call from Mr Hlongwane and from 

that moment onwards you know that he is going to meet with you?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, I did not. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You did not? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did not.  By the time we drove from there I did not even know 

what his conversation with Duduzane was.  The conversation with me I can verify.  He 

said I understand that you found each other.  I said yes and then he spoke to Duduzane 

and later he called Duduzane, later or before that.  I do not know, but when we left I 

was unaware that Fana was part of the meeting.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You see it is at that point where the versions differ and 

commence to differ.  What happened before the phone calls, the texts and afterwards 

no dispute that there was communication, but it is at this point where the evidence 

before the Commission will in due course be that you knew precisely that you were 20 

going to meet Mr Hlongwane. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  That was what the purpose of the whole meeting was.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No.  Mr Hlongwane was not part of the meeting in my 

understanding.  He had arranged a meeting for Duduzane and myself to meet.  
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And that is precisely in line with what you yourself say in your 

timeline that was drafted by your attorney and sent to the Public Protector.  

“Later on I agreed to meet with Mr Duduzane Zuma and 

Mr Fana Hlongwane.” 

Your own statement, but you say that is wrong? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I said it is wrong and I [intervenes]. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And you did not check.  You did not check the statement?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did not check the statement. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You did not check the statement at all?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did look at the statement and I looked at it broadly because I 10 

was not meant to sign the statement in any case.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Whose statement was it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The statement I made was with Thuli and it is in the Public 

Protector interaction. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes of course.  We have that record, but this document that was 

prepared in your name that you saw and you must have seen that there are these 

glaring errors. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  But I still maintain it is incorrect. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Oh. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That I and that I maintain by the way that it is incorrect that I 20 

went there knowing that Fana was there. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Actually I was very surprised when I walked into the gate Fana I 

think we coincided. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In our arrival. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright.  Let us just look then at, on your version, you see there 

are now two versions and it is very complicated, because there is no dispute that you 

went with Mr Zuma in his vehicle to the Saxonwold premises of the Gupta family and 

that there was a discussion.  There is no dispute about it.  It is only the contents of the 

discussion and your motives, because what this Commission must investigate is the 

veracity of your version insofar as how it got that you came to that residence in the first 

place.  Now let us, let me ask you this and I am not asking you [indistinct] of any 

document, but we can have a look at the statements, but it will take time.  Let me ask 

you this, you sat there at the Hyatt after having left a NEDLAC Meeting in Rosebank.  Is 10 

that correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Was the Minister at that NEDLAC Meeting as well?  That was 

Mr Nene at that time.  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did he stay on after you had left? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No we almost; I do not have any recollection, but my suspicion 

is that we left almost the same time, because later when I called him he was on his way 

to the airport. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But that was not much later in the afternoon. 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, it was not too much later. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Not too much later. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  How long was this meeting with, at the Gupta residence 

according to your memory? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was between 20 and 30 minutes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  How many? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Which meeting? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The meeting at the Gupta residence. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was between 20 and 30 minutes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  20 and 30 minutes, alright.  Let us accept that for the moment.  

You met at 1 o’ clock, roughly 1 o’ clock.  I know that we are talking about 

approximations.  [Intervenes]. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  [Intervenes] meeting by. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, of course.  No, no, no.  We are not going to make any 10 

argument based on exact times Mr Jonas, but you sit at the Hyatt having left the 

NEDLAC Meeting and you meet Mr Zuma there? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You then have and I will take you to it.  Let me not say that 

there are discrepancies, but you explain the circumstances differently in different words 

in the various statements that you have made.  Leave that aside.  For the moment what 

I am interested in to ask you is, whilst you sit there you get the call from Mr  Jonas, not 

Mr Jonas I apologise, Mr Hlongwane and then something happens and this meeting 

moves to other premises.  That is what I want to ask you about.  Alright, now just on 

that point, did you ask Mr Zuma what is the meeting about? 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  We started a conversation.  I did not by the way.  I did not. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You did not? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did not. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Why not? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Look I mean I knew he was going to explain to me what the 
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meeting was about. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I just waited for him to articulate what the meeting was about 

and by the way at the time I did not have any mistrust about what his intentions were.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no, no.  We will get to trust, mistrust and motives in a 

moment or two.  Just stop there.  You are a Deputy Minister and you have personal 

protectors with you, body guards.  Is that correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  How many? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Two. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You have an official vehicle.  Is that correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Where is that, where was that vehicle parked? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was parked upstairs, outside. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Upstairs? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Outside the Hyatt. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Just outside? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  If you wanted to leave they would bring the vehicle for you to 

the front door. 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Hm. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Absolutely, otherwise you would be a target if you had to walk 

up and down the streets.  Not so?  That is the purpose of having personal protectors.  

Is that right? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You then decide Mr Jonas to leave with Mr Zuma to a place you 

did not know for a purpose you did not know.  Is that correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes indeed. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And you left your protectors behind. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And your vehicle? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did.  Again, I mean, when he said to me, we had a preliminary 

discussion and I mean that conversation it was about his father and what his father 

thinks about me and I outlined that and after that discussion he then says listen we 

cannot meet here and we have to meet elsewhere.  In any case I would want other 10 

people to join us. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  So I said of course let us do that. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I asked him how far, because I am rushing to the airport that 

was the time and he said no, it is not far.  It is just around the corner.  I said okay.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So who, did you ask who are the other people we going to 

meet? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, I did not.  I did not.  I did not ask.  I mean I really did not 

have any reason to assume that there was something funny or bad that was about to 20 

happen. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But Mr Zuma’s name and the Guptas name had been linked if 

we look at the statement and all the other statements it’s always the two of them 

together when Mr Hlongwane talks to you about these matters.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I can put it differently, a President’s son says he wants to talk to 
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me I will go and listen to him, whether I will do what he says I must do is another story.  

I will go and listen to him, I will not even interrogate him about what the meeting is 

about. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Jonas you’re a Deputy Minister, you leave your protectors 

behind, your vehicle behind, you get into a car with a man you had just met a few 

minutes ago to go to a meeting where you don’t know where the location is, to talk 

about things you have no idea what it’s going to  be and to meet unknown people, is that 

your evidence? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That’s what I’m saying, I do travel alone most of the time by the 

way? 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, alright. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Good, ...(intervention)  

CHAIRPERSON:  I’m sorry, did you finish answering that question?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did Chair thank you 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay alright.. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright, we then know that there was a meeting that was held 

and I want to march on very quickly, to one or two other points that occurred 

afterwards, just to get some clarification, at the foot of page 91 of that bundle, if you 

look at the very last paragraph there, that’s now after you explained all of these various 20 

things that was said and during the disputed conversation, as you know it’s disputed, 

the last line there is if I may just pick up the sentence after the word “and”:  

“I asked both Duduzane and Fana to take me to the airport as I was running 

late.” 

Is that correct? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:   And then on the way to the airport I asked both Duduzane and 

Fana what was the purpose of the meeting? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is an incorrect interpretation again. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Interpretation?  That’s a statement of fact.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I am saying that it is written badly again because I asked, as 

I was leaving the Gupta house I asked them to take me to the airport and they said 

there’s a vehicle that is taking me to the airport, and on the way to the airport I made a 

couple of calls to people and one of them I think was to Fana and when I landed in PE 

again I made a call to Fana. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no I am not asking about those calls, that’s not what my 

question is about.  It’s about this patently wrong statement because once again it is 

interesting Mr Zuma agrees that you were taken by one of the Gupta vehicles to the 

airport. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I also said so in my statement. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No of course you did but here it’s different and the question is 

why is it different here? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS: I don’t know, I mean this is again some of the inconsistencies 

that arose out of the statement.  The first time I had an opportunity by the way to write a 

comprehensive statement was for the Commission.  20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no this is a comprehensive statement, it goes single 

spacing over some five full pages, it’s comprehensive.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And that was certainly not written by me. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But you read it and it was issued under your name to the Public 

Protector and aspects of her report that’s the genesis of this Commission are based on 
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what’s contained in this statement, like for instance Mr Zuma and Mr Hlongwane driving 

you to the airport. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I then again I confirm that I was not driven by Fana and 

Duduzane, I was driven by somebody else to the airport.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The question Mr Jonas you would of course know that I ask you 

which sits at the bottom of all of these questions is how is it possible for a Deputy 

Minister to have a statement issued about something so sensitive and so important 

containing such gross factual errors? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Again I mean the fact that I didn’t sign this statement, quite 

frankly the statement was read to me and I never signed the statement and if  there was 10 

my signature attached I’m sure you will have something different.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In the Public Protector interview I was more detailed to some 

extent but in my statement I had an opportunity to the Commission, I had an opportunity 

to do a full statement conscious of its consequences. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  One or two quick points after this please.  If you just turn a few 

pages over, let me just make doubly sure it’s in the same bundle, C1 page 87, just have 

a quickly look there. 

CHAIRPERSON:  What page is that? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  87. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  87? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Ja 87. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Do you have it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Good, there you will see this is now part of the interview that 

you had with the Public Protector and you give an answer that commences on page 86, 

I just want to double check, are you talking about the khoki pen numbers, not the 

printed numbers. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I’m there. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You’ve got it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So the previous page you start with giving an answer and you 

deal with all sorts of general aspects but what I’m really interested in is at page 87 just 

at the end of that first paragraph you say it actual ly convinced me very strongly that 10 

actually if we think we are far from the Mafia still, we are kind of fooling ourselves that 

is what we have, so that is why I mean for me the thing about going public – and this is 

the important bit I’m asking about:  

“...so that is why I mean for me the thing about going to the public or going to 

public and saying this thing out there and so on to be honest I mean were it 

not for the leakages I would not even have bothered, I would have found 

some other means of excluding myself from the whole thing.”  

Could I ask you why do we find such a long period of time after the October event and 

the first time you mention this other than to the two Ministers of Finance, Nene and 

Gordhan, as you’ve explained and in the manner that you  have explained.  Why such a 20 

long time, why don’t you make any mention of it to the police, why don’t you lay a 

charge, nothing? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Look I had ...(intervention)  

CHAIRPERSON:  I’m sorry Mr Louw, I just want to make sure I follow the questio n. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The question is why ...(intervention) 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Is the question about why he didn’t tell anybody about the incident?  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Other than the two Ministers. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Other than the two Ministers, okay, alright, thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes, and specifically just to cut things to the chase, why did you 

not lay a charge? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Again I mean I explained this in my affidavit quite extensively, I 

mean ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No we’ve read it but then we would like to hear now what you 

say. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And I think my argument is that the situation at the time was 10 

very hostile, it was so hostile that you hardly trusted the police, I never trusted the 

police, I didn’t trust the Hawks, I didn’t even trust the Intelligence and in fact I mean 

themselves I mean in the meaning they made it very clear they are in control of all 

those structures, and by the way I believed them, and all evidence shows now that that 

was not far from the truth, and we have now in the latest the report from Intelligence 

that confirms that.  The reason, the only reason why I actually communicated to Nene 

and Pravin it was because they were the only people I trusted at the time.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I wasn’t reluctant to talk to talk to Thuli by the way, I thought we 

will find time when we think that maybe you can stick your head out.  20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  But I hear that answer but we now know that there was a threat 

to kill you.  Now that is serious. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That even makes it more serious to talk about it ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And there – sorry I apologise, I interrupted you, go on. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I’m saying the fact that there were even threats made it even 
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more serious not to talk about it. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So it’s more serious the less you talk out?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, many people are not Commission by the way, the only 

reason why they are not coming to the Commission it’s better to keep quiet.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Who are they, do you have names, can you give names, can 

you provide names? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There are many people who could have come, I know for 

instance talking Bbalula I know that his biggest fear was if he comes here he will be 

ridiculed and many things will happen but the reality of the matter there are lots of 

people in government and in politics would see things and rather opt to keep quiet.  10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Let me, that statement is so vague that I really cannot test it, let 

us just move to the things that we indeed can test.  You stated to the Public Protector 

that you would have found other means of excluding yourself, in other words not being 

associated with this whole affair, that’s what you wanted to do, is that correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Two things, excluding meant that I even considered resigning at 

the time and the second one was thinking that I move as far away from these fellows.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no that’s not what it means, look I’m not going to, we don’t 

have time for me to do a proper textual analysis and to deal with your answer on that 

basis, let’s just move on.  What we do know is that there was a story that was later 

published and that’s March of 2016.  Now remember all of this that we discussed now 20 

happened in October 2015, you then had the NeneGate debacle in December of that 

same year and about three months later in March there was first the Financial Times 

that published the story in London and we know it was then picked up by the South 

African press and eventually published in the Sunday Times in South Africa in March, is 

that correct? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Could I ask you, you had spoken only to the two Ministers about 

what had happened, where did the leak come from? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I don’t know, you could tell me if you could. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no it’s quite important because the Public Protector also 

asked you, did you not tell anybody else? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I didn’t tell anybody. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Not a single person? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Look I afterwards I did tell Zweli Mkhize ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No, no we know about that, I’m excluding that from my 10 

question. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  At the time I hadn’t communicated with him.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Because you spoke to Mr Mkhize after publication in the 

newspapers to understand how the ANC was going to deal with the matter, is that 

correct? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I am excluding that because it happened in any event after the 

newspaper articles had been published. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yet the question remains where did the leak come from if you 20 

told nobody else? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I do not know, I would not even ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So it must be one of those two Ministers. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I wouldn’t say that, I know they wouldn’t do it.  It could as 

well be the Guptas. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:   It could as well have been the Guptas who said that they 

offered you a position, committing all sorts of crimes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS: It could have been anyone associated with them anyway.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright now Mr Jonas can we then quickly move on because you 

then made a statement dealing with this matter and that was made only after 

publication in the newspapers and then the whole thing got momentum, it led to the 

public protectors enquiry and the events that happened after that.  Alright, I would like 

to ask you about one aspect that you touched upon this morning in your evidence, your 

further evidence and that was the police interaction between yourself and those you did 

not trust in the police.  Now let me ask you your mistrust in the police was that for the 10 

whole institution, from top to bottom? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I had a complete mistrust at the time yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  From the Minister down to the lowest constable? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Good then if I may ask you just quickly the following, in your 

statement to the Commission at page 19 could you please look this will be the 

document styled C1, I think it’s in the same bundle if you can just go back, page 19.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  19? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Ja, one nine, khoki 19, do you have it?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  In paragraph 56 at the end of that paragraph you say on 19 July 

2016 I provided the Hawks with a short affidavit confirming the content of the media 

statement which I had made on 16 March 2016, do you see that?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Do you have a copy of that statement? 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-307



15 MARCH 2019 – DAY 67 
 

Page 76 of 102 

 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did you provide that to the Commission? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It should have been provided, if it was not that will be, I know 

they should have. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:   I’m certain that if you provided that the Commission might 

require that from you because we have not seen it anywhere in the bundles of 

documents.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Okay. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  The second is if you just go down paragraph 57, and then there 

you speak about I accordingly provided a supplementary affidavit signed on 2 May 10 

2017, you see that, paragraph 57 on page 19, a supplementary affidavit.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And then it says it contains a number of statements and so 

forth, that statement we also do not find in the papers, did you provide that affidavit, 

and I apologise it’s a supplementary affidavit.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It should be with the ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It should be with the Commission, alright.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And if it isn’t then you will be prepared to give a copy of it to the 

Commission. 20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes we will. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of course.  Right now the point here is that you found yourself 

apart from my client, Mr Zuma, and the Guptas, for whom I do not appear, in a fur ther 

bit of a dispute insofar as the events that led up to the questions concerned and that 

was with the police itself, do you recall that?  

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-308



15 MARCH 2019 – DAY 67 
 

Page 77 of 102 

 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja, I recall. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I am going to ask you some questions about your interaction 

with three generals, Mnonopi, Matakata and Themeza, do you recall that, these three 

people are mentioned in ...(intervention)  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I know the names, I don’t know what was the interaction.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  You know the names, yes, let us just quickly see what they say 

because you have not been asked to provide comments on what these three generals 

say in their affidavits.  Now this time I am going to ask you to turn please to the bundle 

that’s marked Exhibit D, D3.  Right the first affidavit is the one of General Mnonopi, you 

see that at page 75.  Did you see it? 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  75? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Once again the one that’s written in manuscript, the khoki pen 

number.  Do you have it? 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, on page 75. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Page 75. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Sorry, do you have it Mr Jonas? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Okay, just very quickly the statement it’s an affidavit telling us 

that the person is a major general in the police, Director of Priority Crime Investigation, 20 

and then attached to the component CS Corruption Investigation and then the – what I 

want to ask you about really just to save time if I may take you paragraph 3 just 

explains what the issue is about, and I think really I must march on, and ask you to turn 

to page 76.  This, the issue here concerns that these very senior police officials, this 

one, the first one we’re looking at, complained that they had to go through a process of 
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extraction to try and get anything from you, any response from you about the 

allegations. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I probably could respond to it in better details, but I will just 

summarise what happened, firstly mostly of the numbers that are said to have been my 

numbers where they were contacting me are incorrect, they are not my numbers to start 

with.  I will ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Sorry did you say that anywhere else in any affidavit?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  We only saw this affidavit, we never got a signed – my 

understanding is that Mnonopi retracted the affidavit, that’s my understanding, that she 

retracted the affidavit, so I don’t even understand why we should make it subject of the 10 

cross-examination but let me explain what happened to – in this instance.  I had a call 

from General Ntlemeza to say that they would want to finalise the case on the Guptas 

and we must meet, arrange a meeting with me.  A couple of weeks passed and then I 

got a call from him again to say the matter has been handed over to I don’t remember 

the role of Ms Mnonopi, to handle the matter.  A few days after that Ms Mnonopi did call 

and arranged a meeting, and that meeting did take place, and by the way when she 

said she called for the meeting she said listen I just want to close the matter and I’ve 

prepared the statement for you to that effect, and I contacted my lawyer to say listen 

I’ve just had a conversation with this General Mnonopi, can we quickly, can you come 

to the office because she is on her way, and on her arrival in the office indeed she had 20 

a statement, but there was no docket and we requested, we sat and looked at the 

statement but we said but you cannot give us a statement without a docket, she said 

give me a few minutes I am going to go and fetch the docket.  

 She left the office for if I remember right an hour or so, I’m not sure, and I 

was thinking that maybe it’s like she won’t come back.  She came back with a file and 
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my lawyer went through the file and then said to her okay you can give me the 

statement so that we peruse it and we will give you a signed one if we agree with the 

contents.  And that’s what exactly happened.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright, let us just look at what I wanted to show you at page 76 

just a few statements over here, this is an affidavit and paragraph 53.2 at the foot of 

that page, 76, it says the following: 

“I deny ...” 

That’s now in answer to an allegation that you made.  

“...that I subsequently and initially approached Mr Jonas on 20 June 2016.”  

Now that was the date that I think you had the discussion with General Ntlemeza, is 10 

that correct, in June? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I’m not sure, I must say I am not sure.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Once again, forgive me I am not going to debate dates with you, 

we’ve got to move on, but the important thing is that she says I in fact started to call Mr 

Jonas on the 11th of April 2016 at 15:02 to request him to tender a sworn statement as a 

consequence of his media statement and pending cases culminating in the complaints 

made by Mr Bloem and Mr Maynier and then she says I humbly attach my call records.  

Did you or did you not receive a call from her in April 2016?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The call I received from Ms Mnonopi the first call was about 

saying she is leading the investigation, the second call was about let’s meet and go 20 

through this, so ...(intervention)  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So this is, you say that this is a lie? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Some of the – I don’t know it’s a pity that these dates, these 

numbers are not clear, but I looked at previously at some of the numbers, they were not 

even my numbers by the way, and by the way most of them if you look at the time it 
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shows you that it was not necessarily a call, I mean quite frankly when you go through 

the long list it’s not even a call, so most of them has got my number and secondly I 

don’t know if you buzz  a person for a second and you say you had a call.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And once again the itemised billing you see at page 78 showing 

the numbers that she called, but let’s go on, at page 80 there is a print of a 

...(intervention)  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Page 80? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Eight Zero. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Okay. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Maybe Mr Louw let me just have this clarified.  Mr Jonas when Mr 10 

Louw began to ask you questions on this affidavit by Major General Mnonopi you said 

something that I understood to be that she had extracted or withdrawn the affidavit.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That was my understanding. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Did I understand correctly? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That was my understanding Chair, I don’t know, that’s how I 

understand it. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Your understanding was based on what, I just don’t have a – I just 

want to make sure. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There was a public statement I think I read somewhere where it 

was said that she has retracted the statement, she’s going a different route, I am not 20 

sure, we can ask Mr Louw. 

CHAIRPERSON:  You are not sure, let me ask Mr Mokoena if he knows anything, just 

so that we as we proceed we know what the status of the affidavit is?  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENA SC:  He withdrew his application before this Commission to 

cross-examine so he never dealt with it yes. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Oh okay, no that I do know, that I do know.  Okay so if what Mr 

Mokoena is what may have given you the impression that she had withdrawn the 

affidavit, I think what the position is, is that she filed an applica tion for leave to cross-

examine you, but subsequently withdrew the application which doesn’t necessary mean 

she no longer stands by what she said in the affidavit.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Okay. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, alright. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chairman I am indebted to you.  Mr Jonas let’s just tip-toe 

on, if you can then look at page 80, this is what the witness stated on oath, is what was 

sent to you: 10 

“Good day Honourable DM [Deputy Minister I take it]  

Hope the DM is doing well.  My apologies DM I know you’ve  got a very busy 

schedule.  I am Major General Mnonopi, head of Serious Corruption 

Investigation ....” 

And she goes on to explain who she is.   

“I wish to have a word with the DM as I am investigating two cases where the 

DM is cited as key witness.  I tried to call the DM on numerous occasions 

with no success.  I would appreciate a call from the DM so as to take the 

matter further.  Hope to hear from the DM soon. 

With regards, 20 

Major General Mnonopi”  

Dated 21 April 2016.  Did you or did you not receive ...(intervention)  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I don’t recall receiving this message.  The one message I 

received again, I mean it would be nice to know the number to which this message was 

sent, but in any case the only, it could have been a message but the message I 
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received I responded promptly to it and that’s what necessitated a meeting that we had 

and there was only one meet. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Do you recall whether you may have received only one sms from her 

or two or is it a number of them? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I can’t recall Chair, I can’t recall. 

CHAIRPERSON:  You can’t recall, but from your side in terms of responding to her by 

way of sms do you recall that maybe you might have responded?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No, I never, I called her. 

CHAIRPERSON:  You called her yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  We had a conversation on the phone, following the 10 

conversation we had a meeting and that was the meeting where she was trying to 

basically persuade us to sign a statement that we didn’t write.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you.  Page 83 if you quickly move there, I just want to 

ask you about the sequence of events very quickly through this, this is now an affidavit 

from Lt General this time, Matakata, do you see that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Have you seen this affidavit before? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I did. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  She says the following in paragraph 3 of that affidavit at page 20 

83: 

“I can recall being in a meeting ...”  

She is not sure of the exact date and time. 

“...with Lt General Ntlemeza and Major General Mnonopi.  At the meeting 

Major General Mnonopi reported to General Ntlemeza that she has been 
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unsuccessful in obtaining a statement from a former Deputy Minister ....”  

That’s yourself.  It goes on in 4: 

“Lt General Ntlemeza then ca lled the former Deputy twice in my presence.  I 

recall that the former Deputy Minister indicated he could not submit the 

statement as he was not the complainant in the matter.”  

And then it goes on: 

“Further he did not open any case and was not a witness.  Mr  Jonas 

therefore was asking why the DPCI was looking for him, Lt General 

Ntlemeza explained to him that he is the witness in the matter.”  

And it goes on like that, and if you cross the page 84 at both instances Lt General 10 

Ntlemeza called the Deputy Minister and put him on speaker hence I could hear the 

utterances.   

 Now the point that is of some consequence is only this, she records in this 

affidavit that you said you would not open a case, you did not open a case, I apologise, 

you did not open a case, you were not a witness and therefore you were – why give a 

statement, if you’re neither a witness and you did not open the case, that is what is 

recorded over here. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is incorrect. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So that is a lie? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is incorrect. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  A lie or incorrect? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is completely incorrect, I recall the conversation with General 

Ntlemeza. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And what did you say to him? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The General, the conversation was about he said to me there is 
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a case and he didn’t explain what it is about, I asked what about he said the Guptas, I 

asked him am I a complaint or am a witness.  He said that depends on what you are 

going to say, and we then said let’s arrange a meeting and so that I can actually if I 

need to make a statement, and later by the way before I think two times after that and 

that’s when he told me that Lt Mnonopi would be the person that deals with the matter.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright, then if I may ask you if you can go to page 84, 

paragraph 5, at the last conversation when Lt General Ntlemeza and Mr Jonas and 

myself, Major General Mnonopi and Lt General Ntlemeza were in a meeting in General 

Ntlemeza’s boardroom – long sentence – Mr Jonas promised to come to the office in 

order for the affidavit to be obtained.  Is that correct? 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is untrue. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:    Once again it is not just a misunderstanding it must be a 

positive lie, is that so? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Look I did not – I did not – my issue was about that – I think 

that the next discussion we had was that the matter has been handed over to General 

Mnonopi and from now I will be dealing with General Mnonopi.  That was my last 

discussion with General Ntlemeza. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:    Alright it goes on if… 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  After that… 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Louw I just want to mention that I think that we have taken about 20 

50, 50 minutes but I must stop 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:    It feels like five. 

CHAIRPERSON:  But I am not stopping you now you have been using the time 

properly so I will give you a little bit more time to try and wrap up.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Truly indebted Mr Commissioner. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright it just goes on like that and it ends off with this pithy 

statement that never mind the arrangements that had been made Mr Jonas never 

came.  And you say that is nonsense you were never asked to come?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I was never asked to come to the office. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  If you then turn the page to 85 now to see what the date of this 

document is we have got to turn to 86 where you will see the date as 28 March 2017.  

Do you see it? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Right this is now addressed by the – by General Ntlemeza and 10 

this alarmingly is addressed to the speaker of the house of assembly, do you see it?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Do you have any memory of this document? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was never presented to me. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Never presented.  Well it makes for quite interesting reading 

and I am just going to read paragraph 3 because it is incredible.  

“The identified non-cooperation that is now with yourself is now 

leading the investigation team to believe that the honourable 

member of Parliament as a witness to this matter is found to be 

deliberately distorting and willingly failing himself to withstand his 20 

responsibilities of both public and private citizenship in 

circumstances of these compliances.”  

You say you never saw this? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I never saw this. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright. 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  So I cannot hardly respond to it. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright we can – I certainly cannot put it to you that because I 

am not appearing for those people that it was sent to any specific address but you deny 

that you even received this document. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I did not receive this. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Alright then just to end off this aspect the version of the police 

officials if I correctly understand it is that flowing from what you had said to General 

Ntlemeza on the phone namely that you are not a witness and you are not a 

complainant a statement was then prepared in precisely those terms.  If I may ask you 

perhaps if I think I might have – yes page 122 in the same bundle, just look at that.   10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I am on page 122.   

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Page 122 just to double check this is in bundle C1.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  C? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  C1.   

CHAIRPERSON:  On my bundle page 122 seems to be part of an affidavit or statement 

by Mr Ajay Gupta.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  C. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Oh C 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  C I apologise. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, okay. 20 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Did I say D?  Apologise if I said D. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Page 122.  Mr Jonas just to place this in context.  Is this the 

statement that the police prepared on your behalf?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I assume it is.  I will assume it is.  It looks like it.  
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Please I can tell you that it is an annexure to I think let me 

double check you statement I have go so many – and really I cannot go into the detail 

of how this whole thing came about but if I correctly understand the position in the 

papers this is what the statement was that was prepared by the police for you?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In general the line seems to be the same I mean the one was ja 

it looks like the same. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It looks like the same. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I can [indistinct]. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It looks like the same.  The one that you would not sign?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Because all I want to direct your attention to at page 122 it is 

the second last paragraph is where you said the following – no, no not you said 

apologise where it was said that you would say  

“During our engagement she informed me that I am cited as a 

witness in both cases and for that reason a detailed statement is 

required from me.” 

And here is the bit. 

“I responded to her that I am not prepared to submit any 

statement as I never opened any case against anyone and I do 

not intend opening any further I am not witness to any person.”  20 

In other words non-committal you do not want to make a statement?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  This was a statement prepared by General Mnonopi  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And all of this thing that she talks about never happened and so 

in any case why would I have signed something that is false.  I never had a meeting, I 
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never had this discussion that is captured in this paragraph with her.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And… 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And by the way it was preceded by a detailed discussion where 

she was telling us that we cannot assist the DA and the COPE on this matter we have 

to kind of kick it out. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Leave that aside.  What we do know is that General Matakata at 

page 83 made an affidavit where precisely the contents that I now read to you she says 

rightly or wrongly is what you said over the phone and you say that is wrong?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is wrong I did not say that. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  It is not just the miss remembering or a miss statement it is a 10 

positive lie? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did not – I did not remembering saying that, I did not say that.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chairman my predicament is I could go on for a day or more 

but if this is my time it is about as good a time to stop.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Well the idea is to try and strike a balance you know one has got to 

be fair to your client and all implicated persons and but at the same time look at the fact 

that we should not take too long. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So that is part of the reason why I did not stop you at the time that I 

had indicated so in terms of important things that you want to cover how much time do 20 

you think you still need? 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Chair my difficulty is if I get in – into any of the detailed aspects. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  As it is with any examination like that.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 
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ADV PIET LOUW SC:  We have to go to one page keep a finger and go to another 

page, compare them. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  This is it is fairly lengthy – a fairly lengthy exercise and I think if 

I may just perhaps confirm with my learned junior.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  Ja.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I am just taking a quick instruction to make sure that…  

CHAIRPERSON:  No that is fine.  That is fine. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chairman on the understanding that …  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 10 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  We could perhaps provide you. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Because you are the Chief Inquisitor in this case.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  With a list of matters that we find to be contradictive  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And indicative of Mr Jonas’ version not being correct.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And in due course asking you when Mr Zuma testifies to look 

carefully at what he has to say. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  And that is at variance with this witness. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Mr Chairman that is all I can then do in the allocated time.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  No certainly I would welcome that but I am just – I am happy 
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that you check with your team if in terms of what you have covered.  I think you had – 

you were taking instructions or whatever.  I am keen to make sure that at least 

important issues the rest if you the suggestions you make I think it is  an important 

suggestion because again the legal team of the commission they are not pushing for a 

particular version. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  No. 

CHAIRPERSON:  They look at all versions and they will put questions so the 

suggestion you make is most welcome.  But I just want to check whether subject to that 

you are okay or whether you need a little bit more time?  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Chair I would like more time but it is going to be exactly the 10 

same thing in fifteen, twenty, half an hour.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay, okay. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  So I think on the understanding that perhaps we can finish our 

learned colleagues… 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  With inviting what we believe to be indicative.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of Mr Jonas’ version being incorrect on the essential points. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. Yes. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  I think if I may then at this point 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  End the cross-examination. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay no no that is fine and once again the suggestion you make is  

most welcome let us do that.  Send whatever document you may send that would point 

to certain issue or contradictions or other material that you think should need to be 
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looked at and certainly I will look at it.  

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Of course. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PIET LOUW SC:  Thank you Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja but thank you very much.  Mr Mokoene. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Chair Mr Trengrove would wish re-examine. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay that is fine.  I did not determine any time before and I think we 

should determine – I should determine it now. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Yes Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  What – how much do you suggest Mr Trengrove?  10 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  I will be ten minutes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ten minutes? 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Ten minutes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ten minutes okay.  No thank you.  Yes you may proceed. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Mr Jonas on the issue before the tribunal the difference 

between you and Mr Zuma is extremely narrow, you understand that?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  In fact it is common cause that the two of you met at the 

Hyatt, common cause that you went to the Gupta house.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes it is. 20 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Common cause that Fana Hlongwane was at the Gupta 

house? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Common cause that there was on occasion at least a Gupta 

brother? 
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MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  The only difference between you is what was – what 

happened at the Gupta house. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes it is. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And you will have noticed that that is the one thing that my 

learned friend did not canvass in cross-examination. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes it is. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Everything except what happened at the Gupta house.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  So I would like to deal with that issue.  The version of Mr 10 

Zuma that has put to you.  And that version is that the whole purpose of the meeting 

and the only topic of discussion at the meeting was rumours that Mr Hlongwane had 

blackmailed you or had tried to blackmail you. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is correct. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Now… 

CHAIRPERSON:  Please raise your voice again. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is correct. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Jonas. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Now has he ever blackmailed you? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No he has not. 20 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Have you ever accused him of blackmail.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I did not. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Have you ever heard of any rumours to that effect?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No I did not. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  So if anybody said to you Mr Jonas we hear rumours that 
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you complained that Fana Hlonwane had tied to blackmail you what would your 

response have been? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is nonsense. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Would it have been – would it have required more than a 

one minute discussion to resolve the issue? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Probably even a phone call. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Ja.  And before this meeting on the 23 rd when last had you 

spoken to Mr Hlongwane? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  In two days or one day before. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  On the telephone? 10 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  And that morning I think. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  On the telephone or in person? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  On the telephone, on the telephone and we met a week or two 

so before. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And at that time was the – did he say anything at all about 

these rumours. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No there was nothing about rumours. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Was there any tension or hostility between the two of you?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was the friendly meeting. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  If he was looking for an occasion to discuss that kind of 20 

rumours with you was there any reason for him not to do so in that conversation.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No he would have – he would have directly spoken to me but 

[indistinct ] because I did not even know Duduzane from a bar of soap actually.  

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Now and what is more they = they then tell us that at this 

meeting at the Gupta house nothing else was discussed except for this alleged 
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blackmail rumour.  Can I ask you to go to Mr Zuma’s statement at page 172 paragraph 

6. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Which is the – which file? 

CHAIRPERSON:  Which exhibit is it?  Is it C1? 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  I think it is.  D. 

CHAIRPERSON:  D3. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  D3 ja. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  And what is the page number? 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  172.   

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you. 10 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Are you there?  At the foot of the page in paragraph 6 you 

will see he says in the third line rumours were surfacing in general that Mr Jonas 

allegedly claimed that Mr Hlongwane blackmailed him, Jonas in some or other manner.  

These rumours were regarded as very serious.  Paragraph 7.  When these rumours 

started to surface Mr Hlongwane in discussion with me decided to set up a meeting with 

Mr Jonas in an attempt to clear it up. And then the part that I would like to emphasise.  

As Mr Jonas also in his discussions with Mr Hlongwane wanted to know from me 

directly where these rumours were spreading or coming from.  Do you see that 

sentence? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 20 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  So he says that not only did you wanted to know where 

these rumours were coming from and you had raised that question not only in your 

discussions with Mr Zuma but also in your discussions with Mr Hlongwane.  Did you 

see that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I see that. 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-326



15 MARCH 2019 – DAY 67 
 

Page 95 of 102 

 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Is there any truth to that statement whatsoever? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It is completely untrue. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And if either of them had raised it with you what would your 

response have been? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I would have told them that it is nonsense basically.  

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Then please go his account of what happened at the 

meeting at page 174 in paragraph 14.  He says my observations during the meeting 

was that both Mr Jonas and Mr Hlongwane ventilated and discussed the rumours of the 

blackmail allegations.  Any truth to that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Untrue again it is false. 10 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Where there anything to discuss. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There was nothing to discuss it was even mentioned by the…  

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And look it goes further not only was it discussed he says 

and eventually reached a stage where although it was not fully resolved the dust settled 

between them so to speak and they agreed that they should – that should any further 

issues arises that they would arrange further follow-up meetings in that regard.  

According to my assessment of the meeting the issue between Mr Hlongwane and Mr 

Jonas was not entirely resolved but hanged in the air for further follow-up meeting.  I do 

not know whether the – whether or not the dispute between them regarding the claims 

of alleged blackmail was ever resolved.  Any truth to that?  20 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No truth to that. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  So not only does he say that the blackmail allegations were 

resolved but there was still an issue between you and Mr Hlongwane ca using hostility 

and tension and the issue was not fully resolved, any truth to that?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  No truth at all. 
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ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  You will have notice that that was not canvassed with you in 

cross-examination at all. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  I did notice. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  As for the Gupta version we have heard the version of two 

Gupta brothers was put to you as to what happened at the meeting, do you remember 

that? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I do. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Do you remember that the Gupta family issued a public 

statement at the time when your accusation became public?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes they did. 10 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And what did they say at the time about the accusation that 

they had offered you a bribe at a meeting at their house?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  The statement was that the meeting never happened I was 

lying. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Can I refer you to a copy of the statement please.  Can I put 

this copy of the statement before you?  I only have two copies Chair so I am – ja will 

you hand one to the Chair.  You will see that is a public statement issued by Oakbay on 

behalf of the Gupta family but let us just take it from the top.  It is on an Oakbay 

letterhead it says Mcebisi Jonas…  

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Trengrove maybe we should mark this document now  Yesterday 20 

Mr Pretorius put up a document and we forget what it should be marked.  

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Certainly Chair I will be… 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Mokeone might be helpful.   

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  My learned friend suggest C2 Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  C2. Exhibit C2? 
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ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Ja. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay.  This will be marked Exhibit C2 and that is a document marked 

News and analysis Oakbay Investments PTY Limited it is Jonas there was no meeting 

Gupta family.  Yes thank you. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Thank you Chair.  So you will see it says Mcebisi Jonas 

there was no meeting Gupta family.  That is the gist of what you say they said at the 

time. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Do not put it aside yet I want to take you through other parts 

of it. You will see it is dated the 13 March 2016 and then it says it is a statement from 10 

Oakbay Investments on behalf of the Gupta family.  So that was made on behalf of Mr 

Ajay Gupta and Mr Rajesh Gupta amongst others.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  And it recounts the accusation and then in the middle of the 

page there is a very short paragraph which says:  to be absolutely clear there was no 

meeting at all.  Do you see that?  Will you answer audibly Mr Jonas?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  The machine does not pick up your nod. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Yes I can see that. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Ja and then my learned friend put to you the account of 20 

various members of the Hawks at including that of General Ntlemeza correct?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Correct. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  He was the head of the Hawks at the time? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  He was the head of the Hawks. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  He is also the man whose appointment as head of the 
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Hawks was set aside by the Supreme Court Of Appeal.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is correct. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Because he had committed perjury in a high court case.  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is correct. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  He was also said to be behind the disastrous prosecution of 

Minister Gordhan? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  That is correct. 

ADV WIM TRENGROVE:  Thank you Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much Mr Trengrove.  Mr Jonas prior to the meeting 

with Mr Dudzane Zuma at the Hyatt Hotel and later at the Gupta residence do you 10 

recall about how many conversations on the phone you had had with Mr Duduzane 

Zuma?  There was the one on the day you came back from is it Luanda?  

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There were quite a couple I mean not too much but quite a 

couple. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Sorry? 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  It was not many Chair I mean there were.. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  There were quite a couple though. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Quite a couple of them. 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  Ja. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja I was trying to have a look earlier on it seemed that in your 

statement at least those that I could see apart from the one that we dealt with earlier on 

that there may have been another one on the 19 October of course your meeting was 

on the 23rd October.  You both exchanged sms’s and then there were some phone – 

telephone or cell phone conversations as wel l.  So you say it was a couple but you do 
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not remember 

MR MCEBISI JONAS:  A couple and a lot of missed calls [indistinct].  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  Okay alright thank you.  Mr Mokoene. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Mr Chair I have no questions for Mr Jonas. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes okay alright thank you.  What is the situation with regard to Mr 

Hlongwane’s legal team?  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Mr Chair I beg leave to hand correspondence which 

was handed to me during the tea adjournment.  It might at least give us an indicat ion as 

to what transpired.  You would see Chair that the first letter which was written to Mr 

Fana Hlongwane’s attorneys Stockenstroom Fouchee it is dated the 28 January 2019.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:  Well it is addressed to Mr Fana Hlongwane but  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Co care of. 

CHAIRPERSON:  But it says Dear Mr Fouchee 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  So it is addressed to Mr Fana Hlongwane care of Stockenstroom 

Fouchee Incorporated. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Because they have placed themselves on record as the 

attorneys for Mr Fana Hlongwane. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja but it is strange to address it to the client.   

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  It is very strange but Mr Mabunda did that.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:  Anyway ja okay. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  And you will see in that in paragraph 2 then there dates 

which were proposed for Mr Jonas to complete his evidence to be cross -examined and 

the three dates are furnished in paragraph 2.1, 2,2 and 2,3.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  And they were indicated to choose one and to liaise in 

order to synchronise the diaries with all the respective parties.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  The second letter Mr Chair you will see if – immediately 

after that letter you then find another letter addressed to strange ly as it may seem to Mr 

Fana Hlongwane but care of his legal – his attorneys dated the same day where there 

was a correction of the date.  You will see that on paragraph 3 it says that ‘kindly 

substitute this date for the 15 March 2019 the remainder of the  letter remains valid. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  So this is where they were informed about this date but 10 

it does not end there. 

CHAIRPERSON:  The wrong date was 11 March 2019.03.15 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:   It was 11 March then it was corrected to 15 March. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  So there is no ambiguity about the date as to when the 

matter will be proceeding to finalise Mr Jonas’ testimony.  The last letter you will see Mr 

Chair is the one dated the…  

CHAIRPERSON:  Dated the 18 January 2019. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes.  And it says I think it is quite important paragraph 1 

we refer to the above matter and in particular what our letter on even date 2.  We 20 

confirm that the legal representative of Mr Duduzane Zuma Ms Van Der Merwe and Van 

Der Merwe have confirmed their availability on the 15 March 2019.  3.  We further 

confirm that the date of the conclusion of the evidence and cross -examination of Mr 

Jonas will be heard on the 15 March 2019.  We trust that you will find  the above in 

order. 
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CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  So there can never be doubt that there was 

communication that was directed to Mr Fana Hlogwane’s attorneys and that the date 

was confirmed as early as the 30 January 2019.  That is how far – as far as I can take 

the matter Mr Chair as to why they are not here today I do not have first -hand 

information. 

CHAIRPERSON:  You – do we have any information – any proof how these letters were 

sent whether they were sent as emails or they were just posted or faxed we do not 

have that? 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  I do not have that but one would assume that by seeing 10 

the attorneys of Mr Duduzane Zuma here today and having not questioned any dates 

and this was the last correspondence sent to all the parties.  

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  One would assume that it was also dispersed to the 

attorneys of Mr Fana Hlongwane.  If much more proof is required we might just have to 

uplift from Mr Mabunda 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  The – either emails confirming that they were received 

or he can tell us by which mode. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Ja. 20 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Were the letters directed to Mr Fana Hlongwane’s 

attorneys. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Okay no that is fine.   

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  I think therefore we will need to release Mr Jonas.  
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ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  And if and when the – another need arises for him to come back we 

will take it from there. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes Mr Chair. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Mr Jonas thank you very much for coming to complete your evidence 

and for making yourself available for cross-examination.  Mr Hlongwane’s lawyers are 

not here to cross-examine today.  As you have heard apparently correspondence was 

addressed to his attorneys notifying them about today and if and when a need arises 

for you to be asked to come back we will deal with it then.  But thank you very much 

and you are excused.  Thank you.  Yes Mr Mokoene. 10 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Mr Chair that concludes  

CHAIRPERSON:  For today. 

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  The proceedings for today. 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes.  Alright we will adjourn the proceedings for today until Monday 

when we will begin with evidence relating to Denel.  

ADV PHILLIP MOKOENE SC:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON:  For next week.  We will be hearing evidence relating to Denel.  We 

adjourn. 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 18 MARCH 2019  

 20 
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[Opening of Hearing // 4 October 2016] 1 

Adv T Madonsela : On behalf of the Public Protector South Africa welcome, Mister Gupta 2 

and Mister Van der Merwe, to this Hearing or partial Hearing.  We 3 

thank you for taking the time.  I understand that you are extremely 4 

busy.  We had hoped that we would have your two brothers as well 5 

and the team has advised that they are out of the country, and we 6 

had hoped we could interview them via Skype.   7 

We will have to persuade Mr Van der Merwe that it is in their 8 

interest to be interviewed via Skype and that you can still provide 9 

the support to them via Skype.  I honestly think it would be ideal.  I 10 

do know that you probably would be able to answer for everyone Sir, 11 

but the right to speak in your own voice and in your own defence is 12 

ideally a right that belongs to you and somebody else should not 13 

exercise it for you.  I’m not saying we are going to make any adverse 14 

findings against them at this stage, but it is just ideal that each one of 15 

them should have been able to speak for themselves, if they could.   16 

We have requested here as part of an investigation conducted 17 

in terms of Section 182 of the Constitution, which gives the Public 18 

Protector the power to investigate any alleged or suspected 19 

improper conduct in State affairs, to report on that conduct and to 20 

take appropriate remedial action.  I thought before we introduce 21 

ourselves, I can see that Adv Kanyane is looking to me to say the 22 

process is a bit flawed and we need to introduce ourselves, but I 23 

thought let me just explain this, because you are a private citizen.  24 

For most people who are private citizens it is difficult to understand 25 
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2 

why do we call you to an event like this when we investigate conduct 1 

in State affairs.  Firstly it is because State affairs is not investigating 2 

the acts of public officials, as it was incorrectly understood 3 

previously.  It is investigate conduct in State affairs, whoever was 4 

involved in a State affairs matter.  It could be private persons, it could 5 

be people in the public sector and if ever there was lack of clarity, we 6 

found out the hard way in the Mail & Guardian case, where Adv 7 

Mushwana, conceding that investigating State affairs means once a 8 

matter has gone outside the system we couldn’t follow it.   9 

In the Public Protector v Mail & Guardian the Supreme Court of 10 

Appeal reminded us that we have to go everywhere, where pieces of 11 

the puzzle around what happened in State affairs may be found and 12 

that may involve going to a private company and asking questions to 13 

that private company to get that piece of the puzzle.  It was found 14 

then that with the role in failing to follow the money from ... it had 15 

moved from PetroSA and it had gone to Mvuma, Mvuma-something, 16 

some private entity, and once it was there we hadn’t asked the 17 

questions and we (indistinct) for that.   18 

Since then we have made sure that we follow it.  So that is part 19 

of it, but the second part of it is, if your name is mentioned in a 20 

report, even if we don’t make findings against you, it is implicating 21 

you.  You don’t want to find out when there is a media briefing or 22 

find out ... as in some of our early days people found out that their 23 

names rocked up in some report.  Even if it is mentioned just as a 24 

small piece, you want to have been asked questions and you wanted 25 
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to have clarified what you know about what happened.  It is in that 1 

regard Sir, that we have asked you to come.  For the record we are 2 

going to state our names.  We record these proceedings and we will 3 

provide a copy to yourself today, even if you want it today, the audio 4 

is available instantly.  The transcripts take a little while, because we 5 

do not have in-house transcription and we have to outsource it.  For 6 

that reason then it takes a bit of a while.  My name is Thuli 7 

Madonsela, the Public Protector.   8 

Adv N Kanyane :  Thank you.  PP, I just want also for the record to put that today is the 9 

4th of October 2016, the date.  My name is Nkebe Kanyane.  I’m the 10 

Acting Executive Manager in the Good Governance & Integrity 11 

Branch. 12 

Mr B Dhlamini : I’m Bonginkosi Dhlamini, the Chief of Staff, Public Protector South 13 

Africa.  14 

Mr I Naidoo : I’m Inben Naidoo, Investigator. 15 

Mr F Lekubo : Frans Lekubo, Investigator. 16 

Mr S Delaney : Simon Delaney, I’m an Investigator too.  17 

Mr G vd Merwe : Good morning, I’m Gert van der Merwe, Attorney for Mr Ajay Gupta, 18 

who is present this morning. 19 

Mr A Gupta : Ajay Gupta. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.   The first role I would like to just explain is your role, 21 

Sir, Mister Van der Merwe.  In law generally you have a right to legal 22 

representation and the right to legal assistance.  In these proceedings 23 

we try as much as possible to talk to the person, but under your 24 

guidance and your watchful eye.  Should we ask you a question that 25 
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you think is inappropriate or you think your client should not be 1 

asked or answer, you can then request that we don’t ask that 2 

question.  Should there be a technical issue that you think needs your 3 

input, you can request an opportunity to make that input.  Should 4 

you want to stop the proceedings, so that you can have a discussion 5 

with your client or to prepare him for the next phase, that can be 6 

done.  The only think I just request is that we don’t talk over each 7 

other when one person is speaking.   8 

You indicate if you would like to stop me, so that we can 9 

proceed, but you don’t just interrupt.  That is my only request Sir, if 10 

that is okay.  That applies to you, Sir, that we don’t interrupt each 11 

other.  We will also try not to interrupt you when you are speaking.  12 

The team is supposed to just flag questions as you speak.  Only when 13 

you are finished are we allowed to then ask questions.  You are here 14 

in connection with an investigation lodged by three Complainants, 15 

between March 2016 and April 2016.   16 

The first complaint was Father S Maibe on behalf of the 17 

Dominican Order, who requested us to investigate the veracity of 18 

media reports, alleging that the Deputy Minister of Finance, the 19 

Honourable Mr Mcebisi Jonas, was offered the post of Minister of 20 

Finance long before his then colleague, Mr Nhlanhla Nene was 21 

removed by the President on December 9, 2015.  He alleges Sir, that 22 

the post was offered by a member of your family, the Gupta Family 23 

and specifically he says you, Mister Ajay Gupta, offered him that post.  24 

He said the offer was made at the residence in Saxonwold in 25 
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Johannesburg.  You will just have to forgive us, because we have put 1 

there “Atul”.  It was a mistake, that it was supposed to be ...  2 

Mr A Gupta : No, it is fine.  3 

Adv T Madonsela : That will be corrected.  We realised yesterday when these 4 

documents were gone that there is a mistake and even with the 5 

Presidency we would do that.  So it is not Atul that is said to have 6 

made the offer.  It is yourself, so we apologise for that.  It is also 7 

alleged that you must have influenced ... or that conversation, or 8 

whatever it came from, must have influenced the removal of Minister 9 

Nene, because he was subsequently removed in December 2015.   10 

Okay, we now know that four days later he was shifted to the 11 

post of Traditional Affairs.  It is also alleged that Ms Vytjie Mentor 12 

was offered the post of Minister of Public Enterprises and it is said 13 

that this was done in exchange for cancelling the South African 14 

Airways.  I would just want for your purposes to be aware that Mr 15 

Jonas alleges that it was said to him that “The old man wants to 16 

appoint you as the Minister of Finance, provided you work for us ... 17 

provided you work with us”.   18 

That is the media report that they were relying on.  That then 19 

brings a quid pro quo arrangement, which potentially violates the 20 

provision of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act, 21 

because it is offering gratification, elevation to Minister of Finance, 22 

subject to him agreeing to make certain decisions that would not 23 

necessarily ... he would not ordinarily make them the way he would 24 

make them if he is not beholden to anyone.  Ms Mentor says she was 25 
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offered the post of Minister for Public Enterprises in China, August 1 

2010.  She said that was in exchange for cancelling the SAA route to 2 

India.  That is why then we have called you here.  There is also a 3 

certain Mr Sipho Maseko who has made allegations, but they don’t 4 

involve you, although they are about helping you.  We are not going 5 

to ... I think in all fairness we will probably have to ask you about that 6 

one, about Mr Maseko, because he alleges that the President asked 7 

him to help you.  We would then have to ask if you ever asked the 8 

President to ask Mr Maseko to help you, just for completion, but he 9 

hasn’t said that you asked him.  That is basically the essence of the 10 

allegations here. 11 

Adv N Kanyane :  No, there is just a correction PP, but I will do it when we come to 12 

that, with Maseko.  I think there are specific questions that we would 13 

want Mr Gupta to answer to. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, that is what I’m saying, that we will have to ask you questions, 15 

even though he hasn’t ... okay, we will leave it be, okay.  Those are 16 

three people making allegations.  That is really the main reason you 17 

are here, Sir.  Everything else then is evidence that we have collected 18 

based on these people who made media allegations and then these 19 

three Complainants took the newspaper clippings, and lodged a 20 

complaint on the basis of those.  The third Complainant, I must 21 

indicate, it has implications for you, even though he is not making 22 

allegations against you.  He is a private citizen whose name I have 23 

chosen to withhold.  He alleges or he asked us to investigate ... he 24 

didn’t make really direct allegations.  It is more the suspected part, 25 
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because it says we investigate “alleged” or “suspected”.  He made 1 

allegations that suggested that he suspected that there was 2 

wrongdoing regarding Cabinet’s involvement in the banking issue.  3 

He asked us to investigate why did Cabinet get involved in a conflict 4 

between a private company and the banks, when there is the 5 

Banking Ombudsman and the National Consumer Commission?  He 6 

then asked if there may be corruption involved in this matter, but he 7 

didn’t say there was corruption.  That is why I’m saying “suspected” 8 

and asked us to look into it, about whether Cabinet has ever done 9 

something like this before and whether this is the way to do it?   10 

So it is really three things then, it is these two that they said 11 

they were offered.  They then ... I think Mentor then alleged that 12 

Ministers ... there are several other Ministers who were ... whose 13 

appointments was influenced by your family, Sir.  We have a series of 14 

questions, but maybe to make things fast, I just want to ask you 15 

firstly to respond to the allegations.  Then we are going to go into 16 

these specific questions.  The first allegation is Minister Jonas, do you 17 

know him? 18 

Mr G vd Merwe : I’m sorry, I know I’m not supposed to interrupt, but can I as the Legal 19 

Representative just quickly respond to what you have said so far in a 20 

form of an introductory – I don’t want to say – “argument”, since it is 21 

not a court.  I thought it wise to do it before we commence with the 22 

proceedings, so that it is recorded and so that you are aware of 23 

concerns.  Should the report then be produced at some point in time 24 

at least it is on record. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir. 1 

Mr G vd Merwe : May I first ask how do I address you in this Forum? 2 

Adv T Madonsela : As Public Protector. 3 

Mr G vd Merwe : Public Protector? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 5 

Mr G vd Merwe : “Madam Public Protector”, I suppose, yes. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : That is an interesting ring to it.  We just normally say “Public 7 

Protector”, but I will live with “Madam Public Protector”, Sir. 8 

Mr G vd Merwe : May I just, as far as the process for this morning is concerned, 9 

whether you are aware of it or not ... our understanding of the 10 

meeting is that we were invited to meet with you.  We have not 11 

received a subpoena.  There might be various reasons for that.  The 12 

one is, we assumed it might be out of courtesy that we did not 13 

receive a subpoena.  The benefit however of a subpoena is that in 14 

terms of the Act you get background, you get certain facts to which 15 

you can prepare when you give evidence.   16 

So we are at a bit of a disadvantage, since the three issues or 17 

actually four issues that you have raised with us now are news to 18 

both myself and Mr Gupta.  We didn’t consult on that per se, but you 19 

can tell me if I’m wrong, if there is a document that prepares us for 20 

these issues?  I just want to tell you, I’m not going to ask for a break.  21 

I want to show the Forum that Mr Gupta does not have to rely on his 22 

Attorney to guide him when it comes to issues to be giving evidence 23 

on.  So that is something I just want to place on record.  We sit with 24 

an agenda in front of us and that is the document we had for 25 
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purposes of preparation of this morning, but it seems as if you have 1 

questions or the draft report.  We haven’t seen that I don’t say that 2 

I’m entitled to see that, but we have not seen any document 3 

(indistinct).  The concern I also need to raise is that – and he will 4 

address you in his own words as far as that is concerned – is the 5 

predetermined views on what the family is.   6 

I don’t say this Forum has predetermined views on it, but the 7 

Press has certainly made a good fight on how corrupt and 8 

inappropriate the family has been.  On any version the first possible 9 

opportunity we got to address you, we came here.  I also need to 10 

record that I felt uncomfortable coming to this meeting without 11 

consulting with any of the two brothers.  Since they are abroad, we 12 

don’t have the facility necessarily to fly there quickly and come back 13 

and consult on issues.   14 

I thought it to be possibly prejudicial towards them in putting 15 

them on a TV screen and giving evidence as and when required.  I do 16 

need to report that they are willing and able to assist in whatever 17 

information you require, on the same basis as Mr Ajay.  We came 18 

with invitation, no subpoena.  I want to make sure that you 19 

understand that we are here to give you the information we have.  20 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir. 21 

Mr G vd Merwe : That being said, I also want to raise – but that is for your panel to 22 

decide of course – that two of the three matters that you have raised 23 

I think fall outside the two-year bar in terms of the Public Protector 24 

Act.  So if there are specific circumstances, according to you, to 25 
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address them, then so be it.  I suppose there might be, but I just need 1 

to raise that there is a reason why that particular portion is included 2 

in the Act, but even that being said, Mr Gupta is willing to assist and 3 

give a version you require from him on those issues, although they 4 

are in my book barred by time. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Mister Van der Merwe.  I would like to find out from the 6 

team if you were not favoured with the kind of document that 7 

everyone else has been favoured with, prior to coming to this 8 

meeting?  I had assumed that you were favoured with the same 9 

documents that I was signing, inviting people either by subpoena, 10 

because the document explains to everyone what the charges are, 11 

who are the Complainants, with all of the others.  So it is the first 12 

time I’m confronted with this situation where the person we are 13 

talking to has not been given the documents in advance.  14 

Mr G vd Merwe : I don’t want to interrupt you, but I want to say that we wrote a letter 15 

to say that I act for the brothers, “Don’t you ever think it is necessary 16 

to call us for something” and then you accepted the invitation.  That 17 

is how we got to you. 18 

Adv N Kanyane :  Yeah.  19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  No, I wasn’t aware.  I think I still would have said you would 20 

be sent the information that would have been in the subpoena, 21 

because everyone else that we have spoken to you – you are right – 22 

they were sent a subpoena and it was standard, the information was 23 

the same for everyone, “We are investigating this complaint, who is 24 

the Complainant, what did they allege, what are they relying on?” and 25 
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I think this one I take responsibility, as somebody who is overseeing 1 

this, that I didn’t ask the team, because even if you come by invitation 2 

it is not fair that you come having no clue what are you going to 3 

answer for.  But that having been said, we accept what you are saying 4 

and if at any stage you want to amend your answers, we are not 5 

going to hold anything against you.   6 

If you want us to have another engagement in the next couple 7 

of days to get more information, we would be happy to do that and I 8 

sincerely apologise on the record that that information was not 9 

provided to you, and I had absolutely no idea that it wasn’t provided.  10 

What I did withhold from you was a possible Section 79 Notice, 11 

indicating what kind of evidence we already have, because I felt that 12 

given the fact that we ... this is our first interview with you and we 13 

have never written to you asking you to give us just answers to all of 14 

these things that are being said against you, to jump to a point where 15 

you are then saying this is our prima facie case or anything, would 16 

have been more offensive than the situation we find.   17 

So as we sit, I don’t know, you say that we have draft reports.  I 18 

can assure you that any conclusions regarding what really was your 19 

role in this whole thing will only come after this meeting and I’m 20 

hundred percent sure about that, that if you were to ask me to take a 21 

lie detector test about that, I’m on the record, I would take it, because 22 

these four people know exactly where ... our situation at this stage 23 

regarding your exact role.  Of course ...  24 

Mr G vd Merwe : I’m on record not asking you to take that.  I do believe you.  I’m just 25 
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saying what (indistinct). 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but I would be happy to do that, that we don’t have a document 2 

that says you are already guilty of this or we suspect you are guilty of 3 

this at this stage, yes. 4 

Adv N Kanyane : PP, would you like me to respond to how we got Mr Gupta to be 5 

here? 6 

Adv T Madonsela : No, it doesn’t matter, because I think the issue is we are admitting 7 

that there isn’t a document and I am taking responsibility as 8 

somebody who is overseeing, but I should have said ... at least there 9 

has to be a sense of preparing, because with all of the others – even 10 

not just this one – even people who haven’t come by subpoena there 11 

is normally a letter that says, requesting you to come.  We have a ... in 12 

terms of Section 7(4) of the Public Protector Act you can come by 13 

invitation or by subpoena, but in both cases we still explain what will 14 

be the purpose of the meeting, what are the allegations against you.   15 

So at this stage there is no blame-shifting.  It is my job to make 16 

sure that I guide this process and it is my job ... at least by yesterday 17 

to have found out where are we standing, what do you have and that 18 

didn’t happen and I do apologise.  We then have to look at how can 19 

we sort that out?  However, having indicated, it really is what already 20 

has been in the media since I think about March this year when this 21 

matter was reported to us, it is those allegations, Jonas, which have 22 

been repeated a lot. 23 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes, (indistinct). 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Excuse me, Mentor.  There is nothing new and then there is the 25 
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allegation that is ... I said it is not an allegation against you, it is a 1 

question raised by the third Complainant regarding why is the family 2 

being helped by a whole Cabinet of the Republic of South Africa, is 3 

that no one but the Cabinet steps in to help an individual company 4 

(indistinct).  That having been said, perhaps instead of zooming into 5 

that Mister Gupta, let’s ask simpler questions then, just to ... for 6 

example tell us a bit about your business in South Africa and the role 7 

that is played by the various family members? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Thank you, Madam Public Protector, thank you very much.  There is 9 

nothing wrong for an invitation also, you know I’m very happy.  I’m 10 

glad in fact that you called me and to be here, first time ever we are 11 

able to say our side of the story to anyone, and this is very good for 12 

us.  I want to say a few things before I start on that.  My English is not 13 

that good. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, Sir. 15 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so if anything, anywhere you feel that is not making good 16 

sense, I will try to communicate properly to you that.  So please ask 17 

me and I will clarify those things.  The second thing is, regarding the 18 

business you ask me, as personally as Ajay Gupta I don’t have any 19 

business, any shares, any Board Member in any part of the world as 20 

Ajay Gupta.  I work for a family and I advise on the financial matter to 21 

the family.  Most of the financial deals they ask me and I handle 22 

everything, most of the things, so this is my role in this thing.  The 23 

whole family do the business.  In 1994 or 1993 my younger brother, 24 

middle one, whom you have met (indistinct), that he come in this.  He 25 
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is a very young boy, a 23-year-old, on that time a 24-year-old and 1 

from that onwards he started.  He loved this country and he started 2 

the business here, and I don’t go into too much of a detail.  I will go 3 

and take a whole evening to ...  4 

Adv N Kanyane : If you say your younger brother Sir, which one? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Atul Gupta.  6 

Adv N Kanyane : Okay.  Yes, Sir.  7 

Mr A Gupta : I’m the eldest, my name is Ajay Gupta.  My middle brother is Atul 8 

Gupta, who is the Chairman of the group and ... was.  I mean now he 9 

resigned, and the youngest is Rajesh Gupta, whose nickname is Tony.  10 

So he is known ... the people call him Tony, but his nickname is Tony, 11 

so his is name is Rajesh Gupta.  So these are the three brothers, we all 12 

three (indistinct) there.   13 

So not to go in too much detail, that he started the computer 14 

business and this computer business ... and he carry on that and 15 

further he diversified, and in fact he bought a few company in that 16 

time, all that time also, before 2000 I think, so Altech, from this one 17 

company they bought it.  It is called from Altech Group and then we 18 

diversify in mining business also, the mining services business.   19 

That they bought it in 2006 mainly from Tokyo Sexwale, I think 20 

so.  He was the major shareholder in that company, that company 21 

called JIC today.  Then they went to the ... 2010 or 2009 they went to 22 

the media business and then they started first ... on that time I was 23 

some small shareholder in Sahara Systems also, very small, but I sold 24 

on that time 2005/2006.  It has been given to me as a management 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-348



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

15 

on that time and on that time I had taken a position in when we start 1 

one small magazine called Thinker, and on that time also I had been a 2 

part of that Board Member or something for a small period, and that 3 

also been resigned the same time and this magazine is being later on 4 

... because it has been started with some other person and it has been 5 

taken by him.  Then we started this newspaper in 2010 and TV 6 

channel in 2013, if I believe.   7 

I mean rectify the dates, it is not hundred percent right, 8 

because I'm not so much of a ... it is all I’m talking about my memory 9 

in this thing and the same time then we will enter in ... in 2010 we 10 

enter in when we buy the ... 2006 we buy that mining services 11 

company.  In 2010 we buy the one company called ... from Canadian 12 

company, called Uranium One, we bought the company from 13 

Uranium One, which is called today the Shiva Uranium, which has 14 

been listed in their capital (indistinct) of their resources or 15 

something.  On the same time we bought a company in 2013, I think, 16 

VR Laser, which is in manufacturing sector of steel cutting and 17 

bending business.   18 

Now in 2016 we bought the Optimum Coal and somewhere in 19 

2010/2011 we also bought a company called Tegeta, Tegeta 20 

Resources, which is they have a production in 2010 and 2012 or 21 

something, by 2012 most probably.  Then it being ... because it was in 22 

a partnership of 50/50, the foreign investors and then they say that 23 

the water licence is the issue.  Then I read in the newspapers, so we 24 

stopped mining at this thing and 2014 we got a first water licence in 25 
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2014, so then this company started production in ... first production 1 

in April 2015.  That is the first production we have had from this coal 2 

mining of this thing.  That is sort of business I think so we have.  A 3 

very small as a company ... our family have a business like that, they 4 

have one property company, but there only my two brothers and 5 

their wives are the shareholder, the younger brothers and their both 6 

wives and that property would nominally buy the assets and do 7 

rental to their own companies, not outside, most of them, maybe one 8 

or two on the outside, very small housing assets there.  That is all the 9 

business we have then.  10 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, that is very helpful. 11 

Mr A Gupta : You can ask if anybody ... me  you can forget, anybody can ask.  Sorry, 12 

forgive me then.  I'm a first time ever ... I think so.  In last ten years I 13 

don’t remember that I ever been in here with Lawyers or any 14 

meeting, or this kind of a conversation.  So if I do something, I mean if 15 

I interrupt, then please forgive me, because it is not used to me to sit 16 

in this kind of (indistinct). 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Don’t worry, Sir, it is inquisitorial.  I think that is another thing we 18 

should have explained to Adv Van der Merwe, is that it really is 19 

inquisitorial proceedings and at this stage we are just trying to get as 20 

much information as possible ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : I will give everything what I have. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : ... and we will then sift through that information.  It is different from 23 

the courts, because they take a particular view, it is called 24 

adversarial.  You say your two younger brothers came to the country 25 
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before you.  Do you know when exactly did they come to South Africa 1 

for the first time? 2 

Mr A Gupta : I think in 1993. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : 1993? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Did they immediately set up the business in 1993? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No.  What I remember at this moment ... you know it is a very long 7 

time and he was very young on that time, understand on that time.  I 8 

think so he came for the one exhibition, shoe exhibition, with his 9 

friend. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : That is Atul, Sir, Mr Atul Gupta? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Atul, yes. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, okay. 13 

Mr A Gupta : And he loved this place and he fought with the family to establish a 14 

business here.  (Emotional), sorry. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Sorry, Sir.  No, just ...  16 

Mr A Gupta : No, it is fine. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you want a moment, Sir, to take some water?  18 

Mr A Gupta : No, please ask the question.  It is fine, a hundred percent fine. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  That was Mr Atul Gupta.  You said he came at an age 20 

of about 23 years old or thereabout? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Or 24 or maybe, something.  22 

Adv T Madonsela : 24, around 24.  Right, so he brought some money from India? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  When he started the business he brought some money. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, would you recall what was the capital when he had started the 25 
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business? 1 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t remember hundred percent this moment. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Because you were not here? 3 

Mr A Gupta : But I remember that on that time the rate was R3.00 or something, 4 

exchange rate, between R3.00 about dollar or something and 5 

Nedbank converted this money when he brings that money to rand, if 6 

I remember that much. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  That was only him.  When did the youngest join him, 8 

Rajesh?   9 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I think so in 1997 ... 1996 or 1997.  In 2000 I come, roundabout 10 

2000.  We used to come, me, yeah, for a day or two, my mother also, 11 

just to see that ... or how is he and that, but not as permanently.  12 

Permanently I come in 2000.   13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Alright, are you now as a family South African citizens? 14 

Mr A Gupta : All, except me. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 16 

Mr A Gupta : Except me and all of them, even kids and my wife also, all are South 17 

African and very interesting because you ask this question, many 18 

times has been told maybe they have another.  They have only one 19 

citizenship, only one, it is called South Africa.  20 

Adv T Madonsela : Did they denounce their Indian citizenship? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, they had to, that is a legal requirement.   22 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, India doesn’t allow dual citizenship? 23 

Mr A Gupta : It doesn’t allow them.  It is a legal requirement, the moment ... 24 

otherwise you cannot enter in India. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Oh. 1 

Mr A Gupta : You need a visa from India now to enter there in India.  2 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, I see.  3 

Mr A Gupta : So even now they started a one ... another, India started to give 4 

another kind of a card, that they call it PIU or something, which allow 5 

to them to ... no need to take a visa.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so the old citizens of Indian origin or something, I mean the 8 

three (indistinct) nation, they are giving them. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Has your mom also now become a South Africa citizen? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You are the only one who remains a ... no, but that is fine.  12 

Okay, and the businesses owned by the two younger ones and you 13 

are an employee? 14 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I’m an employee or advisor, you can say that.  I draw the salary. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : You draw a salary for advising, right.  You said it is owned by them 16 

and their wives, the ones with shares? 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : May I interject, Madam Public Protector? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 19 

Mr G vd Merwe : It is convenient maybe for you if I supply you with a schedule of how 20 

it is made up. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : That would be great, Sir. 22 

Mr G vd Merwe : Factually I can tell you that in all likelihood you will find a 23 

shareholder system that is a bit more complicated than what Mr Ajay 24 

is explaining at the moment, because it will take very long to explain 25 
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that detail.  1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 2 

Mr G vd Merwe : So would that be of assistance to you? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : That would be of great assistance.  Thank you, Sir.  4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, we will give the ... my mother and my wife have a very small 5 

share, which is ... my mother and my wife have a very small share in 6 

Sahara, which is beginning first in 1994 or 1997, something.  In that 7 

company maybe a very small, small share of my wife and mother, 8 

and father never.  It is only my two brothers and their wives. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : In Sahara ... is Sahara still doing computers? 10 

Mr A Gupta : They do, but very little business left.  The kind of a business they do 11 

now is the hardware business, so hardware business is not that 12 

much ... now much left. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 14 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, this is ... we realise this is in 2006 then, the roadmap for the 15 

future.  We have to divert, otherwise this business is going to die, 16 

because changing the market concept and the thing from desktop to 17 

laptop, to laptop to ... it was the one time that Sahara was the number 18 

one local brand in laptop. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : I think I remember that. 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, it is the number one brand on that time, 2006 or 2007.   21 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  Perhaps you could check what was the net worth of 22 

the company when Mr ...  23 

Mr A Gupta : I will give it to you.  We never calculated the net worth of that, 24 

because finals I look.  Please understand this, all this three also 25 
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nothing to do with other brothers.  If anybody know, it was me, 1 

nobody, if you were talking in this day.  They simply do their 2 

business.  Atul do the administrative and Tony look all details and 3 

this and that.  So in all network we never feel it to be accounting to 4 

the net worth of the company and any businesses, but I get the 5 

business report, that what is it ... from 2000, because you are asking 6 

to the ... or media is asking to the old 2010 and 2009, from that.   7 

So I bring it, that paper, what is  the total group turnover and 8 

what we do our business with the Government from 2010 until 9 

today, or I mean up to February 2016, I bring.  If you want it, I can 10 

give it to you now.  If you want it later on, come, I will come 11 

(indistinct). 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay,  that ...  13 

Mr G vd Merwe : Mister Ajay, if I may, I think the Public Protector asks about the 14 

shareholding at the moment and ...  15 

Adv T Madonsela : The shareholding.  16 

Mr A Gupta : No, net worth. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, we want net worth now and net worth in ... when the company 18 

was started.  Was it started in 1993? 19 

Mr A Gupta : 1994, maybe.  1993/1994, between that period. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : That is Sahara? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  22 

Adv T Madonsela : Then it was started in 1994.  Thank you, Sir.  It is said when the 23 

family first arrived it operated in small offices in Port Elizabeth, 24 

Eastern Cape and Durban.  Is that so? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Sahara had an office in PE, in Durban, in Cape Town, everywhere on 1 

that time.  I think it when ...  2 

Adv T Madonsela : Where was the main office? 3 

Mr A Gupta : In Jo’burg itself, in Midrand.  All the time is here.  I mean in this 4 

building they maybe in 2004 or 2002, I think so, which same 5 

building.  Again the year can be one or two here and there, but the 6 

same building there since 2002 or 2000 ... roundabout 2000.   7 

Adv T Madonsela : Right and your offices are still in Jo'burg?  8 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you have any investors, other than the Gupta Family, in your 10 

businesses? 11 

Mr A Gupta : You see again it is too many businesses now, so many businesses, the 12 

empowerment partners, there are some investors also.  Like VR 13 

Laser we have different investors.  So it is not that particular 14 

investors in all the business we are doing together.   15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and do you have local and international investors or it is only 16 

(indistinct)?  17 

Mr A Gupta : Most of them is local, most of them is ... one or two business in Tegeta 18 

and this thing, call in this reason ... this thing, that maybe it is some 19 

international investors also. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  When you started was it only family money? 21 

Mr A Gupta : When, in 1994? 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 23 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, only family money.  It is a small ... he started as a small business 24 

here, alone he was there and he want to be here, do his IT Diploma 25 
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holder, both my younger brothers.  So they were doing an IT 1 

business only. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : That would be Atul? 3 

Mr A Gupta : Atul and ... beginning in fact he start a shoe business.  Wen he come 4 

he open a shoe ... because his friend works ... when they come in 5 

there, so they opened two or three stores also on that time.  I can’t 6 

speak on behalf of hundred percent, but what I remember all these 7 

things, so I’m speaking on basis of that, that it is in Killarney Mall also 8 

there and Cresta Mall also there was a showroom on that time, in 9 

1994/1995. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, do you know what it was called, Sir? 11 

Mr A Gupta : The ...  12 

Adv T Madonsela : The shoe shop? 13 

Mr A Gupta : Liberty Retail. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Liberty? 15 

Mr A Gupta : Liberty Retail. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 17 

Mr A Gupta : It is a very big company in India, it is called Liberty.  It is Liberty shoe 18 

manufacturer in India.  That is their shoes they are bringing here and 19 

doing a distribution. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : That makes sense.  Right, you have already given us a sense of your 21 

footprint.  You said you still have a bit of IT in terms of Sahara? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  23 

Adv T Madonsela : And then you have ...  24 

Mr A Gupta : We have a mining services company. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Mining? 1 

Mr A Gupta : Mining services company and then is the mining also, which is 2 

uranium and gold.  Then we have a coal company called Tegeta or 3 

Oakbay, whatever you want ... Tegeta and then we have VR Laser, 4 

which is in the manufacturing sector. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : VR? 6 

Mr A Gupta : Laser. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 8 

Mr A Gupta : And then we have a media, which is TNA and ANN7, the ...  9 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, do you have any interest in agriculture?  10 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : No interest in ...  12 

Mr A Gupta : I personally like agriculture, but we don’t have any business in that 13 

sector.  14 

Adv T Madonsela : At all? 15 

Mr A Gupta : At all. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  No, I’m asking because somebody said you had an interest in 17 

the Vrede Dairy Farm in Free State. 18 

Mr A Gupta : We explained many times Madam, many times.  Now I can’t explain ... 19 

Adv T Madonsela : You don’t have an interest in Vrede Dairy Farm? 20 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t at all.  We say it so many times. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, so has somebody else asked you before me? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, media ask me a hundred times.  That is why I feel very much that 23 

thing, that ...  24 

Adv T Madonsela : Sorry, I just ... because somebody raised it.  It is not really an 25 
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accusation, but it is (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 1 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no, I’m very happy.  I say at least someone ... I’m so happy that 2 

you are asking.  I get asked each and every day.  I’m ready to give a 3 

reply, because at least somewhere this thing will end.  It is not ending 4 

anywhere and we are very (indistinct). 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, sorry Mister Gupta.  So it is manufacturing, it is mining.  The 6 

other sector is locomotives.  Do you have any interest in 7 

locomotives? 8 

Mr A Gupta : See, again this is all media.  50 billion they say that ... the one day I 9 

read in the front page that 50 billion contract I got.  Forgive me ... 10 

where it is, I wanted to know where it is? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : You don’t have any business with PRASA? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Madam, not at all, not at all.  Not in a ... never, never.  All my business 13 

is there.  Madam, please, all our business and we are proud on this 14 

thing, (indistinct) proud.  We don’t deal with these people, we don’t 15 

deal with Government.  I mean up to that 2010 and 2012 ... I mean 16 

unfortunately we bought this Tegeta and we are unnecessarily in a 17 

bigger ... or the Optimum, unnecessarily so much of (indistinct).  18 

Adv T Madonsela : So you only started dealing with Government in 2010? 19 

Mr A Gupta : No, 2010 is only ever problem comes, that we start the newspaper.  20 

That is the first time ever that we build that, because newspaper 21 

every advertisement has to come from ... its major spender is the 22 

Government.  So it is nothing wrong in that, that some advertisement 23 

comes from the Government, because they are the major spender for 24 

the advertisement in the world.  So this ... I think so this is our biggest 25 
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mistake I feel like today, because the family is being punished for this 1 

and because of my relations.  I have relations with anybody and the 2 

family is being punished unnecessarily for this reason, where I don’t 3 

have interest in a business at all. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Okay, you said you expanded to these other sectors starting in 5 

2010, 2010 you went into the media, in 2006 you went in mining? 6 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, 2006. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  No, that is fine.  You just said you have relations and explain to 8 

us your relationship with the Zuma family, how did that relationship 9 

start?  When and how did this relationship start? 10 

Mr A Gupta : You see Madam, that they started the whole ...  11 

Adv T Madonsela : They started? 12 

Mr A Gupta : The media, they started the whole family, you know Zuma family or 13 

Gupta family.  I want to also say this thing, it is two different things.  14 

You know I don’t have an interest any part of the world.  So I had ... I 15 

love relations with the people.  In India also I have so many 16 

Government Ministers and this from my local province, from my 17 

national ... even in India, I love to have a relation.  So it is nothing 18 

wrong in having a relation with anyone.   19 

In Jumar also in maybe 2002 or 2003 I own four maybe.  I don’t 20 

remember now the exact ... the 2000 and ... I used to be invited by ... 21 

in previous regime or before the President like ... any ... as a normal 22 

businessman to the ... what do you call it, Presidential dinner and 23 

then engagements, and this and that, I used to invite that there and 24 

on that time I met with so many people, so many Ministers, because 25 
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this is not a big gathering of these people.  It is maybe a 100 or a 150 1 

people and in the time that you got the networking to each other and 2 

that, I used to have that.  Even on that time I was in a Presidential 3 

Consultative Forum.  It is called PCF or something, which has been 4 

chaired by Mr Essop Pahad and Seth Phalatse, who chaired this 5 

forum, which has been 30 ... 20/30 people in this forum and we used 6 

to meet every first Sunday of the month at Presidential Guest House 7 

on that time.   8 

I mean every Sunday of the ... first Sunday of the month in 9 

Presidential Guest House.  On that time I meet with everybody.  So it 10 

is very difficult now me to say how and when it started.  It is a 11 

natural relation and natural friendship that we started with many 12 

people from that time and which I carry until today, because I don’t 13 

have any interest ... business interest with anybody, anybody, in this 14 

political or official (indistinct). 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, so what is the nature of your relationship with the President 16 

(indistinct – speaking simultaneously)? 17 

Mr A Gupta : It is friends.  It is a normal ... friends.  It is a normal friendship 18 

relation, it is a normal natural friend relation.  I mean if you are 19 

having a relation ... like Essop Pahad, until today he (indistinct) 20 

Minister on that time, until today I have a relation, on many of the 21 

people.  It is not because he is a known figure, that is why I’m taking 22 

a name, but otherwise there is many people.  It doesn’t make a 23 

difference to us at all, Madam. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, and President Zuma’s son then started working for Sahara? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Yes, Madam. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : In the media it has been said that you invited him to work for the 2 

company, because the father was a friend.  Is that true? 3 

Mr A Gupta : You see it is not a hundred percent.  I’m not hundred percent sure 4 

about this thing, but how he has been invited to work, but he is 5 

invited to work in Sahara as a trainee.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : Who invited him to come and work at Sahara as a trainee? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe ... see I don’t hundred percent remember at this moment, but 8 

it is maybe my youngest brother, because he maybe meet with him 9 

somewhere or somehow, and the youngest brother maybe, he may 10 

be invited him for the ... to be in, because he is looking for something 11 

and he say no.  So it is nothing to do with his father and I don’t have 12 

any that ever he ask me, and he was as a trainee in Sahara to learn 13 

the computer and  ... yeah. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, did he have an IT training background before then or he started 15 

being introduced to IT at your company, Sir? 16 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t know that much of his education on this thing.  He can tell you 17 

that, but one thing I tell you, this is the problem of us, IT industry it is 18 

a screwdriver industry, what we were doing.  So even I also learn.  19 

I’m illiterate, I cannot do SMS, I cannot do any email or anything, but 20 

I also can (indistinct) the computer. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : You can? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  It is a desktop, it is a screwdriver industry.  I mean you have to 23 

be added six components.  We train maybe ... not on that time, maybe 24 

hundreds of young people that we ... in our assembly, because we did 25 
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the assembly plant on that time for computers.  So we appointed ... 1 

we engaged like hundreds of young guys who were not having much 2 

of IT knowledge and what, but it is there because we believe that it is 3 

a screwdriver industry.  That is why we are able to bring the price so 4 

much slashed in the ... on that time. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : That is interesting.  Right, he then became a Director at Sahara.  6 

When did he become a Director? 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, I maybe have to check whether ... I doubt that he become a 8 

Director in Sahara, I doubt that, but because you are asking, so I will 9 

have recheck this, whether he become a Director there.  You see 10 

when his father is out of everything and have an allegation now of 11 

rape, that time he was very sad.  Actually a matter of fact, I only 12 

known him first time on that time. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : You only met the President Zuma when, after the rape accusation? 14 

Mr A Gupta : The rape accusation.  He was ... in fact he was so sad and he come to 15 

me that time.  I mean if I recall him, if I clearly recall him when I meet 16 

first time, I will recall that day.  Although I met ... we meet before 17 

also, but if I recall my memory, because I recall on that day, he comes 18 

to me and he want some leave for a few months and this and that. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : He wanted what, Sir? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Some leave.  I mean he want to go off. 21 

Adv N Kanyane : Leave? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  23 

Adv N Kanyane : Madam, I just want to get clarity ...  24 

Adv T Madonsela : Who wanted to go off, was it President Zuma who wanted to go off? 25 
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Adv N Kanyane : No, the young one. 1 

Mr A Gupta : Duduzane, yes, the young one. 2 

Adv N Kanyane : I think you are thinking ...  3 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, okay, no.  Okay, no, I understand what you are saying is, you are 4 

not the one who brought him to the company.  That the first time you 5 

met him was (indistinct – speaking simultaneously)? 6 

Mr A Gupta : Remember when I met him that ... I say that maybe I met before, but 7 

if I recall today, to remember him, I remember only on that day when 8 

he come to me and he say that, “No, I want to be leave for one month 9 

or two months, because I’m feeling stress or I’m feeling I want to be 10 

(indistinct) this, to feeling the stress on this thing”.  So I say, fine.  11 

After that when he come back maybe long ... because he is a friend of 12 

my youngest brother and so when he come back, on that time he 13 

want to start his own business and then in that matter that we never, 14 

never ... I remember that, that he become a Director on Sahara, but I 15 

don’t remember, but I will check and I will come back to you then. 16 

Mr G vd Merwe : Can I give that undertaking to give you (indistinct) of shareholding 17 

and directorships? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, that would be great, Sir.  You are saying he came, he wanted to 19 

start his own business? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  Well, later when he come back, that he want to be ... that I have 21 

been informed by my younger brother of. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but did he still come back and still resume his job as an IT 23 

trainee? 24 

Mr A Gupta : No.  Training ... at that time he had already had enough time on this 25 
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thing, but when he come back maybe he want ... again I have to 1 

recheck that, whether he rejoined on this day or not, but I will 2 

recheck also on this thing.  3 

Adv T Madonsela : And by that time he was friends of young Rajesh? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, young Rajesh.  They still is a good friend. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You don’t remember then what was the capacity when he 6 

came back again? 7 

Mr A Gupta : No.  If you want to ask me that, it is further history of this thing, I can 8 

tell you, Madam.  9 

Adv T Madonsela : Pardon? 10 

Mr A Gupta : If you want to ask me that, his further history of his, that what he did 11 

with us and that, I can explain to that. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 13 

Mr A Gupta : But you are asking particularly that when he come back and ...  14 

Adv T Madonsela : And he became a Director? 15 

Mr A Gupta : No, that I say I don’t remember that, whether ...  16 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah, you don’t.  17 

Mr A Gupta : I believe so it is known, but because you ask that let me have to 18 

recheck this thing. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : I think yes, that would be great, because again I will just indicate that 20 

the media version is that he became a Director six months after his 21 

father became President of the ANC. 22 

Mr A Gupta : So that is in this period, you are talking when he ... the allegation of 23 

his father rape charge and between his becoming President and six 24 

months? 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-365



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

32 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 1 

Mr A Gupta : It is two/three years’ time you are talking, Madam. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : So that would be ... you don’t know how long did he go away for after 3 

the rape? 4 

Mr A Gupta : I will check it.  Again I say I don’t remember the exact timing on this 5 

thing. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : So he became a trainee and then there was a gap, then he came back 7 

and he wanted to start his own business? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  I remember that as my brother ... so he want to start his own 9 

business and this thing, but if you are talking the period of this and 10 

that, it is roundabout two/three years.  I don’t think so it is less than 11 

that.  2007, if I remember, that even he become President of the ANC 12 

and 2009 he become President of South Africa, (indistinct) six 13 

months after that, means it is too much of a figure. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, because when did you first employ young Mr Zuma, Sir? 15 

Mr A Gupta : It was roundabout 2004 or 2005.   16 

Adv T Madonsela : 2004 or 2005?   17 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Just you will get the exact record of when exactly was he 19 

employed? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I will definitely.  21 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that will be great. 22 

Mr A Gupta : Sorry, can I have another bit of water?  23 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir.  24 

[Discussions amongst each other] 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Right, he was an IT expert, he left, he came back.  You don’t know 1 

what kind of value then did he add when he came back, what 2 

position did he take? 3 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, I can say that, but the dates of ... times are we have to recheck 4 

that, but in my memory what I have I can say that. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : What was he doing when he was coming back? 6 

Mr A Gupta : See, on that time I remember that he become our empowerment 7 

partner, but not by we make him empowerment partner.  He bought 8 

the shares from our existing empowerment partners on that time, 9 

like he bought ... Sahara’s empowerment partner is two other 10 

gentlemen.  If you want, I can take the name also, but unnecessary is 11 

now ... he was Lazarus Zim and Tokyo Sexwale.  So he bought his 12 

shares from them and then even further also in our other mining 13 

company also he bought from existing shareholder, the empower 14 

shareholder, he bought the share from them.  So he become as a 15 

partner with us in that time. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Who, Sir? 17 

Mr A Gupta : Duduzane. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Duduzane. 19 

Mr A Gupta : So he never become a partner with us that we given a share to him.  20 

He bought it from Tokyo and Lazarus Zim.  Please understand 21 

Madam, this media issue, what you are talking and I want to 22 

elaborate on this thing, that make too much of a problem to us, that 23 

this unfounded ... we never been asked, first time ever, ever anybody 24 

asking the question from us, the first  time, except media, first time.  25 
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No department, nobody ask any question until today to us and that 1 

damaged us so much that this partner don’t want to work.  They 2 

don’t want to work, because no businessman want their name 3 

unnecessary in media, unnecessary in the media and we are so 4 

confident and sure-sure about us, that let anybody to talk.  We are 5 

not doing wrong, so why you have to be worried?  These are the 6 

partner who want to run away, whether it is the business or whether 7 

it is the media, Dudu bought the shares from them. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  The information we have, I just want to correct it, it says he 9 

bought those shares for R25.00.   10 

Mr A Gupta : No, Madam. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Is that incorrect? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : How much did he buy them for? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, that he has ... he buy from them, not from us. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : But do you know how much he bought them for? 16 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t have a hundred percent calculation of this thing or 17 

remember.  What we did ... Madam, I am not trying to be anything 18 

cosmetic that, I tell what we did it.  We did it, that whatever we are 19 

doing for other empowerment partners, we did it.  Like if the loan is 20 

with them, the vendor funding to other partners, we extend it to him 21 

also, nothing else.   22 

Adv T Madonsela : I was going to ask where did he get the money to buy those shares? 23 

Mr A Gupta : No, that he has to reply, but what I’m saying then, let’s say Lazarus 24 

and Tokyo is the empowerment partner of Sahara and we extended a 25 
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100 million or 200 million – I don’t have a figure at all, just I’m giving 1 

you a ballpark over that R20.00(?) – we have a vendor loan to them.  2 

This loan is transferred to him on that time, that is all, or JIC, if we 3 

have any issue, then JIC was the empowerment channel, again 4 

Lazarus and Lucky Munsamy and Seth Phalatse – and it is a few more 5 

– and they sold this to him and we extended what our loan was to 6 

them, we extended to them.   7 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, thank you, Sir.  Does Mr Zuma, Duduzane, reside at the Gupta 8 

complex in Saxonwold? 9 

Mr A Gupta : (Laughing).  Sorry I have to laugh, sorry about my ... because I have to 10 

laugh on that kind of allegation.  We are so ... I mean family is so I 11 

mean close, that I don’t think that ever anybody stay in our house, 12 

ever, anybody stay in our house. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : So he doesn’t stay there? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, no, not at all. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Does he ever visit there? 16 

Mr A Gupta : Many times, many times. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Does he sleep over when he visits? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, ever.  I said nobody, I don’t remember ever in my life 19 

that anybody sleep over in our house. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Ms Mentor says you offered her something, but let’s start 21 

with, do you know ... have you meet Ms Mentor before? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, no.  I don’t remember at all, at all.  I mean I try ... when I read in 23 

the newspaper I try to not to really think about it, but I cannot 24 

recollect anything that what she is talking.  25 
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Adv T Madonsela : So you don’t recall having people pick her up from the airport and 1 

take her to the Sahara offices? 2 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, Madam, believe it.  In 2010 she is talking and it is a 3 

problem to me that according to her statement and this thing I ever 4 

met first time to her, so I don’t think so.  I remember at 2010 to now 5 

once only in my life I meet with some person and is very impossible 6 

to me that I say ... but f you want to hear more of this thing I can say 7 

something to you then.   8 

I don’t want to be ... go in this matter, but like because you say 9 

there is a main three things and she asked that this is the reason that 10 

I met with her for the SAA route to be ... yeah, to be cancelled or this 11 

thing.  I don’t have any interest in ... sorry, I’m wrong.  I will be very 12 

wrong, sorry.  I have to rectify this thing.  The family had shares in 13 

Comair.  Atul was in a Board of Comair also.  So I cannot say I don’t 14 

understand ...  15 

Adv T Madonsela : Does Comair use the route to India?   16 

Mr A Gupta : No, no.  Comair was only here and London, London, UK.  We have a 17 

5% or 6% shareholding in Comair, which is we sold long back, maybe 18 

two years/three years before or four years before, three years 19 

before, I think so.  Exactly the dates also, if you want it, we can 20 

provide you that, everything. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : And Comair has never been on the route to India? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, never, never.  They never even tried it. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : They never tried? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Uhm (positive).  So one thing more I want to come to say to that, 25 
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when Kurt(?) is talking to me on the Sunday, so I told him, I said, 1 

“Kurt, I don’t understand that how and where this kind of a wild 2 

allegation” ... I can say afterthoughts and why I say this thing is an 3 

afterthought, this thing, because when person don’t find any reason 4 

why he has to be such an allegation and that, but the afterthought is 5 

that SAA, which I believe that she told in August 2010 or something 6 

and 2010, what you say there, that is now there, 2010.  So 2010 ... 7 

and in 2010 I don’t remember whether the ... in media what I read 8 

and what I also re-explore on this thing, that they are not telling 9 

about Comair.   10 

They are telling about Jet Airways or something and Jet 11 

Airways I don’t remember that when they started to operate in 12 

Mumbai and South Africa, Delhi and South Africa.  What I heard on 13 

that time in the media is that because of this IPSA or something, IPSA 14 

or something, they started some route, because I was also at part of 15 

this IPSA meeting or something, when they all enforces that no, India, 16 

Brazil and South Africa must have an air connection to each other, so 17 

I think so.  I don’t remember when Jet Airways started, but Jet 18 

Airways withdraw the route in 2013 only, 2013, Jet Airways. 19 

Mr G vd Merwe : I’m sorry, I don’t want a repetition.  The information that you asked 20 

me to get is a different date. 21 

Mr A Gupta : Oh, okay, sorry, sorry.  I want to give that exact date on a Sunday 22 

there. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, it started when, Sir, the (indistinct – speaking simultaneously) 24 

the route? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Jet Airways ... 1 

Mr G vd Merwe : That is a fact you can check, that is why I give you the documents. 2 

Mr A Gupta : So the Jet Airways started in 2010 and closed the route in 2012, and 3 

SAA suspended the Mumbai route in April 2015 only. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir. 5 

Mr A Gupta : So I don’t know where is this SAA route is coming.  So it is an 6 

afterthought, it is 2015 only route is cancelled.  It is not 2010 that 7 

you are talking.  April 2015, 1st April, the date is also now they give it 8 

to me, 1st April 2015.  So I don’t understand that where is Ms Mentor 9 

allegations? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : What was your interest in Jet Airways? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Nothing, never.   12 

Adv T Madonsela : There was no interest? 13 

Mr A Gupta : Never having any interest or anything.  Jet Airways’ owner, Mr 14 

(indistinct), is a common business friend, like that anybody else that 15 

happen.  Nothing, never, I never bought a single share of Jet Airways 16 

ever in my life.  Also I don’t have any share in any part of the world, 17 

not my brothers also.  Yeah, please? 18 

Mr I Naidoo : Oh, no, I was just going to ask what about your brothers? 19 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, they don’t have at all, at all.  No family member, nothing, don’t 20 

have any interest with Jet Airways ever, really.  In fact if you go to the 21 

media report ... sorry, I am again ... one of the times they are claiming 22 

that, blaming to us that we are enemy of Jet Airways, the same South 23 

African media.  If you go maybe one year before or two years before, 24 

the media one day claim me as a rich man, the other day they claim 25 
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me I’m the most poor man.  One day they say our business is billions, 1 

another day they claim us no, we can sell our business on a song(?) 2 

or something.  So how can I going to be on a ... you can check it, 3 

please.  They say that we are ... because there is another airline 4 

company called Sahara in India, so that Sahara and Jet Airways 5 

fighting here for SAA, and some Lease Agreement of that thing.  That 6 

time the media is blaming that the Gupta is supporting to Sahara, 7 

because our name is “Sahara” here and we have a Sahara, and that Jet 8 

Airways is our enemy.  So I don’t have any business or family have 9 

any business relation at all with Jet Airways.   10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, according to Ms Mentor the attempts to meet with her started 11 

earlier when she visited China.  Do you recall meeting her in China or 12 

on a flight to China, or do you recall coming to her hotel room in 13 

China and trying to request a meeting with her? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, Madam, no, not at all.  China ... I went to China maybe in State 15 

Visit, that is all. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, she says it was a State Visit.  She says it was a State visit and Mr 17 

Zuma, Duduzane, introduced you and Rajesh to her? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, never, never, Madam, never, never.  She is ... maybe it is a very 19 

bit confusing to her.  It never been.  We went to China on a ... on that 20 

time we want to do a deal with our Shiva Uranium thing that day, and 21 

we went there on a request of a ... special on this thing, that we want 22 

to do something with Cadiz.  Cadiz is a consultant company or 23 

something.  They arrange some meeting in China for us to, like for 24 

our ... we want to do ... we want to offload something about the Shiva.  25 
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So the Cadiz arranged some meeting and we could not get a success 1 

on this deal, and then we had to pay some ... in fact I have a big 2 

argument with Cadiz.  That was some 2 million or something fees 3 

and which is ... I was thinking this is on success fee basis and they 4 

said no, that it was ... or the CEO has confirmed that it is on payment 5 

basis and finally we agree on to pay to them on some basis to them. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Were they ... what was their role?  What were they supposed to do 7 

for you, Sir? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Cadiz was a ... they are I think a financial service provider here. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : In South Africa? 10 

Mr A Gupta : In South Africa and their Chinese office is arranging all meetings for 11 

us, their Cadiz office.  They blame(?) their office, I don’t know what 12 

exactly is that, but Madam, please I can say categorically I never meet 13 

with ... I never meet with any ... you say it was their office or their 14 

hotel room, never, never, never to anybody hotel room. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  She also alleges that when you wanted to meet with 16 

her, you came to her hotel to try and get her to go with you to a 17 

meeting with President Zuma? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No, again I can’t say that.  I mean hundred and one percent, this is 19 

categorically I’m telling, I never ... why should I’m going to be try, I 20 

don’t understand this thing then, because I mean you are telling that 21 

I calling her to go and see ... I never in my life to anybody, forget 22 

about her, forget about her, Madam.  Not one person you can bring to 23 

whom I’m telling, “Let’s come and meet with the President”, not a 24 

one person.  Forget about her really.  I say never in my whole life that 25 
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I take anybody to say, “Oh, no, let’s come and meet the President”. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.   2 

Mr G vd Merwe : Madam Public Protector, I’m sorry, can I for purposes of my own 3 

notes accept that the version of Vytjie Mentor is that it is Mr Ajay 4 

Gupta who met with her?  You corrected it initially when we started 5 

the meeting. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, it is Mr Ajay. 7 

Mr G vd Merwe : Is that correct?  Because I will tell you why I want to ascertain that?  I 8 

will either by his passport, either by any other document investigate 9 

to confirm what he is saying. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  11 

Mr G vd Merwe : Then I have the date as ... my apologies, as 23 August 2010. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  We are also just going to ... I’m going to ask the team for us to ... 13 

where is the statement?  Why can't we ... we didn’t send you the 14 

statement? 15 

Mr A Gupta : No. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Can we take that pack that we sent to the President and have 17 

somebody print the statement from ...  18 

Adv N Kanyane : Which statement? 19 

Adv T Madonsela : The things that we sent on Sunday to the President, the statement 20 

of ...  21 

Mr F Lekubo : We didn’t send Vytjie’s statement. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : You didn’t send Ms Vytjie’s statement?  Why not?   23 

Adv N Kanyane : PP, I think the annexures we sent through. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, I didn’t realise ... is it not proper that we should?  Can we get a 25 
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copy of that statement? 1 

Adv N Kanyane : When you say “the statement”, you mean the transcripts? 2 

Adv T Madonsela : No, the statement she have made to the Police.  Can we get a copy of 3 

that, because I would like us to give you the exact statement that she 4 

made to the Police, which would indicate who, because otherwise it 5 

is going to be a little bit speculative, because we are working from 6 

memory.   7 

Mr A Gupta : But Madam ...  8 

Mr G vd Merwe : Sorry, Mister Ajay, if I can just respond.  The reason, Madam Public 9 

Protector, is I would like to put you in a position to have certainty on 10 

the allegations. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : On who exactly? 12 

Mr G vd Merwe : That is why I need ...  13 

Adv T Madonsela : I agree.  I think one member of the team should leave here and 14 

collect those documents, and print them so that we can work on 15 

something concrete. 16 

Mr G vd Merwe : I might also ask for a two-minute adjournment?  I only went halfway 17 

through my bottle, but it would help me if I can have a (indistinct).  18 

Adv T Madonsela : Maybe this is the right stage now that we should have that break and 19 

collect the documents. 20 

Mr A Gupta : No problem. 21 

[Go off record // Short adjournment // Back on record] 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.  Does he visit ... Mr Zuma, the President, does he regularly 23 

visit the complex? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Now I have to ask what you mean of “regularly”?  Yes, he visit, but I 25 
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have to be understand what you mean of “regularly”? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, just how often ... in a year for example how many times would 2 

he come to the compound, to the complex? 3 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe he has ... yeah, in a one year maybe three/four times. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : And Ministers, do you have them come over to your complex? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, is many.  It is not as a Minister, but as a friend of mine, that yes, 6 

not now much more.  Maybe before that many used to come. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Which Ministers have come, if you remember? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Madam, I will say that many.  I can ... like in 2006 I have a 9 

housewarming of this house, so a lot of the Ministers was there on 10 

that time, a lot.  I mean if you want few, I can take a name also, but it 11 

is very difficult to take many people name in that, and even on that 12 

time the President was not President, he was also there as the ANC 13 

President, you can say that, on that time.  So it was never any issue to 14 

me then. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : He wasn’t ANC President in 2006, Sir? 16 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : He was Deputy President of the ANC.  18 

Mr A Gupta : No, he was still ... no, he was not Deputy President, because in this 19 

particular housewarming party the issue ...  20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Was he already President of the ANC? 21 

Mr A Gupta : No.  Oh, sorry, Deputy President, Deputy President of the ANC, sorry, 22 

sorry, sorry.  23 

Adv T Madonsela : He should have been Deputy President of the ANC, because the 24 

elections would have taken place in November 2007? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : No, no, no, I will explain to you then.  He had been sacked(?) for as a 1 

Deputy President, but he still is a Deputy President of the ANC. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 3 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so he visit on that time and many of the Ministers was there, 4 

many.  So it is ... again I say that I don’t have any Minister relation as 5 

a Minister or anything.  I treat to them as my friend and they visit to 6 

me, and it is nothing in this thing.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Mister Gupta, Sir and Mister Van der Merwe, I made an 8 

admission at the start of this procedure and I’m going to beg your 9 

indulgence to do that in retrospect about you taking the oath.  Do you 10 

have any objection to taking the oath? 11 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t have any objection. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : You don’t have? 13 

Mr A Gupta : But to understand that I am talking with ... what you asking with my 14 

memory and my heart, yeah.  15 

Adv T Madonsela : I think you have indicated that when it comes to dates, people’s ... it 16 

might not be neat, because it is a long time ago and Mr Van der 17 

Merwe raised the question about the two-year rule, and I never 18 

engaged you on that one, Sir.  It is not a prescription as in courts.  It 19 

says that if there are compelling circumstances to do that.  The 20 

reason we did it was because the investigation was not into 2010.  21 

The investigation specifically has asked us to investigate the 22 

allegations by Minister Jonas and then the allegations that there are 23 

other Ministers that have been appointed with the involvement of 24 

the Gupta family.  Because of that, then any evidence that is likely to 25 
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show a pattern, if that evidence is true, was considered.  If the only 1 

request we have been asked to investigate was Ms Mentor’s 2 

allegations, it would have been difficult to make a compelling case for 3 

it, because there has been that administration and there is new 4 

administration.  So I just want you to bear with us in that regard, that 5 

we wouldn’t have gone for Mentor’s allegations if they were the only 6 

ones.  We are going because the Jonas allegations are made in terms 7 

of the Executive Members’ Ethics Act. 8 

Mr G vd Merwe : May I just Madam Public Protector, mention that you have addressed 9 

the issue of the two years, I understand that.  I might not necessarily 10 

agree with it, but I have been addressed on it.  Thank you for that.  11 

Can I just mention, your previous point was one of putting the 12 

witness under oath at this point in time. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, that was the point that ... we were going to that, which he had 14 

agreed to. 15 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes, indeed.  Whilst you say that it was the oral record, I just need to 16 

reiterate the point that it might be a change of approach since our 17 

discussion thus far was an exploratory discussion. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 19 

Mr G vd Merwe : I then need to say that if he goes under oath, that he gives evidence, it 20 

is under the umbrella of not receiving a subpoena, not receiving the 21 

information he is entitled to in terms of the subpoena, but you may 22 

proceed under those circumstances. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is fine.  I just want for completeness to put you under oath.  24 

Having said so though, we will take into account memory, we will 25 
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take it into account lack of preparedness, adequate preparedness.  1 

Although I have asked the team to exchange ... the team addressed 2 

me or the leader of the team, Adv Kanyane, addressed me about the 3 

exchange of correspondence between the office and yours, and why 4 

our team thought that you had the information, but I’m just waiting 5 

to get the exact correspondence, so that we can read it into the 6 

record, but for now I take your point.  So we would like you to 7 

indicate if you understand the implications of taking the oath? 8 

Mr A Gupta : No, I never been before to the thing.  I don’t understand anything, but 9 

what I’m telling, I’m telling from my ... true from my heart and 10 

memories, and everything.  It is nothing that I can ... yeah.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Do you understand that if you take the oath and it turns out that 12 

you were lying – and it is not an issue of forgetting time or something 13 

– then you can be held accountable for perjury? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, that I’m hundred percent, I’m not lying at all, so that is why I say I 15 

have no problem to taking an oath, yeah.  16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and would you consider the oath binding on your conscience? 17 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, of course.   18 

Adv T Madonsela : Then if you do so, then I would like you to repeat after me, “I swear 19 

that the contents” ...  20 

Mr A Gupta : I swear ... 21 

Adv T Madonsela : ... “of what I have said and what I’m about to say” ...  22 

Mr A Gupta : ... what I say and what I’m about to say ...  23 

Adv T Madonsela : ... “are true”. 24 

Mr A Gupta : ... are true. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : “So help me God”. 1 

Mr A Gupta : So help me God. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.  It is an unusual way of taking the oath, but ... 3 

Mr A Gupta :  No, it is fine. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : ... we thought we should put it in to make sure that for completeness 5 

that we do take note of what you have said, Sir.  Then we were on the 6 

question of the President where I was asking Sir, if the President has 7 

never used your house for his private purposes?   8 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you confirm he never did? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, yeah, never. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : He has never held private meetings using your property? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, never, never, never. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Never and then we were talking about the number of times ... I hear 14 

you said maybe about four times a year? 15 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, roundabout.  If you take an average you know in a year, it is 16 

four times. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Four times a year?   18 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, why does he come so often there? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Four times is often by a friend to visit. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Right. 22 

Mr A Gupta : But I tell you that most of time if there is some function, I mean like 23 

our Diwali or something, so he has come, or sometime when he 24 

comes ... because he have very near another house, maybe one 25 
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kilometre or two kilometres, his son or daughter stay there.  So when 1 

he is there and he is free, then maybe on that time also he visits, but 2 

this is I’m thinking.  It is not that he thinks like this way, but it is my 3 

thoughts are in this way there and before he become a President 4 

maybe it was much more often, maybe six or eight times maybe, but 5 

because it is the old time now, I don’t remember exactly the number, 6 

but ... 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you consider him to be your friend, Sir? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I consider.  Whether he considers or not, but I consider. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : You consider him to be your friend?   10 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Now we want to go to Ms Mentor.  You have already denied 12 

that you offered her a Cabinet post? 13 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all, not to her, to anybody, anybody. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you also deny that transport was arranged for her to come to 15 

Saxonwold, firstly via the Sahara office, that two of your guys fetched 16 

her? 17 

Mr A Gupta : See again Madam, I told you that I never arranged any transport for 18 

anybody.  That is why I say I don’t remember or recall of any meeting 19 

with her.   20 

Adv T Madonsela : Mr Jonas, he claims to have come to your house in October 2015 and 21 

that he was offered the post of Minister of Finance, while the 22 

Minister of Finance was sitting in that post and that that offer was 23 

tied to the old man wanting him to work with you or with the Gupta 24 

family.  What is your comment?  What is your response to that, Sir?   25 
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Mr A Gupta : First of all I want to ask a question, if you don’t mind?  You say he 1 

claimed that he met with Ajay Gupta, with me and I offered a job to 2 

him? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : It is her, it is Ms Mentor.  Yes, Sir.   4 

Mr A Gupta : No, just now once you said Jonas also and to both I ...  5 

Adv T Madonsela : In her statement she says it was the Gupta brothers.  She doesn’t 6 

specifically mention who it was.  It was only when we showed the 7 

pictures of the Gupta brothers that she said it was this one.   8 

Male Speaker :  Or Mr Jonas (indistinct). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, no, no.  Yeah, that was Ms ... yeah, I’m the one who is getting 10 

confused.  Yeah, Ms Mentor also ... that is what she said.  Okay, Mr 11 

Jonas ... do we have Mr Jonas’s statement?  Where is it now?  Is it also 12 

not available for ...  13 

Mr A Gupta : No, you told many thing (indistinct) you say Ajay Gupta, you say that, 14 

that is why I note it down here. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  We want to be absolutely certain now for the record, because 16 

Ajay Gupta is you.  17 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I am Ajay Gupta.  18 

Adv T Madonsela : It may well be one of the other brothers.  Yes, it does say it was Mr 19 

Ajay Gupta.  That is yourself, Sir. 20 

Mr A Gupta : Myself.  So now let me say Madam, this thing, I will give you my 21 

comments or a reason I think on, but let me say or reply to this thing.  22 

I never, never in my life meet with Jonas, because it is a fresh, fresh 23 

allegation on me, that I remember properly that I never, never in my 24 

life meet Mr Jonas, never in my life.  Even in that, you know some 25 
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people you meet them at some function and say hello or something.  I 1 

never even this way and this I say publicly Madam, already.  I say it 2 

on live TV also that, when they ask me the question in one of the 3 

breakfasts, and I said that and they asked me that is he lying or ... I 4 

say no, I don’t want to (indistinct) what he say, because he did not 5 

say it to me, because I never met with him ever in my life.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : Is it possible that he confuses the brothers? 7 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t want to put a comment on this.  He is a sensible Minister, 8 

Deputy Minister of Finance and he is such important, so I don’t 9 

believe that he should be so easily confused in that way. 10 

Mr G vd Merwe : Sorry, Madam Public Protector, whilst I am the Legal 11 

Representative ... 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, okay.  He has said it was Ajay Gupta and he has given a 13 

description, but I’m asking that is it ... for example when I met with 14 

you, Sir, this morning, I said we have met before. 15 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  Yeah, you said that.   16 

[Objection raised by Mr G van der Merwe] 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : I’m sorry, may I interpose again and it is an objection, that is why I 18 

am persistent.  19 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 20 

Mr G vd Merwe : I think it unreasonable to ask the witness whether he thinks that a 21 

Deputy Minister, who came out publicly, might have confused people.  22 

The concern with that is, whether Mr Ajay says “yes” or whether he 23 

says “no”, it can make no difference to the fact that he specifically 24 

said “Ajay Gupta”.  That is why you took the (indistinct). 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : No, but I’m asking why is it unreasonable?  I have just given you an 1 

example Mister Van der Merwe, of me in this very important meeting 2 

having said to Mr Gupta we have met and I even specified where I 3 

said I met you.  I said I met you at your offices, because I met one of 4 

the brothers at that.  5 

Mr G vd Merwe : It is unreasonable, because ...  6 

Adv T Madonsela : So if I can confuse you, is it not possible he could also confuse you? 7 

Mr G vd Merwe : But Madam Public Protector, my apologies again, the question was 8 

directed to me, so hence my response.  You did not accuse Mr Ajay of 9 

offering you a job as a Minister of finance personally.  You maybe just 10 

confused him, because you never met him before.  The second thing 11 

is, you did not go public and as a result of that caused a severe impact 12 

on business.   13 

That is why it is unreasonable to confuse it and then under oath 14 

later on to your office name a person, because he must be certain and 15 

then the witness can be questioned about it.  That is all I’m trying to 16 

say, because to later on say, “Yeah, but maybe he got confused and 17 

we still find that he was” ... we want to know who did it, so that that 18 

witness can come and testify.  That is all. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, unfortunately Sir, in inquisitorial proceedings we don’t really 20 

operate exactly the accusatorial way.  That is why I would ask for 21 

example a direct question now to Mr Gupta.  Did one of your brothers 22 

meet with Minister Jonas? 23 

Mr G vd Merwe : I’m happy with that question. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, that is a direct question. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so let me say Madam, that he has his own right to say, but ... 1 

Adv T Madonsela : No, but he is a Lawyer, that is his job.  I don’t (indistinct – speaking 2 

simultaneously). 3 

Mr A Gupta : But let me say my thing is that, why they are digging Ajay Gupta 4 

name?  I tell you now, which is like you say that it is perception, like 5 

you change my ... when you meet with me and you confuse that, the 6 

same way I say why they are the digging?  Because everybody knows 7 

that me is a person who have a friendship, not anybody of my 8 

brothers. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 10 

Mr A Gupta : That is why they want to take the name of Ajay Gupta.  If they want to 11 

take a name, name anybody, then it is very clear that everybody ... 12 

like my younger brother, he might not be seen to President in the last 13 

five years, both brothers, both brothers, or any other Minister 14 

maybe.  So that is why let me clarify now to this thing and that is why 15 

I say this thing, that when this matter is coming (indistinct), it is not 16 

that we are not worried about it and don’t see this thing.   17 

We also think that it is a serious allegation on us, it is a very 18 

serious thing and we check it, the specs and this thing, and the 19 

Sunday Times put that allegation on two brothers, not one.  It said 20 

Ajay Gupta and Atul Gupta, and we check it that Ajay Gupta is not ... I 21 

mean is myself, because I’m looking the business, so I was not ... I 22 

never meet with him, so how can I ... then I even check it with Atul 23 

Gupta also.  He was overseas on that time, that date they are talking.  24 

I don’t know, maybe there were confusion.  Now if you want me to, I 25 
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can go further? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : No, just a minute.  I just want to confirm Sir, that then your evidence 2 

is that neither you nor Atul Gupta met with Mr Jonas in October 3 

2012? 4 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, never, Madam.  5 

Adv T Madonsela : Did Rajesh meet with Mr Jonas in October 2015? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, I’m coming ... because this was never ... now it is never 7 

claimed to Rajesh Gupta, so we on that time we never ask him and 8 

because it is a blame to Atul Gupta and Ajay Gupta, but now I’m 9 

coming on this thing where I know that, what I know, what I know 10 

them asking to Dudu and Dudu that, that what exactly is this that you 11 

people are telling, because they are only blaming me and Atul Gupta.   12 

So I say, “No, Dudu, tell me what exactly is that?” and then what 13 

Dudu told me, according to that, that they never meet even Rajesh 14 

also.  Rajesh, on that time, in this ... once they are having a meeting, 15 

Dudu told me that Fana and him have a meeting with them, Rajesh 16 

come to the meeting and having some word with Dudu and left.  It 17 

was never been any ... never a talk about anything with Deputy 18 

Minister.  So that is the Dudu and then I discuss with Dudu, then 19 

Dudu told me this. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Dudu said he had a meeting with ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, he say that he have a meeting with Mr Jonas, he and Fana had a 22 

meeting with Jonas, Mr Jonas. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : With Jonas and Fana? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Where did this meeting take place, Sir? 1 

Mr A Gupta : See, that again has to be go in, in detail.  I don’t know much of the 2 

details, but this thing, they say that ... because it is a media, 3 

sometimes they say in Hyatt Hotel, sometimes they say in a 4 

whorehouse ...  5 

Adv T Madonsela : No, but I just want to know from Rajesh’s side where did the meeting 6 

take place? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Rajesh, again please Madam, Rajesh was not part of this meeting.  8 

Rajesh is being ... what Dudu told me, that Rajesh was only come ... a 9 

matter of fact Rajesh don’t remember much. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Dudu then, where does he say the meeting took place, Sir? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Please Madam, if you now ask me, I will ask him again this thing, but 12 

as far as my ... it feel to me in this thing at our house, but I did not ask 13 

that, but it looks like to me it is at 5 Saxonwold. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : You think the meeting took place at your house? 15 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I think so. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : And it was between Fana and Mr ...  17 

Mr A Gupta : And Mr Duduzane, because Dudu told me they have some issue about 18 

... what they call that?  It is some blackmailing issue or something, or 19 

that Dudu ... and then Dudu say that in this meeting that we discuss 20 

only this matter between Fana and ... Fana is blackmailing to Jonas on 21 

some ... his own business and this thing, and Dudu made this 22 

comment to Fana and that is why this meeting has been arranged, 23 

and they had some discussion about this thing, nothing else. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Does Dudu say he arranged the meeting? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : If I remember properly, yes, Dudu say that no, he phoned to Jonas.  I 1 

don’t know meeting arranged by Fana or Dudu, but that Dudu say 2 

yes, he phoned.   3 

Adv T Madonsela : He phoned Mr Jonas? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  5 

Adv T Madonsela : And it took place at the house at the time? 6 

Mr A Gupta : I mean this is my opinion ...  7 

Adv T Madonsela : But the other brother ...  8 

Mr A Gupta : ... that it is my thing that.  I did not bother too much about this things, 9 

yeah. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and you were not at home?   11 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Where were you on that day, Sir? 13 

Mr A Gupta : Me, my daily routine is Madam, on that ... up to that time, because 14 

after that it is little change.  I mean when the family resigned from 15 

the Executive and Non-executive positions, so up to that time I every 16 

day leave my home nine-thirty (09:30) to ten o’clock (10:00), reach 17 

the office and I stay five-thirty (17:30: up to the office and go back to 18 

the home, and sleep eight o’clock (20:00).   19 

That is my routine, if it is not an exceptional something, 20 

because we withdraw too much from last five years.  I did not attend 21 

any business function, any ... I mean tried to be.  I mean maybe one or 22 

two in exceptional, but I tried not to be at any Presidential dinner or 23 

this thing.  I stopped, because it is making problem to my family and 24 

my friend as well, both of them, so that is why I withdraw from all 25 
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these things. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : So that was in December last year? 2 

Mr A Gupta : December last year? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, no, this was in October? 4 

Mr A Gupta : October last year.  So I definitely will be in the office, I hundred 5 

percent will be in the office.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : You would have been in the office? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Office. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : We don’t ... we will just have to check that time of day, but that is 9 

extremely helpful, Sir. 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I mean I can without any doubt, Madam ...  11 

Adv N Kanyane : It is around one o’clock (13:00). 12 

Adv T Madonsela : She says it was around one o’clock (13:00). 13 

Mr A Gupta : No, never, never, it is no question at all, Madam. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, that ...  15 

Mr A Gupta : If you please check is it Saturday or Sunday?  If it is a Saturday, then 16 

maybe I at home.  Will you please check this date, what day is that? 17 

Adv T Madonsela : If you say then Rajesh was not there, it was only Duduzane and Fana, 18 

and ...  19 

Adv A Gupta : Yeah.  20 

Mr G vd Merwe : Sorry, that is not the evidence.  The evidence is that Rajesh ... 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Said? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Well, no, no, no.  Rajesh visit to in this room and he talk something to 23 

Dudu, and he left.  It is nothing ... never had a part of this meeting and  24 

he has never have any engagement with Mr Jonas.   25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-390



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

57 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, that is what I’m asking.  I’m asking if the meeting was at your 1 

house, how would Duduzane have let himself in, into your house? 2 

Mr A Gupta : Duduzane and Tony is good friends to each other.   3 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 4 

Mr A Gupta : They normally come and go together, and he come to the house quite 5 

often, I say before October.  It is regularly he come to the house. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Can he have ... is he allowed to have his private meetings with people 7 

at your house? 8 

Mr A Gupta : For Duduzane? 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, there is not a issue to that.  It is has never, never, because 11 

Duduzane is ... sorry.  12 

Mr G vd Merwe : It would be of assistance if you explain the setup at the house, the 13 

offices and the conference room, and ... it is not a house like my house 14 

or a ... but I don’t want to give evidence. 15 

Mr A Gupta : Let me say one more thing Madam, in this thing.  It maybe help in 16 

your whole investigation, is this thing. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 18 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe help much more.  It maybe take five minute, if you allow me 19 

that, to explain that. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, please Sir, do so.  I know we should have finished by now, but ...   21 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I have no problem with the timing issue. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : This is important that we give you the time to explain to us.  23 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so please understand that we have been scrutinised too much 24 

by the media.  Never been by anybody and the media effect on our 25 
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family, this media report affect too much on it.  You know, you can 1 

imagine that once ... I can even think ... I don’t want to be saying, you 2 

will think I’m talking too much.  Can someone allegate(?) to anybody 3 

without any ... we have to be very cautious that we should not do any 4 

business with Government, we should not do anything with any of 5 

the Ministers, or anything, if we keep our relation.  Even that you 6 

have been blamed for each and everything happening in the country 7 

and if you are (indistinct).   8 

So that is giving to much effect on our family and last year itself 9 

the stage come there, some of the family members is not interested 10 

to doing any business and whether ... I mean that is why I feel 11 

emotional also.  I have been blamed, because this relation is with me, 12 

not with anybody else and this has been specifically targeted to the 13 

President and my relations, and as a friendship.  So the family 14 

decided that no, we don’t want to be, we don’t want to be here and as 15 

the elder of the brothers they don’t want me to be also fired, and say, 16 

“No, you go now”.   17 

So one of the youngest brother of mine decided, which is Rajesh 18 

Gupta, he decided ... his family completely, his daughter, son and 19 

everybody decided no, they are going to be ... they are not interested 20 

to take this much (indistinct), because kids are affected.  The kids are 21 

coming and talking that ... you talk so much of a high ground of moral 22 

and that in a family setting and we are proud on this thing, because 23 

we teach to our kids and this way, and now this media is talking.  24 

They are talking like this, so what reply you are having?  When your 25 
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12-year old child will talk to you, like your colleagues or your 1 

students are telling this thing.  That make more problems, so the new 2 

generation actually decided they want to do outside of South Africa 3 

business, and the youngest brother, Tony and his family shifted 4 

actually, I mean to looking for a new business, a new thing.  The kids 5 

has been shifted last year itself to school and everything, because 6 

they don’t want to go school. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : I’m sorry for that, Mister Gupta.   8 

Mr A Gupta : So Mr Tony is being ... say that he will ... from last two years he didn’t 9 

go to the office at all.  So he have one small office and room, and 10 

everything at home.  He don’t want to go. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : That is Rajesh? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Rajesh. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 14 

Mr A Gupta : So he maybe in the last two year one time or two times.  He is 15 

completely out of all business and everything. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : How old is he, Rajesh? 17 

Mr A Gupta : He is now 44 or 43/44. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you. 19 

Mr A Gupta : So he have a young child, all of them even my both child.  They don’t 20 

want to do business here.  The two years they left, two years now.  So 21 

they are looking at different prospective and this and this, so like the 22 

(indistinct) say Rajesh always at home.  If he is in South Africa he 23 

always at home.  So he told me if he meet to his friends or anybody, 24 

so he meet at home.  So if it is Duduzane he come there, is almost full 25 
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(indistinct) office for him because of this reason, that he can ... if he 1 

have a meeting or anything is not disturbing the family more and 2 

more, so he have a lot of meetings.  He have a lot of friends come then 3 

and do, and chat.  So Duduzane is having a ... we might be knowing 4 

anything what he is doing or I mean he have some private meeting 5 

also, it has not been objected at home at all.  He has been ... Duduzane 6 

I treat him as a child, as a younger brother.  I don’t feel that he is 7 

(indistinct) there. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, thank you.  I’m asking do you have any history of conflict with 9 

Mr Jonas? 10 

Mr A Gupta : But I never meet him.  I never in my life ever meet with him. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Any conflict between him and any of your brothers? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, never, never, never. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Why would he want to harm you? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, that is not he is harming to me.  I don’t feel it, but let me say one 15 

more thing.  Madam, you say then your opening remark that Nene is 16 

being ... I mean we offer a job to him, that when Nene is in a position.  17 

So let me say Nene was a good friend to me, Nene also, when he is 18 

Deputy Minister, when he is Minister of Finance, so he was a good 19 

friend to me also.   20 

He visited maybe the house more than anybody else as the 21 

Minister of Finance, even a few times, at my office also a few times.  22 

So it is ... if I have to do anything with Treasury or anything with this 23 

thing, so it is Nene, then he has to give ... reply that ever I ask 24 

anything from him.  Sorry to that ... so it is completely ... and even my 25 
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phone recorder is available, his phone recorder is available, you can 1 

check it.  Even he has been ... I mean he was been out of the Finance 2 

Minister, after that also a few times I call him, a few times.  Even I can 3 

... I don’t know, again, this is a matter of a legal, I have never been in 4 

such kind of a ... I can even reveal to you that what I talk to him, even 5 

after he have been not in a ... so as a Finance Minister, as a Deputy 6 

Minister of Finance.  So why I am going to say to them, it is all 7 

afterthoughts Madam, this is all afterthoughts.  I think so that it is 8 

something afterthought.  I mean it is a bigger thing of that, which is I 9 

always say that to the people, that it is (indistinct) what we are doing. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Right. 11 

Mr F Lekubo :  Why do you have so many friends who are Ministers? 12 

Mr A Gupta : (Laughing).  Sorry, okay, you want to give a reply on this question? 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, you can respond to it if you want to. 14 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  See, it is not a matter of a Minister only.   See, when I was in 15 

Presidential Consultative Forum or IMC and I meet with the people, 16 

it is not necessarily they were a Minister and then later one they 17 

became a Minister.  President Zuma also he was not a President.  18 

When I meet with him and I have a good relation, he was not a ... he 19 

was nothing on that time.   20 

People don’t want to be, even say hello to him.  I have a meeting 21 

which I told you in 2006.  You can ask to the ... I mean Tokyo always 22 

claimed this thing.  When he was there at home, he was sitting in a 23 

one corner of our lapa and we invited as a guest to him, he was 24 

nothing and all Ministers are there, and nobody want to say hello.  25 
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Even Tokyo claim this thing, I am the only man who went to say hello 1 

to him there.  So it is not that ... and that is why I say in the beginning 2 

also I have a relation in India also, I have in India also, here also, 3 

everywhere.  It is not ... because I have nothing to do, nothing to do 4 

with the business, nothing to hide anything, so why not I have to be 5 

keep my relation?  It is a most plain relations and that I claim, sorry 6 

that ...  7 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Mister Gupta.  It would help if you can recall and through 8 

your Lawyer give us some names of the Ministers that had been to 9 

your house?  That would be helpful. 10 

Mr A Gupta : I can give now a few names. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 12 

Mr A Gupta : On that time, if you say 2006, I remember I think Jeff Radebe also 13 

there. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Jeff? 15 

Mr A Gupta : Jeff and if I remember, Lindiwe Sisulu was also there, yeah.  So it is ... 16 

you see there it is so many people there. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Who has been of these Ministers?  18 

Mr A Gupta : Essop Pahad was there, Aziz Pahad was there. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Of these Ministers who has been frequenting your house mostly?  20 

Mr A Gupta : See, most of them I have in one function there ... 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Who has visited outside a function, just had dinner or lunch 22 

with you at your house? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Many Ministers also, Madam. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Like who, Sir? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Rob Davies also.   1 

Adv T Madonsela : Rob Davies?   2 

Mr A Gupta : See, so many. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Who had dinner there? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Essop also.  Even Essop, until today.  Essop come at least once in 5 

three/four months to house for a dinner.  So I have nothing to do 6 

with the business in anybody.  So I’m very happy to invite and to do 7 

anybody in there, and that is why we say that, I say in the beginning 8 

this is our business.  This is our business, which as I mention to you.  9 

So they say 2010 we started that.  February 2011, our balance sheets, 10 

total turnover of our business is 2.2 billion, roundabout.   11 

Adv T Madonsela : In 2010? 12 

Mr A Gupta : 2010 ... I mean February 2011.  So yearend is on February, it belongs 13 

to 2010 automatically and then Government revenue, because first 14 

revenue of the Government we only get from that newspaper, with 15 

newspaper when it started.  So newspaper start in December 2010, 16 

Madam. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : I want to go into that.  Can I just maybe just lock one thing on the 18 

relationship here?  I’m glad that you are taking me to that 19 

information.  I just wanted to ... you said Minister Pahad has visited 20 

often, Rob Davies.  Has many ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : Often.  I mean you ask me for a dinner. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 23 

Mr A Gupta : I invite few times to the dinner with his wife.  He attended to the 24 

dinner. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Gigaba visited many times? 1 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, many times with his wife.   2 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Mbalula visited many times? 3 

Mr A Gupta : Not so many, but I think so one or two times, two/three times maybe.   4 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Dlamini visited your home? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Dlamini ... Bathabile? 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Bathabile. 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t think so.  8 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Martins, former Minister Martians visited your house? 9 

Mr A Gupta : Ben Martins? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 11 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, he visit few times. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Is he a friend? 13 

Mr A Gupta : I treat him as a friend, although he not talked to me from a long time 14 

now, but I treat him as a friend.  Now maybe three/four years he 15 

never any word. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Joemat-Peterson visited your house? 17 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe very long back one or two times. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Zwane visited your house? 19 

Mr A Gupta : No.  I never meet with him, because I don’t have much relations with 20 

him. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Minister Van Rooyen visited your house? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all.  I don’t think so, at all. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Mr Brian Molefe visited your house? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : How many times? 1 

Mr A Gupta : Well, because I have a relation with him, roundabout let’s say 14 2 

years or more maybe, so he maybe ...  3 

Adv T Madonsela : Where does that relationship come from? 4 

Mr A Gupta : It is the same that ... it is the Presidential Consultative Forum, he is 5 

also part of that. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, you mentioned that council? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, Presidential Consultative Forum, he was ... Malusi also part of 8 

that on that time. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Has Mr Brian Molefe ever worked for you? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Worked for ... no. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Or done business for you? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all.  This is very interesting now.  He never give any (indistinct) 13 

when he was in the PIC, he never ... we never did any business when 14 

he was in Transnet.  We never even ... even now in my opinion and 15 

my way, that even in the coal business also people think that Brian 16 

Molefe give that.  The first coal contract has been given before Brian 17 

come.  In December 2015 or 2014 we got the first 100 000 ton coal 18 

contract from there and in today we have only three contracts with 19 

Eskom, two come with the Optimum, one is the old one, so Molefe 20 

never did any business on this way. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you consider him a friend? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I consider him as a good friend. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : And how often would he visit your house? 24 

Mr A Gupta : It is not again is often, but again I would say that maybe once in 25 
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two/three months or something, four times or five times in a year.  1 

How many, six times?  I mean I’m not hundred percent that it is ... 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Would he come there with his wife or family, or would he just come 3 

all by himself? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, he is a ... you know I have a very long relations with him there.  5 

His wife was Portia before, he is now divorced. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, is he divorced?   7 

Mr A Gupta : Divorced, I think so.  I want to be saying this thing, he come many 8 

times even now, so I don’t go in too much of a ... in there, but he come 9 

many times with his kids.   10 

Adv T Madonsela : When last did he come with the kids? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Last is now maybe one and a half years before? 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you, Sir.  Did you want to ask questions? 13 

Mr F Lekubo : If you could maybe ask Lynne Brown as well? 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, yes.  Yeah, she was on the list.  Thank you, Mr ... Ms Lynne Brown 15 

has she visited your house? 16 

Mr A Gupta : No, never. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Is she a friend? 18 

Mr A Gupta : I mean again I met her maybe only 14/15 years before.  After that I 19 

never met with her and on that time I met when she was an MEC in 20 

Cape Town, I mean there and then she become a Premier also.  I met 21 

her on that time also with her, but after that only once I work with 22 

her and on that also, that when she become a Minister and I was 23 

sitting with our Chief Executive.  He is on a phone to congratulating 24 

to her and then same phone I say to her “Congratulations Madam”, 25 
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that is it, and that is the only, only time that I have (indistinct).  1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and ...  2 

Mr A Gupta : Sorry, Madam, yeah. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, what about Deputy Minister Maphatsoe? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Who is this? 5 

Adv N Kanyane : Kebby. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Deputy Minister of Defence is he a family friend? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Not with me much, but yes, he is a friend with my younger brother, 8 

Rajesh. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : How often does he visit the house? 10 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t think so very often.  Maybe once in a year or something, 11 

on functions, not with any other things.  I met only once as a 12 

Treasurer General of MKMVA. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Which other Ministers we haven’t counted?  Lindiwe Zulu, does she 14 

come often?  15 

Mr A Gupta : Me, I never meet with her. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : You never met with her? 17 

Mr A Gupta : I mean at home.  I mean at some function I say hello or something, 18 

that is fine. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, we have dealt with Ministers, we have dealt with Board 20 

Members.  Do you have any friend at Denel? 21 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Any relationship with any Board Member at Denel? 23 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, I don’t have anybody, anyone. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : What about SAA, any relationship with Ms Dudu? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Dudu Myeni, no. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Dudu Myeni? 2 

Mr A Gupta : No, I ...  3 

Adv T Madonsela : Has she been to your house? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, she has been to our house maybe a few times, one or two times, 5 

but long back.  I don’t have any ...  6 

Adv T Madonsela : She is not a frequent ... would you regard her as a friend? 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t regard her as a friend to her because from the last 4/5 8 

years I don’t have any communication with her.  For maybe 4 years 9 

or 3 years. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and then Mr ... the President’s wives, has any of them ever been 11 

to your house? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Which one has been to your house? 14 

Mr A Gupta : I think so, on a function maybe two or three.  Maybe two or ... I think 15 

so, two of them, not ... I doubt of Thobeka.  The other two maybe visit 16 

a function with him. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  There was a media allegation that you or the Gupta Family was 18 

paying for her residence in Waterkloof ... or for a residence of one of 19 

the President’s wives in Waterkloof. 20 

Mr A Gupta : A lie. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Is that a lie? 22 

Mr A Gupta : That is a lie, Madam.  I  never (indistinct).  23 

Adv T Madonsela : So that was a lie, no house ...  24 

Mr A Gupta : In our books with everybody everything is there. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Are you paying for any accommodation for any of the Gupta(Zuma) 1 

family members? 2 

Mr A Gupta : Sorry, sorry, again? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Are you paying for any residential expenses of any of the Zuma 4 

family members? 5 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Have you ever paid? 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, not at all.  I mean I have given this thing under oath to 8 

you that ... (laughing). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : I have to ask everything and then you just answer. 10 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, please. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : So forgive me, because everything that has been ...  12 

Mr A Gupta : No, please Madam, please ask.  13 

Adv T Madonsela : ... it just cropped up (indistinct – speaking simultaneously) here.  14 

Mr A Gupta : I’m very happy, I’m very happy that at least someone is ... first time 15 

ever listening to us. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You are friends with the family ... with the President.  It would 17 

appear not with the family.  Your relationship ...  18 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  19 

Adv T Madonsela : You are friends with the President and Mr Rajesh ...  20 

Mr A Gupta : Is friends with Dudu.  21 

Adv T Madonsela : ... is friends with Dudu and he is friends with Mr Maphatsoe? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : What I would like to know Sir, is as friends do you exchange gifts? 24 

Mr A Gupta : No, specifically no. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : No gifts at all? 1 

Mr A Gupta : No, I tell you ...  2 

Adv T Madonsela : Never? 3 

Mr A Gupta : No, never.  I tell you why, it is a reason behind it.  The first time when 4 

I given a gift to ... on Diwali or something, which has happened or 5 

birthday, then Dr Pahad told me specifically, he said, “More than a 6 

R300.00 of a gift if you are giving, it is a problem.  I had to declare to 7 

the Parliament and I have to be receive this thing”.  This Dr Pahad 8 

told me at that time.  So I was very carefully on that thing.  I will 9 

maybe take a gift to the President a few times, the food.  He love the 10 

food and I also love the food, so I took it many time, the food.  In fact 11 

he visit also home, that he love that particular dish and so I’m very 12 

happy. 13 

Mr F Lekubo :  What dish is that? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, you want to ... it is called fried vegetable.  It is something else, I 15 

will ask from my wife just now.  If you want I can phone her, what 16 

exactly what is called that, but it is a Chinese dish mainly, but 17 

prepared in the Indian style.  So whenever he come he only eat that 18 

and then I will take sometimes, and I take sometimes the cake also.  I 19 

will not lie, that sometimes the cake, which is ... when there is 20 

occasion or something. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : So how often do you take those gifts to the President, the food? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, not that ...  23 

Adv T Madonsela : No, it is not a gift.  How often do you take the food? 24 

Mr A Gupta :   Maybe once in a year or twice in a year, it is there.  I just (indistinct – 25 
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speaking simultaneously) ...  1 

Adv T Madonsela : When it is a religious holiday? 2 

Mr A Gupta : Or a holiday or any reason that something happened.  You know I 3 

feel very sad Madam, but you finish that first, I don’t want to distract 4 

to you there.  5 

Adv T Madonsela : So you have never given any gift to the wives? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : To the President? 8 

Mr A Gupta : No, not ... one time to the wife maybe, I will say that, at the wedding 9 

of that my designer was there, so maybe one clothes. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : When was that, Sir? 11 

Mr A Gupta : 2013 maybe and my ...   12 

Adv T Madonsela : Which wife did you give the ...  13 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t remember between that ... the other ... Ntuli and that in 14 

this time.  See, on that time I given her clothes for a ... I mean we 15 

prepared that clothes for everybody, when my daughter’s wedding 16 

was, 2013. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : You prepared clothes? 18 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, it is being prepared at home, our home.  It is not that I buy from 19 

market and I give it to them there. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you give clothes to all of them, all of the Ministers that attended 21 

the wedding?   22 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : What happened, Sir? 24 

Mr A Gupta : No, maybe a few on that and see, again understand it is not a gift or 25 
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any (indistinct).  Like that someone visit on that time and we are all 1 

busy to measuring and this thing, it is a big occasion for the family, 2 

and that anybody come on that time, if maybe the Minister also.  I 3 

don’t remember at all, but it is possible that I say no, okay, okay, 4 

make one for him also, so it is like this.  It is not like that intentionally 5 

give that gift to anybody. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You wouldn’t remember what would have been the value of 7 

those, if they were ... I know you did them at home, but if somebody 8 

had bought it, how much would it likely to have cost on the market? 9 

Mr A Gupta : It is very unfair to say to me this thing. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : You wouldn’t know? 11 

Mr A Gupta : No, I would not know. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is fine, I was just asking.   13 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  14 

Adv T Madonsela : It is not a big issue.  We are now moving to Mr Maseko.  We will come 15 

back to you if there is any issue of some of the Ministerial 16 

relationships that were (indistinct).  Mr Maseko of GCIS also made a 17 

statement alleging that you sought to influence spending at GCIS in 18 

favour of The New Age, and he says he met with you and your family 19 

at your family residence.  What is your response to that? 20 

Mr A Gupta : No, he met with me.  He met with me at the house. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you ask him to spend money on The New Age? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I asked him to be ... that to be ... I mean I was ... it is not that ask 23 

the money of ... on that time is we are having a setup ... it is the time 24 

that we are setting up TNA.  So on that time I was giving and going to 25 
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everybody to ask advertisements and you must ... I mean, “You please 1 

go and do that, the advertisement?”.  That is why I say my English is 2 

not that one ... so I was asking to everybody to give advertisement 3 

when we start the newspaper.  That is before I start the newspaper, 4 

this is before, well before the start of the newspaper.   5 

Adv T Madonsela : And then on that newspaper do you know if the newspaper has 6 

verified readership? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Verified readership? 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you have confirmation by an independent agency that indicates 9 

what is the extent of your readership? 10 

Mr A Gupta : The circulation? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, circulation.   12 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes.  I don’t have exactly, exactly, exactly this, but you know 13 

this is ... until I was looking and they are informing me that figures.  It 14 

is roundabout between 50 to 60 000.  The printing ... because they 15 

are doing in a different model, it is having a 100 000 print order or 16 

120 000 and the independent audit reports was roundabout 50 to 17 

60 000, sometimes 70 000, go sometimes 60 000 (indistinct), or 18 

sometimes you go below little, 50 also. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : And before Government started advertising, did they have that 20 

independent audit report on your circulation? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Now see, that I have to be check that. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : You don’t know? 23 

Mr A Gupta : That I have to be check. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : If you can check for us, we will also ask you then to check that? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  1 

Mr G vd Merwe : Madam Public Protector, just have a question to ... the question is you 2 

would like to know what the circulation was prior to Government 3 

advertisements? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : If it was verified before Government advertised, if there was an 5 

independent verification of circulation? 6 

Mr A Gupta : It must be Madam, it must be, because when I have a meeting with 7 

Themba, Themba told me that, because Themba Maseko is not that it 8 

is the first time I’m meeting him.  I meet maybe 20/30 times before 9 

this meeting also, because I ...  10 

Adv T Madonsela : Where were you meeting him, Sir? 11 

Mr A Gupta : So it is every places, that Madam, I tell you that he was at GCIS right 12 

and I was a member of International Marketing Council, IMC.  So it is 13 

every two months or one month there is a meeting of IMC, so we 14 

used to meet there and when it has been appointed by the previous 15 

President, all Ministers of Presidency, whoever in charge of this 16 

thing.   17 

In this ... when President Zuma become President, because I 18 

know my friendship, I want to resign and I ... and Themba Maseko 19 

was in charge for the GCIS and I mentioned to him, and then he even 20 

told me that “No, no, no, don’t to be resign” and explain me what is 21 

the reason, because I was (indistinct) I have a different opinion than 22 

what the IMC has been operating.  So then he said, no, no, he sent an 23 

SMS also, he phoned me also not to do, and then he called me a 24 

meeting.  He say no, first explain to the Minister, Collins Chabane.  25 
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Then he called a meeting and I met with him also there, that when 1 

Minister Chabane, him and Wendy Luhabe and me, all was there in a 2 

meeting, and I explain that.  They pursue me, Themba particularly, 3 

not to resign and that is why I carry on this in IMC in current 4 

position.  On that time also Madam, one more thing I want to 5 

mention, because there is so much of a noise from last two years or 6 

three years, I did not attend that meeting and finally they fired me on 7 

this April only, because I don’t want to be (indistinct) there.   8 

Then they all tell me that, “No, you are influencing on this, 9 

because we are reading every day in the newspaper that you are 10 

influencing”.  What I am influencing or for what, I don’t understand 11 

until today, Madam.   12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Did you ever put pressure on him though to buy advertising 13 

space in your newspaper? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, it is impossible to put pressure on him and this figure show that, 15 

what (indistinct), what I have exactly within that.  I want to in this 16 

meeting, I want to only understand that how it ... what to do?  He 17 

suggest to me that “You better ask to your office to phone to his 18 

office” and I did it.  My office call to them, because I don’t involve 19 

much in operational level. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : So is he lying then when he says you put pressure on him?   21 

Mr A Gupta : You see, again if you ask me in a legal (indistinct), it is hundred 22 

percent like that if I put a pressure.  What pressure I put and what is 23 

the pressure that it can be in this, that I got only R1 million, 1 million, 24 

R1.5 million advertisement in 2010 or 2011?   25 
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Adv T Madonsela : From Government? 1 

Mr A Gupta : From Government and which is not hundred percent including GCIS.   2 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.  Thank you, we are done with Mr Maseko, unless I’m 3 

missing something on Mr Maseko. 4 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, I just wanted to ask a few further questions with regards to Mr 5 

Maseko.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 7 

Mr F Lekubo :  What was the purpose of that meeting at the house?  Was it to 8 

discuss specifically that issue or was he there for something else? 9 

Mr G vd Merwe : Can you just do that photography first maybe?  It is a bit distracting. 10 

Journalist :  Sorry, sorry. 11 

Mr A Gupta : No, I will say that I don’t hundred percent remember.  It is again 12 

2010, but me and Maseko was regularly in touch, because of IMC and 13 

so many other things, I mean to talk about this.  So I don’t remember 14 

exactly the meeting is being called for this particular reason or for 15 

anything.  Yes, maybe it is convenient to both of us to be in a seated 16 

(indistinct), but I remember this thing, I definitely should be on that 17 

time, because I’m meeting with everybody for newspaper.   18 

I only he say this thing, so I can recall and this thing, that maybe 19 

I had asked him that, “No, tell us that how this Government 20 

advertisement work?”, and then he suggest to me that “No, you had 21 

to be ... ask your office to contact” and then I did this and my office 22 

asked them. 23 

Mr F Lekubo :  The last question on that, he went on record in the media as well, his 24 

statement that released, saying that you then threatened him to say 25 
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that if he does not comply, you will have him sorted out by his 1 

superiors. 2 

Mr A Gupta : No, see now I didn’t remember on the media, but you say ... let me 3 

give a reply there.  So what mean that “sorted out”? 4 

Mr F Lekubo :  You are saying? 5 

Mr A Gupta : What mean of that he say that I’m going to ...  6 

 Adv T Madonsela : If I can bring it back here then. 7 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, sorry, yeah. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : He is alleging or he is saying Mr Maseko alleges that you threatened 9 

him.  That is the pressure that he is referring to, that you wanted him 10 

to advertise or something would happen to his job. 11 

Mr A Gupta : (Laughing). 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Then he subsequently lost his job. 13 

Mr A Gupta : Subsequently with how many years later?  Tell me that Madam, how 14 

many years later he lose his job? 15 

Adv N Kanyane : It was about a year later. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : It was about a year later, Sir.  17 

Mr A Gupta : So if I have anything, I mean so one year I will wait for that?  If you 18 

say that I have any relation or anything and then I’m going to wait for 19 

one year?  You see, this is the problem, Madam. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : But is it your evidence Sir, that you never threatened Mr Maseko? 21 

Mr A Gupta : No, why I’m going to be threat to anybody, when he did not engage to 22 

me for any business?  He said, “No, your office should be calling” and 23 

then my office is calling.  Now he is telling that my office threat to 24 

him to take his job, so ... 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Mr Maseko?   1 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Another person who is said to ...  3 

Mr A Gupta : Sorry Madam, one more thing I want to tell.  When you have a 4 

relation with ... good relation with anybody, you don’t start to 5 

threaten anybody. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : So you had a good relation? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Well, because I’m meeting every month or two with him and he has 8 

been calling to me not to resign, and he is fixing a meeting with this 9 

Minister and then we did at this meeting, and (indistinct) also, if I 10 

remember that, he sent the SMS’ also to me, “No, Ajay, don’t please 11 

resign” and this and that.  So what do you call on this thing, is a 12 

relation or not?  I don’t want to comment on this thing, because if 13 

someone say this thing and that is why I never phone him, even for 14 

that day, that no. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you.  Then Mr Julius Malema, he alleges that ... he alleged 16 

in public in the media that Minister Mbalula admitted to him – and 17 

other ANC leaders at the time – that he was informed by you that he 18 

was going to become a Sports Minister. 19 

Mr A Gupta : So let me say Madam, that you have someone who visit to you or 20 

anybody, to me that also and I raise this point to Mr Mbalula maybe 21 

four times, and the newspaper is reporting and saying that, “No, 22 

these are the guys who will be a Minister tomorrow” and I said to 23 

him ... I met with him, I say to him, “Congratulations that you are 24 

going to be a Minister now”.  I said to Mbalula what I say to you, that 25 
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what ... and he laughed, and he did it (indistinct).  I later on finally in 1 

media also I heard that he say that no, it has not been said to me on 2 

this thing.  You can research that they say that.  The day I talk to 3 

Mbalula ... sorry, sorry.  The day I talk to Mbalula, a few days before 4 

Sunday Times already put in that Paul Mashatile and Mbalula will be 5 

a Minister, you know many of things, which I also tell about this, well, 6 

Mr Jonas, that it is already told in the media many times that no, 7 

Nene is in trouble because of some nuclear deal or something, or SA 8 

deal something.  I mean so ... 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Is it your evidence then Sir, that you didn’t advise Mr Mbalula that he 10 

was going to be the Sports Minister? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all, not at all.  I mean he is going to be the ...it is a report of 12 

media, which is I am sharing with him.  It is nothing that I am 13 

informing him that “You are going to be a Minister”. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, so you reported what the Minister said? 15 

Mr A Gupta :  No, no, what the media say.  That I say, “No, you and Paul will be the 16 

Minister” and this is a matter of research.  You please can research 17 

and you will find that.  He visited the office, I think it was Sahara 18 

office I was sitting on that time, it is a too old matter and on that time 19 

I say that to him, “No, I heard that now you will be a Minister”, and 20 

that I ask him a few times, “What you are telling now to the public it 21 

is a very different view”. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Alright.  It is also alleged, Mister Gupta and I’m not going to say who.  23 

It is alleged that you fielded a Councillor on Victory Park in the 24 

Jo'burg City, in the 2014 Municipal Elections.  Do you recall?  25 
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Mr A Gupta : I fielded?  I don’t understand the question, please Madam? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : It is alleged that you fielded a Councillor.  You had your PA stand for 2 

election as a Councillor for Saxonwold, even though she lives in 3 

Victory Park, in 2012. 4 

Mr A Gupta : Okay, okay, no, I ... this is a ... I don’t remember 2012 and that, but it 5 

is a media report that.  6 

Adv T Madonsela : In 2014, not 2012.  2014.   7 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no way that. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : No, was it 2014, the Municipal Elections? 9 

Mr A Gupta : Municipal elections, no way, nothing, nothing.  It is a completely ... 10 

you can me the name of that and who was my PA (indistinct)? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Did your PA stand for election as a Councillor for Victory Park? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Pardon? 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, without being fielded by you, did your PA stand for elections? 14 

Mr A Gupta : As I know I don’t think so.  My PA is a ... I don’t know, the 2014 PA 15 

work still for me, but I ...  16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, did any of your employees stand who doesn’t stay in ...  17 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t think so, Madam.  I don’t think so at all.  I don’t have any 18 

knowledge of this.  I don’t think so at all. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Did any of your drivers collect people from the townships to 20 

come and vote at Saxonwold? 21 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all not at all, not at all.  I’m not a voter even myself.  Sorry, 22 

yes, yes? 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Can we have the specific names? 24 

Mr F Lekubo :  Yeah, Mandisa Makinana. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : But she is not my PA. 1 

Mr F Lekubo : She is Atul’s PA?  2 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, was.  Atul also ... not now, she is not at the (indistinct), but I 3 

don’t think that she is standing anywhere. 4 

Mr F Lekubo : Valerie Mokedi? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Who? 6 

Mr F Lekubo : Valerie Mokedi? 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t ... I heard first time the name. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : So none of these stood as Councillors as far as you know? 9 

Mr A Gupta : No. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : And none of them were assisted by your family to stand as 11 

Councillors? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all Madam, not at all. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : And you never had your drivers collect people from Victory Park and 14 

other surrounding areas to come and vote? 15 

Mr A Gupta : For voting purpose, not at all. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Not at all? 17 

Mr A Gupta : Not at all. 18 

Mr G vd Merwe : Madam Public Protector, may I just measure it down a little bit?  Can 19 

you give us an indication when this apparently happened, so that ... 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Is it 2014 Local Government Elections? 21 

Mr F Lekubo :  Before the current Local Elections, yeah, it should be in 2016 22 

(indistinct), so 2011.  23 

Adv T Madonsela : 2011.  Yes, I think he said 2011. 24 

Mr G vd Merwe : 2011, is it for that specific ward you are referring to? 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Yeah.  1 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, Ward 117. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 3 

Mr A Gupta : For the election, no, not at all.  Mandisa never stand.  I told you that 4 

in one of the times the allegation on ... I read in the newspaper ... 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, this allegation is not new? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No, this is old.  I don’t know what year and what is that, a very old 7 

allegation.  I remember in the media that not she is stand in an 8 

election or anything.  They say that she been put in ANC ward or 9 

something, in an ANC meeting or something, not in the election of 10 

that, if you go and ...  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Not in the proper elections? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, not in the election.  In ANC Board Meeting. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Well, it said she stood for elections, but she was introduced by 14 

you or she was introduced by one of the Gupta brothers to the ... 15 

when the ANC met to select the people who were going to stand on 16 

the ANC’s flag, you introduced ...  17 

Mr A Gupta : No, she ... what I remember that she never been stand for anywhere, 18 

anything. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  No, that is all we needed to know.  That is fine.  20 

Mr A Gupta : She is still working.  She is in a media company. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Alright.  These are the relationships that ... you have explained your 22 

relationship with Brian Molefe, you confirmed that he is your friend? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I feel him as a friend.  I consider him as a friend. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : And visits you frequently.  Do you speak on the telephone with him 25 
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frequently? 1 

Mr A Gupta : I mean I speak to him, but not now, maybe last one year or nine 2 

months, because of this Eskom and this thing, but I used to speak to 3 

him on the phone also, I used to.  Madam, it is only you are talking 4 

about the politician? 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Uhm. 6 

Mr A Gupta : I’m a friend with the sports persons also.  I’m a friend with the 7 

entertainment industry also.  I’m a friend with many of the ... Miss 8 

South Africa, I meet with many of the top sports personalities. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you. 10 

Mr A Gupta : This is my ... I mean I’m a public person, me and that.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  One last question that we would like to know, if you 12 

have any relationship with him, if you can explain your relationship 13 

with Colin Mayne? 14 

Mr A Gupta : Colin Mayne? 15 

Adv T Madonsela : The ANC Youth League ... 16 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t have any relation with him. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Relationship? 18 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I don’t have any relation, but I maybe say hello to him a few 19 

times.  I can’t say that ... like particularly I’m telling you about Jonas, I 20 

did not even say hello to him.   21 

Adv T Madonsela : Does any of your brothers have a relationship with him? 22 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t think so, I don’t think so. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : It is said that he has a bond for a house in Woodhill that was 24 

arranged by an Indian, that he got from an Indian bank.  You don’t 25 
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know anything about it? 1 

Mr A Gupta : No.  See, you know what is reported, then you have to go and check 2 

this thing.  You have to be report it, then go and check this thing.  You 3 

know previously also it has been reported that if any Indian bank or 4 

anything we do, like Indian bank, they link it to us.  So that is our 5 

biggest problem for the media, that I do find out that no, if the guys 6 

work for us five years before, it is also linked that no, he left five 7 

years and now he is doing something, and that is the campaign 8 

against us.  This is the biggest issue to us on this thing.  So the Indian 9 

bank is been ... did it, because we are only left with our dealing with 10 

Indian bank now at this moment, but it is nothing to do with us.   11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 12 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, nothing to do with me. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : He does have a deal from an Indian bank? 14 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  I believe so that, that once we recorded this thing and then he 15 

have a bond from Indian bank, but it is a bond.  It is a bond, this is 16 

nothing much more on this thing. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : And is the bank operating in South Africa? 18 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes.   19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  It is called the Bank of Baroda? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : It is not the Bank of Baroda? 24 

Mr A Gupta : That is a problem, because we are dealing with Bank of Baroda, so 25 
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they are taking the name of Bank of Baroda.  We are dealing with 1 

Bank of Baroda, yeah. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You don’t know which bank then gave him the deal?  3 

Mr A Gupta : No, unnecessarily I have to be at one more bank ...  4 

Adv N Kanyane : But was it the State Bank of India? 5 

Mr A Gupta : No.  It is also not that, because we are dealing with them also.  So 6 

they can take ... please understand that, I am putting ... and this is ... I 7 

mean should put a complaint to you, Madam Public Protector.  The 8 

people to whom we are dealing they are being harassed so badly, so 9 

badly.  I would like to give one paper, I bring to you to that.  Anybody 10 

name come, I put the name out and they have been harassed so 11 

badly, that you will see yourself.  I will give it to the staff, I mean to 12 

you. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you. 14 

Mr A Gupta : Anybody.  Bank of Baroda is being harassed this moment from last 15 

20 days, from last 20 days.  They really want to be ... I don’t know 16 

what, I don’t want to say on behalf of them.   17 

Adv T Madonsela : So it is not from ... right and it has also been said that you assisted 18 

one of the Zuma wives to purchase a house in Waterkloof.  You said 19 

that didn’t happen? 20 

Mr A Gupta : No, it has nothing to do with ... she also have some bond and that is 21 

their game plan, that if the Indian bank that they claim that I did it. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is okay, we will leave that.   You are on record as having said 23 

that your business with Government is less than 10% of your 24 

revenue? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : I will show you now hundred percent.  I will give another, which is 1 

on that time they given only in 2016.  I will give now my document to 2 

you for 2010 onwards. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : When you are saying “Government”, do you include Parastatals? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Everything, everything, Parastatals, municipalities, anything you call, 5 

which is even small relations with the Government, even small 6 

relations. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  So where are your business dealings based mostly then? 8 

Mr A Gupta : In South Africa, Johannesburg.  9 

Adv T Madonsela : So you trade with private companies? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, all maximum is the private companies.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 12 

Mr F Lekubo :  Sorry Madam, can I just ask a question on that, a follow-up question? 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 14 

Mr F Lekubo : You have given us a schedule where you have shown ... you gave us a 15 

breakdown and it shows it is 9%, 8 to 9% of your business comes 16 

from Government?   17 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 18 

Mr F Lekubo :  You have given us the revenues, but the 9% you are referring to is 19 

Oakbay’s interest? 20 

Mr A Gupta : No ... yeah, yes, yes, you are right, yes.  21 

Mr F Lekubo :  The schedule, yes, it is Oakbay. 22 

Mr A Gupta : It is Oakbay interest, yes, Sir.  23 

Mr F Lekubo : But Oakbay is not the only business interest you have.  If you look ...  24 

Mr A Gupta : Including all. 25 
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Mr G vd Merwe : It is the holding company. 1 

Mr F Lekubo : Yes, Sir, if you look at ... I need this scheduled, there is something ...  2 

Adv N Kanyane : It is the annexure. 3 

Mr F Lekubo : The annexure.  I just want clarify ...  4 

Mr A Gupta : Business I can talk. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : He said it is about 9%. 6 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I will give what is this.  7 

Mr F Lekubo : So here you say, for instance when you talk about Tegeta, is that the 8 

total revenue that they earned (indistinct) 41 million and 12 and 35, 9 

which is 35% shareholding.  Oakbay’s shareholding in Tegeta is 10 

35%? 11 

Mr I Naidoo : No, no. 12 

Adv N Kanyane : These are the totals. 13 

Mr I Naidoo : This one here? 14 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, Tegeta, okay, the 143? 15 

Mr I Naidoo : Yeah.  16 

Mr F Lekubo : That is Oakbay, you say Oakbay’s shareholding, but Mabengela 17 

Investments is a shareholder in Tegeta and I know Oakbay owns 18 

35% of Tegeta.  Mabengela Investments, Duduzane’s entity, owns 19 

28% in Oakbay and if you look also, Duduzane doesn’t own a 100% 20 

of Mabengela.  Rajesh ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : 25%. 22 

Mr F Lekubo : Yes, but Rajesh has an interest in Mabengela.  So if you exclude 23 

Mabengela’s shareholding out of these amounts, this number is 24 

misleading, isn’t not? 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-421



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

88 

Mr A Gupta : No. 1 

Mr F Lekubo : It is not accurate, because you will have to then take Rajesh’s interest 2 

in that and include it in there, so the number goes higher.   3 

Mr A Gupta : Like let me say that I bring the total group turnover and total group 4 

business with the Government.  Forget about Oakbay. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Oakbay, okay. 6 

Mr A Gupta : I bring it that, because is nothing to hide, this is nothing to do that.  7 

Please understand this figure I have no control on that time. 8 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay. 9 

Mr A Gupta : This is the group CEO is doing and presenting this number to the all 10 

media.  So I am giving you the whole number of the group, whether it 11 

is a ... I mean our family is at 2% or 20%.  What exactly total business 12 

of our group, all companies, are doing business with Government, I’m 13 

bringing ... I’m giving this figure to you. 14 

Mr F Lekubo :  And this is for the entire family? 15 

Mr A Gupta : Entire family. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Which includes Mabengela? 17 

Mr A Gupta : It include everybody. 18 

Mr F Lekubo : Your interest in Mabengela? 19 

Adv N Kanyane : The interest that they have in Mabengela, okay. 20 

Mr A Gupta : No, but that is also included.  I mean Mabengela don’t do any 21 

business directly, understand that.  The business has been done by 22 

an entity, that who is in the business.  They are only shareholders in 23 

these businesses.  So I am brining to you that ... I’m giving to you that 24 

and then after that you can take a decision that what is the State 25 
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capture and what is this ... if it is a State capture, I say we are doing 1 

very poor, but this is the number and maybe because I get it in a 2 

hurry yesterday, these numbers, maybe very slightly, a few percent 3 

here and there, once they are compiling this number for me. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You are going to leave us with that? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I’m going to give it to you, Madam, but I want to read one time 6 

to that. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 8 

Mr A Gupta : It is that you understand that where are we standing and what we 9 

are talking, very quick, in two minutes’ time. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : That is perfect. 11 

Mr A Gupta : See, 2011 total Government ... because that is the first time ever we 12 

got Government money because of the newspaper.  You have to 13 

understand that, why it is.  It is 1.5 million-plus, 1.547 million.  This 14 

is, I’m taking from the state ... from the balance sheets of our hole 15 

group there, so it is 1.547 million only.  Then 2012 it was 16 million 16 

only, 16.3 million there, 2013 it is 79 million. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : You said in 2012 it was? 18 

Mr A Gupta : 2012 is 16 million only. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : No, okay, you said you started in 2011, it was 1.5? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : And then 2012, 16 million? 22 

Mr A Gupta : 16 million and 2010 ... because this started in December only Madam, 23 

December 2010, so it is only three months only.  So then it goes, in 24 

2016 it is 16 million, 2013, 79 million.  Total Government revenue 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-423



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

90 

I’m talking.  I’m not talking about these shares or this share, 1 

whatever entity do their business with the Government, SOEs or 2 

anybody. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 4 

Mr A Gupta : 2014, now we bought it on that time VR Laser also, so another 5 

company added in our revenue.  So 84 million was the media and we 6 

started the new channel also, that is why this figure go a little high, 7 

so 84 million and VR Laser is 33 million. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : VR Laser? 9 

Mr A Gupta : VR Laser.  That is the only two entities up to 2014, only two entities 10 

do the Government or SOEs, any business with that.  So it was a total 11 

business for 2014 is 118 million.  2015 the Government revenue is, 12 

media is 93 million and VR Laser is 91 million, so it is become 13 

185 million in total in 2015.  2016 we bought the Tegeta, when we 14 

start Tegeta, so total revenue for one year, whole year, is 493 million 15 

of coal supply and the media is 118 and VR Laser has gone down to 16 

70 million, so total was 681 million. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : VR Laser is? 18 

Mr A Gupta : 70 million only, Madam.  It was 91 in 2015 and it has gone down to 19 

70 million, but in this 70 million I must ... because I put it there, that 20 

VR Laser financial year is July to June every year, except 2016, 21 

because on that the whole company yearend is February, so we 22 

change that.  I put it in a footnote in this thing. 23 

Mr F Lekubo :  You say 2016 is how much total Government business? 24 

Mr A Gupta : 681 million and media is 500 million, roundabout, 493 is from coal 25 
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supply. 1 

Mr I Naidoo :  Okay and you said media is 180? 2 

Mr A Gupta : 118. 3 

Mr I Naidoo :  118? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, 1-1-8. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, I also wrote 180. 6 

Mr A Gupta : Sorry, you know ... so I don’t know Madam, where this relations and 7 

everything, how the Gupta family is doing and making in this thing, 8 

and if you ... oh, sorry. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  Perhaps for time I’m ...  10 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, any other questions from your side? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Just one question.  Do you have a relationship with Mr Fana 12 

Hlongwane? 13 

Mr A Gupta : Who is this? 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Mr Fana Hlongwane, does the family have a relationship with him? 15 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no.  Fana is a friend of Dudu or whatever the relation you call 16 

to that, maybe he known to him on this thing and that is the reason 17 

that maybe I also say hello a few times to him, when I meet him on 18 

the way or going or coming somewhere, otherwise I don’t have any 19 

relations with him. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Other than Mabengela, which other companies do you have in 21 

partnership with Mr Duduzane Zuma? 22 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t think so that is there any business, but I will send it there, if 23 

there is any company that having a ... I don’t think so, other than 24 

Mabengela, we have any relations with Duduzane and I want to be 25 
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say a word in this thing.  See, he with a condition ... I mean not 1 

condition, but let’s say this is the way that he work, he is not 2 

interfering of any Government business or anything.  It is here.  In 3 

sense of that he is not even taking any empowerment deal or 4 

anything, no.  He was exclusively working here and I mean for work 5 

only.  He is ... day and night he is working.  He is not like sitting ...  6 

Adv T Madonsela : What does he do? 7 

Mr A Gupta : He also look into the all ... like Rajesh used to do, they are both 8 

together.  He look at ... it is not a particularly.  He look into the ... all 9 

transaction he is involve in, that whenever we are doing transaction, 10 

he come and sit and ask that, what is in this or what is ... in day-to-11 

day transactions, day-to-day.  He is not in that space that if he want 12 

he can go to the empowerment transaction and every day, no, he 13 

don’t do.  He do ... 14 

Adv T Madonsela : So how do you satisfy your BEE requirement when you pitch for a 15 

deal with Government?  When you tender for something with 16 

Government, how do you cover the BEE requirements? 17 

Mr A Gupta : See, this is that ... first of all you can see that how ... only the two or 18 

three companies of that which is now doing the business with the 19 

Government, or SOEs, not Government.  Most of that businesses 20 

SOEs, not at all with the Government, most of the businesses and 21 

then when you are doing through the SOEs and that, black 22 

empowerment requirement, we always have a department who is 23 

looking at shareholding and this and try to ... they get it that  24 

whatever, the certificate you call that for empowerment, so they go 25 
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and check it and do this thing.  We are not in a Government business 1 

space that where we much to be needed.  2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but okay, the few ones that you have, how do you make up the 3 

BEE requirements? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, so they call for this rating agency for this thing. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 6 

Mr A Gupta : So they will come and check that our all issue and they issue the 7 

certificate. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : What would be the companies that allow you to be BEE compliant, 9 

because your company ... okay, in the absence of Mr Zuma, you as the 10 

Gupta Family would not qualify for BEE?  11 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, we are not qualified.  We never been claim that we are BEE, 12 

we never claim. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : So you don’t qualify.  What makes then you qualify, would it be Mr 14 

Zuma’s shareholding or any other person ...  15 

Mr A Gupta : No, but before that is a ... I say that before that is a lot of people. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Who else would be ...  17 

Mr A Gupta : I say that before that is Lazarus Zim. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Is who? 19 

Mr A Gupta : Lazarus Zim (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, now that those are gone, right ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : They sold to him, so now he will be treated as BEE partner, but I 22 

don’t know much of that exactly, but I know that whenever it is 23 

needed they go and call to this rating agency, and they vet it to the 24 

whole process and they give a certificate what level you have of 25 
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empowerment, but we always ...  1 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but if you are looking at BEE share ownership, would you then 2 

rely on Mr Zuma? 3 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, it is not hundred percent.  It is not like this thing. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, who else ...  5 

Mr A Gupta : Many of the people is coming that also, it is a women’s group, it is a ... 6 

Adv T Madonsela : A women’s group? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Which women’s group do you have? 9 

Mr A Gupta : I mean there is the other women is being ... which is long back that 10 

when we have any empowerment deal or this thing. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, okay ... 12 

Mr A Gupta : So all that time they have maybe 50 or 100 women then who 13 

(indistinct) and our management team also or employee team also.  It 14 

is all different, different, together making that. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Could we get specific information on how in these deals that you 16 

have confirmed you have made up your BEE component? 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : I will do that.  18 

Mr A Gupta : I will send it.  19 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, we would appreciate it. 20 

Mr A Gupta : You mean all these companies?  No, you want the media, VR Laser 21 

and Tegeta, yes.  How we do that, I will give you that. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : That would be wonderful, Sir.   23 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  24 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, then this is the last one.  You said you don’t have any 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-428



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

95 

relationship at Denel, but you now have a deal with Denel, the 1 

overseas one? 2 

Mr A Gupta : No, I don’t know.  We don’t have any overseas deal with Denel. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : You don’t have a deal with Denel? 4 

Mr A Gupta : We are the shareholder in VR Laser. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 6 

Mr A Gupta : So now I don’t know how you consider this deal is in a shareholding 7 

or any business with them. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, so VR Laser has a deal with Denel? 9 

Mr A Gupta : No, VR Laser also don’t have a deal with Denel, not shareholding.  10 

They only have a commercial discretion and talk that in case any 11 

research has to be ... going to be done, what I have been informed.  12 

I’m not hundred percent sure about it, but what I have been 13 

informed, I mean on a high level, that it is a deal that in case there is 14 

any research and development you will do that.  VR Laser will going 15 

to be do and cost to VR Laser a R100 million, and if this product is 16 

not successful, Denel will not share anything with them and VR Laser 17 

will be at a loss on that. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, so that is ... 19 

Mr A Gupta : So that is all.  The shareholding or nothing, nothing to that. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : When was that arranged, Sir? 21 

Mr A Gupta : I mean I have to check this date, but it is nothing yet, because it is 22 

only a talk with them.  The overseas company is still having no 23 

instruction to VR Laser to do any business yet, until today I don’t 24 

have anything. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you.  Then my last two questions, I’m supposed to be 1 

done.  I have two sets of questions that I ... the first one relates to 2 

Eskom, Optimal Coal Holdings.  It is said here that Mr Gupta was at a 3 

meeting in Switzerland with Glencore at the Dolder Hotel to discuss 4 

this deal.  Are you aware of anything like that? 5 

Mr A Gupta : No, see, but once it is in the media then only I come to be ... I tell you 6 

that more known about that, before that is not.  The whole Optimum 7 

deal is being done by me and the team, that Executive, all the 8 

Executive Members of that ...  9 

Adv T Madonsela : Did it involve a meeting in Switzerland? 10 

Mr A Gupta : No.  Nobody was involved in a meeting in Switzerland, me, nobody 11 

involved, but yes, once they call a meeting there or I don’t know that, 12 

they ask us to join this meeting. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Who called the meeting in Switzerland? 14 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t remember now.  Maybe it is the CFO or the CEO of Glencore.  I 15 

don’t remember that, who called, but it is all of a sudden, in like one 16 

day before the meeting. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : So were you there? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you go? 20 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Who went? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Nobody can possibly from this team side.  So if you want me to 23 

explain, so let me.  So they ask us and then Nazeem and I mean 24 

Luzio(?) and the people try to get a visa, but it is too late.  We cannot 25 
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get a visa for this visit.  So I have a visa, I mean I have a Schengen 1 

visa, I can fly, but because it is nothing to do with me without the 2 

team, so I did not.  We decided, the whole team that no, we will not 3 

fly, but same time Rajesh was in ... the family is in Switzerland, so we 4 

requested him that to go and attend this meeting.  Once they come 5 

back for this meeting, in fact it is again a problem to us, the Board ... 6 

the CEO of Clayton(?), that we agree on a pricing on this thing, which 7 

is once they come back it has gone up.   8 

Adv T Madonsela : Right. 9 

Mr A Gupta : We was very unhappy with this thing.  It was no decision was there ... 10 

decision is all they are here, then we again engage to that, to this deal 11 

to be finalise there.  It is a loss-making and in our opinion.  12 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, why was Minister Zwane part of this meeting? 13 

Mr A Gupta : No, we don’t know at all about the Minister thing, we don’t know at 14 

all.  I don’t think so Minister Zwane was part of this discussion of 15 

that.  They might meet to each other, but not further any ... because it 16 

is nothing to do with the Minister or anybody in this deal. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : The information I have is that not only was he part of this meeting, 18 

he came back in a Gupta jet. 19 

Mr A Gupta : No, to South Africa? 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 21 

Mr A Gupta : No, Madam. 22 

Adv N Kanyane : From Zurich to Dubai. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : He flew from Zurich to Dubai in a Gupta jet. 24 

Mr A Gupta : So I will check that, Madam.  I don’t know at all this thing.  I don’t 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-431



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

98 

know at all of this thing.  It is truly a news for me. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Can you check that? 2 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah.  3 

Mr G vd Merwe : You maybe write to us, so that I can ... we can provide schedules? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, team, do we have a date? 5 

Mr I Naidoo :  Yeah, it is between ... I think it is around the 30th of November to 6 

around the 7th of December, it would be in that time period.  7 

Mr G vd Merwe : And it is from Zurich to Dubai? 8 

Mr I Naidoo : Yeah.  9 

Mr A Gupta : But you have to give me a particular date then, if possible, yes.   10 

Adv N Kanyane : Yeah, we will.  11 

Mr A Gupta : A particular date you give me, that we definitely check that it is ... we 12 

definitely can tell you that. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Well, the information ... it would help to just get ... the 14 

information we have was that he was part of that meeting and 15 

secondly, that he flew back via ... well, he was taken to Dubai by one 16 

of your jets. 17 

Mr A Gupta : So I can hundred percent confirm to you that it is not a part of this 18 

meeting for negotiation purpose.  (Indistinct) meet is not an issue to 19 

me then, but as far as concern of that he has come with a jet to Dubai, 20 

I will check and I come back.  It can be immediately verified and I will 21 

definitely let you know that how is it.  22 

Adv T Madonsela : You are saying that Mr Zwane is not a friend? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, at all. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Was he not at the wedding, when you had a family wedding? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : In when? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : The one that took place at Sun City. 2 

Mr A Gupta : Sun City? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Uhm (positive). 4 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t remember.  Again I say that I’m not ...  5 

Mr I Naidoo :  Is Mr Zwane friends with one of your bothers? 6 

Mr A Gupta : My youngest brother, yes, yeah.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : No, even before he became Minister. 8 

Mr A Gupta : Not a friend of that (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : He was an MEC for Agriculture at the time. 10 

Mr A Gupta : On that time. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : So was he not at the wedding? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, I did not notice to him at all. 13 

Mr G vd Merwe : We will find that out for you. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, was he not the person who arranged for his counterpart from 15 

the State where the wedding party was coming from, to land at the 16 

Waterkloof Base? 17 

Mr A Gupta : It is completely wrong, Madam. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : For making (indistinct – speaking simultaneously)? 19 

Mr A Gupta : It is not. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, so how did the family then land at Waterkloof Base ...  21 

Mr A Gupta : (Laughing).  22 

Adv T Madonsela : ... if there was no story about the official business then? 23 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no, see that ... this is the daughter of my brother-in-law. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : She is not that any brother ... is our sister daughter.  So his father 1 

applied for a ... it is not that a girl side any guests.  It is a boy side 2 

guest.  It is not girl side, boy side guest and that guest ... that my 3 

brother-in-law who requested to the High Commissioner of India to 4 

apply the permission.  We don’t have anything to do with this 5 

permission.   6 

We did not apply, any of the brother and unfortunately or 7 

fortunately, because you can’t go there, my brother-in-law’s name is 8 

also Anil Gupta, so they always say “Gupta”.  So this is not by applying 9 

at all by any Gupta brother or anything.  It is been apply and 10 

requested to by my brother-in-law, Anil Gupta, to High 11 

Commissioner of India and the High Commissioner of India apply 12 

this approval. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and Mr Zwane was not involved then (indistinct – speaking 14 

simultaneously)? 15 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, Madam, no way.  When we are not involved ...  16 

Adv T Madonsela : Accredit (indistinct – speaking simultaneously)? 17 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, not at all.  You can go and check every document 18 

Madam, it was nothing to do with any Minister or anybody.   19 

Mr F Lekubo :  Sorry, whilst still on the Switzerland trip, if I may, your private 20 

business jet, was it in Switzerland at the time of that meeting? 21 

Mr A Gupta : I say yes, my brother with his family. 22 

Mr F Lekubo :  With the ... 23 

Mr A Gupta : With his family, yes.   24 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : I can ... mean you can get a list of the personnel. 1 

Mr G vd Merwe : Okay.  2 

Mr I Naidoo :  Was there any other business partners with your brother at the time 3 

there? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Again has to be check this, if any other business partner.  It is maybe, 5 

it is maybe.  It is not necessarily that not, it is maybe.  I will check it 6 

and (indistinct).  He was on a holiday there.  See, this company ... that 7 

is why I was very much surprised, this company is a loss-making 8 

company and is in a business rescue.  This has to be come from 9 

business rescue, not from Glencore or anything.  It has to be come 10 

from business rescue and we are dealing with that business rescue. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  12 

Mr G vd Merwe : Madam PP, I know you are in a hurry and I understand it. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  14 

Mr G vd Merwe : I just can’t let the hurry cause prejudice to my client.  Can I just raise 15 

this with you? 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : Apart from what I have said earlier on, I don’t mind discussing the 18 

matters at hand, but questions pop up from wedding, to Zurich 19 

flights, to this ... we appear unprepared, because we are unprepared. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : I understand, Sir.  21 

Mr G vd Merwe : Then I just want to record that it is difficult to ... and you are pressed 22 

for time and you are watching the clock.  I understand that, but it 23 

makes it difficult for us to operate under pressure, where we need to 24 

consider these questions.  I just need to bring that to your attention.   25 
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Adv T Madonsela : No, it is fine.  I think do answer the question as much as you can.   1 

Mr G vd Merwe : Of course. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : I’m pressed for time, but I will not cut Mr Gupta and I have not cut 3 

you, Sir.  I am pressed for time, but that is not as important as making 4 

sure you have ... is there something you still want to say?  I just want 5 

to clarify why I was bringing the wedding thing, was because Mr 6 

Gupta has said he doesn’t know Mr Zwane that well and they are not 7 

friends, and then Mr Zwane went to Switzerland.   8 

So I was just coming back to the issue of friendship, because 9 

there is that media story that says Mr Zwane as MEC for Agriculture 10 

arranged the accreditation of the MEC for Agriculture in the city 11 

where the wedding party was going to come, which then made the 12 

wedding ... which gave it an official status of some sort or attempted 13 

to do so, that was ...  14 

Mr G vd Merwe : Well, the explanation ... and I don’t want to repeat it (indistinct – 15 

speaking simultaneously). 16 

Adv T Madonsela : So he has given me an explanation.   17 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yeah. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : In any event you are not Mr Zwane.  I just wanted your side of the 19 

story, but the essence of that would have to come from Mr Zwane. 20 

Mr G vd Merwe : I know. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : At this point what we wanted to confirm was that Mr Zwane and Mr 22 

Tony/Rajesh Gupta attended the Glencore meeting in Switzerland? 23 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes, Madam. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : You have said you don’t know if Mr Zwane attended? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : No, I ... sorry.  1 

Adv T Madonsela : The second ... because obviously you were not there?  2 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, we say no, but I say that is maybe the meeting there, but it is 3 

not regarding this business of this thing or deal of anything, for 4 

Optimum deal.  Maybe they talk there, I don’t know and we say that 5 

for my brother ... I mean Rajesh is there for a holiday and we ask 6 

them to meet with Glasenberg, not the ... and Glasenberg will clearly 7 

say that it is meeting with Tony for this Optimum, not to the Minister 8 

Zwane.  Then maybe have a talk to be anything else, but not for the ... 9 

not for that. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but you don’t recall Tony/Rajesh saying he met ... he was with 11 

the Minister? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, I don’t recall that and Madam, again and again I’m saying one 13 

thing, this business of ... see, all ending in one thing of the business of 14 

the Optimum.  We all has to consider this thing, we are dealing with 15 

Optimum from June or July.  Three times they bring this deal on the 16 

table and three times they take the deal out of the table, and this 17 

company is also ... Shanduka is a shareholder in this company, when 18 

they sold it to us, Shanduka also shareholder, 20% or something.   19 

So it is not that anybody is talking to them and doing ... they 20 

themselves is given exclusivity to one other company, which is we 21 

believe that was Shanduka.  Business Rescue Practitioner is clearly 22 

saying is a most credible offer and even Madam, I want to say in last 23 

there, our negotiation was ... it is an insult to our negotiation there.  24 

That even in the last moment when we are completing this deal, 25 
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signing on this deal, that even in that moment also it is few moment 1 

come, then both parties walked away from the deal.  So it is nowhere 2 

is it ... which is the media giving an impression of Zwane helped with 3 

... even once the news come on this thing, we clearly said we are 4 

ready to give you back to Optimum.  We say it publicly on that day, 5 

that Optimum, if you think that the media issue is there, then we are 6 

ready to cancel this thing.   7 

We don’t want to be in this deal, to be part of this.  It is an insult 8 

to ... we feel that no, it is unnecessary that someone is being dragged 9 

without any reason.  They may be met with some other reason, they 10 

may be met for some other cause and it is been treated to that, for 11 

this business.   12 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah, that is fair, Sir.  During your negotiations to purchase assets 13 

belonging to Optimum Coal, you apparently indicated that you could 14 

have the conditions precedent to the Sale Agreement complied with 15 

within a month of December of 2015.  So there were conditions and 16 

then you said you have the ability to comply with those conditions by 17 

December 2015? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No.  Sorry, sorry, again, please ...  19 

Adv T Madonsela : Because of that then you secured a Section 9 approval for transfer of 20 

mineral rights ... 21 

Mr I Naidoo : Section 11, isn’t it? 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Section 11 approval for transfer of mineral rights within a short 23 

space of time ...  24 

Mr A Gupta : No, no ... sorry. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : ... and Eskom agreed to release the guarantee against Optimum Coal 1 

Holdings, where other entities have failed.  So there are ... okay, you 2 

are saying ... you said you were going to be able to achieve the 3 

conditions they were imposing on you for the acquisition? 4 

Mr A Gupta : No. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : This was your ... the basis on which you got the deal? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No.  If I understand the question properly, you are saying that ... and 7 

please rectify me if I’m wrong, you are telling that we put a condition 8 

precedent ...  9 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, no, you didn’t.  They had a condition.   10 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : You said, “We can comply” and then based on you saying you could 12 

comply then they let you in, they approved the transfer of mineral 13 

rights within that short space of time. 14 

Mr A Gupta : Okay, so let me again to understand this question again now, so you 15 

say that they say us that these are conditions precedent, which 16 

include the Eskom guarantee or release and Section 11, and we can 17 

complete by December this thing? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Uhm (positive). 19 

Mr A Gupta : Am I right, this is the question?  No, it is nowhere.  Nowhere, nobody 20 

tell that, because we signed this agreement only on the 16th of 21 

December or 18th of December, I mean very late December, when we 22 

all are ready to ... well, I think so, we already gone for the holidays 23 

and this is ... so there is no question that we can complete in 24 

December.  For a matter of fact that the conditions precedent are 25 
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being given three months’ time, it is the 31st of March that has to be 1 

completed or something like this, in three months’ minimum, and 2 

which is a fair time for everybody there.  We agree that, the 31st of 3 

March and we know that Section 11 we battle a lot and we got a last 4 

condition precedent we completed for Section 11. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : You complied by the 31st of March? 6 

Mr A Gupta : No, I think so, maybe a further ... I have to recheck hundred percent, 7 

but because deal happen on 15th or 14th of April, so yes, a deal 8 

happen on ... because this all condition precedent is not been 9 

completed, so deal happen on 14th or 15th of April.  It is completely 10 

wrong. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Does the team want to ask any further questions or is this fine? 12 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, no, it is fine. 13 

Mr I Naidoo :  No, well as you say, getting the Section 11 approval is quite difficult, 14 

right, so I have heard some people say that it can take a year, more, a 15 

year and a half.   16 

Mr A Gupta : Absolutely.  17 

Mr I Naidoo : How does it take three months from ... how did you guys manage to 18 

get it in three months? 19 

Mr A Gupta : Absolutely, you are a hundred percent right.  In few of our case we 20 

are even battling for two years to get that, so it is not that we ... it is a 21 

particular deal, because if this is not happen, 3 500 jobs going to be ... 22 

and they are going to close down the mine.  That is they already 23 

given an instruction to that.  Everybody knows it is the pressure.  In 24 

fact we wrote to the ... when we did not get – you can go and recall 25 
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and check it there – that we wrote to the DMR that “If you don’t give 1 

this and you know this is the last date of the 31st, then you are risking 2 

to that.  If you don’t want to give it, it is fine, tell us then”.  We wrote 3 

the letter that maybe once we are reaching to the end of this thing 4 

and we are not getting, that I think so that this was a consideration 5 

by DMR – it is our opinion – that this deal is not happen, this mine is 6 

going  to be closed down and 3 500 jobs will be at stake. 7 

Mr F Lekubo :  Why do you say that the mine was going to close down if (indistinct – 8 

speaking simultaneously)? 9 

Mr A Gupta : Because they declared that, this is in a business rescue.  This is very 10 

interesting, you have to understand this.  This is on a business 11 

rescue, it is on a business rescue, mean they are not paying anybody.  12 

Only they are running the mine to be ... it is a very ... I mean 20/30% 13 

of the chance of business rescue, that is come out of the business ... 14 

most of the companies was reach(?) on a business rescue it is being 15 

closed down, shut down and they already given in the public that if 16 

we don’t do, then we have to close down this mine. 17 

Mr F Lekubo :  Has Glencore not at any given point informed you that they will be 18 

keeping the mine, they won’t be selling it? 19 

Mr A Gupta : No, to us is not. 20 

Mr F Lekubo :  They have never said that? 21 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no, not at all. 22 

Mr G vd Merwe : Can I interject? 23 

Mr F Lekubo :  No, that is fine. 24 

Mr G vd Merwe : Are you happy with the answer?  You can separately and 25 
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independently ask the Business Rescue Practitioners, their firm 1 

instruction is this company will be liquidated, if not sold. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir. 3 

Mr A Gupta : And sorry Madam, sorry and business ... they are not dealing directly 4 

with us.  With any meeting is happening is business rescue in this 5 

meeting, all negotiation its business rescue team was in all 6 

negotiation.  That is why I was surprised that you are talking about 7 

this business in Switzerland, that if that has to be, the business 8 

rescue team has to be there. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, thank you, Sir.  We have established that you were 600 million 10 

short on the deal and when you approached the banks to negotiate 11 

terms, it was rejected.  Where did you get the extra 600 million? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, we are not short 600 million, Madam.  We have ... when we did 13 

the deal ... again this is, I’m giving this thing, it is my opinion.  My 14 

thing is that it is not, it is not that we are short of 600 million.  We are 15 

looking on that time R2 billion.  We are asking to the bank to ... it is 16 

R2.1 billion of the bank loan.   17 

We are asking that “We pay R1 billion to you and the balance 18 

you” ... not refunded, the balance be paid on time, because this loan 19 

was up to 2017 and we requested to the bank a few times.  It is not at 20 

one meeting.  “I’m just telling you that we are short of R1 billion and 21 

please you take it half now from us and we will pay balance when 22 

this loan is full period of that”, to be that thing and they are refusing 23 

that. 24 

Mr I Naidoo :  Okay, so then where did you get the money from? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : We taken a loan. 1 

Mr I Naidoo :  You took a loan? 2 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, we taken a loan.   3 

Mr I Naidoo : Okay.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : Where did you take the loan from? 5 

Mr A Gupta : It is from Bank of Baroda and that is why they are in trouble now. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : The Bank of? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Baroda.   8 

Adv T Madonsela : Baroda.  Okay, thank you, Sir. 9 

Mr A Gupta : And we ...  10 

Mr G vd Merwe : The reference to the Eskom meeting, elaborate on that.  I think that 11 

they misunderstand. 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, but that is a very separate thing.  That thing was that ... this is 13 

between ... we are not involved at all.  This is negotiations in an 14 

operational team and Eskom.  This is ... nobody is a family member is 15 

involved at all.  That is for some different thing.  I mean they want to 16 

be a supply and we have a stock on that stuff, and they have a ...  17 

Mr I Naidoo :  But you said you were involved in the negotiation process ...  18 

Mr A Gupta : For the business.  19 

Mr I Naidoo : ... for the business for the sale, isn’t it and with the purchase? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Sale, yes and that is why I say I was short, I was short.  I did not 21 

(indistinct). 22 

Mr I Naidoo :  If you can tell me who else was part of the team, if you can? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I have very much that.  It was Nazeem.  24 

Mr I Naidoo :  Nazeem Howa? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : There is Veronica Dagher(?) at that time and the business rescue 1 

people, and then VDI is there. 2 

Mr G vd Merwe :  KPMG.  3 

Mr A Gupta : KPMG, fully KPMG also there.  KPMG were part, that he has been 4 

appointed for KPMG for all these things.  Their Lawyers, Heather and 5 

Gordon and so many people was, it is a full team.  In fact one time 6 

they told ... Glencore told to us that “Oh, we are bringing 30 people in 7 

a bus for a negotiation”.   8 

Mr I Naidoo :  And Mister Van der Merwe, just for record ...  9 

Adv T Madonsela : Can I finish then the thing and then you guys flag the questions? 10 

Mr I Naidoo : Okay. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Normally ... we normally do the structured ones and then we do ... 12 

because that is why it gets a little bit (indistinct), because I lose my 13 

train of thought.  Can we flag the questions when I’m finished and 14 

then we complete, guys?  Good.  It is said ... in the evidence we have it 15 

is said that you transferred the Mine Rehabilitation Trust Fund to the 16 

Bank of Baroda.  Why and where are the funds currently held? 17 

Mr A Gupta : Oh, very good Madam, held the assets.  These accounts was in 18 

Standard Bank and we pleaded with them, pleaded, that “Please 19 

keep” ... I mean as we transfer this Optimum they given notice to us 20 

to close the account.  What should we do now?  I mean the moment 21 

we move ... and we said this is a new business, nothing to do with 22 

anything.  We pleaded them, please and they say no, and then “Once 23 

you got the notice to close that account, tell me what we” ... they want 24 

to keep it for one month or two months, the notice period there.  We 25 
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say, “Fine, whatever we have to do” and we are getting maybe a little 1 

extra interest also in Bank of Baroda, and we shifted this money.  So 2 

please Madam, this is not that we of our will transferred.  We don’t 3 

have any bank account.  We have (indistinct). 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Is it still in a Trust Account Sir, in the Bank of Baroda? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, it is still in the Bank of Baroda. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Could you provide us evidence that it is in a Trust Account? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  It is in a fixed deposit, Madam, it is in a fixed deposit.  It is not 8 

anywhere else that. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : And it is reflected as a Trust Account? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, of course.  For that ... see, please more ... because this again 11 

is a heart touching question, as people say.  Business rescue ... 12 

without the business rescue permission you can’t shift anything.  It 13 

was in the business rescue until that time.  We only come out on 30th 14 

of August out of business rescue, 30th of August. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 16 

Mr A Gupta : So this is ... nobody can touch this, because people are thinking 17 

maybe why was that without the permission of business rescue?  So 18 

to open the Trust Account also we needed business rescue 19 

permission and business rescue was not happy until we don’t go ... 20 

and he himself personally with team, with Lawyers, he went to the 21 

Bank of Baroda and he checked with the Bank of Baroda that can he 22 

transfer this money.  He was thinking this Bank of Baroda is a fly-by-23 

night bank, I think so.  He did not mention to us, so he went to 24 

interrogate to the Bank of Baroda and to understand whether this ... 25 
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you know we gone through such a humiliated position that.  The 1 

Bank of Baroda is a Government of India bank, but he said, “No, I 2 

want to interrogate to this” and they are telling ... getting Accountant 3 

interrogated by the business rescue.  So they did it, interrogate and 4 

then we  transferred it, that is BRP agree to transfer this money to 5 

there. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : And it is a bank here in this country? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, it is a bank of South Africa.  8 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is wonderful.  We will then get just confirmation that it is 9 

still in a Trust Account. 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, Madam, it is still in trust, I’m confirming.  We will send the fixed 11 

deposit, the evidence.  The evidence ... this is the evidence for that, 12 

we will send a copy of that fixed deposit. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  Just quickly on ... going back to something we didn’t 14 

touch on.  You said Mr Brian Molefe does visit you and when last was 15 

he ... did he visit you? 16 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe ... you see home he is not come so often, yes, but sometime 17 

maybe in ... last visit I was in the office. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : It was when, Sir? 19 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe two/three weeks before. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Two/three weeks before now? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you, Sir and then telephonically do you recall when last 23 

did you speak to him? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Telephonic maybe 6 months ... 8 months.  I don’t exactly remember, 25 
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but long.  I did not have much talk on a ... and this phone records are 1 

with you that.   2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Do you have a telephone number that he contacts you on? 3 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Could you share that with us? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you have it right now? 7 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : If we can have the number that you use to contact Mr Molefe, we 9 

would appreciate it, Sir. 10 

Mr A Gupta : You mean my number now or his number? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : His number. 12 

Mr A Gupta : His number.  I do open the phone and I will check it that, and I will 13 

give it to you. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : We would appreciate it.  15 

Mr G vd Merwe : May I provide it to you? 16 

Mr I Naidoo : Yeah. 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : Sorry, to be certain, you want the telephone number of Mr Molefe? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Mr Molefe and ...  19 

Mr A Gupta : My numbers, both number I will give it to you. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir. 21 

Mr S Delaney  :  Mister Gupta, where do you ...  22 

Adv T Madonsela : Just to confirm your side of the story. 23 

Mr S Delaney :  Sorry, where did he visit you two or three weeks ago? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Office. 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-447



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

114 

Mr S Delaney :  At your office? 1 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 2 

Adv N Kanyane : You said “his” office, Sir? 3 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, no.   4 

Adv N Kanyane : Your office? 5 

Mr A Gupta : I never met there at (indistinct) office.  6 

Adv T Madonsela : Is your office at Sahara?  Thank you, Mister Delaney. 7 

Mr A Gupta : No, I was telling the Oakbay office. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Where is the Oakbay office, Sir? 9 

Mr A Gupta : In Sandton. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you.  I have to ask because it is here. 11 

Mr A Gupta : No, please. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : It is alleged that you said that you made Mr Duduzane Zuma a 13 

billionaire and you bought him ... what is said?   14 

Mr F Lekubo : A house.  15 

Adv T Madonsela : You bought him a house in Dubai.  Is this true? 16 

Mr A Gupta : No, a hundred percent it is not true at all, at all.  This is all record, you 17 

have resources Madam, you can take it and check it that.  18 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, but ...  19 

Mr A Gupta : Duduzane in Dubai, whenever he go, he stay in a rental house, rented 20 

house.  Whenever he is there he rent a house.  He don’t own a house 21 

at all. 22 

Mr I Naidoo :  Does he rent the house from you? 23 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, not at all, not at all.  It is all ... you can check it. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you own property in Dubai? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : No. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : I mean the family, through a Trust or directly or through a relative? 2 

Mr A Gupta : See, yeah, yeah, fine, that is ... now the new generation is there, so 3 

they have a house in a company, one company on the house, but they 4 

pay the rent to this company.   5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, the younger children have a house? 6 

Mr A Gupta : House. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Is it a standalone or is it an apartment? 8 

Mr A Gupta : No, it is a standalone and what I know that.  I’m just sharing to that 9 

because I don’t know ... you understand that I am only advising to 10 

them here as a family, but now, because my youngest brother want 11 

to move from last two years, so I don’t much to be ... Dubai things 12 

much.  It is a standalone house. 13 

Mr F Lekubo :  While the PP is (indistinct) ... okay.  14 

Adv T Madonsela : I just want to know do you know the name of the company that 15 

bought that house in Dubai? 16 

Mr A Gupta : No, not ... 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Could we have the name of that company? 18 

Mr A Gupta : No, definitely I will check and then ...  19 

Adv T Madonsela : And then they pay rent to the company? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, they pay rent to the company, the young children, because this is 21 

the young children.  They pay the rent to the company. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Whose children are they, Sir? 23 

Mr A Gupta : It is mine. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : One is mine, one is my sister’s son, because Atul’s son is still 1 

studying, both Atul.  I can give the structure of the kids also.  I have a 2 

two sons, Atul have a two sons, Tony have a one son and one 3 

daughter, but they are young and my one is ... both are eldest, so they 4 

both are from last two years in ... not in this country.  Atul, both sons 5 

is studying here in Wits, so they both are here and Tony’s son ...  6 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, so which are the ones that ... sorry Sir, which are the ones that 7 

are owning ...  8 

Mr A Gupta : One of my sons. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : ... who are owning the company that is in (indistinct – speaking 10 

simultaneously)? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, one of them my son.  I believe so.  I don’t have the exact paper 12 

and the things, because some of the things you ... 13 

Adv T Madonsela : And whose other child is the other one? 14 

Mr A Gupta : My sister’s son.  They both have a company there, so they are both 15 

doing the business there. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : What are their names, Sir? 17 

Mr A Gupta : The one is ... my son’s name is Kamal Gupta. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Kamal? 19 

Mr A Gupta : Kamal Singhala.   20 

Adv T Madonsela : Kamal? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Singhala.  Then maybe another ...   22 

Adv T Madonsela : Gupta? 23 

Mr A Gupta : Kamal Singhala and ... 24 

Adv T Madonsela : If you can help us to spell it properly, Sir? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : I will, I will and my sister’s son is Varun Gupta. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : How do we spell that, Sir? 2 

Mr A Gupta : V-A-R-U-N. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : V-A? 4 

Mr A Gupta : R-U-N, but I will give a full name to that, it is not a problem.  I will 5 

give the full spelling, Varun Gupta. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is ... then my last questions before you can ask your 7 

questions, is did you ask ... this is now the third Complainant.  8 

Remember I said there are three complaints? 9 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : It is that one and this one. 11 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : The third Complainant is the one who is not questioning you, 13 

however, it has implications for you and that is the one about banks.  14 

Did you ask the President for assistance with the banks? 15 

Mr A Gupta : I don’t remember that, because please understand Madam, that on 16 

that time we are not in an Executive or Nonexecutive position.   17 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 18 

Mr A Gupta : So whole drive is being done by the Executive Team, that is done.  19 

What I remember, I don’t think so, they will leave any stone 20 

unturned.  They talk to each and every one.  They have gone to each 21 

and every department, I mean including Finance Minister, 22 

Ombudsman, Reserve Bank, Consumer Court, whatever the options 23 

are available for them to go to them.  So maybe they went to the 24 

President also, I don’t ... I will check it that with them, that did they 25 
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wrote to the President.  They wrote to the Labour Minister, they 1 

wrote to the Mining Minister, they wrote to the Finance Minister and 2 

they had a meeting also.  3 

Mr G vd Merwe :  Part of the question was the Bank Ombudsman? 4 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, the Bank Ombudsman also, they contacted ... because no bank 5 

is giving a reason to us why our account is being closed and I’m very 6 

saddened sitting here that I read yesterday or day before yesterday 7 

that one of the people who have criminally been charged and people 8 

has been guilty in a collusion and this thing, their account is ... in 9 

construction industry like that, their account is still open and our 10 

account has been closed without a single reason has been given, and 11 

we never ask to interfere in this thing.   12 

We ask, “Okay, define that what is the reason?”.  If we are guilty, 13 

Madam, I’m sitting here, if we are guilty of anything we must be 14 

punished.  We never say that, that we not be punished.  If we are 15 

guilty of any wrongdoing, we must be punished and I tell you this 16 

thing to all ... when I was looking after, to all the staff.  17 

Adv T Madonsela : Which are the banks that closed your account, Sir? 18 

Mr A Gupta : All.  I will give you a full list, not as a bank.  After this incident started 19 

I have a full list, Madam and a full file, that if you want it, the bank is 20 

FNB, Absa, Nedbank, Standard Bank and Standard Bank even now-21 

now ... 22 

Adv T Madonsela : FNB, Absa, Standard Bank? 23 

Mr A Gupta : And Nedbank. 24 

Adv N Kanyane : The big four? 25 
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Mr A Gupta : All big four. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Nedbank.   2 

Mr A Gupta : And Madam, in this thing ...  3 

Adv T Madonsela : And none of them gave you reasons for closing? 4 

Mr A Gupta : A reason.  I will bring the all letters, I will give you that file.  I will 5 

bring the all letters the bank given to us.  I will bring the file here and 6 

I still wanted ... and even in a few meetings with Standard Bank or 7 

some Bank Executive, because I never involved in any of the bank 8 

talk, it is the only Executive Team is involved in all this things.  So 9 

even Nazeem told me that, that in one of the bank meeting he say 10 

that to him in front of their Lawyer that it is a ... “You are hiding 11 

yourself behind the customer confidentiality and we are happy to 12 

release you.  Now we are a customer sitting, please give a reason why 13 

it is then?”, and they did not anything.   14 

Even just now ... you know this is another thing you will come 15 

that now, “Tell me how I’m going to operate this thing?”.  Now they 16 

informed to them some of the guarantee is been given to the DMR 17 

through Standard Bank.  Now Standard Bank just now, two weeks 18 

before, issue an ... or three weeks – I mean dates again has to be here 19 

– issue another letter that “We want to close this account also”.  Now 20 

I will go to someone else to get the guarantee and the we will again 21 

blame that DMR allowed us to given the ... 22 

Mr I Naidoo :  What guarantee is this? 23 

Mr A Gupta : This is for Tegeta, all time that ...  24 

Mr G vd Merwe : The rehabilitation. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : The rehabilitation guarantees for the maybe long, 4/5 years old or 6 1 

year old, which is they are having the account and they are telling 2 

now this account also to be closed then.  Even after that Madam, we 3 

take in the Bank of Baroda ... not on new account.  Bank of Baroda 4 

also not open any new account to us.  It is all old, 6 year to 10 year 5 

old.  State Bank of India did not open any account to us.  Habib, 6 

Overseas bank, we tried to open the account.  They are busy and then 7 

they say, no, it has been Central Bank pressure to them not to open.   8 

Then the Bank of China they open our account just now, 3 days 9 

before they close again our account and they say that no, without 10 

dealing one transaction.  Without dealing one transaction, they 11 

closed our account.  KPMG, without saying that no, anything wrong 12 

until today.  I deal KPMG hundred percent all the time.  Please call to 13 

their people, if they say one thing we did wrong, if they say no, ever 14 

we ask them anything wrong.  Sorry Madam, I know that 15 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers, Deloitte and Grant Thornton, SVG(?), 16 

mean it a full list I’m giving to them.   17 

Beyond this, all Lawyers ... he is sitting here, he also connected 18 

with the Lawyers, say, “No, we don’t want to work”.  I mean this 19 

campaign actually capture is this way, that if they wanted not one 20 

person to be work, they can shut down to him forever.  This is the list 21 

will show it that how ... without any reason, if one person, only one 22 

what some people use, association list and there we are not find 23 

guilty.  You are the first ... I’m thankful that you are the first who ask 24 

us that you did this thing wrong.  Not a one person until today ask to 25 
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us that, not any department and even the school ... even it is raised to 1 

that level, I mean it is shameful for us.  The family or companies, or 2 

business have two aircraft at this moment here.  Even they refuse to 3 

service also two aircraft. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Who refused to service your aircraft? 5 

Mr A Gupta : I give the name, it is in writing. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Who? 7 

Mr G vd Merwe : Cessna and Status ... I will give you the documents where they 8 

terminate their (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 9 

Mr A Gupta : And he wrote legally to them also and they said no and it is the only 10 

company who can do service in this country.  We are sending these 11 

aircraft now to Europe to service.   12 

Adv T Madonsela : Sorry, yeah.  13 

Mr G vd Merwe : Would you like one of the examples? 14 

Adv T Madonsela : We would like those examples.  If there is any additional documents 15 

Mister Gupta, that you think from your side ... your version of what is 16 

going on, can assist us to get ...  17 

Mr A Gupta : I will give it. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : We would appreciate that.  19 

Mr A Gupta : So (indistinct) Madam, that I will give it to you now, that what we are 20 

doing with the Government.  If this all ... all these allegations and this, 21 

for what?  It is for the business or anything and businesses of ours, 22 

you can check it, Madam.  Go one by one, Madam.  If one thing is find 23 

wrong, I’m guilty.  I’m ready to take anything that even as we find 24 

that and even beyond that Madam, beyond that, even they stop 25 
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operating our aircraft.  No insurance company is giving an insurance 1 

to us, no insurance company.  I mean yesterday, the day before 2 

yesterday we have to take insurance from London.  So all money is 3 

going now, 16/17 million of the insurance premium.  We have to pay 4 

overseas for the Optimum insurance, which is we just bought six 5 

months before and from Optimum to us nobody is ready to give us 6 

that.  I mean I can tell you that any ... I mean finance I told you that 7 

and in any supplier, even our ... you know it is a mining business.   8 

We have around over more than a billion rand of equipment.  9 

Tegeta itself ... I mean not in Tegeta.  I mean in other company of the 10 

group, but is using Tegeta.  They all stopped their credit also, they all 11 

stopped even services also.  I mean you bought the equipment from 12 

them and now it is not being serviced.  They close all our account 13 

even, I mean with Caterpillar ... what, Barloworld? 14 

Mr G vd Merwe : Barloworld. 15 

Mr A Gupta : They use ... they have a (indistinct) plan, some with Optimum.  I mean 16 

life become so difficult now, you can’t even move one inch and then ... 17 

now later one someone will come now ... I have a limited account, 18 

Madam and from there I have to pay salary.  Now for this company 19 

salary I’m paying from this company, because I have an account.  20 

October, I don’t have an account.  What to do?  So now later one 21 

someone will go there and say that no, no, we are doing something 22 

wrong, because we paid the salary from this account to that account, 23 

to that account, to that.  We have to move three (indistinct) every 24 

day.  Madam, please, you please note it down this thing.  This Bank of 25 
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Baroda or State Bank, Bank of Baroda has to deal with Nedbank, 1 

because this is the four banks only control every transaction, so Bank 2 

of Baroda even has to be account with them.  State Bank has to be 3 

account with Absa.  Any money come to us or any go in our bank  4 

from this account, they hold for few, few days, weeks even and I 5 

mean it has become so difficult, that even to sell we have to pay now 6 

a week before, because you don’t know how long this bank is going 7 

to hold your money.  It makes so difficult.   8 

That is why we are telling that this Bank of Baroda, 15/20 days 9 

they are sitting there and harassing to them, and they are clearly 10 

saying to them that it is a harassment.  If you close their account, 11 

then it is fine, then it is fine, it is no issue.  I personally had to fly to 12 

India and to convince to the Chairman of the Bank of Baroda, who is 13 

the Head Office in that.  I could not get a meeting, so I could not ... 14 

because they already given a letter to us to close or reduce any 15 

facility we have there.   16 

They are being harassed and one, I’m very happy to say if one 17 

fault of ours in business, my fault is, our fault is, only me, not 18 

anybody else, that I am a friend with President Zuma, so that is a 19 

fault.  If this is a fault and they are punishing to my family and friends 20 

as well, what can I do?  Then there I will say no, we are being told 21 

that yes, okay, we will sell our shares now, the family.  What?  It is 22 

the day we say ... first they say no, they are operating.  We resign 23 

from Executive and Nonexecutive.  Okay, let everybody to deal.  Then 24 

they say, “No, no, still the shares are with you”.  So our family say 25 
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okay, let’s sell the share also.  Now they are saying, “You are running 1 

away, you run away, you are leaving the country.  You are have a 2 

something, you transfer to Dubai”.  These all papers are there, 3 

Madam.  We never transfer any money, which is consider to any part 4 

of the world.  This is very good about the family, whatever they make 5 

money they reinvest in this country only.  I can’t say that more on 6 

this than maybe a smallest, that we have given the money for our 7 

religious donation or maybe one time for one my sister in 6/7 year, 8 8 

year before, a small ... which is under the ... one cent you bring to us 9 

that we taken out of this country, I’m (indistinct). 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you give about a million to your sister in India? 11 

Mr A Gupta : Maybe it is roundabout a million, long back, maybe 8 years/10 years 12 

before.  It is a special (indistinct), we have a sister and brother 13 

relation, that where you can say that this is the ... I mean in our 14 

culture we have three occasions in a year when brother has to give a 15 

... I mean to give to your sister.  It is a three occasions in a year when 16 

... one is Raksha Bandhan and (indistinct).  17 

Adv T Madonsela : Sir, I just had one question.  So you don’t remember asking the 18 

President for assistance? 19 

Mr A Gupta : No question of that.   20 

Adv T Madonsela : You didn’t? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Not a matter of remember. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : You didn’t ask? 23 

Mr A Gupta : I never ask to him that. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Has the President ever asked you about these alleged wrongdoings?  25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-458



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

125 

For example, your name has been in the media several times with 1 

you being allegedly namedropping and getting favours, allegedly of 2 

course.  Has he ever asked you if you did do what these people were 3 

accusing you of doing? 4 

Mr A Gupta : See, it is not a particular thing that he ask to me that or anything, but 5 

I remember that if sometime when some ... not now, maybe long back 6 

I say one word to him, one word to him.  I say eye-to-eye, “I’m saying 7 

to you” ... and I use this way, “I’m telling eye-to-eye to you, Sir and 8 

you know very well that I will never going to be any embarrassment 9 

ever in my life to you.  I will never do anything which make you 10 

embarrassed in your life and I stand by on this word”.  I think so, this 11 

was specifically being on that time when you are talking about this 12 

agriculture land or something that, it is regarding that, I think so, yes. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Was that the landing at Waterkloof? 14 

Mr A Gupta : No, landing Waterkloof ... 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Was it the Vrede deal? 16 

Mr A Gupta : Vrede deal or something that, yes.   17 

Adv T Madonsela : Vrede Diary, yes. 18 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, I think so on that time it was that, but the rest of the ... anytime 19 

I talk to him I say, “No, eye-to-eye I did not do anything wrong and 20 

I’m never going to do anything wrong, which can embarrass to you”, 21 

and I stand by this Madam, no, I will not do.  I will not do any 22 

embarrassment for the any ... and that is not my (indistinct).  That is 23 

why I say it is me, I’m a culprit that now is sitting here, that who my 24 

family is suffering, my friend is suffering. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Yes and when the Jonas scandal broke did the President ever ask you 1 

if you did this? 2 

Mr A Gupta : No, never, never ask me.  3 

Adv T Madonsela : But you did ask Atul about it? 4 

Mr A Gupta : I. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : You did?  No, not Atul, you asked ... 6 

Mr A Gupta : Dudu. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : ... Dudu about it? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, I ask that.  9 

Adv T Madonsela : And he explained to you what he thought happened? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you know when exactly did you ask him? 12 

Mr A Gupta : No, Madam, I don’t think so.  I remember this moment, but truly not, 13 

that much, much (indistinct) then ... you know before that, until Mr 14 

Jonas is not given his own statement, these stories are in media 15 

before that also. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.   17 

Mr A Gupta : So I never been bothered about this thing, because it is me that who 18 

know that and relations.  So I believe so that I might be asked after 19 

March only what this ... Mr Jonas himself say that. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Sorry, just before they ask their questions ... I hope you have 21 

flagged the questions, so that you can ask them in the next minute or 22 

so? 23 

Mr F Lekubo : Yes.  24 

Adv T Madonsela : State financing, you have received some State financing.  Do you 25 
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recall what financing have you received and what was it for? 1 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : What financing have you received? 3 

Mr A Gupta : It is in 2010 I think so or 2009, or 2010 and it is ... we was dealing 4 

with the Canadian company and it is a R250 million loan we took 5 

from IDC, where we apply on that time, Brian Molefe, the PIC.  We 6 

apply to PIC also.  PIC did not come back.  They want this, some more 7 

issues than which ... and we apply for a few things.  Then IDC we got 8 

it there.   9 

Adv T Madonsela : What was the basis of giving you the money? 10 

Mr A Gupta : This whole ... all our business plan and then all the projections, and 11 

documents was there. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 13 

Mr A Gupta : The major reason was it is a big strategic asset, which are coming 14 

back in South Africa and from foreign hands, I think so.  That it was a 15 

... it is a strategic asset for South Africa maybe on that time, it is 16 

uranium and it is coming from Canadian hand to the South African 17 

hand.   18 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.  That was IDC.  PIC didn’t give you anything. 19 

Mr A Gupta : Just for a joke I’m telling PIC, because we are talking about now Brian 20 

Molefe and the relations, and this thing.  21 

Adv T Madonsela : And then just the last one, yes, the banks, why haven’t you taken 22 

them to court? 23 

Mr A Gupta : See, Madam, it is again decision of the Executive Committee, but it is 24 

very clear to us that first of all ... good that he is sitting here.  We need 25 
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a good Lawyer to take that. 1 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, but sorry Mister Ajay, you will give the wrong answer.  There is 2 

Appellate Division Authority that a bank is entitled to terminate a 3 

relationship with a client.  We would not succeed. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : But you still would have to use the Constitution about the right to 5 

just administrative action, because even if you are a bank ...  6 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, the court in fact found against it.  The court said it is not 7 

administrative.  It is a commercial transaction, they can withdraw at 8 

will. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Without any good reason? 10 

Mr G vd Merwe : Without good reason. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : But is that an SCA Judgment? 12 

Mr I Naidoo : But Madam, you are signing the contract when you open the bank 13 

account. 14 

Mr A Gupta : Account, Section(?) 27 or 42. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, no, even if you sign a contract that doesn’t give people the 16 

right to be arbitrary.  I’m surprised. 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : I feel like you, (indistinct – speaking simultaneously) drafted the 18 

papers. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : No, but I would like to see the judgment, to see whether there were 20 

circumstances. 21 

Mr G vd Merwe : Of course, yes.  22 

Adv T Madonsela : Because everything that ends up in court is things we signed, but you 23 

don’t sign for people to violate the Constitution.  24 

Mr G vd Merwe : I will even show you the draft application that I prepared and on 25 
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Counsel’s advice it would not have succeeded, but I will gladly give it 1 

to you. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : I would just want that and then why didn’t you use PAIA to ask for 3 

information? 4 

Mr G vd Merwe : Because they say we don’t have to give any reasons.  It is a decision 5 

of public ...  6 

Adv N Kanyane : Reputational(?) risk.  7 

Mr G vd Merwe : Risk ...  8 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, but it is you now who is the person who is asking for 9 

information about an action that has been taken to affect you.  Did 10 

you try PAIA? 11 

Mr G vd Merwe : We did everything and they came back ... let me just answer, I know 12 

I’m not the witness, but they came back with the answer to say that 13 

“We can’t give you a reason, because there aren’t necessarily ... there 14 

don’t have to be any reasons.  Our decision stands on this Appellate 15 

Division”. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, if you can give us the communication between you and them? 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, I will, gladly. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : And the AD decision and this was against the four South African 19 

banks? 20 

Mr G vd Merwe : Standard Bank in particular, because they were the last bank. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : So you dint go to ... you didn’t request the Ombudsman to ...  22 

Mr G vd Merwe : We did.  He wrote back to us and said he doesn’t have jurisdiction.   23 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Ombudsman said they don’t have jurisdiction? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Reserve Bank also. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Because to answer this ... if we can have your communication with 1 

the Banking Ombudsman, because the third Complainant specifically 2 

asked why was the Banking Ombudsman not used and why was the 3 

NCC not used?  The NCC, what did they say? 4 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, they said, “We don’t get involved with the bank matters”.  We 5 

even approached the South African Reserve Bank.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : And what did they say? 7 

Mr G vd Merwe : They say, “We can’t get involved with regards to the clients and the 8 

banks, the relationships”. 9 

Mr A Gupta : Had to go to the court. 10 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yeah.  Yes, every time it is the same story. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : And then the Reserve Bank ... you have got documents, Sir? 12 

Mr G vd Merwe : The President of the Reserve Bank wrote a letter back to me. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and the Ombudsman ... if we can have correspondence between 14 

the Banking Ombudsman, the NCC ...  15 

Mr G vd Merwe : Gladly.  Madam, I can tell you that it will be a volume of documents, 16 

voluminous documents, but I will gladly give it to you. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah, but just the part where they give you ... they are saying they are 18 

using the SCA Judgment and then you said the Executives at the 19 

family-linked companies approached several people, Minister of 20 

Labour, etcetera.  Was all of these approaches ... were the approaches 21 

in writing? 22 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes, yes. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : If we could get those approaches? 24 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, yes.  25 
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Mr G vd Merwe : Even Mmusi Maimane was approached to help us and we (indistinct – 1 

speaking simultaneously). 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Was it before or after you had exhausted the Ombudsman, the NCC? 3 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, of course, it should be.  I mean I don’t know yet, that we have to 4 

... this is all Executives do that. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, I just do want to see the SCA Judgment. 6 

Mr G vd Merwe : Gladly. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : To see the extent to which it closes the door and also their response 8 

saying PAIA does not apply.   9 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes.  10 

Mr S Delaney : Mister Van der Merwe, I’m surprised that the banks didn’t respond to 11 

you on the basis that you are not exercising Constitutional rights and 12 

therefore as a private body they are not entitled to give that 13 

information.  Do they not say that? 14 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, but remember Simon, what they ... they don’t say that “We hide 15 

information from you”.  They say it is a pure economic decision not 16 

to be associated with PEP, something “Exposed People”.   17 

Mr S Delaney :  Sure, Politically ...  18 

Adv T Madonsela : Politically Exposed People. 19 

Mr S Delaney :  Sorry, as a private body you are not required to give information, 20 

unless the request is exercising constitutional right or pursuing 21 

constitutional right in seeking that information.  22 

Mr G vd Merwe : The point is, they say, “We have nothing more.  This is what we have.  23 

We have decided, because you are politically exposed, we don’t want 24 

to”.   25 
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Mr A Gupta : I’m sorry, I don’t think so they ever tell us we are politically exposed, 1 

no, I don’t think so (indistinct). 2 

Mr G vd Merwe : There is one letter with that. 3 

Mr A Gupta : Or maybe one letter.  No, with the letters Madam, all these things, 4 

particular banks ... what I have been informed.  Please understand 5 

that I am now second-hand, that particular banks say clearly one 6 

thing, that, no, as per this agreement ... Absa, I think so, they say that 7 

particularly, “No, as per Section this then you signed this agreement, 8 

no further discussion”.  We tried to engage to them and it is many 9 

occasions that, and they refused further to engage.   10 

This is the ... even wrote a letter to Maria Ramos, the CEO of 11 

Absa, that “Please you interfere in that and tell us if anything we did 12 

wrong”.  She referred ... I remember that she referred, she replied 13 

and she referred that to that particular person, say, “I don’t look in 14 

this thing and this is the particular person, we will look and we will 15 

see”.  Then we ... yeah? 16 

Mr I Naidoo :  Sorry, what was the date when they closed the bank accounts? 17 

Mr A Gupta : This is different (indistinct).  18 

Mr G vd Merwe : Is started in November. 19 

Mr A Gupta : Well, the December they ... this is the first, I think so, November or 20 

December the first account has been ... notice has been given, notice 21 

has been given by 90 days and then in some of the cases it has been 22 

given 30 days only.  23 

Adv T Madonsela : When was the first notice given? 24 

Mr A Gupta : The first ... I think so, first bank is Absa. 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-466



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  M r  A j a y  G u p t a  

4  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

133 

Adv T Madonsela : When was it given? 1 

Mr A Gupta : I think so, November/December.  I don't remember now exactly. 2 

Mr I Naidoo :  Who was the last bank? 3 

Mr A Gupta : The last was the ... almost all three are together. 4 

Mr I Naidoo :  When was that? 5 

Mr A Gupta : This is in maybe April or May.   6 

Adv T Madonsela : This year? 7 

Mr A Gupta : This year. 8 

Mr G vd Merwe : Or the distinguish, the notice and the closing date differ. 9 

Mr I Naidoo :  Oh, okay, so they gave you notice in April and then May ... 10 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yeah.  11 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, some they 30 days, like Nedbank give 30 days.  They say, “No, 12 

you are not ... we are not your major bank”.  So in a few case Madam, 13 

they wrote it, the bank wrote it that ... like maybe Standard Bank, 14 

where they say a Politically Exposed Person.  They never give any 15 

reason.  We ask many times.  We engage the meeting.  A few bank is 16 

ready to meet with us, a few say, “No, that is all, don’t even contact 17 

for anything else”.  This full ... they say full reasons, full ... not reason.  18 

They say full essentials(?).  They say the bank have a power to close 19 

this account for maybe 4/5 things they write it, Politically Exposed 20 

Person, money-laundering, this and that, they can close the account. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, but they don’t say which ones are you guilty of? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, they didn’t say that, “That you are guilty of this or that” and we 23 

say, “That you are telling this thing, please tell us where we have a 24 

problem?”, but they did not respond for anything.  That is all.  I mean 25 
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every bank finally say, “No, we don’t want to talk further.  This is a 1 

decision from our Board or our Executive Committee, or this thing, to 2 

close your account”.  This is going still, Madam, it is not finished yet.  3 

It is going still that how to ... and this last account was closed maybe 4 

in May or June, somewhere. 5 

Mr G vd Merwe : The Bank of China closed a week ago. 6 

Mr A Gupta : Week ago, yes, without even a single transaction.  They open ... we 7 

can produce the letter where they say, “This is your account number” 8 

and we transfer half a million rand to there and then we got on the 9 

same day or two days later, “No, sorry” and being say that no, Central 10 

Bank is doing this thing. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Have you approached the Central Bank or the South African Reserve 12 

Bank to find out why are they putting ... are they putting pressure on 13 

banks, number one and why? 14 

Mr A Gupta : Nobody is ready to give us in writing. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Have you approached them? 16 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes. 17 

Mr A Gupta : No ...  18 

Mr G vd Merwe : With the Reserve Bank we did. 19 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, Reserve Bank.  20 

Adv T Madonsela : When did you approach the Reserve Bank? 21 

Mr A Gupta : Before, I mean when this account is closing we are asking to 22 

everybody.  On that time I think so, they approached the bank, the 23 

Reserve Bank, but to close this account and this thing, no bank is 24 

ready to tell us that in writing, that “No, the Central Bank is 25 
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objecting”, nobody told us in writing.  Nobody said in writing we 1 

can’t go to any (indistinct) Reserve Bank that “No, you are stopping to 2 

us”. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Why can’t you not go to them to find out if it is true that it is them 4 

who are asking banks not to give you (indistinct – speaking 5 

simultaneously)? 6 

Mr A Gupta : I think this is a mistake.  I definitely will ask tomorrow.  I will ask to 7 

my CEO to write that request to you, then write tomorrow to the ... 8 

uhm? 9 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, nobody will talk to you.  10 

Mr A Gupta : No, no, it is fine, but she is hundred percent right, that we should 11 

approach and tell that this people are telling them, but we all know 12 

the reply, what the reply will come, but it is fine.  You are hundred 13 

percent right, that we should approach to them on this way also. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Is there anything more that you want to ask? 15 

Mr F Lekubo : Just one question from me.  There is a company which has got an 16 

interest in Tegeta, it is called Fidelity Investments incorporated in 17 

UAE. 18 

Mr A Gupta : Yes. 19 

Mr F Lekubo : Are you linked to that company? 20 

Mr A Gupta : Pardon? 21 

Mr F Lekubo :  Is it related to you? 22 

Mr A Gupta : No, not at all, not at all. 23 

Mr F Lekubo :  Oh, it is just a shareholder in Tegeta? 24 

Mr A Gupta : That is a shareholder, investor. 25 
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Mr F Lekubo : Okay. 1 

Mr I Naidoo : And recently there has been media reports regarding the sale of 2 

Optimum Coal Terminal to a Dutch-based company, I think it is or 3 

something like that.  Is there truth to that media report, is that sale 4 

proceeding? 5 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  We had an agreement signed with Vitol.  The company name is 6 

Vitol. 7 

Mr I Naidoo : Okay, but obviously it is subject to approval from the RDCT? 8 

Mr A Gupta : This is all so many ... maybe 8 ton ...  9 

Mr I Naidoo : Okay, but that agreement is in place? 10 

Mr A Gupta : Yes, the agreement is in place.  That is so many conditions precedent 11 

is there. 12 

Mr I Naidoo :  Okay. 13 

Mr G vd Merwe : Sorry to interrupt, Mister Naidoo.   14 

Mr I Naidoo : Yeah. 15 

Mr G vd Merwe : Can I just tell you as well, for a reason unbeknown and one of the 16 

concerns I hope to raise at some point in time when we meet, is the 17 

issue of information that got leaked.  That transaction was not even 18 

duly drafted – forget the word “signed” – then we read about it. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Right, thank you, Sir.  What is your relationship with Mr Salim Essa?  20 

Mr A Gupta : Salim Essa we don’t have any ... I mean kind of a ... me personally 21 

have a relation, but Salim also he is the shareholder in many of the oil 22 

company, a few.  I don’t remember offhand, but once you got a share 23 

structure, you will get it then, in which company he invested with us.   24 

Adv T Madonsela : Could we get that share structure (indistinct)?  25 
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Mr A Gupta : Yes.  1 

Mr G vd Merwe : We did, it will be part of (indistinct). 2 

Mr A Gupta : It was many times in the public, but we will still give it to you.  It is 3 

the same media reported that everything ...  4 

Mr I Naidoo : Can you tell me how much you sold OCT for?  Is that still 5 

commercially sensitive? 6 

Mr G vd Merwe : No, we didn’t sell OCT. 7 

Mr A Gupta : No.  Yeah, yeah, OCT.   8 

Mr I Naidoo : The one (indistinct – speaking simultaneously)? 9 

Mr A Gupta : Optimum Coal Terminal, he is right.   10 

Mr G vd Merwe : It is 6% of Richards Bay(?). 11 

Mr A Gupta : No, but this company hold this whole share in OCT. 12 

Mr I Naidoo :  Okay, yeah.  13 

Mr A Gupta : I have no problem to say that, but it is still going there.  We sell in ... 14 

see, understand this, this transaction not today.  It was started when 15 

we even buying OCM ... OCH, we are buying on that time. 16 

Mr I Naidoo :  Okay. 17 

Mr A Gupta : On that time this transaction was ... but let me say in a net what we 18 

are going to be getting.  It is roundabout 130 to $140 million, we are 19 

going to get in this transaction, roundabout 130.  The transaction is 20 

much higher, but it is in commission(?) and this and that in between 21 

also. 22 

Mr I Naidoo :  What was said in the paper it is $250 million. 23 

Mr A Gupta : It is wrong.   24 

Mr G vd Merwe :  Yes. 25 
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Mr A Gupta : Yeah, it is wrong, completely wrong.   1 

Adv N Kanyane : Are these my copies or do you want me make copies? 2 

Mr G vd Merwe : You can keep them, I have copies, but they are in fact only examples.  3 

The rest are here, I will prepare the bundle for you.   4 

Adv N Kanyane : Alright. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Sir.  Two things that we need to do then, is just to agree 6 

on when can we get that bundle?  It would help us, because we may 7 

have to follow up with some of the people that are mentioned and if 8 

we get it soon, it would help us to follow up on your version.   9 

Mr G vd Merwe : Can I answer, because I will prepare the bundle? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir.  11 

Mr G vd Merwe : It will be within I would say three or four days, both ... can I ask this?  12 

Will you also then be prepared to give us the documents that we 13 

stood down for, so that I can read through that and maybe 14 

supplement my bundle, to give you contradicting evidence for ... I 15 

think you said the affidavit of Mr Jonas and Vytjie Mentor. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Okay, we will just give you yeah, a list of all of the things that 17 

point to evidence on our side that may suggest any wrongdoing.  Is 18 

that easier? 19 

Mr G vd Merwe : We will keep it confidential.  I want to contradict where it is wrong 20 

and I will send you the documents. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, but what I’m saying Sir, is that it might help then to prepare it 22 

formally as a Section 7(9) Notice that says, “Dear Sir, we have had 23 

this meeting.  We have heard your side of the story and from our side 24 

... based on what you have told us and what we have, this is the 25 
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evidence that is still” – if there is still any – “that still implicates you”, 1 

so that then when you respond you can then be comprehensive, 2 

because I like that approach. 3 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes.  So will I then wait for your document and respond to that? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : It might not implicate you.  It might implicate you and the others, but 5 

it is just what they collected that says you did something wrong.   6 

Mr I Naidoo : I think still send us your bundle that we have asked for and that sort 7 

of thing.  8 

Mr A Gupta : I want it Madam, that you must tell what we did wrong. 9 

Mr I Naidoo : Then you will receive our documents in due course.  10 

Mr A Gupta : I really love to.  At least then I know that so long until today I’m 11 

thinking I did not do anything wrong. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, I understand that, Sir.  13 

Mr A Gupta : And we try everything, even try ... I mean we stop business.  Our 14 

business suffer.  You can see that one paper I’m giving to you now, 15 

our business suffer because we stop, and I was discussing with you I 16 

think Sir, just now in tea break, that IT business has died down, 17 

because we don’t want to do the Government business.  We 18 

intentionally do all this thing and we still being called for that, we 19 

don’t know the reason.  One more thing before I want to leave that, 20 

the cut is ... know that I have a pre-plan for a 6th night to fly to 21 

overseas, because another religious ... 11th is our religious function  22 

in India, so. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  When are you leaving, Sir? 24 

Mr A Gupta : 6th night. 25 
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Mr I Naidoo :  On the 6th? 1 

Mr A Gupta : On the 6th night. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : From here? 3 

Adv N Kanyane : The evening of the 6th?  4 

Mr A Gupta : Yes.  5 

Adv T Madonsela : The evening of the 6th? 6 

Mr A Gupta : 6th night.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : That is going to be on Friday? 8 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, Thursday night.  9 

Adv T Madonsela : And how long will you be gone then? 10 

Mr A Gupta : I will be 10 days overseas and come back on ...  11 

Adv T Madonsela : You will be 10 days overseas? 12 

Mr A Gupta : Yeah, yeah, roundabout 10 days. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 14 

Mr A Gupta : This is my flight plan, that this all (indistinct) the same aircraft.  15 

Adv T Madonsela : However, but you are still ... he said he is going to give us a 16 

comprehensive response in four days, provided we give him ... or we 17 

assist with the information we have.  That is the first step.   18 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes, please.  I suppose the affidavits can’t take longer than 15 19 

minutes to copy.  Then it means I can start today and give you those 20 

bundles. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  So can we give you ... from our side we can give you the stuff 22 

latest tonight, tomorrow?  It is just a list of all of the things that we 23 

said are evidence on our side that they need to address themselves 24 

to. 25 
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Mr I Naidoo : I think tomorrow. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Tomorrow, okay, by first thing ... I mean by mid-morning tomorrow, 2 

but if we can try to do it tonight, it really would be ... no, I mean now 3 

this afternoon, if we can do it this afternoon, that would be great.  4 

That would then assist you then.  You will answer what we have ...  5 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : ... but you will recall that all of the questions we are asking are based 7 

on what somebody else has supplied us with and it is best that you 8 

see what we have. 9 

Mr G vd Merwe : And my last question is, you said we will receive the recording.  It can 10 

always help me to refer back to anything.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 12 

Mr G vd Merwe : Would that be emailed digitally or how is that going to be 13 

(indistinct)? 14 

Adv T Madonsela : That can be done now.  Usually they do it just immediately after the 15 

meeting.  I think you obviously can make a CD of it now before you 16 

leave, before you leave you get a copy. 17 

Mr G vd Merwe : Perfect. 18 

Mr A Gupta : And from my side Madam, I understand that I have given what I 19 

know that and everything else given, because some of the documents 20 

you asked that that documents we have to be provided. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you. 22 

Mr A Gupta : Is it right? 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, I hope Mr Van der Merwe made a list of documents that we 24 

asked for? 25 
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Mr G vd Merwe : I did. 1 

Mr A Gupta : And then we will provide this document, definitely. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 3 

Mr A Gupta : As early as possible, in a few days’ time.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah, thank you.  We will provide you ours tomorrow morning at 5 

latest.  6 

Mr A Gupta : List? 7 

Adv T Madonsela : You will provide yours within four days, so we will count four 8 

working days. 9 

Mr G vd Merwe : You will have it, don’t worry.  It might even be earlier.  I just wanted 10 

to make sure that I get the flight plans and it might take a day or two.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : But also just take a look at these things that we were relying on. 12 

Mr G vd Merwe : Yes.  Yes, please, that is important.  13 

Adv T Madonsela : And then consult with Mr Gupta about some of that information. 14 

Mr A Gupta : I told you everything, Madam.  I don’t have anything to ... left at this 15 

stage.  Thank you very much. 16 

[Go off record // Hearing adjourned] 17 
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[Opening of Hearing // 11 October 2016] 1 

Adv T Madonsela : ... Hlongwane, that they here based on subpoena issued in terms of 2 

Section 6 and Section 7(4) of the Public Protector Act, which was 3 

issued to you on the 6th of October 2016 and that the proceedings 4 

therefore that we are having today are not proceedings in terms of 5 

Section 7(9) of the Act, which are for people who are implicated.  6 

You have been called in terms of Section 7(4) to assist with the 7 

investigation.  Section 7(4)(a) says that: 8 

“(a)  For the purposes of conducting an investigation the Public 9 

Protector may direct any person to submit an affidavit or 10 

affirmed declaration or to appear before him or her to give 11 

evidence or to produce any document in his or her 12 

possession or under his or her control, which has a bearing 13 

on the matter being investigated, and may examine such 14 

person.   15 

(b) The Public Protector or any person being authorised 16 

thereto by him or her may request an explanation from any 17 

person whom he or she reasonably suspects of having 18 

information, which has a bearing on a matter being or to 19 

be investigated.   20 

(c) A direction referred in Subsection 4(a) shall be by way of a 21 

subpoena containing particulars of the matter in 22 

connection with which the person subpoenaed is required 23 

to appear before the Public Protector and shall be signed by 24 

the Public Protector and served on the person subpoenaed, 25 
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either by a registered letter sent through the post or by 1 

delivery by a person authorised thereto by the Public 2 

Protector.” 3 

The information I have Sir, is that you were provided with a copy 4 

that was duly signed by me on the 6th of October and that the letter 5 

did give you the particulars of the reason you are appearing.  It 6 

said: 7 

“My office is currently conducting an investigation into 8 

complaints of improper and unethical conduct by the President 9 

and Officials of State Organs, due to their alleged inappropriate 10 

relationship with members of the Gupta Family.  The details of 11 

the investigation are as follows: 12 

1. The Public Protector received three complaints in 13 

connection with the alleged, improper and unlawful 14 

conduct relating to the appointment of Cabinet Members. 15 

2. The investigation is conducted in terms of the Section 182 16 

of the Constitution, read with Sections 6 and 7 of the Public 17 

Protector Act. 18 

3. The first complaint was lodged on the 18th of March 2016 19 

by Father S Maibe on behalf of the Dominican Order, a 20 

group of Catholic Priests.  The complaint related to the 21 

following allegations.” 22 

This where the actual allegations are stated: 23 

“The following media reports regarding this matter:  It was 24 

alleged that the Deputy Minister of Finance, Mr Mcebisi Jonas 25 
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and former Chairperson of the Parliamentary Portfolio 1 

Committee on Public Enterprises, Ms Vytjie Mentor, were offered 2 

Cabinet positions in exchange for executive decisions favourable 3 

and beneficial to the business interests of the Gupta Family.” 4 

 Then the next bullet says:  5 

“In their complaint the Dominican Order requested that the 6 

investigation should include all Government Departments 7 

(indistinct).”  8 

Then we go on and on about what the matter is about and then on 9 

page 3 it indicates the allegations that relate to you.  It says: 10 

“Mr Jonas has alleged that you facilitated a meeting between 11 

Duduzane Zuma and him.  Mr Jonas further alleged that on 23 12 

October 2015 he agreed and arranged to meet with Mr 13 

Duduzane Zuma at the Hyatt Regency Hotel in Rosebank.  During 14 

the meeting Mr Zuma suggested that they should move to a 15 

quieter location, as the hotel was busy.  He then offered to drive 16 

Mr Jonas to a quiet location, which Mr Jonas later discovered was 17 

the residence of the Gupta Family in Saxonwold.   18 

Upon their arrival at the residence you (indistinct) from 19 

your car and joined them.  Inside the residence Mr Jonas, Mr 20 

Zuma and you were joined by members of the Gupta Family.  It is 21 

alleged that one of the Gupta brothers, being Mr Ajay Gupta, 22 

made an offer of a Cabinet post to Mr Jonas.  Mr Ajay Gupta 23 

allegedly offered Mr Jonas the position of Minister of Finance in 24 

exchange for executive decisions favourable to the business 25 
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interests of his family, and consequently Mr Zuma.  You were 1 

allegedly present during the meeting where the offer of the 2 

Cabinet post was made to Mr Jonas.  Mr Jonas declined the offer 3 

and requested you and Mr Zuma to transport him to OR Tambo 4 

International Airport, where he was scheduled to take a flight.  5 

You apparently did so.” 6 

Then he reported that he was unhappy about what had just 7 

transpired and you asked why you would do something like ... and 8 

asked why you would do something like that?  You apparently then 9 

agreed to meet to have a discussion, but such a meeting never took 10 

place.  He later sent you a text expressing his unhappiness and that 11 

that is where the matter ended.  So this is the particulars of this 12 

matter that we have provided you and we did so complying with 13 

Section 7(4) of the Public Protector Act.  Thank you.  14 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Just to respond on this issue ... okay, first if you are first going to 15 

respond? 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : May I say thank you once again, number one, for allowing us the 17 

time to consult.  Number two, I want to state on behalf of my team 18 

that I hold your office in high esteem and I repeat that, and some 19 

the sterling work that you have done.  I want to ... 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir, please proceed.  21 

Adv F Hlongwane : I want to say even though my Lawyers would have inputs to make 22 

on the legal technicalities, I still insisted to my team that I would 23 

like to present myself to you and as such I prepared an affidavit 24 

under oath to be submitted to you, that deals with the substantive 25 
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issues that are raised. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you. 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Secondly Advocate Madonsela, on receipt of information that there 3 

was a transcript that was made under oath by my good friend Jonas, 4 

I took the time to convince these guys, came back to Pretoria.  That 5 

is why you have a Supplementary Affidavit.  To the extent that it 6 

may have spelling mistakes or grammatical mistakes, please accept 7 

that it was a rushed job and for that I sincerely apologise, but I felt 8 

it to be disrespecting your office if I don’t even make an attempt to 9 

respond to the document that was received.   10 

So as I have stated earlier, 7(4), I accept that you gave me 11 

clarification, whatever the situation is in terms of this particular 12 

setup.  My Lawyer was of the view that I’m implicated.  You are of 13 

the view that I’m not.  On reading the statements that I got, 14 

especially the one of last night, it got me a little more worried 15 

Advocate Madonsela, purely on a personal basis what does this 16 

mean?   17 

The view in the team was, “No, you can’t appear”, so I did want 18 

to appear purely because I needed to see ... before you leave your 19 

office I needed to appear, because it is my conviction that I need to 20 

assist in whatever way I can and is the reason I’m here.  I said to 21 

these guys up to this morning, “Can we finalise the affidavit under 22 

oath, whatever happens I would like (indistinct) to assist with ... to 23 

have this submitted to her”.  Now because that is not the major area 24 

of my expertise, the procedural matters, etcetera, a (indistinct) to 25 
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address them, but that notwithstanding, I still felt I need to come, 1 

because mine is to assist.  I have prepared these things for your 2 

perusal and say here is the thing.  It augments the letter that I wrote 3 

and I voluntarily ... because I picked up that you want something to 4 

be done under oath, I had discussion to that and I have the two, the 5 

affidavit and the Supplementary Affidavit.   6 

My team will indicate, perhaps with reason, that they may not 7 

have received certain things, whichever, whatever way, but I’m 8 

saying as we take that into account, my major agenda was to ... 9 

notwithstanding the objections, to give you a statement that I have 10 

done under oath with respect to these particular issues.  I do accept 11 

and appreciate, as my Lawyers, the worry that they have that the 12 

statement received last night is a statement that was given under 13 

oath, “In your interest Fana, please we need ample time to prepare 14 

to deal with this issue”.  My motivation however was, I don’t want 15 

you to see me as obstructing it, one, I do volunteer.   16 

Two, I do realise that there is time limits to stuff that you must 17 

do, so I wanted at least for you to have had the benefit of my sworn 18 

affidavit on this particular matter, because the line that is there, 19 

although legitimate, Advocate Madonsela, would have the impact of 20 

kicking the ball to the touchline.  That is not my intention.  I just 21 

have that one complication. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.   Does it make a difference that you have clarified, 23 

because your Advocate mistakenly believed that we are here in 24 

terms of Section 7(9) of the Act and we are not, because I think it 25 
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was even a mistake for the team to have favoured you with Mr 1 

Jonas’ statement?  I think at that stage we were supposed to have 2 

given you ... in evidence at that stage I think we should have 3 

favoured you with the statement he made mentioning the 4 

allegations, which were not allegations against you, which were just 5 

allegations against Mr Ajay Gupta, and then in his statement he was 6 

then indicating who were the people who facilitated. 7 

Adv N Kanyane : PP, can I just clarify, we did provide the written statement or it is a 8 

timeline basically that the witness has provided to us, we have 9 

given it to them. 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : I think for me that would have sufficed, not necessarily the affidavit, 12 

because the affidavit ... no, sorry, the proceedings would have been 13 

necessary if we had now served you with a Section 7(9) Notice, 14 

which we have done with some people. 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : I will leave Jaap to address some of those issues, but from my side 16 

thank you very much for the clarification that you give.  On reading 17 

even the timeline of events, the only problem – and I say this again 18 

(indistinct) – is that the allegation is made that I organised a 19 

meeting for financial gain, which for me is the most problematic 20 

part.  That is why I have decided to supply you with an affidavit.  21 

The timeline of events, in that statement the allegation is made that 22 

I organised the meeting, that it was for financial gain.  I can show 23 

the ...  24 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  No, no, if we go ... when I go to the merits ... 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, I don’t want to do that.  It is just that (indistinct – speaking 1 

simultaneously). 2 

Adv T Madonsela : I’m going to ask us to ... for you to take the oath, because it is 3 

difficult for us to ... I do not understand why your Lawyer doesn’t 4 

want you to speak under oath, Sir? 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : He will explain. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : I honestly do not understand that, because ...  7 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Maybe if you give me the opportunity, then I can explain what the 8 

reason is. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Can you please Sir, respect this process?  I find your attitude 10 

completely unacceptable, Advocate Cilliers.  Please behave, Sir.  11 

Your conduct is totally improper.  I was just still speaking and in 12 

court you would request properly that you want to speak and you 13 

keep interrupting me, and rudely so for that matter.  I don’t 14 

understand what is the problem?  I mean if anybody has to be hot 15 

under the collar, it should be your client.   16 

I expect Lawyers to be dispassionate or at least that is what I 17 

was taught about law and being an Advocate, and you have been an 18 

Advocate for much longer, as I see as an SC, is that “law is reason 19 

without passion”.  My understanding is that you defend him, it is his 20 

case.  Yours is to assist as an Officer of the Court and in this 21 

particular case yours is to assist as somebody who is 22 

knowledgeable about law and to assist him, but to get so involved 23 

and so worked up.  I mean you are surprising me, Sir. 24 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : May I respond? 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Yes, please. 1 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : With great respect, I’m not worked up.  I think the record will 2 

reflect itself.  All I’m asking for is the opportunity to deal with the 3 

exact issues that you raise, but we are here for almost two hours 4 

now and I, apart from reading out my initial address, you refuse to 5 

allow me the opportunity to address certain issues that I can really 6 

assist you with.   7 

For instance, the fact that you said there was a subpoena 8 

served in terms of Section 7(5), that is wrong and I can assist you 9 

with that, but I can’t assist you if you don’t allow me the 10 

opportunity to raise the issues.  So really with great respect all I’m 11 

asking you is the opportunity to address you on issues where I can 12 

see that I can really assist you in coming to a just conclusion. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Proceed, Advocate Cilliers, I’m listening. 14 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Well, you asked us what are we doing here, more or less words to 15 

that effect, because we came and it seems now to you that we don’t 16 

want to cooperate before the adjournment.   I want to address you 17 

on that, but before dealing with that, just the issue of the subpoena.  18 

There wasn’t a subpoena served in terms of Rule 7(5).  You have 19 

been wrongly advised.   20 

I’m not saying deliberately so, but objectively so, but nothing 21 

turns on that.  At this stage nothing turns on that, because we are 22 

here and whether we had been called to come here by way of 23 

subpoena and/or whether we came here voluntarily, that doesn’t 24 

really matter, because we are here because we want to assist you.  25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-485



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  A d v  F a n a  H l o n g w a n e  

1 1  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

10 

So that is the first issue.  As far as the Section 7(4)/Section 7(9) 1 

situation is concerned, I see it more as a procedural issue than a 2 

substantive issue.  I have no doubt that whether you are here by 3 

way of subpoena or whether you are here in terms of Section 7(9), 4 

the same principles to the law will apply and I think you will apply 5 

then the basic principles of fairness entrenched in our Constitution, 6 

relating to fair trials and to fair administrative process.   7 

So we only have one concern at this stage and I hear you say 8 

now that we may have been wrongly provided with Mr Jonas’ 9 

statement.  I differ from you there, but again it doesn’t really 10 

matter, because it is water under the bridge.  The fact is that your 11 

office did provide us with the transcript of the proceedings during 12 

the course of early yesterday evening and all we want, on behalf of 13 

Mr Hlongwane, is that before he is being questioned, that he is 14 

being given the opportunity to go through the information that 15 

your office provided to us, in order to prepare him to answer to 16 

questions.   17 

If I can by way of example illustrate it to you and this is purely 18 

by way of example, because I haven’t had the opportunity to 19 

properly read through Mr Jonas’ statement.  I spent my time on 20 

assisting to prepare the affidavits before you.  For instance, if Mr 21 

Jonas say there that he phoned ... on the Monday after the meeting 22 

he phoned Mr Hlongwane to complain, I heard you reading that 23 

from the summary of his subpoena – and for instance Mr 24 

Hlongwane was in America on the Monday – then by studying that 25 
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statement and going into his records, we can for instance obtain the 1 

air tickets for the trip.  Say for instance he left on the Saturday for 2 

America, we can present you with the documentary proof that he 3 

flew out to America.  We can for instance get a copy of his passport 4 

or hand you the original passport, or a copy thereof, to indicate to 5 

you that Mr Jonas’ evidence was untruthful in this regard.  Clearly 6 

that will assist you greatly in finalising a report eventually and/or 7 

finalising an interim report, if you are going to issue an interim 8 

report.   9 

Those are the type of issues that we will be able to assist you 10 

and we want to assist you with, if given the opportunity.  So all we 11 

ask is, we only received these transcripts last night, please give us 12 

the opportunity to go through it, consult on it, obtain objective 13 

evidence, where possible, in order to indicate to you which facts we 14 

can substantiate by maybe objective other facts and then we will 15 

come back and testify.  Not only are we willing to come back and 16 

testify, we insist to come back and to testify, because we really want 17 

to assist you.  So that is at this stage our approach. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Mister Cilliers.  Anybody else who wants to supplement 19 

Mr Cilliers’ presentation?  Right, can I just check with the team if a 20 

subpoena was not served on Mr Hlongwane? 21 

Adv N Kanyane : I think the issue, Advocate ... 22 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, can you just answer my question, was a subpoena served on 23 

Mr Hlongwane? 24 

Adv N Kanyane : It was. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : When was it served?  It says on the 6th. 1 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, they confirmed receipt, his Attorneys, on the 6th. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you.  So the subpoena was served ... this was your 3 

evidence.  4 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Can I  ... 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Can you not (indistinct – speaking simultaneously), Sir? 6 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Sorry. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : I just want to go on the record now.  I let you speak because you 8 

yourself had said we have spent too much time going backwards 9 

and forward.  I don’t want us to do that and I also don’t want us to 10 

have heated tempers, because none of us are going to die here.  If 11 

there is anybody who has a right to have a heated temper, it is him.  12 

The rest of us are just assisting to find the truth the best we know 13 

how.  So the subpoena was served and Mr Stockenstrom confirmed 14 

receiving that subpoena.  Can you read the record aloud here? 15 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay, the letter was addressed to the public protector, dated the 6th 16 

of October: 17 

“We acknowledge receipt of your email of 6 October 2016, with 18 

attached subpoena for our client, Adv Fana Hlongwane.” 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you.  Okay, so that is the record.  The record shows that the 20 

Attorneys said they received the subpoena.  It is fine, if then it is 21 

denied, should the matter go on a review, we will let a Judge decide 22 

whether there was a subpoena received or there wasn’t a 23 

subpoena.  Let the higher authorities decide, but we have a letter 24 

that confirms that the subpoena has been received, meaning then 25 
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we are here in terms of the subpoena, that at least the letter from 1 

the Attorneys confirming.  I will give you an opportunity Sir, 2 

immediately when I finish, Mister Stockenstrom.  Then the next 3 

question that you have raised is that it doesn’t matter whether the 4 

matter is under Section 7(4), with the subpoena under Section 7(5) 5 

or it is a matter under Section 7(9).  With due respect Advocate 6 

Cilliers, it does matter.  Where I do agree with you is that the 7 

principle of fairness applies throughout the process.   8 

Where there is anybody who accuses you or implicates you in 9 

something that can have adverse consequences for you, fairness 10 

applies, but the procedure that is required to achieve fairness 11 

differs depending on what is the purpose of the proceedings.  The 12 

purpose of the proceedings under Section 7(4) is to get your view 13 

as somebody assisting us.  In this particular case when we served 14 

you a Section 7(9), you had already stuck your neck out there to the 15 

world to say, “I have a view, I would like to present it”, but you are 16 

saying you didn’t actually.   17 

You have explained that you didn’t stick out your neck, 18 

somebody (indistinct), but your letter was there.  We then 19 

responded to that, that we would like that information.  In fact we 20 

were going to call you, as we are calling people and we want it to be 21 

done under oath, so we expect you to give us that view on record.  22 

That was the whole purpose.  If the proceedings were under Section 23 

7(9), we would have done Section 7(4), we would be at a second 24 

phase, where we have seen your story, we have seen some other 25 
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stories and we are of the view at that stage that there is a prima 1 

facie case that there was wrongdoing on your part, and then we 2 

serve you with a Section 7(9).  Even if it is a small wrongdoing, we 3 

haven’t done that, we have done that particular ... we are not at that 4 

particular phase.  So I still insist again on the record that it was 5 

premature for us to give you the transcript of Mr Jonas.  For us, to 6 

tell us the truth, you don’t need Mr Jonas’ story.  You were there.  If 7 

you say you can’t remember the time and date, that is fine.   8 

We have interviewed people who are saying, “We met, I can’t 9 

remember the date.  Can you check that out for me?”.  We have the 10 

facilities, as Adv Cilliers is saying he would do that.  In our case we 11 

don’t even need you to do it.  If you are saying you were not in 12 

Sandton on that particular day or were not at Saxonwold on that 13 

particular day, we can ask for your cell phone number, we can ask 14 

for the cell phone numbers of the others and we can do a 15 

(indistinct) to see if anything (indistinct) in that case (indistinct) 16 

regard to, so that is not a problem for us.   17 

At this stage we just want you to tell us the story that you 18 

wanted to tell us by letter, to tell us now.  Forget about Mr Jonas’ 19 

story.  To the extent that there may be differences in terms of time, 20 

if you go back home and you remember that, “No, no, no, in terms of 21 

time this was the date”, you can submit that.  We have heard other 22 

people give us additional information, especially dates, because 23 

nobody walks around ... unless you are keeping your diary with you, 24 

but nobody walks around remembering where were they in 25 
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October last year, which is exactly one year ago.  So that is it for me.  1 

The story you wanted to tell by letter, we have created a platform 2 

for you to tell us that story.  With due respect Sir, you don’t need Mr 3 

Jonas’ version to be able to tell your story.  Just as you were 4 

prepared to write it to us, we just want to repeat it and then for us 5 

to then ask questions of clarity based on the story that you kindly 6 

told us, where you said you were compelled to give an accurate and 7 

truthful version of certain alleged events and that is all we want 8 

then, that truthful and accurate version that you offered to us. 9 

Mr C Stockenstrom : May I speak? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 11 

Mr F Lekubo : Did you want to say anything about (indistinct)? 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, yeah, he did, Sir.  Mr Stockenstrom was shaking his head when I 13 

was reading the letter that confirms that subpoena was received. 14 

Mr C Stockenstrom : Yeah, no, it was received, but there was no ... I was never asked 15 

whether I’m authorised to receive the servicing of the subpoena on 16 

behalf of my client.  I understand from my office that the original 17 

would have been properly served, etcetera, etcetera and that never 18 

happened.  So we only received an email.  I acknowledged receipt of 19 

the email, but there was not proper service.  That is all want to 20 

report. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 22 

Mr C Stockenstrom : And I did not ... I was not asked specifically if I’m authorised to 23 

accept the (indistinct). 24 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : (Indistinct) they need to serve it (indistinct). 25 
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Mr C Stockenstrom : Yeah.  1 

Adv T Madonsela : So basically what you are saying Mister Hlongwane, what your 2 

Lawyers are saying, they are raising a technicality, that since he was 3 

communicating on your behalf, they assumed – because this is 4 

informal proceedings – that whatever they say to him, they are 5 

saying to you.  So they sent him this subpoena not as a decoration 6 

for him, not as a gift for him, but with the assumption that as your 7 

Lawyer, whatever is given to him, he gives to you.  We are meeting 8 

here on the 11th, he is saying he didn’t forward it because he wasn’t 9 

told to forward it.  Am I hearing you properly, Sir? 10 

Mr C Stockenstrom : No, no, no, I think the summary of what Adv Cilliers also said, we 11 

don’t want to make a big issue of it.  If you look at it legally and 12 

technically, it was not a proper service of the subpoena, but the 13 

bottom line is we are here and we want to meet, so ...  14 

Adv T Madonsela : But just also I wanted ... thank you, Sir.  Besides then the legal side, I 15 

want the truth side, because there is a fact side, there is what we 16 

make of the facts.  Factually a subpoena was served to you, who was 17 

the person who have been dealing with him along on behalf of Mr 18 

Hlongwane.  Do you confirm that Sir, that factually a subpoena was 19 

sent to you? 20 

Mr C Stockenstrom : I (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 21 

Adv T Madonsela : And what I want to know is that did you give that subpoena to Mr 22 

Hlongwane? 23 

Adv F Hlongwane : May I come in please? 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Please Sir, because I’m getting confused. 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane :  I will make an appeal to my team and to everybody, the reason I’m 1 

here is in spite of and despite the legal matters and (indistinct).  2 

That is the reason I am here gentlemen, because I want to assist.  It 3 

is my view that at this stage then we should all agree to support this 4 

particular view that I have here, because if I put myself in the shoes 5 

of the Adv Madonsela, it will be difficult ... it is going to be difficult 6 

to see why having prepared the affidavit, sworn and commissioned 7 

under oath, why won’t I be able to read the same affidavit into the 8 

record?   9 

More importantly, I have written the letter to her voluntarily, 10 

but I must say for the record Advocate Thuli Madonsela, I did not 11 

speak to media. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Sir.  13 

Adv F Hlongwane : So to the extent that we keep making those references, I had to 14 

(indistinct) because I didn’t.  I came here with a view to assist and I 15 

need that to be understood and recorded as such, and I appreciated 16 

the apology and that you will make clarification in whatever 17 

platform that you find.  I’m saying to my team that she has got a 18 

version, she has clarified in terms of what Section and all that we 19 

are asking for, as my Senior Counsel, is to briefly confirm the 20 

contents of my letter?  We subsequently also have an affidavit, 21 

notwithstanding the lateness, whatever arise, we don’t have.  We 22 

have a Supplementary Affidavit talking to the same points.   23 

Adv T Madonsela : Right. 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : So I am saying to you, Sir, without wishing to overrule you, do I 25 
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have your support to deal with this matter with Adv Madonsela? 1 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : If I may respond to that, Advocate Madonsela? 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Sure, you may do, Sir.  3 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) :  I have no difficulty that Mr Hlongwane read the affidavit.  It is 4 

actually already part of the record, because we already formally 5 

handed it in.  It is a proper affidavit, properly deposed to under 6 

oath and obviously I’m working on the instructions of my Attorney 7 

and client.  I have no difficulty that he in fact provide you with the 8 

basic facts, if that is his choice.   9 

My only concern, why I raised the issue with him and with you, 10 

is that if there is a detailed questioning, more in the form of cross-11 

examination, which may not follow, probably because you hold the 12 

proceedings more inquisitorially, but I wouldn’t have preferred that 13 

there should be a detailed questioning over a period or the course 14 

of the afternoon on detailed questioning of my client, Mr 15 

Hlongwane, on issues that he has not properly prepared for and/or 16 

consulted with, more specifically with reference to the statement of 17 

Deputy Minister Jonas that you presented to us yesterday evening.   18 

But if he so prefers, I have no difficulty that he proceed and give 19 

you the basic true facts, because he insisted to do so and he has 20 

now an opportunity, but if you will just bear in mind that we would 21 

prefer not to have detailed questioning on certain issues before he 22 

then had to the opportunity to properly prepare for that and to 23 

consult that, more in particular, after we have now received the 24 

detailed allegations and/or facts presented to you by Deputy 25 
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Minister Jonas.  So that is my view.  If you want to proceed, I can 1 

foresee no difficulty in that.  Just if you could bear in mind what my 2 

concerns are. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : Can I follow up Advocate, please if you don’t mind? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : It will be quick.  To the extent that I seem to be getting the support 6 

of my Senior Counsel, if it pleases you, may we try and do that 7 

which ... 8 

Adv T Madonsela : You came to do? 9 

Adv F Hlongwane : If you don’t mind.  The only thing Madam, is I am ... I think you 10 

people when you do this thing, I am an atheist, so if you can make 11 

that provision? 12 

Adv T Madonsela : That is alright, Sir.  You need to ...  there is oath or affirmation.  Do 13 

have a copy of the affirmation? 14 

Adv N Kanyane : We really do oath.  I don’t have the affirmation. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : We had a previous one that ... 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : But can we take that it is done and then you will record it? 17 

Adv T Madonsela : For the record then Sir, I think you affirm that ... 18 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Now if I can assist, I have heard this for 30 years in courts.  You can 19 

only ... all you do is, where they say, “Do you swear”, you say, “Do 20 

you confirm?”.  So just change the wording of “swear” ... 21 

Adv N Kanyane : And then you leave out, “So help me God”. 22 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Then that you leave out and she, Adv Madonsela then just say, “Do 23 

you confirm?”. 24 

Adv N Kanyane : Affirm ... 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : I hope it doesn’t offend you then. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, do you ... no, no, no, it doesn’t.  I have heard at least one or 2 

two Ministers.  It is just I think we had one where it is the oath and 3 

the affirmation, and then we apologise that in these proceedings we 4 

didn’t bring it.  So it is your right, it is a Constitutional right and we 5 

would never want to impose anything on you.  So state your full 6 

name for the record, Sir? 7 

Adv F Hlongwane :  Fana Hlongwane. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you have any objection to making an affirmation? 9 

Adv F Hlongwane : No. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you consider that affirmation binding on your conscience? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Then do you affirm that the evidence you are going to give is the 13 

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : I affirm. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : That is all, you needed to just confirm, so that is all.  Please for 16 

record that you try and recover the affirmation. 17 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : If I can assist you, in the Criminal Procedure Act they indeed have it 18 

stated in a Stature the way it should ...  19 

Adv N Kanyane : PP, we had it for the other interview, remember PP? 20 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes.  21 

Adv N Kanyane : We have it. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : I think because we have so many teams that are working and 23 

somebody may have borrowed the copy, but thank you Advocate 24 

Cilliers, that is very helpful and thank you, Sir.  In this case perhaps 25 
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tell us ... you can read the affidavit or you can tell us your story as 1 

you understand what happened and then we will ask questions of 2 

clarity.  It has been said that we shouldn’t ask you complex 3 

questions that would need you to refer to somebody else’s affidavit.  4 

We won’t ask you any questions that need you to refer to anybody 5 

else’s affidavit.  All questions we will ask will be based on your own 6 

affidavit and your own experience as somebody who would have 7 

been at the event.  Right. 8 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Just to assist Mr Hlongwane, I don’t think it is necessary to read the 9 

first part.  That is the issues that we have argued.  If he wants to 10 

read relating to issues at hand, I would refer you to the affidavit 11 

that we handed in, page 13 as from paragraph 22.  That is where we 12 

start with the ... 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  Is the affidavit different from the letter? 14 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : No, it is basically under oath what has been stated.   15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 16 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : To some extent.  Sorry, it is not exactly the same wording, but it is 17 

the same content. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Please proceed, Sir.  19 

Adv F Hlongwane : It is no different.   20 

“I confirm that I know Mr Jonas for some time and that we are 21 

really good friends.  We negotiated a number of transactions 22 

together in the past.  The detail of such is not relevant to the issue 23 

at hand and I will therefore not burden this statement with 24 

further detail pertaining to our business relationship.  The 25 
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objective facts are that we know each other.  We knew each other 1 

well in October 2015.  During October 2015 I was made aware by 2 

Duduzane Zuma that Mr Jonas had made allegations to the fact 3 

that I was blackmailing him.  This allegation seemed incredible 4 

and completely at odds with our relationship and the true facts.  5 

In view of our relationship I was very perturbed by the 6 

allegations and decided to address the issue.  I therefore asked 7 

Duduzane Zuma to urgently convene a meeting between the 8 

three of us to discuss these allegations.   9 

I was subsequently informed by Duduzane that he had 10 

convened a meeting at the Rosebank Hyatt on the day.  On my 11 

way there I proposed to him that we move the meeting to more a 12 

private venue.  Mr Duduzane Zuma informed me that has another 13 

private venue available in the vicinity.  He provided me with the 14 

address and we arranged to meet there in a couple of minutes.  15 

During the discussion that followed Mr Jonas denied that he 16 

made any allegation to the effect that I blackmailed him.   17 

It was myself, Duduzane Zuma and Mr Jonas involved in the 18 

discussion.  I emphatically deny that Mr Ajay Gupta was present 19 

at the meeting or that any member of the Gupta Family ever 20 

participated in the discussion between ourselves.  In this regard I 21 

can categorically state that I had not met Ajay Gupta at that 22 

stage.  He was completely unknown to me then.  I may mention 23 

that another person was there, who did enter the room briefly at 24 

some stage, but left immediately.  This was not Mr Ajay Gupta or 25 
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any of the publicly known Gupta brothers.  I don’t know the 1 

identity of the person who entered, but Duduzane Zuma clearly 2 

knew the person.  He confirmed to me that this was a member of 3 

the family.  I also categorically deny that anybody offered any 4 

Governmental position to Mr Jonas during those discussions.  I 5 

can further mention that no commercial discussion took place 6 

either.   7 

I feel compelled to give an accurate and truthful version of 8 

the alleged events relating to the issue that forms the basis of the 9 

Enquiry.  I should mention that the allegations by Mr Jonas in this 10 

regard, as set out in the statement provided to me, appear to very 11 

unproven and unconvincing.” 12 

This may not apply: 13 

“I hold the view that proper questioning of Mr Jonas in this 14 

regard would have exposed the untruthfulness of his 15 

allegation.  I’m very much aware of the disputes and 16 

factionalism within the ANC at this stage and I’m willing to 17 

explain myself in this regard, should the Public Protector deem 18 

it necessary.” 19 

Signed and sworn in Pretoria the 11th day of October and the 20 

Commissioner of Oaths indicated.  Essentially Advocate Thuli 21 

Madonsela, the letter and what I’m saying is essentially the same.  22 

Thank you, Madam. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Mister Hlongwane, that was very helpful.  Our own 24 

question would have dealt with paragraph number 27 of your ... our 25 
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starting point would have been paragraph 27. 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : I have it. 2 

Adv N Kanyane : Do you perhaps have another copy? 3 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : The other one (indistinct). 4 

Adv T Madonsela : But before we go there, let’s ask, what is your relationship with 5 

Duduzane Zuma? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Is (indistinct) for quite some time and at some point I sent him and 7 

one of members of staff to a diamond-sorting course somewhere in 8 

central Johannesburg. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Was he working for you then? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, he was not working for me. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : When did that happen? 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : We will get some ... I can bring that information to you.  I will have 13 

to ask my members, yes. 14 

Adv T Madonsela :  Was that out of the country? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : It was a local course? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Central Johannesburg, yes. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, how did you meet him? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : We are all members of the ANC, yes. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  21 

Adv F Hlongwane : It is a broad church(?), Madam. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : And since you sent him away, what is the nature of your 23 

relationship? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : We did not have a relationship subsequent to that, because I was ... I 25 
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don’t know what happened to him.  I was in a different space, he 1 

was in a different space I think, that family challenges and stuff, so 2 

yeah. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : On that event where he ... okay, no, we are going to get to that.  4 

Maybe let’s just clarify the relationship first, so that I can get you to 5 

speak to the affidavit.  In your affidavit you say you have no 6 

relationship with the Gupta Family? 7 

Adv F Hlongwane : In this affidavit? 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  What you read just now, you said you have never known the 9 

Gupta Family until that day? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I have never known Ajay Gupta. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : You haven’t known Ajay? 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : Ajay, yes. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Who had you known in the Gupta ... you understand then 14 

why I need to clarify that, your affidavit? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : I understand, yes. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : I got a sense that ... oh, you have never met Ajay? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, let me put it this way, within the context of the ANC Duduzane 18 

Zuma is known to me, so obviously all the rest of the people.  The 19 

prevailing view was that me and the Guptas are at odds. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : You? 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, that was the prevailing view. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 23 

Adv F Hlongwane : So I never accordingly had interaction with the Gupta Family, 24 

because there was no need to have any interaction.  The person I 25 
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knew was Duduzane. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, you have never met any of the Gupta brothers before then? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Before? 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Before that day at the event? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam, I had met ... I did meet Duduzane with one of the 5 

brothers in Pankhurst. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : With one of the brothers? 7 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Is that the same one who was ... 9 

Adv N Kanyane : Which brother? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : With which brother did you meet on that day? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : They call him Rajesh. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : And what the nature of that meeting when you met them in 13 

Pankhurst? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : It was at a restaurant, so it was a lunch. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Who had organised that meeting? 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : It was not a meeting organised.  Duduzane had invited me to lunch 17 

in a known spot and I went to that lunch. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Would you remember how long ago would that have been? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : It would have been in that year, 2015, I think subsequent to ... I 20 

think he had some case about an accident or something, so. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Who had a case? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Duduzane.  I think that matter had just been concluded. 23 

Adv N Kanyane : About the mines? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Uhm? 25 
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Adv N Kanyane : The mines? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, Duduzane ...  2 

Adv T Madonsela : No, he was in an accident. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : A motorcar ... a motor vehicle accident and he had gone through 4 

that, and I have seen in the media that it was concluded, so I called 5 

him to congratulate him. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and then he called you to a meeting where you ended up with 7 

Mr ... 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, he didn’t call it.  I called him to congratulate him. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir. 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : Though we have not been touch, because there was this case that 11 

was going on, blah, blah, blah and then as an uncle, as we are in the 12 

ANC, I called him to congratulate him and we agreed to have a tea, 13 

and I went to the tea and he was with his friend, a partner. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : And there was no relationship that you struck with that partner 15 

after that? 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : Except that he was a partner that works with Duduzane, a 17 

partnership.  I don’t know the details of their business. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : The Gupta brother you met was in partnership with Duduzane? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think they are partners from public ... what I see in the public as 20 

well, they are saying they work together and I think it is so, from 21 

whatever I have read, it is so that they work together. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : After that you ... do you have any relationship with the Gupta 23 

Family, since that meeting? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Since that meeting I was invited Advocate Madonsela, to something 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-503



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  A d v  F a n a  H l o n g w a n e  

1 1  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

28 

called the CITE Awards.  It was ... I have never been ... because we 1 

are supposed to be (indistinct) I have never been to any Gupta-2 

related event or whatever (indistinct).  So the young man invited me 3 

to something called the CITE Awards.  I think they were in 4 

Randburg somewhere at The Dome and I had never been there, so. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Were you invited by Duduzane? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, he asked me as his uncle, “Please uncle, come and” ... 7 

Adv T Madonsela : In this meeting in Pankhurst you say it happened in 2015? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, actually in (indistinct). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Did it happen before this other meeting that Jonas refers to? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think so Madam, I think it predates that meeting, it predates that 11 

meeting, certainly predates that meeting.  It definitely predates that 12 

meeting. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay and thereafter the only interaction you had with the Guptas 14 

was at the CITE? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : The only interaction I had with Duduzane, who was my primary 16 

point of ... yes.  17 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, okay, I see.  Oh, was it Duduzane who invited you to CITE 18 

Awards? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Duduzane.  20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : It is Duduzane that invited me to the CITE, because it is Duduzane 22 

that knew me and it is Duduzane that called me “uncle”, and it is 23 

Duduzane that comes to my place whenever. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : You have never had any direct contact with the Guptas? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Before the meeting of ... the alleged meeting with Jonas, no. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : After that? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : After that yes, at the CITE Awards. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : At the CITE Awards? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 5 

Adv T Madonsela :  Other than that, no other contact? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Let me see, other than that I have had contacts with Duduzane 7 

within that context, yes.  I have had contact with Duduzane and I 8 

don’t know ... I’m only familiar with the one called Rajesh.  That is 9 

the one I have seen once or twice, a couple of times.  I have ... I must 10 

say I have seen ... at the CITE Awards I did see most of the people, 11 

but I cannot tell who the others are.  They were a number of 12 

women, etcetera, etcetera, who was a Gupta in that particular 13 

space.  I cannot tell you for sure, but I’m aware of (indistinct). 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Would you say you have a relationship with the Gupta Family? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : I would they are casual acquaintances. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you visit each other or phone each other? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Phone each other, visit each other? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir.  19 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam, every time, like I say my point of contact was 20 

Duduzane. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Was Duduzane, okay.    22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam.  23 

Adv T Madonsela : So you would contact Duduzane? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Duduzane ... 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : But have you had any dealings with them, other than visiting the 1 

CITE Awards, Sir? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : This is the most interesting part.  Given that there is a history and 3 

that this ... what is it, this lunch, part of the thing was ... what I heard 4 

is this thing that there is supposed to be this issue between us.  5 

Other than that Madam, I don’t have a business relationship with 6 

the Guptas. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : You said you had a lunch with them? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, I had a lunch with them, at the event that I’m referring to, 9 

Pankhurst. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, yeah. 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : Do I have a business relationship with them?  No, Madam.  Am I a 12 

partner in their businesses?  No, Madam.  Are they a partner in my 13 

businesses?  No.  Is Duduzane a partner in my business?  No. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Have you ever visited the Gupta Family in Saxonwold? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, I have. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : How often, Sir? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Sorry, Madam? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : How often have you visited Saxonwold? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : I have been there several times since our engagement in Pankhurst. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : What was the purpose the visit? 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : Social, because of the (indistinct) visit. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Pardon? 23 

Adv F Hlongwane : Social. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : With who, Sir? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Meaning with whom? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : With the Gupta family, with who do you have a social relationship? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : With Duduzane, who is part of the family in a business sense.  3 

Maybe let me ... I don’t know if this would help. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes? 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : It is Duduzane I know and it is Duduzane I have always known, but I 6 

have been aware that he is that space.  I was not in that space. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Does he live there? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : To the best of my knowledge, I have been to Duduzane’s place in 9 

Saxonwold.  It is walking maybe a minute (indistinct), so in my ... 10 

you know to the best of my knowledge he does not live there, 11 

because I think he has a house nearby.  Have I been to his house?  12 

Yes, Madam, I have been to his house. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, he doesn’t live in that complex? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : I don’t know the complex ... 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Because the complex has several houses? 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, I know a house, I only know one house.  I have heard that it is a 17 

complex. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : People ... I have heard the people saying it is a compound as well, 20 

but I have only seen one house. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Maybe they call it a complex, it is a three-storey, I have only seen 23 

one house, but his house is not in that complex, or that house. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Because you say when you go there, you go to visit Duduzane.  That 25 
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is what confusing me when I was asking does he live there? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, he lives in Saxonwold.  You said, “Have you been to 2 

Saxonwold?”.  Yes, he does live in Saxonwold, so it is ...  3 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Have you been to the Gupta house? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, I have several times. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Several times? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : As whose guest? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : I will be going through Duduzane, because he is one that has the 9 

primary relationship. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Because you would find him there at the Gupta house or? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, I find him there, sometimes we would go together in the same 12 

car.  Let’s put it this way, the one chap that I met there is the one 13 

that is familiar with me, so I do not know.  I’m not familiar with any 14 

of the other people. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  President Zuma, what is your relationship with him? 16 

Adv F Hlongwane : Similar to yours Advocate, the President of the country and 17 

President of the ANC. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Nothing more? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Beyond President of the country and the ANC, no, nothing more. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, now going back to the affidavit, you are saying Duduzane is 21 

the one who told you that Mr Jonas was blackmailing you.  When 22 

did he tell you that? 23 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Sorry ... 24 

Adv T Madonsela : No, Duduzane said Mr Jonas is saying you are blackmailing him, yes.  25 
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When did he say that? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : If I may Advocate, may I just recap a bit?  I know that in the period 2 

of the invitation to the CITE Awards Duduzane wanted to invite as 3 

many people, including Jonas, so that interaction took place.  The 4 

question that you are asking is ... what paragraph is that? 5 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Paragraph 24. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : It was in the period ... I think the same month that he has become so 7 

celebrated, it was in October of that year.  Essentially, I think maybe 8 

Duduzane may have had an intention to take the relationship to the 9 

next level. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Which relationship now? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : My relationship with him. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : With Duduzane? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, maybe he wanted to take it to the next level.  Now he knows 14 

me to have been close to Jonas as a comrade and a friend, 15 

somebody I hold in high esteem.  So these comrades, because of the 16 

closeness with Jonas – which unfortunately doesn’t seem to exist 17 

now – he had picked up that Jonas is apparently saying I was 18 

blackmailing him.   19 

That was bothersome to me, because when you have friend and 20 

you feel that you are going through difficulties together, and you 21 

hear that they are blackmailing you, I was really, really (indistinct).  22 

He asked me, “Uncle, please don’t raise the issue with Jonas until we 23 

meet and please promise, because I know you will be hot under 24 

your collar, because of the way you portray your relationship”.  Yes, 25 
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I was hot under the collar, but I honour that pledge, but I asked him, 1 

“Chief, given that you have heard this, can you call this man so that 2 

you confront him with this particular issue?”, so he found him.  3 

They went to the Hyatt and I was not comfortable with the Hyatt.  I 4 

called Duduzane on his phone and then I asked to speak to Jonas on 5 

Duduzane’s phone, Advocate and I said, “Guys, let’s move this 6 

meeting to a private venue”.   7 

It was a meeting about confrontation, so I didn’t want tempers 8 

to be flaring in a ... especially because this man is a comrade and a 9 

friend.  It was incredible, so I just needed to establish would he 10 

have said that?  I know politics is full of all manner of things and 11 

indeed we moved, and arrived at the venue, that whose address 12 

were given and on arrival ... 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Just a minute. 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : Sorry, Madam. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you get to the Hyatt?  You go to the Hyatt first and then you 16 

didn’t like the noise? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, no, my way to venue past the Hyatt is Oxford Road, I had to 18 

decide. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : So if you say, “Did you go to the Hyatt?”, no, I didn’t go to the Hyatt. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : You asked for a change of venue before you got there? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, yes. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, I didn’t go to the Hyatt.  I asked for a change of venue, but if the 25 
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specific ... does my route pass through the Hyatt?  Yes, my route 1 

does pass through the Hyatt, so I was driving past, so. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, that is not the question, Sir.  So you then asked for a change 3 

of venue, you went to the new venue with ... 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Sorry for interrupting.  You can proceed. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : I went to the venue, we arrived, I would say, almost simultaneously.  7 

I would say almost simultaneously.  It is not that I saw them 8 

following me or whatever.  We arrived almost simultaneously.  I got 9 

into the place.  There is lounge, a formal lounge, quiet, serene and I 10 

was in a particular state of mind and the meeting ensued.  “Chief, do 11 

you want me talk about this thing?”, as it was the issue.  Duduzane 12 

said, “It is safer to say I (indistinct)”.   13 

I looked him straight in the eye, because that was like ... I know 14 

these things happen in politics.  I believe it is politics, understand.  15 

Now my issue was this is my comrade, I mean we are eating dust 16 

together, so what is the story?  He said – I can almost quote – “I do 17 

not have a recollection of ever speaking to anybody about you 18 

blackmailing me”.   19 

That is what he said and I have reflected that in my letter as 20 

well, because then I didn’t understand what the issue was and the 21 

game.  I raised the issue pointedly with him, because I had 22 

promised not to raise the issue before and I had honoured that 23 

promise.  Because I have honoured the promise, when the issue was 24 

raised, it was the first time it was raised between the three of us.  It 25 
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was uncomfortable, it was not pleasant.  I had picked up similar 1 

noises in the market and I indicated that whatever it is, we are not 2 

going the same path, it is okay, but it is not necessary to cast 3 

aspersions on each other’s integrity, because I have not cast 4 

aspersions on his integrity.  So whatever the issues, at our advanced 5 

age I can’t say we can grew ... we can grew apart (indistinct) to this 6 

thing, that is fine, but I’m personal to issues of integrity being 7 

(indistinct), so that was my major issue, that was why.  Because he 8 

was the source, I didn’t want to have a situation where ... but he was 9 

(indistinct) there, “Say it” and he was brave enough to say it. 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, he says he wasn’t ... he had not said you are blackmailing him.  11 

Did you ask Duduzane when did Mr Jonas say this?  When Mr Jonas 12 

denied that he had accused you of blackmailing, did you ask 13 

Duduzane?  Was Duduzane in the room when that conversation 14 

took place? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, he was in the room. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : And what was his reaction when Mr Jonas said it never happened? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Number one, he was the one that posed the question.  Duduzane is 18 

the one that posed the question. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : Remember, the deal was I don’t raise this issue with Jonas until, so 21 

he is the one who raised the question.  So the reaction I was looking 22 

for was Jonas’ reaction, not Duduzane’s. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, it was Duduzane who said to Mr Jonas ... 24 

Adv F Hlongwane :  Who posed the question, yes. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Yes and Mr Jonas said, “I don’t recall saying any such to anyone”? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : He said, “I have no recollection of having that discussion with 2 

anyone”. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes and then what was Duduzane’s reaction? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : Like I say, my focus was on this thing, because then engaged that 5 

whatever the issues are, I know people have all manner of 6 

allegations, I don’t want us to go up on the (indistinct) of other 7 

people.  Yeah, that I didn’t like, so it was not comfortable, that I 8 

didn’t like.  That I didn’t like, because subsequently I’m not here to 9 

talk about Jonas, but that I didn’t like, because it happens a lot in 10 

our space, just like it happens I think in your space.  Some jealous 11 

fellow would say all sorts of things about you, but you have the 12 

means to confront it differently, so that is how I confronted mine.  13 

Adv T Madonsela : I understand.  I’m trying to find out if he says it didn’t happen, you 14 

didn’t think it was necessary to ask Duduzane, “When was this 15 

said?” and what then was the basis of Duduzane believing that Mr 16 

Jonas said these things, if Mr Jonas is now openly saying in front of 17 

the two of you, you know he doesn’t recall saying that? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay, I understand your question, yes.  A discussion ensued, which 19 

was not comfortable.  Part of it what I’m relating to you, that “Chief, 20 

if we no longer see eye-to-eye on things, let that happen, but let’s 21 

not cast aspersions on each other’s integrity”.  Notwithstanding the 22 

fact that he said he had no recollection, I had an attitude to the 23 

answer that he gave. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : So you believed Mr Zuma? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : I had picked up from the market similar noises and there were 1 

other things that gave me reason to want to have that 2 

confrontation, honour the pledge not to ask him before, because I 3 

didn’t want to ask him before, for him to give me a version.  I 4 

wanted the person who had heard it to indicate that. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Did somebody else say Mr Jonas had said you are blackmailing him? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Duduzane indicated that he had picked up from various sources. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : So the source of the market noises was again Duduzane? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : The source of the blackmail to me directly, the person that bring 9 

him and say, “Here is this person, can you respond to him?”, that is 10 

why needed him to be there. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, because he said he had heard it from the market, I was 12 

wondering if there were any direct sources that had said that Mr 13 

Jonas was saying you are blackmailing him? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, what I’m saying, I had picked up similar noises about my 15 

perceived ... I perceive us to be friends, but I picked up noises that 16 

points in a slightly different direction. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, not about the blackmail? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : Not about the blackmail necessarily, but ...  19 

Adv T Madonsela : So the blackmail ... the source of the blackmail story was only 20 

Duduzane? 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : The person who confirmed the blackmail story to me was 22 

Duduzane. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : The one who confirmed it.  Who was the first person to alert you, 24 

Sir? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : The first person to alert me it was Duduzane. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, so was he a single source about you being blackmailed by 2 

Mr Jonas? 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : To me he was a single source, but he might have other source ... he 4 

might have had other sources. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : He would have had those sources, not you? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, he would have had other sources, yes. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  How long have you known Mr Jonas? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Joe, Advocate, I would be telling you a lie if I were to give you a date 9 

and the period, but when MK and the ANC were in the same spaces, 10 

so I would say we have known each other for quite some time. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Who introduced Mr Jonas and Duduzane?  Who did Mr Jonas 12 

get Duduzane’s number from or who did Duduzane get Jonas’ 13 

number from? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay, number one, in terms of the ANC space people meet, bump 15 

into each other at funerals and social occasions, etcetera, etcetera.  16 

Whether or not that represents an introduction I cannot say to you, 17 

because generally that is how people get to meet.  Exchange of 18 

numbers becomes a separate event, but in the case of the CITE 19 

Awards, if I’m not mistaken, I think I remember what happened 20 

was, I remember giving Duduzane Jonas’ number. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : So you would have introduced them? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, people know each other of the ANC. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, but you linked them up? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : For the CITE Awards, yes, I would say so.  Whether they knew each 25 
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other before I cannot confirm or deny. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : No, because Mcebisi says you introduced him to Duduzane. 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Missus Thuli, on a realistic level, at the level at which we operate, 3 

we go to Parliament, we go to State of the Nation, we go to all sorts 4 

of things, these are children of the Head of State.  At our level it is 5 

improbable that we don’t meet the other children of the Head of 6 

State, so it is normal.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : So you say you have met him before, but on a once-off thing, at a 8 

funeral or something, but to have a personal link you gave 9 

Duduzane his number? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I do not wish to deny that for the purposes of the CITE Awards I did 11 

indeed. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : When were the CITE Awards last year? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : End of the year.  Not December, end of the year.  I think November. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : November? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think November.  I think it was November.  You see the ...  16 

Adv T Madonsela : So does it mean you gave Duduzane the number before the October 17 

meeting? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, it would mean that.  In my view, yes, it would mean that. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : With the CITE Awards? 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : With or for? 21 

Adv T Madonsela : No, you gave Duduzane Mr Jonas’ number before October, but you 22 

were giving him the number for the CITE Awards? 23 

Adv F Hlongwane : Before October or in October, but around that period, yes. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : It was around that period? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, because he was ... I think when you have an event you want as 1 

many people to come, whoever you think might be people of 2 

interest, yeah. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Okay, thank you, Mister Hlongwane.  Where was this 4 

meeting held, that meeting of 23rd of October?  You say it was 5 

Saxonwold? 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : Was it at Mr Gupta’s house? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : It was what I would call the Gupta residence.  It was certainly not 9 

Duduzane’s place.  I learned ... I know that subsequently.  It was the 10 

Guptas’ house, Gupta residence, whatever you call it. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Who was present? 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : Duduzane. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir.  14 

Adv F Hlongwane : Me and Buhle(?). 15 

Adv T Madonsela : Did any Gupta person attend that meeting?  You have denied that 16 

Ajay Gupta attended that meeting, but did any of the other Gupta 17 

brothers attend that meeting? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : The meeting was essentially a meeting between us as comrades, 19 

ANC comrades, to address the issue that was disturbing to me.  20 

Duduzane knows the people in that space, I don’t.  Somebody did 21 

come into that space.  I would ... for me I made an assumption that it 22 

is a member of the Gupta Family, somebody of slim height, slim 23 

build entered the room.  He was clearly known to Duduzane and 24 

briefly, and left.  Whether the person was looking for another 25 
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meeting or another person I cannot say to you, but Duduzane ...  1 

Adv T Madonsela : Did that person speak to Mr Jonas? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : No. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you ever have occasion to leave the room? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, I did not have occasion to leave the room, no. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  On page 15 of your affidavit, paragraph 27, you say: 6 

“I deny that Mr Ajay Gupta was present at the meeting or that 7 

any member of the Gupta Family ever participated in the 8 

discussion between ourselves.  In this regard I can categorically 9 

state that I had not met Ajay Gupta at that stage.  He was 10 

completely unknown to me then.” 11 

Earlier on I thought you said you met Ajay before that meeting at a 12 

park? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, I can explain, sorry. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : (Indistinct) with this thing.  No, Advocate, I did not say I had met 16 

Ajay earlier on.  I said I had met Rajesh for lunch with Duduzane. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Oh, was it Rajesh? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : In Pankhurst, yes. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  On paragraph 28 you say there is a person who came into the 20 

room.  It was definitely not Ajay.  You said you had met Rajesh 21 

before.  Was it Rajesh? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : The person that came in was in build ... Mr Frans Lekubo in build 23 

and height, so it was not the fellow I had lunch with in Pankhurst. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : So it wasn’t Ajay? 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Number one, it was not the fellow I had lunch with in Pankhurst. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : And the fellow you had lunch you say it was Rajesh? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Rajesh, yes and it was not any of the famous two brothers.  Maybe 3 

there is more, but it was not any of the famous brothers.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : It wasn’t Ajay, it wasn’t Rajesh? 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Are you sure it was Rajesh that you had lunch with at Pankhurst? 7 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, I’m sure it was Rajesh. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : There is also Atul.  Have you met Atul Gupta?   9 

Adv F Hlongwane : Briefly.  Can I distinguish between the three? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : Absolutely positively I can distinguish between the three. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, are you then saying it was none of the three? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, it was none of the three. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, so the person who came into the room was none of the three? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam.  16 

[Discussions amongst each other] 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Sorry.  We are going to hold you just for another maybe 15 to 20 18 

minutes, when our next meeting will start.  We apologise.  Okay, 19 

you said the person who came was none of the three.  Do you know 20 

what they came to do there, Sir? 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : I do not know, but my thinking is either they were looking for 22 

another meeting or looking for someone, but they were clearly 23 

known to Duduzane. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Would you recall what the person said?  I know it was a whole year 25 
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ago, but any recollection of what was said? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : They didn’t speak to me.  I think they must have exchanged 2 

whatever with Duduzane. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : They spoke to Dudu.  Did they speak to Mcebisi? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think my recollection they would have said something to 5 

Duduzane, but my focus was on Jonas.  My issue was a little more 6 

urgent than people coming into this thing. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Did they say any ... do you know if they ever spoke to Mr Jonas, this 8 

person, this unknown person? 9 

Adv F Hlongwane : In the meeting I was in, no, Madam.  10 

Adv T Madonsela : Nothing was said? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : In the meeting I attended, no. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Did they ever step out? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : Sorry? 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Did they ever step out? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : It was me, Duduzane and Jonas.  We did not step out. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : None of you ever came out? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : In the meeting, until the meeting ended, yes. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Until the meeting ended? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah and we parted ways when the meeting ended, yes. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, this person ...  21 

Adv F Hlongwane : It wasn’t a long meeting. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah, this person of slight build what was his ethnic origin?  Was he 23 

classified as white or Indian? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Indian. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Was he Indian?  Okay, was he a man?  It was a man you said?   1 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, it was a man. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : You wouldn’t know the age roughly? 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : That person I would not ... I would say relatively young.  I don’t 4 

know what relatively young is under (indistinct – speaking 5 

simultaneously). 6 

Adv T Madonsela : But you knew that Mr Zuma knew the person? 7 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, I’m not putting him on the spot, but the person (indistinct – 8 

speaking simultaneously). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : But you say you confirmed it was a member of the family, okay. 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I say a person and that who I thought would have been a member of 11 

the Gupta Family, I was (indistinct) thinking that.  12 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.   13 

Adv F Hlongwane : In those kinds of cultures many people live in the same house. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, did you resolve the problem you had with Mr Jonas? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : To this day, no. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  You have addressed a letter to me and you say that ... you 17 

don’t know what this person entered the room for? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, I don’t. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : Who dropped Mr Jonas at the airport after the meeting? 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : Honest answer, I do not know, but I can certainly say it was not 21 

Duduzane, nor was it me. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Was there any further engagement between you and Mr Jonas after 23 

this meeting? 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Physical engagement, no. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : Telephone? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think on the following week he called me briefly and I remember it 2 

was our last conversation.  His statement to me was, “Fana, your 3 

problem, your biggest weakness is that you trust people easily.  4 

Your biggest weakness is that you trust people easily”.  Well, that 5 

may be a big weakness, because, yes, I have been thrown under the 6 

bus once or twice because of that. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : But why would he say that to you? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Because of the blackmail story, because my attitude was markedly 9 

different to him on that.  I didn’t like it, Advocate.  We are way too 10 

close or anything different ... if there was a difference on anything, 11 

he should have said it to me and not to cover himself in whatever 12 

spaces. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, did you ever have another meeting with Mr Jonas after that? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : No and none is desired. 15 

Adv T Madonsela : And you said you had contact with him only once.  Was it telephonic 16 

or text? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Who? 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Mr Jonas, after that meeting, the following week? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, one telephone call in which ... because I was ... he saw I was 20 

perturbed and that bothered him of course, because I’m in the same 21 

space.  I have got capacities also to raise the issue in our same 22 

marketplace that would ... so yes, he called to say to me, “Fana, the 23 

only problem, your biggest weakness is that you trust easily”. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Right. 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Do you have a business relationship with Mr Jonas? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : No. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Have you ever had a business relationship with Mr Jonas? 4 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think we had a number of engagements, plans, etcetera, because 5 

when Jonas was moved ... removed as an MEC ... anywhere this 6 

doesn’t apply, but when you move as an MEC, when they put him 7 

from provincial to national, it basically means you get into some 8 

zone of uncertainty, because you don’t know what is going to 9 

happen on the benches.  So he was not sure whether he was going 10 

to take up that seat in Parliament or not take up the seat.   11 

So we had several discussions in the interregnum, where we 12 

were looking at various options, what to do, etcetera, etcetera, 13 

because we have the same background and we needed to find 14 

means of self-sustenance.  So in the event ... because when a 15 

province removes you as an MEC, I know that there were dynamics 16 

there.  So they moved him as an MEC, which therefore meant there 17 

was a degree of unpopularity with the powers that  be at the time 18 

and I felt then for a long time – and many people will tell you that – 19 

I felt I was close to him, that he is being victimised.   20 

I felt he is being victimised and my view was I’m here in 21 

Johannesburg, come to this thing, let us see what we can do.  We 22 

have always had each other’s backs, so I was quite perturbed by the 23 

fact that ... because I knew some of the reasoning why they removed 24 

him from this ... I thought he was a capable fellow, a diligent fellow, 25 
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I thought he had a lot to add, so we then discussed what then we 1 

would do and we had a number of very serious political 2 

discussions, direction of the ANC, direction of the country and he is 3 

a fellow that I quite liked.  I mean we had similar political views on 4 

a number of things, developing the strategic and operational 5 

capacity of the State, how we engage and help people in terms of 6 

thinking, etcetera, etcetera.   7 

We are readers, we share books on a number of ... you know, so 8 

yes, I did not want to have a situation where a narrow view 9 

victimises a person.  So the people of the Eastern Cape, a number of 10 

them, would therefore later say to me, “But why did you take this 11 

fellow without talking to us?  Why did you empower this fellow 12 

without talking to us?”.  So I have taken that view, it was my 13 

conviction and he was my friend and a comrade, and, yes Advocate, 14 

it was in that context that the blackmail thing really floored me, 15 

because, yes, we were close, families know each other.   16 

Then when you are moved you are used to be an MEC and they 17 

move you – I don’t know if you know this – stuff is taken away from 18 

you.  Johannesburg is where we all (indistinct), so this is what we 19 

were going to do and we had those discussions and indeed I had my 20 

teams, he had his teams, so we put them together to try and see 21 

what can we do. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, that is fine.   23 

Adv F Hlongwane : And for also the record, notwithstanding the fact that I feel and 24 

many people know that I had his back, some differed, said, “You 25 
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don’t know whose back you are protecting”.  I hold no grudges 1 

against him, but I was definitely taken aback.  To this date I am 2 

unhappy with that incident. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  In your letter you say something, you negotiated a number of 4 

transactions and put respective teams together to operationalise 5 

your vision and “As our venture had zero income at the time, it fell 6 

upon me to provide financial and material support”.   7 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 8 

Adv T Madonsela : Did you have any business deal with Mr Jonas? 9 

Adv F Hlongwane : In the interregnum I referred to earlier Advocate, when you are no 10 

longer an MEC, so we are here in Johannesburg, so we were 11 

discussing and engaging in plans, what are we ... so we did plan to 12 

work together in the same organisation, but then he was called up. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, did you ever have any business deal, a proper business 14 

registered together where Mr Jonas has interests in the business? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, because ... and then you then say in a letter: 17 

“Obviously his appointment to the position of Deputy Minister of 18 

Finance opened up more avenues for our venture.”   19 

What does that mean exactly? 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : It means Advocate, I will give you an example, there is a department 21 

called the Department of Trade and Industry.  That department has 22 

come with a (indistinct) with the stated objective of creating 100 23 

black industry businesses and you attend these meetings.  The 24 

Ministers relevant would engaged in the necessary work to 25 
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introduce you to this or that industry, the IDC and so on and so 1 

forth, so it is called an empowerment process.  So as another 2 

example there is something called Trade Delegations, the DTI does 3 

that.  You can be or not on that.  If you are on the Trade Delegation, 4 

you go to France.  You are interested in something, that industry in 5 

France, you would be able to engage with the people in that kind of 6 

space.  So Government is known and that is why there is a Black 7 

Business Council, it is lobbied to assist the creation of black 8 

industrialists and businesspeople.   9 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, for me I’m done.  Is there any questions that the team would 10 

like to ask Mr Hlongwane? 11 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes.  Earlier Mister Hlongwane, you spoke about ... when you were 12 

describing the relationship you had with the Zuma Family, you said 13 

that there was a prevailing view that you and the Gupta Family 14 

were at odds with each other.  I didn’t understand what you meant? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay, Advocate, not when I was describing the relationship with the 16 

Zuma Family. 17 

Adv N Kanyane : With the Gupta Family? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes.  I have been told by all sorts of people that we are supposed to 19 

hate each other and that is common in the marketplace that we 20 

hate each other. 21 

Adv N Kanyane : What was the factual position, the correct position? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : What it was I don’t know.  I would be lying to you. 23 

Adv N Kanyane : Okay, because you spoke about what people say out there, the 24 

prevailing view.  25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 1 

Adv N Kanyane : So I was trying to understand what was the actual state of affairs? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Let me answer you differently.  I would still say Advocate, I do not 3 

know what it was, but I will tell you that from a number of people 4 

they would say we hate each other. 5 

Adv N Kanyane : I understand that Mister Hlongwane, from what people say. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 7 

Adv N Kanyane : I’m asking what was the actual ...  8 

Adv T Madonsela : You have got to address him though me.   9 

Adv N Kanyane : Uhm? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : You have got to address him through me, so that you don’t sound 11 

like you ... 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay, I had no ability to independently verify that at the time.  In 13 

other words, I did not engage any of the Gupta family members to 14 

ask, “Guys, do we hate each other, are we at each other’s throats?”.  15 

No, I did not, I did not need to. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : But you visited their home several times? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Subsequent, subsequent, but remember this thing is many, many 18 

years.  This thing that happened is ... you know if you are playing 19 

soccer it is (indistinct) extra time.  What is happening here it is an 20 

extra time issue, because I was never in this space. 21 

Adv T Madonsela : You say you only started visiting them after the Pankhurst meeting? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Pankhurst meeting, in essence, yes. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Let’s hear from Adv Kanyane if there is any more questions? 24 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes.  Did I hear you correctly, that Mr Zuma’s house it is close to the 25 
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Gupta Family house? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, you heard me correctly. 2 

Adv N Kanyane : Okay. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : You say how many minutes?  You said it is within walking distance? 4 

Adv N Kanyane : It is walking distance. 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, depending on degree of fitness, but give or take I would say a 6 

minute or two. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : A minute or two? 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yeah, it depends on degree of fitness, but I mean it is (indistinct) say 9 

I think (indistinct).  10 

Adv T Madonsela : (Indistinct)? 11 

Adv F Hlongwane : So it is not the same street.  12 

Adv T Madonsela : That is Duduzane’s house? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, yes, this situation, this one (indistinct). 14 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes, I want to understand why then did the meeting happen at the 15 

Gupta house as opposed to Mr Zuma’s house, when it was just so 16 

close to each other? 17 

Adv F Hlongwane : Advocate, surely when I say to somebody “Organise a venue 18 

nearby”, somebody would say, “Why not at the Hyatt?”, I say, “I 19 

think it needs to be a private setting”. 20 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes. 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : What other venue they choose did not matter to me, because what 22 

mattered to me was the content ... the substance of the meeting. 23 

Adv N Kanyane : Okay. 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : So I cannot answer for Duduzane, why he chose that venue.  I 25 
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trusted that and for me that is ... 1 

Adv N Kanyane : Okay.  Yes, so I just needed ...  2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Maybe it is also possible that maybe that is where he usually holds 3 

meetings.  I don’t know, but I’m speculating, Advocate. 4 

Adv N Kanyane : Alright. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay. 6 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes, I should just browse my notes.  7 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Mister Lekubo? 8 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, because I stepped out, maybe I may have missed the detail.  9 

Mister Hlongwane, Advocate Hlongwane, just two things from me.  10 

Before we wrote to you, any correspondence to you, on the 29th you 11 

wrote a letter to the PP where you want ... you know there is a long 12 

title: 13 

“Investigation into complaints of improper and unethical conduct 14 

conducted by the President and Officials of State Organs due to 15 

their alleged inappropriate relationship with members of the” ...   16 

This exact heading we use in our correspondence.  Was this just a 17 

coincidence or had you seen any of our correspondence prior 18 

relating to this matter?  Secondly, Mr Jonas suggested that you 19 

dropped him off at the ... he asked you to drop him off at the airport 20 

after the meeting and there was another follow-up meeting, which 21 

was ...  22 

Adv N Kanyane : Yeah, that was addressed.  23 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, that was addressed, okay. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : Mister Hlongwane, can we start with a first one?  Mr Lekubo is 25 
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asking how did you come to use our heading, given that fact we had 1 

never contacted you?  That was your evidence when you presented 2 

the affidavit. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : How did I come to use the heading? 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, to use our specific heading for this investigation? 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : Because it is known, it is commonly known, it is common 6 

knowledge. 7 

Adv T Madonsela : That is the same wording. 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : It is common knowledge, Madam. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Why would it be common knowledge?  Specifically where you said, 10 

“Investigation into complaints of improper and unethical conduct 11 

by the President and Officials of State Organs due to their alleged 12 

inappropriate relationship with members of the Gupta Family”. 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam.  It is common knowledge, because everything that you 14 

do we are all aware of and the work of the Public Protector is 15 

known to all of us. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : But where specifically did you pick it up in that common place, the 17 

stringing of these words along those lines, because in the media 18 

they call it the “State Capture Investigation”? 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Advocate Thuli Madonsela, with all modesty I don’t have much 20 

regard for media and the intellectualisms of people should not be 21 

transferred to my discussion at this table.  The media called what I 22 

was supposed to be involved in “The Arms Deal” and if they 23 

celebrate an orgy of ignorance, I don’t want to be associated with 24 

that.  I’m a reader, I’m modestly educated, I’m (indistinct).   25 
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Adv T Madonsela : We know that everyone is aware we are doing an investigation, but 1 

not even staff members here can put it this way who are not 2 

involved in our investigation. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : I would tell you ...  4 

Adv T Madonsela : So we want to know what was the source of these exact words?  5 

They would have had to come from a specific document. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Document? 7 

Adv T Madonsela : Uhm (positive). 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam.  Why would they have to come from a specific 9 

document, Advocate? 10 

Adv T Madonsela : Because it is the stringing of words together ...  11 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, I have it here ... yes? 12 

Adv T Madonsela : ... that is not being used randomly in the media.  If I call our 13 

communications team right now that communicates for us, they 14 

would not have ... they would not be able to string these words like 15 

this.  They would just know it is an investigation into alleged 16 

improprieties against the President, but not the exact words that 17 

were used, heading our (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : I’m in the business of precision, that is number one, Advocate.  19 

Number two, I (indistinct). 20 

Adv T Madonsela : You see, it is the exact words as our memoranda.  If you look at this, 21 

this is the exact words, we say, “Investigation into complaints of 22 

improper” ... we have not communicated with you, you have the 23 

exact heading.   24 

Adv F Hlongwane : I’m trying to understand.  Let me give you another attempt.  25 
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(Indistinct) I’m from the so-called arms deal.  People and staff 1 

members they will call it “The Arms deal”, people in the Defence 2 

Department (indistinct).  The Chief of the Defence Force call it “The 3 

Arms Deal”.  I would always insist that is a strategic procurement 4 

package.  I would always be correcting people.  Now further, on this 5 

particular issue a matter of this nature is common to everybody.  6 

I’m in the ANC space, so these matters get discussed and I get ...  7 

Adv T Madonsela : I understand, but what we are asking is where did you pick up the 8 

exact wording, which is our exact wording, word-for-word, as 9 

opposed to the general gist of what it involved? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I do not remember specifically, Madam.  That would be the simplest 11 

answer I would give you, I do not remember specifically. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Alright then, thank you, Mister Hlongwane.   13 

Adv F Hlongwane : The second question you were asking ...   14 

Mr F Lekubo : Yeah, I don’t know if it was discussed while I was out. 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : Just (indistinct) it nonetheless. 16 

Mr F Lekubo : Yes, the ...  17 

Adv F Hlongwane : The second question that you are asking refers to Mr Jonas saying I 18 

took him to the airport.  I can confirm I did not drive him to the 19 

airport. 20 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay.  21 

Adv F Hlongwane : I can confirm further that to the best of my recollection Duduzane 22 

did not drive him to the airport. 23 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay and according to Mr Jonas, a follow-up question also, is that 24 

you were meant to have a follow-up meeting after that meeting, 25 

01-PREP-DZ-MHJ-532



H e a r i n g  h e l d  b e t w e e n  t h e  P u b l i c  P r o t e c t o r  S o u t h  A f r i c a  &  A d v  F a n a  H l o n g w a n e  

1 1  O c t o b e r  2 0 1 6  

T R A N S C R I B U S  C C  ∙  w w w . t r a n s c r i b u s . c o . z a  ∙  t r a n s c r i b u s @ g m a i l . c o m  ∙  ( R i n d i )  0 8 2  3 2 3  7 9 3 7  ∙  ( O f f i c e )  0 8 7  1 5 0  8 7 0 3  

57 

which was set up, but ...  1 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Mister Lekubo, I know that I had no follow-up meeting 2 

intended planned or set up with Mr Jonas.  That was only one call, I 3 

think it was on a Tuesday, wherein Mr Jonas said I trust people too 4 

easily, I easily trust people. 5 

Mr F Lekubo : Okay. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : So there was no meeting that I had envisaged and there has never 7 

been any meeting ever since. 8 

Mr F Lekubo : That is all from me, PP. 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Thank you, Mister Hlongwane.  Would you have any difficulty 10 

giving us all of the cell numbers that you use?  Would you have any 11 

difficulty giving us all of the cell numbers? 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : I would not have a difficulty giving you all of my cell numbers.  It is 13 

just that (indistinct) I have the same concern about State security 14 

and manner of those things, but I will ...  15 

Adv T Madonsela : No, we will just give them to only one person, we will give them 16 

to ...  17 

Adv F Hlongwane : 083 ... (off record). 18 

Adv T Madonsela : But you don’t have to announce it.  Just give it to them, they know 19 

what to do.   20 

Adv N Kanyane : Yeah.  21 

Adv F Hlongwane : May I ask what (indistinct)? 22 

Adv T Madonsela : No, no, let’s not put it on the record.  Let’s just write them down.   23 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay.  Can I say in terms of the cell number, I only use one phone, 24 

however there is something they call a number that is paired with 25 
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that.  If you are in the car, then it rings.  So it is not a phone that 1 

calls out, as far as I know, but that number is similar to that, except 2 

you know four digits, which I will provide to you.  So I only have 3 

one number.  I have had this number for the past 22 years. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, thank you. 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : So I will provide it to you. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : Alright.  You may answer this if you want.  If your Lawyers think 7 

you shouldn’t answer it, it is fine.  Why would Mr Mcebisi Jonas 8 

invent such a big lie, which could cost him his job and start telling it 9 

to people in October, long before the Minister is removed? 10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I would not take regard to what my Lawyers would say in this case.  11 

I would attempt to answer your question.  The first answer is, 12 

because I’m not in his head the first answer would be I don’t know, 13 

but two, Advocate Thuli Madonsela, I have had huge, big lies told 14 

about me in this marketplace, which were incredible and because I 15 

say they are incredible, but I have sought to follow up on these 16 

things.   17 

In your case as a constitutional body when somebody calls you 18 

a “CIA Agent”, you have got the capacity to reply to that and it can 19 

be whoever else.  Why do people tell big, fat lies?  I think it is a 20 

subject matter for Psychologists or whatever else, but I can say, 21 

which all of us do know, including yourself, as a member or former 22 

member of the African National Congress the Excellency, our 23 

organisation goes through all sorts of things and in his period goes 24 

through a number of crises and in a period of crises huge, fat lies 25 
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are told about people.  I have had occasion to be in the Transvaal at 1 

the (indistinct) based in Swaziland and we have had incidents 2 

where people were falsely accused of working for the (indistinct), in 3 

this case it might refer to my Lawyers and some people’s reputation 4 

and lives were lost, so big, fat lies do get told.  This is the case of 5 

politics.  I will not be able to say to you this or that, but what is 6 

going on now if I must say ...  7 

Adv T Madonsela : But I want to go back to the big, fat lies and the stories they told.  8 

They are slightly different to that of Mcebisi Jonas, because let’s 9 

take me for example, the people who have accused me of being a 10 

spy, they didn’t invent a lie themselves and come and say, “I saw 11 

Thuli Madonsela spying”.  All of them have claimed that there is an 12 

intelligence report coming from the State Security Agency that says 13 

I am a spy, and they grab some document from the internet, which 14 

was a blog that was there for five days, that had the same picture 15 

that you see here on the wall, it had that picture as my CIA card.   16 

The CIA doesn’t even have machinery to take its own pictures.  17 

It just grabs the Government of South Africa’s pictures and I don’t 18 

even have a code name as a spy.  I just use my ... my spy 19 

communication with the CIA, I communicate as Thuli Madonsela 20 

and my email addresses are “T Madonsela”.  That is how 21 

unimaginative they say I am, but I’m just saying it is different from 22 

the Jonas, because with my case you will have Maphatsoe, who 23 

when he was put ... when I put him under pressure and I said, “I 24 

want you now to provide evidence”, he retracted, but we have Jonas 25 
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specifically saying, “I heard it from someone else, who is saying I, 1 

Mcebisi Jonas, was approached by the Gupta Family”.  It is totally 2 

different from these other stories, where people are (indistinct) 3 

juicy rumours, so they come and say people are saying this.  In that 4 

case you are not taking responsibility, you are not sticking your 5 

own neck out and saying, “I am the source”. 6 

Adv F Hlongwane : Can I quickly ask you, I think your question is not only good, but 7 

also fair, it is true.  It is also fair and for the comparison to make 8 

with the CIA case are also fair and valid, and by the way I am glad 9 

that clarity or sanity came to prevail in your case, because ...  10 

Adv T Madonsela : No, it hasn’t really.  (Indistinct) is still investigating that blog that 11 

says I’m spying on America ... on the American President. 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : Not on this (indistinct) we are talking about sanities prevail, we all 13 

know that ...  14 

Adv T Madonsela : Nothing has prevailed Mister Hlongwane, but it is fine.  We laugh 15 

about it, because it is ridiculous.  16 

Adv F Hlongwane : I understand, as we should.  We need to have a sense of humour as 17 

a country.  Missus Thuli, there is a fundamental problem that I have 18 

in trying to answer your question.  I don’t know Ajay Gupta at the 19 

meeting at the time.  I am supposed to be at a meeting where an 20 

offer of Minister is made.  I have that fundamental problem too.  21 

Then there must be other permutations.  Either I was not in that 22 

meeting or there was another meeting where this was done, and I 23 

wasn’t there.  Further, if in the meeting I was there is huge amounts 24 

that were offered, surely my little worry about that ... and some of 25 
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the things, “Please I don’t know you.  I come in and I offer you a 1 

huge amount, 600 million”, I think both of ... me and you would 2 

probably say no, but I’m poor I would say yes, of huge amounts.  3 

The next thing, having offered those huge amounts, (indistinct) 4 

spent about three hours with me.  Do I look like an Egyptian 5 

mummy to you, Advocate Thuli Madonsela, because it is suggested 6 

that I sat there like an Egyptian mummy, while another man ran all 7 

over me.  I don’t suspect it is possible for anybody to run all over 8 

me, you know because of my command experience and he won’t 9 

run all over me, he won’t run all over me.   10 

With the greatest respect and love (indistinct) you will do that 11 

either.  So it is important to state however my opinion is a certain 12 

section of the population is perhaps – excuse the word – gatvol with 13 

the current administration and they are looking for whatever 14 

means to change this, and they think that this is not the way we 15 

should go.  We should go another way.  Maybe they feel that we 16 

cannot wait, let’s change this and whatever means are being used, 17 

that is an opinion. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Right.  Do you think Mr Jonas is then deciding to sacrifice himself 19 

for that regime change that you think is the reason this is 20 

happening?  Because it is one person here, it is not many people 21 

making allegations. 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 23 

Adv T Madonsela : One single man saying, “I alone witnessed this”.  He is not saying, 24 

“We did this as a group”. 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : I’m happy with the lone wolf, to the extent that the lone wolf does 1 

not drag me into things that do not exist in my memory and the 2 

memory of those that are supposed to be there.  However, if you say 3 

would he sacrifice himself, I hold a different view.   4 

Adv T Madonsela : Because if he is lying, then he is sacrificing himself, isn’t it? 5 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, no.  I hold a different view and the view is in an African 6 

context appointment to Cabinet, as (indistinct), it can be changed 7 

anytime.  So sacrificing himself would be, as you correctly stated, 8 

his job, but I don’t think there is a job security or tenure.  So that 9 

cannot be the issue, because you can be there ... we don’t have to 10 

sacrifice not to have a job.  11 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, Sir and then obviously you can answer if you want and again 12 

if your Lawyers don’t want ... because again I’m asking you to 13 

speculate.  We do know that subsequent to the meeting of the 23rd 14 

Mr Nhlanhla Nene was removed, 6 weeks later, 6 weeks after that 15 

meeting Mr Nhlanhla Nene was removed.  From our side we do 16 

have evidence that shows that before Mr Nene was removed, Mr 17 

Jonas told people that he has been offered his post.  Coincidence?  If 18 

Mr Jonas is lying, there was no offer, 6 weeks down the line Nene 19 

falls for real, is he a ... what did they call him, a “clairvoyant”? 20 

Adv F Hlongwane : A clairvoyant.  Let me put it this way, I don’t know whether he has 21 

got Sangoma capabilities, but ...  22 

Adv T Madonsela : It would appear in the circumstances.  If your version is true, it 23 

would appear he is a Sangoma. 24 

Adv F Hlongwane : I would also give you something, given that you are asking for my 25 
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opinion and I’m not having due regard to my Senior Counsel and 1 

my legal team.  I am ... I have been able over the years to be the 2 

same clairvoyant, to say, “I think Adv Kanyane is going to be in this 3 

space”.  We do it all the time in the ANC and all the time we are 4 

correct, so what Jonas has done is nothing out of the ordinary, it is 5 

nothing formidable, because we collect information, we know what 6 

is going down and we know things that are to happen before they 7 

happen.  It is just how the system works, so this is not a special 8 

case.  I can see it is not a special case.  I can give you further ...  9 

Adv T Madonsela : Are you suggesting he collected information that was suggesting 10 

that Minister Nene was going to be removed and then inserted 11 

himself as the person who had been offered this post, and went and 12 

told Nene, “They tried to take your job and give it to me”?  Are you 13 

suggesting that that is how these things went down? 14 

Adv F Hlongwane : I am saying in the ANC context people – and you know this – they 15 

tend to know things and they are saying to people, “You are going 16 

to be in this, you are going to be this”.  That is just how our society 17 

works.  So this is not a special capability to be able to know certain 18 

things and those things being confirmed by reality.  I’m saying it is 19 

not a special capability and we all know that to be the case.  For 20 

example, we can give many, many examples.  We knew well before 21 

... after the Polokwane Conference we knew well before that they 22 

were going to charge Zuma and when indeed the NPA descended on 23 

Zuma ...  24 

Adv T Madonsela : No, but that was a process underway.  Here we are talking about ...  25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : No. 1 

Adv T Madonsela : No, before Polokwane there was an investigation, everyone knew 2 

that the investigation was going on. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : But (indistinct – speaking simultaneously). 4 

Adv T Madonsela : But I just want us to go to this one where there is nothing.  We just 5 

have a Minister of finance, the markets are doing well.  What would- 6 

make him know that the Minister of Finance is going to be removed 7 

and then plant himself as the person who has been offered his job, 8 

and then 6 weeks later turn out to be accurate? 9 

Adv F Hlongwane : He is not the only one that would have had that information.  He is 10 

not the only one that turned out to be accurate.  It is just that he is 11 

the only one that you may have had contact with. 12 

Adv T Madonsela : Where would he have gotten that information from? 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : We get this information all the time, it is commonplace. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : But from where, because our understanding is that it is the 15 

President who appoints Ministers?  He says he was given the 16 

information by the Gupta Family or a member of the Gupta Family?   17 

Adv F Hlongwane : I saw that statement and it worried me a lot, because as I read it, it 18 

was members of the Gupta Family and I thought aloud to myself I’m 19 

wondering where and how this could have happened and ... sorry?  20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : Okay.  22 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay, just finish, Sir (indistinct). 23 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, it is fine. 24 

Adv T Madonsela : So you are saying you don’t know how this ... I don’t want to finish ... 25 
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to interrupt your thought pattern. 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, no, fine Public Protector, I know you have got people waiting 2 

for you. 3 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : May I intervene at this stage and just ask just one question maybe 4 

to give another perspective? 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 6 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : This is of course based on the premises that you find and/or 7 

absolutely believe that Mr Jonas did know 6 weeks before the 8 

removal of Minister Nene that he was to be removed.  That of 9 

course is a necessary pillar for the questions that you pose and is 10 

very relevant questions.  I have no problem with the questions, but 11 

it is built on the premises that Jonas has indeed known 6 weeks 12 

prior to Mr Nene’s removal that he will be removed. 13 

Adv T Madonsela : May I interrupt, Sir?  Claims to have known.  I do have no 14 

knowledge of whether he knew or not. 15 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Yeah. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : He claims to have known.  What we do know now factually is that 6 17 

weeks later the Minister of Finance ... what is common cause is 18 

that ...  19 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Yeah.  No, that is the objective fact, you are right. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : ... whether he knew or he didn’t know, it is what he says. 21 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Yes, that is the question of course, whether he is in fact truthful if he 22 

says, “I knew 6 weeks before”? 23 

Adv T Madonsela : Exactly and when he also says he told some people, particularly the 24 

one who was going to lose his job, that “You are going to lose your 25 
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job”. 1 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : And whether that person confirms that and then of course ... and I 2 

see you dealt with it, at the cursory glance that I had through Mr 3 

Jonas’ evidence, you did touch on it, which is why didn’t he report it 4 

as he was obliged to do in terms of Section 34 of the PCCA Act? 5 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 6 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : The explanation of it by his Lawyer that he doesn’t buy Ministers 7 

was quite astonishing to me, to say that a Minister is not bound by 8 

Section 34, but of course those are all the issues that you will have 9 

to consider before you can come to the conclusion that he did know 10 

that Minister Nene was going to be removed. 11 

Adv T Madonsela : Yeah.  No, that is true, Sir.  That is why I was asking ... what we 12 

know objectively is that ...  13 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Nene was removed. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : ... he did tell Nene that he had been offered his job.  What we know 15 

objectively is that Nene was removed.  16 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Sorry, do you know objectively that he did tell Mr Nene? 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, no, maybe I should phrase it differently.  I said what we do 18 

know objectively is that Nene confirms that he was told before he 19 

was removed from his job by Jonas that his job was going to be 20 

taken away, and given to him.  That is what we know or that is what 21 

we have been told by Nene, but then we have to look at other 22 

witnesses.  That is why I was asking you why would he just have 23 

that instinct that Nene is going to lose his job and then insert 24 

himself in the formula as the person who is going to get the job?  25 
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Nene does lose his job, but he doesn’t get the job.  In his version of 1 

course he didn’t get the job, because he refused to take the job with 2 

the conditions that it came with.  In his version ... that is why to 3 

satisfy Adv Cilliers’ concern, that I shouldn’t prejudge and I’m not 4 

prejudging.  I’m just saying this is what ultimately ended on the 9th 5 

of December 2015, which was 6 weeks later, Nene was indeed 6 

removed from his job and Mr Van Rooyen was placed.   7 

Then the Gupta line also comes in, in that allegation from those 8 

Priests saying that Mr Van Rooyen showed up at Treasury with two 9 

Gupta aligned Advisors.  So it is a whole lot of things that are being 10 

alleged that are suggesting it is not coincidence.  That is their 11 

allegation, but as you are saying we have to take the whole evidence 12 

of Minister Jonas, the whole evidence of Minister Nene.  Sadly, it 13 

looks like we might not get the whole evidence of the other Gupta 14 

brothers, because we only got the evidence of Ajay. 15 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : And obviously you will have to consider the possibility that maybe 16 

Mr Jonas is either mixed up that he has been offered the job, but not 17 

on that meeting, maybe a subsequent meeting or ... that is also a 18 

possibility. 19 

Adv T Madonsela : You think that might be a possibility? 20 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : I don’t think Mr Hlongwane attempted to say and can say that there 21 

was no job offer.  All he can say is, “It wasn’t in my presence”. 22 

Adv T Madonsela : Is that your evidence, Sir? 23 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : Well, I think that is the only way to determine his evidence.  He 24 

can’t speak for what Mr Jonas and/or the Guptas did, where he was 25 
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not present. 1 

Mr F Lekubo : PP, if I can ...  2 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, Sir? 3 

Mr F Lekubo : Just one last question, Mister Hlongwane, what did Minister ... 4 

Deputy Minister Jonas allege that you were blackmailing him about, 5 

if you could share with us, because he never mentioned this to us in 6 

a meeting?   7 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 8 

Mr F Lekubo : Actually he never said anything negative.  All he ever mentioned 9 

was that you were present, so the blackmailing issue ...  10 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think the answer that I got Frans, is he has no recollection ever 11 

having a conversation with anybody about that, so I ...  12 

Adv T Madonsela : But Duduzane, he said you said you were blackmailing him about 13 

what?  That is what Mr Lekubo is asking, what was the source of the 14 

blackmailing? 15 

Adv F Hlongwane : And that is what I’m answering.  That is what I’m answering also 16 

Advocate, because I canvassed that issue at that meeting and when 17 

we spoke about it earlier, I indicated the response that he gave. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : Now we are not asking the answer from Mr Jonas, because Mr Jonas 19 

deny that.  When Duduzane was saying, “This one is saying you are 20 

blackmailing him”, did he not indicate what the subject of the 21 

blackmail was? 22 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, that was not indicated to me.  That is why I wanted the meeting 23 

to establish (indistinct) what can I ... it is not a concept that exists in 24 

my head, which might (indistinct). 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : That is helpful.  Yes, Sir? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : May I ask a question, but in this case I can’t say your Lawyers can 2 

tell you to answer or not to answer the question.  Missus Thuli, I 3 

purely as a citizen one thing that has been bothering me – rather 4 

two things – why would Jonas come with this story?  The same 5 

concern you have, except that I’m not in your seat, is the same 6 

concern that I have and with all its detail.  It has bothered me, 7 

because I just hope this thing doesn’t take us to civil law, because it 8 

is a dangerous space to play in.  It has bothered me, really it does.   9 

I have enough time in this organisation to know that these 10 

things can go pear-shaped.  Two, if that is the case, why did he not 11 

report this matter to the Law Enforcement Authorities?  In the 12 

alternative, why did he not go back to his employer and say, “Hey 13 

Chief, what is this thing that is happening?”, because ever since that 14 

thing happened what bothers me more is I do not know if there is 15 

an obligation on him to report this matter, but forgetting obligation, 16 

given how it is said he wants to assist the country, why not do this 17 

thing that way?   18 

Why does this thing have to wait for an Advocate Thuli 19 

Madonsela to be emerged in this thing, because if it is not reported, 20 

then it is politics?  Why then must we drag the Public Protector into 21 

this thing?  It is the same thing that we do, instead of dealing with 22 

our political problems, we pass them on to the Judiciary and Pius 23 

Langa did reflect on that before his death.  So why ... and that is a 24 

concern I have, why do we throw things that we can’t deal with and 25 
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we opportunistically use the only situations ...  1 

Adv T Madonsela : The Public Protector? 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : I don’t know ...  4 

Adv F Hlongwane : But you understand me? 5 

Adv T Madonsela : I understand.  If you check his transcript, which you have now given 6 

me, you will find out, because we did confront him about why he 7 

didn’t report it?  So you will get his version, but how it goes to the 8 

Public Protector, it was not reported by Jonas.  His version is that he 9 

told people and just as it happened with Justice Hlobe(?), one 10 

person tells another, one person tells another and then eventually 11 

somebody sends it to Media, that is his version.   12 

Then once it was in the media, there was an obligation on him ... 13 

that is his version.  When he was asked to tell the truth, then he 14 

issued that statement.  He never reported this matter to the Public 15 

Protector.  The Complainant, as you can see on our affidavit, are 16 

three.  It is those Catholic Priests, it is the DA, Mr Maimane and then 17 

the third Complainant is an independent person who is not 18 

complaining about Jonas or ...  19 

Adv F Hlongwane : (Indistinct). 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes. 21 

Adv F Hlongwane : The question I’m asking though is slightly different.  I understand 22 

what you have said, but I’m asking you now why would you in as a 23 

person in position of authority be a witness to a crime in this case?  24 

Why would you not, as required, report this matter to the 25 
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authorities and the authorities Advocate Thuli Madonsela, it is not 1 

the only instance?  Why would you not report this matter?  Why 2 

would you let this matter grow and grow and grow in the media, 3 

and then take the position of Abraham Lincoln and say ... just it 4 

bothers me. 5 

Adv T Madonsela : I don’t want to speak for him.  I think it is better that you from the ... 6 

any of his friends can ask.  All we know is that he was forthright 7 

from the moment we asked him.  We have interviewed him twice.  8 

I interviewed for the first time all by myself and because we were 9 

not on the record when we did it all by myself, they had to then 10 

organise another one where he had to present his version on the 11 

record and then later supply an affidavit.   12 

He had no difficulty (indistinct).  That is all I can say about him.  13 

Now that we are just talking about who was supposed to do what, 14 

has the President ever asked you what happened?  When this story 15 

broke, did the President ask you if you know anything about this, 16 

after your name came up in the media, if you knew anything about 17 

this and if the allegations of Mr Jonas are true? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : I think it is a really important question.  Number one, I don’t have 19 

contact with the President, not at President of the ANC, not as Head 20 

of State, so such an opportunity did not arise.  I however, ask the 21 

question if the ANC, as it is alleged, was involved, including involved 22 

in the drafting of a statement with Mr Jonas, why did the ANC ... 23 

because I think I’m a member of good standing, why did the ANC 24 

not seek to check my view, my opinion, “Chief, this is what seems to 25 
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be happening”?  Why was I not called by the ANC to establish this?  1 

It is another question that I would ask you.  I’m in the same ...  2 

Adv T Madonsela : No, that is your organisation, Sir. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : Our organisation, Madam.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : I was going to ask the same question after that question.  5 

Adv F Hlongwane : Our organisation, our organisation. 6 

Adv T Madonsela : No, I left the ANC in 2007.  I don’t know the mysterious people that 7 

keep linking me with the ANC, but it had nothing to do with current 8 

issues with the ANC.  It was a professional decision to cut ties with 9 

any political organisation, that was 2007, but let’s leave that.  I was 10 

going to ask you on a serious note about the President and about 11 

whether the ANC ever asked you to (indistinct)? 12 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam, I ...  13 

Adv T Madonsela : And whether the Police have ever asked you, because somebody 14 

laid a criminal charge on this matter, which would be Mrs Mentor. 15 

Adv N Kanyane : Mentor, is it not on her issue then? 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes.  No, but it is (indistinct) evidence.  Have the Police ever asked 17 

you any questions about that? 18 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, Madam.  The only time I was ever asked questions was during 19 

the Strategic Procurement Package thing.  In this case I have not 20 

only wondered aloud ... having seen this thing, then I then said if the 21 

ANC takes a particular view, surely forgetting these clever things of 22 

you guys of audi alteram partem and stuff, but surely political 23 

management requires that I should be convened and asked, “Ntate, 24 

what is this thing that we hear, that you are convening meetings 25 
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here all over the place?”, because I should have been called.  It is not 1 

a question of given a chance, but I should have been called to 2 

establish things, and I wasn’t. 3 

Adv T Madonsela : Who was supposed to be calling people?  Was it not the top six of 4 

the President?  Wow, this is South Africa, my dear.  (Laughing).  5 

Excuse us.  No, remember (indistinct) because you guys will not 6 

understand why we are laughing and then you think we are 7 

laughing about you. 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : No, I know there is something (indistinct). 9 

Adv T Madonsela : No, I was supposed to ... I was invited, duly invited by the Portfolio 10 

Committee to appear tomorrow to present my final report.  We 11 

have duly prepared, we booked flights, we have done everything.  12 

We have now received an advice that says that meeting will now 13 

take place on the 18th when I’m no longer Public Protector.  So 14 

those are things you are saying, are we upset by those things?  No, 15 

we laugh, because this is our country, this is how it is running.   16 

Adv F Hlongwane : But we should, I mean this is what we should address. 17 

Adv T Madonsela : No, we laugh in this office.  That is how we deal with South Africa 18 

today. 19 

Adv F Hlongwane : Maybe that is a miscommunication. 20 

Adv T Madonsela : Because you are going to go crazy if things like this happen, so how 21 

can they do this?  How can they do this within my lifetime?  In fact I 22 

almost prepared a new dress.  It is just that ... and the materials 23 

have been in the car, because we have been too busy, I couldn’t 24 

meet with the young designer, so I would be having a new dress. 25 
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Adv F Hlongwane : Were you meant to go there tomorrow, you say? 1 

Adv T Madonsela : Yes, presentations have been served, everything has been done. 2 

Adv F Hlongwane : Were you meant to go to Cape Town tomorrow? 3 

Adv N Kanyane : Yes.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : Today, not tomorrow.  Everything was done.  We are leaving now, 5 

I’m supposed to go to Jo'burg and then go to ... and take a flight later 6 

tonight.  Now it has been postponed to the 18th, when I’m no longer 7 

the Public Protector. 8 

Adv F Hlongwane : Is Parliament in session, as a matter of interest? 9 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, they do have EXCO meetings.   10 

Adv F Hlongwane : Is it in session? 11 

Adv T Madonsela : No, they have Committee meetings, so they have been having ... but 12 

we are breaking(?) into our space.  Our space is ...  13 

Adv F Hlongwane : Toxic. 14 

Adv T Madonsela : ... a world full of (indistinct). 15 

Adv J Cilliers (SC) : And honestly that is what worries me from the politicians. 16 

Adv T Madonsela : Well, we don’t go into that. 17 

Mr F Lekubo : Mr Hlongwane said that, (indistinct) that. 18 

Adv T Madonsela : We don’t go into that, we don’t go into that field ourselves.  We just 19 

leave things as they are, but we will make a plan, we always make a 20 

plan as the Public Protector South Africa.  Can you, Mister 21 

Hlongwane ... don’t worry about our things.  Yes, it was funny, that 22 

is why we laughed, because it is coming now at to three (15:00) the 23 

day before (indistinct).   24 

Adv F Hlongwane : Maybe I needed him (indistinct), Public Protector. 25 
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Adv T Madonsela : You are Zulu, Mister Hlongwane, aren’t you? 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : Yes, Madam. 2 

Adv T Madonsela : I am half Zulu, as my son tells me, half Zulu/half Swazi. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : The same here. 4 

Adv T Madonsela : And half Zulu/half Swazi they say even when somebody is dead we 5 

laugh and I was explaining to someone when they were saying ... a 6 

certain person that we interviewed was laughing and saying that ... 7 

to me that was not a sign of anything wrong, because I have been to 8 

funerals where people are sitting on the mattress and one minute 9 

they are crying, you know like nobody’s business and then if 10 

somebody says something funny, everyone was laughing as if 11 

nobody was dead.  That is an African way, so that is how we 12 

survived 7 years and I’m hoping the team survives even longer. 13 

Adv F Hlongwane : A personal question, now that I can see this thing, I need a 14 

Therapist clearly through these matters, but where to from here? 15 

Adv T Madonsela : A long holiday (indistinct). 16 

Adv N Kanyane : Can we finish, can we switch off then? 17 

Adv T Madonsela : Okay.  Can we then just ... thank you, Mister Hlongwane.  Thank you, 18 

Advocate Cilliers, Mister Stockenstrom, Mister Fouché and Mister 19 

Senyathe, for availing yourselves for this meeting, for taking us 20 

through what you know and helping us to try and find the truth the 21 

best we know how.  If there is additional information Mister 22 

Hlongwane, that you remember or with the assistance of your Legal 23 

Advisors and you think it is relevant or will assist us to understand 24 

the truth better from your point of view, please give us that 25 
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information in the next 24 hours. 1 

Adv F Hlongwane : Not on the 18th? 2 

Adv T Madonsela : Not on the 18th. 3 

Adv F Hlongwane : Just some humour there.  4 

Adv T Madonsela : Not on the 18th, Sir.   5 

[Go off record // Hearing adjourned] 6 
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IN THE COMMISSION ON STATE CAPTURE 
HELD IN JOHANNESBURG 

EVIDENCE OF: 

MXOLISI DUKOANA 

AFFIDAVIT/STATEMENT 

I, the undersigned, 

MXOLISI DUKOANA 

do hereby make oath and say: 

A. INTRODUCTION 

1. I am a deponent to this affidavit/statement and reside at 14 Ras Street, 

Riebeeckstad, Welkom, Free State. 

2. The principal object of this affidavit is to tender evidence to the best of my ability 

and recollection about the state capture activities that I encountered during my 
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tenure as a public representative deployed to the provincial legislature by the African 

National Congress ("the ANC"). 

3. I have deemed it appropriate to render assistance to the Commission on State 

Capture ("the Commission") in respect of the activities that I have encountered 

during the period I was an elected public representative on behalf of the ANC in the 

Free State legislature and as a member of the Executive Council in the Free State 

government. During the said period, 1994-2012, I was assigned to different positions 

both in the legislature and executive. 

4. Prior to the historic first national elections on 27 April 1994, I was a political activist 

or freedom fighter and a member of the ANC. To this day, I remain a loyal and 

disciplined member of the ANC at Ntema Moiloa branch, Ward 10, Matjhabeng 

Local Municipality1, Lejweleputswa region, Free State. 

5. The facts set out in this affidavit/statement are within my personal knowledge and 

belief, unless stated otherwise or the context of what I declare makes the contrary 

apparent, and are to the best of my knowledge and belief both true and correct. 

6. To the extent that I make submissions of a legal nature in this affidavit/statement, I 

do so on the basis of the counsel obtained in the course of preparation of this 

1 The said municipality includes Allanridge, Odendaalsrus, Welkom, Virginia, Hennenman, Ventersburg. 
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affidavit/statement from my legal representatives, and which counsel I verily accept 

to be the correct legal position. 

7. At the onset, I must state that the activities I catalogue in this affidaviUstatement 

occurred some moons ago and with the passage of time, and the failure by the Free 

State government to furnish me with documents I requested in my Anton Piller 

application, some activities may not be supported by documentary proof. For that, I 

implore the Commission to ensure that the documents I need are duly furnished to 

me to advance the Commission's constitutional mandate. 

8. I have structured this affidavit/statement in the following sequence: 

8.1. Academic qualifications; 

8.2. Membership of the ANC; 

8.3. Positions in government and legislature; 

8.4. Documents discovered in an Anton Piller application; and 

8.5. Conclusion. 

B. ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 

9. I completed my Secondary Teachers Diploma, at Mphohadi College of Education in 

Kroonstad in 1985 and commenced teaching at Rearabetswe Secondary School 
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(Rearabetswe) at Kutloanong, Odendaalrsus until 1993. I taught English and 

Geography during my teaching career. 

10. As an activist, I became a member of the National Education Union of South Africa2 

(NE USA) actively involved in establishing and building the South African Democratic 

Teachers Union (SADTU) locally, regionally and provincially in the Free State. 

11. I have studied for other qualifications but due to work pressures, I was unable to 

complete them. 

C. MEMBERSHIP OF THE ANC 

12. In the mid 80s, I was a member and chairperson of a vibrant and active Kutloanong 

Youth Congress which later became the South African Youth Congress (SAYCO), 

Kutloanong branch. The national President of SAYCO at the time was the late 

Comrade Peter Mokaba. As we know, the late Mr Peter Mokaba was duly elected 

President of the ANC Youth League. 

13. I was part of the SAYCO leadership which was instrumental in the establishment of 

Kutloanong Civic Association ("KCA'). The KCA was a civic movement whose 

2 NEUSA, now defunct, was instrumental in the establishment of SADTU in the country. 
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principal object was to actively pursue the civic struggles encountered by the 

community of Kutloanong township. 

14. After the unbanning of the ANC in 1990 and the release of political prisoners coupled 

with the return of exiles, the ANC established structures locally, regionally and 

nationally. At the time, the ANC had two regions in the Free State: Southern and 

Northern. 

15. I was elected the first Regional Chairperson of the Northern Free State region in the 

period of 1990-1991. And between 1991 until 1994, I served as a Deputy 

Chairperson of the said region, under the chairpersonship of the late Comrade 

Sefofane Khunyeli (1991-1992) and Comrade Ace Magashule ("Magashule") (1992- 

1993 and 1993-1994). 

16. After 1994, the ANC established provincial structures and the two regions in the 

Free State were duly dissolved and replaced by the current regions in line with the 

demarcation process. 

17. With the establishment of the provincial structures, the Provincial Executive 

Committee ("the PEC") were established by the ANC's Constitution. In this regard, 

I was elected as a PEC and the Provincial Working Committee ("the PWC") member 

until 2012. 
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18. I served two terms as the provincial Treasurer of the Free State ANC from 2005 to 

2012. By virtue of being an official of the PEC, I also served as a PWC member. 

19. It is apt to highlight that during the period as the Treasurer, I also served as a 

member of the ANC Deployment Committee ("Deployment Committee") in the Free 

State. The Deployment Committee was chaired by the Provincial Chairperson of the 

ANC which was Comrade Magashule. 

20. To my recollection, the principal object of the Deployment Committee is to deploy to 

the provincial government and municipalities identified persons to strategic positions 

at the executive and management levels. Deployments to boards of provincial and 

municipal entities would also be discussed and decided by the Deployment 

Committee. 

D. POSITIONS IN GOVERNMENT AND LEGISLATURE 

21. At the end of the academic year, December 1993, I tendered my resignation as a 

teacher at Rearabetswe. The chief reason for my resignation was to focus my 

utmost attention to the electioneering campaign for the ANC in the province. As 

adverted above, during the said period I was Deputy Regional Chairperson of the 

Northern Free State and prudence and conscience dictated that I focus my 

undivided attention to ensuring that the ANC in the province emerges victorious at 
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the first democratic polls. It was clear that public office was my destination and it 

would have been remiss of me not to resign. 

22. After 27 April 1994 first democratic elections, I was deployed by the ANC to serve 

as a member of the Free State Legislature. I was appointed Chief Whip of the ANC 

in the legislature and also served as the Reconstruction and Development 

Commissioner (''RDP Commissioner") until 1996. 

23. In 1996, the ANC deployed me to serve as a Member of the Executive Council ("the 

MEC") responsible for Education in the province under the Premiership of Dr Ivy 

Matsepe-Cassaburi. I served as the MEC until 1998. 

24. Following the 1999 until 2004 general elections, I was deployed by the ANC as a 

Deputy Speaker of the Legislature. From 2004 to 2008, I was the Speaker of the 

legislature. 

25. From 2008-2009, I was deployed as the MEC responsible for Safety, Security and 

Transport under the Premiership of Ms Beatrice Marshoff. On or around November 

2008, there was a cabinet reshuffle and I was deployed as MEC for EDTEA. During 

the said period, I was appointed to act as the MEC for Education following the 

resignation of Mr Casca Mokitlane who had joined a newly established political 

party, Congress of the People ("COPE"). 
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26. Following May 2009 general elections, I was deployed as the MEC for Economic 

Development, Tourism and Environmental affairs under the Premiership of 

Magashule. 

27. On 28 February 2012, I was dismissed as the MEC for Economic Development, 

Tourism and Environmental Affairs by Premier Magashule for reasons I would detail 

below. 

28. Following my dismissal as the MEC, I was an ordinary member of the legislature. I 

was not allocated to serve in any portfolio committee in the legislature. Neither was 

I allocated an office space to work from. My access to the offices in the legislature 

were restricted for reasons unknown to me. I must state that I had brought my plight 

to the attention of the Chief Whip of the legislature at time to no avail. 

29. In the circumstances of being rendered unable to perform my duties as a deployee 

of the ANC and unduly earning a state salary, I deemed it apt to resign as a member 

of the legislature. 

30. My appointment as executive authority as adverted above was at all material times 

consistent with s 132 (2) of the Constitution of the Republic, 1996 ("the Constitution") 

and was duly made by the Premier of the Free State, after national and provincial 

elections. 
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31. As a Speaker of the Provincial Legislature, my election was in terms of s 111 (1) of 

the Constitution. 

32. In my capacity as the executive authority of the department as defined by s 1 of the 

Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 ("the PFMA"), as amended, my official 

duties and responsibilities were sourced in ss 63, 64 and 65 of the PFMA. The said 

sections are found in Chapter 7 of the PFMA and for ease of reference, they provide 

as follows: 

"EXECUTIVE AUTHORITIES 

63. Financial responsibilities of executive authorities. - 

(1) (a) Executive authorities of departments must perform their 

statutory functions within the limits of the funds authorised for 

the relevant vote. 

(b) In performing their statutory functions executive authorities 

must consider the monthly reports submitted to them in terms 

of section 39 (2) (b) and 40 (4) (c). 

(2) The executive authority responsible for a public entity under 

the ownership control of the national or a provincial executive 

must exercise that executive's ownership control powers to 

ensure that that public entity complies with this Act and the 

financial policies of that executive. 

64. Executive directives having financial implications. - 
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(1) Any directive by an executive authority of a department to the 

accounting officer of the department having financial 

implications for the department must be in writing. 

(2) If implementation of the directive is likely to result in 

unauthorised expenditure, the accounting officer will be 

responsible for any resulting unauthorised expenditure unless 

the accounting officer has informed the executive authority in 

writing of the likelihood of that unauthorised expenditure. 

(3) Any decision of the executive authority to proceed with the 

implementation of the directive, and the reasons for the 

decision, must be in writing, and the accounting officer must 

promptly file a copy of this document with the National 

Treasury and the Auditor-General, and if a provincial 

department is involved, also with the relevant provincial 

treasury. 

65. Tabling in legislatures. - 

(1) The executive authority responsible for a department or public 

entity must table in the National Assembly or a provincial 

legislature, as may be appropriate- 

(a) the annual report and financial statements referred to 

in section 40 (1) (d) or 55 (1) (d) and the audit report 

on those statements, within one month after the 

accounting officer for the department or the accounting 

authority for the public entity received the audit report; 

and 

02-PREP-DZ-MD-11



11 

(b) the findings of a disciplinary board, and any sanctions 

imposed by such a board, which heard a case of 

financial misconduct against an accounting officer or 

accounting authority in terms of section 81 or 83. 

(2) If an executive authority fails to table, in accordance with 

subsection (1) (a), the annual report and financial statements 

of the department or the public entity, and the audit report on 

those statements, in the relevant legislature within six months 

after the end of the financial year to which those statements 

relate- 

(a) the executive authority must table a written explanation 

in the legislature setting out the reasons why they were 

not tabled; and 

(b) the Auditor-General may issue a special report on the 

delay." 

33. It is apt to confirm that prior to assuming my duties and responsibilities as the MEC, 

I took the oaths consistent with s 135 of the Constitution and in accordance with 

Schedule 2. 

VISIT TO SAHARA OFFICES 

34. On or about February 2008, whilst I was both the Treasurer and MEC for Safety, 

Security and Transport, I happened to be in Johannesburg. I must state that 

lJ. 
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Magashule who at the time was the MEC for Sport under Premiership of Ms Beatrice 

Marshoff, also happened to be in Johannesburg. Magashule was the Chairperson 

of the ANC in the province. 

35. In Johannesburg, I was meeting a person at the Southern Sun Hotel, Kathrine 

Street, Sandton. Coincidentally, after my meeting at the said hotel, Magashule 

approached me and asked me to accompany him to Midrand to meet some other 

important person. 

36. Magashule and I drove in the same vehicle (S 600 Mercedes Benz) to Midrand and 

we arrived Sahara offices. Magashule was driving. I am not certain whether the 

vehicle he was driving belonged to him or to someone else. At Sahara offices, we 

were welcomed by a gentleman who introduced himself as Rajesh Gupta, 

commonly known as Tony (for ease of reference I shall throughout refer to him as 

Tony). 

37. Tony took us through their offices and in the main the computer warehouse and he 

narrated to us the history of their computer business. 

38. Tony then asked Magashule if he brought "that" with him, to which Magashule 

handed to Tony a copy of his identity document. Tony mentioned that he was going 

to make a copy of Magashule's identity document. As soon as Tony left to make a 
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copy, Magashule then intimated to me that he was going to be involved a business 

relationship with Tony. 

39. Further, Magashule pointed out that he was not going to be actively involved in the 

said business relationship but his son, Tshepiso Magashule was going to be the one 

involved. 

40. Tony came back and handed Magashule his identity document and jokingly asked 

if I had my identity document with. We laughed and Tony walked us out back to the 

car and we left. 

TRIP TO INDIA 

41. On or about 11 May 2009, Mr Magashule, Premier of the Free State, appointed me 

in terms of s 132(2) of the Constitution as the MEC of the department and I was 

sworn in on 12 May 2009 together with nine others. For ease of clarity, s 132 of the 

Constitution provides as follows: 

" 132 Executive Councils 

(1) The Executive Council of the province consists of the Premier, as the 

head of the Council, and no fewer than five and no more than ten 

members appointed by the Premier from among the members of the 

provincial legislature. 
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(2) The Premier of a province appoints the members of the Executive 

Couci/, assigns their powers and functions, and may dismiss them." 

42. During my tenure as MEC for Economic Development, Tourism and Environmental 

Affairs (EDTEA) (2009 to 2012), I had presented on or around that period a concept 

document detailing the establishment of an information technology hub in the Free 

State around the Gold fields area. The concept was conceptualised by the Central 

University of Technology ("the CUT") under Prof Thando Mthembu ("Prof Mthembu") 

and it was to be executed in conjunction with the CUT. 

43. Prof Thando Mthembu was the Vice-Chancellor of the CUT during the said period 

and I am informed he holds the same position at the Durban University of 

Technology in Durban. My legal representatives have been able to get hold of Prof 

Mthembu and he has expressed his desire to be of assistance to the Commission 

and the Commission's investigators are aware of the same. For ease of reference, 

I annex hereto marked "DM 1" a copy of an email correspondence between my 

legal representatives and Prof Mthembu. 

44. In this regard, Prof Thando Mthembu and I traveled to India on a study tour. Prof 

Mthembu had arranged with a university in India to partner with CUT for the same 

initiative. We were accompanied by other officials both from the provincial 

government and the CUT whose names I cannot recall (Mr Thabo Makoe, an 

Advisor in my office could have travelled with me. I stand to be corrected). 

02-PREP-DZ-MD-15



15 

45. I must state that nothing positive came out of the India trip with Prof Mthembu safe 

to say during our meetings in India, as part of the contemplated partnership, persons 

purporting to represent the India institution wanted guarantees that they would 

obtain IT work from the provincial government. I refused to bind the department and 

the provincial government. The meeting collapsed and we· returned back to South 

Africa. The bill for my travel to India was paid for by the Free State government or 

from its coffers and it should have all requisite details. 

VISIT TO THE GUPTA COMPOUND 

46. As stated above, I was the Treasurer of the ANC in the Free State whilst I was MEC 

for EDTEA. Early February 2012, the Chairperson of the ANC and Premier of the 

Free State, Magashule asked me to travel with him to Johannesburg. The reason 

for traveling to Johannesburg was on the pretext that I was going to meet and 

address the business people in Johannesburg. In essence, Magashule informed me 

that as the Chairperson of the ANC, he needed me to address the business people 

for purposes of fundraising for the ANC in the province. According to Magashule, 

the business persons I was to address were originally from the Free State but 

operating in Gauteng. 

4 7. We traveled to Johannesburg by flight, SA Airlink, and the arrangements were made 

on my behalf by Magashule or whoever he instructed and not my office. Magashule 

02-PREP-DZ-MD-16



16 

and I were on the same morning flight from Bloemfontein to Johannesburg. 

Magashule had told me the dinner with business persons I was to address was to 

be around 18:00. There was no reason provided to me by Magashule why we were 

leaving for Johannesburg that early when dinner was apparently scheduled at 18:00. 

48. On arrival at OR Tambe airport, we were shuttled in different cars by persons 

unknown to me and not by the VIP Unit of the South African Police Service as the 

protocol dictates. 

49. I was startled when we arrived at the Gupta family residence. I was able to identify 

it as such because it is the same "compound" that has been on the news pertaining 

to the high walls apparently built contrary to the By-laws of the City of Johannesburg. 

I recall at the time, a Democratic Alliance Ward Councillor had complained about 

the high walls of the residence. At the time, there were two dominant topical issues 

in the media: the landing of the helicopter at Zoo Lake and the construction on the 

compound that caused the neighbours' uproar. 

50. On arrival, at the compound we were received by Tony who introduced himself to 

me as such. It appeared to me he had not recognised that we were not meeting for 

the first time. We had met at Sahara as adverted above. 

51. I was asked by Tony to hand in my mobile phone and told that I will receive it when 

I leave the residence. The said phone was an official government phone. I obliged. 
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To my recollection and astonishment, Magashule was not subjected to the same 

treatment of having to hand in his mobile phone. It seemed to me that it was not 

Magashule's first visit to the compound by his demeanour. 

52. I was alone ushered to a room whilst Tony and Magashule went to a different room. 

After a while, they joined me and accompanied by other people and the notable was 

Mr Duduzane Zuma. 

53. Tony, in the presence of Magashule, asked me to sign a document purportedly 

prepared by me on the letterhead of my office addressed to Nulane Management 

Services appointing them to run a whole project I presented in the cabinet meeting 

on a turn-key basis. I refused to append my signature. 

54. In the said letter, my surname was written as Dukoana, and only Magashule knew 

that is how my surname is written because I always preferred and wrote it as 

Dukwana. Dukoana is a Sesotho version of my otherwise Xhosa surname. 

55. In an effort to try to persuade me to append my signature to the said letter, Tony 

intimated to me that both Magashule and Duduzane Zuma were recipients of monies 

in cash from a mining project from Jaggersfontein mine. Neither Magashule nor 

Duduzane Zuma disputed Tony's claim. They both nodded their heads in 

agreement. 
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56. Further, Tony told me that Magashule would not benefit from the project because it 

belonged to me and him (Tony). Magashule did not dispute Tony. From this project, 

Tony told me that I would receive a monthly payment of R 2m (two million rands). I 

was told by Tony that if I appended my signature at the time, an instant payment of 

R2m would be given to me. In this regard, a gentleman of Indian descent was called 

by Tony and Tony whispered something words in the language unknown to me. The 

gentleman left the room and came back with a black pilot bag. The same bags 

frequently used by lawyers. 

57. I still persisted that I cannot sign the document to which Tony said that he had 

spoken to Magashule that upon my signature, the provincial cabinet would ratify the 

appointment. Tony then opened the pilot bag which was full of R200 South African 

banks notes stating that the money was mine if I signed the document. I still refused 

to sign. 

58. I went to the extent of suggesting that it would be prudent that the letter I was being 

compelled to sign should be referred to Mr Venter, Provincial Legal Advisor in the 

Office of the Premier to give a legal opinion about the legality of the contemplated 

appointment. 

59. After that suggestion, Magashule mumbled something to Tony, to which Tony asked 

that I give him back the letter. I had intended to keep the letter to refer it to Mr Venter. 
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60. I intimated to Tony that I am clothed with no powers to appoint any service provider 

or address any correspondence to it. Only the Head of the Department ("the HOD") 

had such powers in terms of the PFMA. Tony was not pleased. He asked me to fire 

my HOD and I told him in the presence of Magashule that in terms of the law, a 

provincial HOD can only be employed and dismissed by the Premier following a due 

process. (It must be mentioned that during my stint as the MEC for Economic 

Development, Tourism and Environmental Affairs (2009-2012), approximately 

four persons3 were appointed as HODs in the said department.) 

61. Tony, then told me that he had a suitable replacement for me and a phone call was 

made by him and in no time, a gentleman came through. He was then introduced to 

me as Richard Seleke and as the one who would help speed up the appointment 

process. Mr Richard Seleke was eventually appointed as the HOD of the department 

long after my dismissal. 

62. I verily believe that this is the same Richard Seleke who ended up being employed 

as the Director-General for the Department of Public Enterprise. 

63. The meeting in issue took place towards the on or around mid-February 2012 and I 

am not certain about the dates. 

3 Mr Thabo Khunyeli, Dr Mongake, Mr Ramaema and Mr Osman 
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64. At the end of the meeting with Tony which I was not initially informed of by 

Magashule, I called my office to arrange for my flight back to Bloemfontein. I was 

transported back to the airport by the same person and I flew back to Bloemfontein 

having left Magashule at the compound. 

65. To me it was also clear in my mind that the purported fundraising dinner meeting I 

was informed of was the visit to the compound intended and calculated by 

Magashule to have me initiated as one of the Gupta disciples had I appended my 

signature to the letter referred to above. 

66. I remain startled to this day as to why the presentation I made in the executive 

council, its details ended up outside persons who were not in government. I can only 

deduce that Tony possibly received the details of my presentation from Magashule. 

I cannot rule out the possibility that Magashule might have instructed someone else 

to furnish Tony with the said presentation. 

67. I was also startled that the Premier of the province brought me to the Gupta 

compound with a sole intention of corruptly and unlawfully advancing commercial 

interest of the Guptas. I am not sure why Magashule deemed it apt and under a 

false pretext to bring the name of the ANC to a corrupt activity when he knew the 

ANC has nothing to do with the appointment letter, I was expected to sign for a 

Gupta linked company. 
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68. This incident occurred seven or so years ago and with the passage of time, it is 

difficult to recall every detail with precision. 

69. As a law-abiding citizen of the Republic, I am duty bound to be of assistance to the 

Commission to ensure that never again shall this land be subjected to acts of state 

capture by those entrusted to protect the Constitution of the Republic and its 

resources. 

70. In pursuit of obtaining requisite information from the provincial government, on the 

advice of my legal representatives, I approached the High Court in Bloemfontein in 

October 2018, by way of an Anton Piller application. The principal reason for the 

said application was to ensure that I render credible assistance to the Commission 

and the documents are preserved. I must state that the said application was drafted 

on an urgent basis and it explains why certain pertinent aspects contained in this 

affidaviUstatement are missing in the founding and answering affidavits of the said 

application. 

71. I am advised that Van Zyl J, after hearing arguments from Counsel on 28 October 

2018, intimated that she will prioritise the judgment in the said application. At the 

time of the finalisation of this affidaviUstatement, which is four months later, the 

Learned Judge had not handed down the judgment or informed parties by when she 

will hand down the judgment. 
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E. DOCUMENTS DISCOVERED IN AN ANTON PILLER APPLICATION 

72. A cabinet memorandum bearing reference no: 69/2011 with a subject: City for 

Tomorrow Concept, signed on behalf of Ms Elzabe Rockman, Director-General in 

the Premier's Office on 4 July 2011. On the same date, Mr PHI Makgoe was acting 

in my stead. 

73. There was a draft resolution which was Annexure A of the memo referred to in para 

72. Para 1 (b) of the resolution makes reference to a "data centre". I annex hereto 

marked "DM 2" a copy of the said memo. 

74. The memo was accompanied by a presentation from P3i and Nulane. For ease of 

reference, I annex hereto marked "DM 3" a copy of the said presentation. Mr Iqbal 

Sharma ("Sharma") is one of the persons I met at the Gupta compound. 

CITY FOR TOMORROW 

75. On 6 July 2011, two days after the cabinet deliberated on the City for Tomorrow 

concept, Sharma directly addressed an email to me into my private email account 

at 14:19 asking for my comments. I annex hereto marked "DM 4" a copy of the said 

email. 
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76. On the said email, Sharma had attached a "Master Plan Agreement in relation to 

the City for Tomorrow project. For ease of reference, the said document is annexed 

and marked "DM 5". 

77. Strangely, the said concept was also known to Tshepiso Magashule, a son to 

Magashule. On 25 February 2011, Tshepiso Magashule addressed an email to me 

at the request of Sharma. The latter requested Tshepiso Magashule to email what 

is called a "Free State Letter" to me. For ease of reference, I annex hereto marked 

"DM 6" a copy of the email on 25 February 2011, "DM 7" being an email from 

Sharma to Tshepiso Magashule dated 24 February 2011 and "DM 8" being a copy 

of the "Free State Letter"-an attachment to both emails. 

78. In the Free State letter, it would be noted that both P3i and Nulane had indicated 

that the expenses for the Master Plan would be borne by them respectively. But on 

a date, I cannot recall, a letter from both companies prepared for me to address and 

sign to them authorising payment of approximately R 140 m to be paid to them in 

six instalments. I annex hereto a copy of the said letter marked "DM 9". 

79. On 13 October 2011, Sharma emailed me requesting assistance to coordinate a 

two-day workshop session with relevant HODs and other stakeholders for purposes 

of the project in issue. I annex hereto marked "DM 1 O" a copy of the said email. On 

the said email, one Mr Salim Essa was copied. 

b� 
D·M 
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80. On 29 October 2011, Sharma addressed an email to me regarding what he called 

Notice to Proceed. I annex hereto marked "DM 11", a copy of the said email. 

81. Attached to the email of 29 October 2011, was the Notice to Proceed, which appears 

to be a letter drafted on my behalf. It was intended that I put the said letter on the 

letterhead and duly transmit it as requested. I do not recall ever signing the said 

notice. Certainly, I did not draft it. Neither was any official in my office. I annex hereto 

marked "DM 12" being a copy of the notice. 

82. On 31 October 2011, I copied the email and notice to Ms Nono Malgas (she was 

Head of My Office). Her full names are Judith Anne Paballo Malgas. Otherwise, she 

is known as Nono Malgas. For ease of reference, I annex and mark as "DM 13" a 

copy of the email I forwarded to Ms Nono Malgas. 

83. With the assistance and advise of my legal representatives, I was able to retrieve 

all the emails highlighted from my private email account. It is possible that there are 

emails from my official account when I was MEC. I am advised that the Commission, 

with the assistance of the relevant experts would be in a position to retrieve 

additional correspondences regarding the City for Tomorrow. The Commission 

would also find it prudent to retrieve the emails from Ms Nono Malgas to corroborate 

my evidence. 
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84. On 2 January 2012, Sharma addressed an email to the HOD of my department at 

the time, Mr Ozzie Osman. The said email was also copied to Ms Nono Malgas. The 

contents of the email are self-explanatory. I annex marked "DM 14" a copy of the 

said email. 

85. The contents of the email are threatening and undermining the legal and official 

authority of the HOD. Reference is made in the said email to an agreement I 

purportedly executed. The said agreement had been emailed to me and I refused 

to append my signature on it. It is annexure "OM 5". 

86. I have no further details of whether the Free State government ever paid any money 

towards this project. I am advised that for details, the Commission would have to 

investigate if ever there was any payment made to P3i and Nulane. It would also be 

prudent for the Commission to request Mr Ozzie Osman to provide details of what 

he knows about the project. 

DISMISSAL AS MEC 

87. On 28 February 2012, whilst I was in Johannesburg on government business, I 

learnt through the media that I have been fired by the Premier. To my knowledge, 

the cabinet reshuffle was never discussed at any Deployment Committee I was part. 
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88. I verily believe that I was fired as MEC for refusing to approve and cooperate with 

the P3i and Nulane in common purpose with Magashule to loot the state resources 

to advance commercial interests of the Gupta family through state capture. 

89. To date I find it startling how persons outside government knew of the data hub my 

department had proposed in a cabinet meeting. Even startling is the involvement of 

Tshepiso Magushule in this project directly or indirectly. 

89.1. Did the Gupta family members had access to letterheads of Free State 

government including that of my office? 

89.2. Who authorised this? 

89.3. Who invited P3i and Nulane to make a presentation at the cabinet meeting? 

89.4. Why did Magashule take me to the Gupta compound? 

89.5. Those are questions I leave to the Commission to investigate. 
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TRIP TO NKANDLA 

90. After May 2009 elections and upon my appointment to the executive, all MECs 

together with the Premier traveled to Durban. On the following day, we were all 

driven in a minibus to Nkandla to Mr Jacob Gedleyihlekisa Zuma's residence. The 

purpose for the said trip was to pledge support to the President at the time and 

profusely thank him for appointing Magashule as Premier of the Free State. 

91. The said trip was organised by Magashule and the Pillay Bothers. It is the Pillay 

Brothers who led our minibus from Durban to Nkandla. 

92. In 1994, after the first democratic elections, the Pillay Brothers had transported five 

officials4 of the Northern Free State region to Wildcoast. The expenses for the entire 

trip were paid by the Pillay Brothers. 

93. During Magashule's tenure as MEC for Sport in the province, Pillay Brothers scored 

contracts amounting to millions. When Magashule was fired by Premier Mosioua 

Terror Lekota (now leader of COPE), the Pillay Brothers were not rendering any 

services to the said department. 

4 Chairperson Magashule, Deputy Chairperson Dukwana, Secretary Pat Matosa, Deputy Vax Mayekiso 
(deceased} and Treasurer Tate Makgoe (current MEC for Education in the Free State) 
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94. In 2009, following Magashule elevation as Premier, Pillay Brothers re-emerged. I 

call on the Commission to investigate contracts the said brothers had with any 

department in the Free State. 

95. On my second appearance to the Commission, I would elaborate in detail how the 

Free State government was captured together with municipalities. 

F. CONCLUSION 

96. I am aware that the evidence or the contents of my affidavit do not have precise 

dates in certain incidents referred to above. That is due to the fact that I have not 

been afforded requisite information to be of assistance to the Commission. I verily 

believe that the information I require to provide sufficient particulars of the state 

capture activities referred to above is in the custody of the Free State government. 

97. I have a reasonable apprehension that some crucial information or evidence I 

require has already been destroyed. 

98. I require the following documents for the purposes of assisting me further with any 

evidence that may be of assistance to the Commission: 
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98.1. Cellphone records of the official mobile-phone (0825559981) during my 

tenure as MEC (2009-2012); 

98.2. My travel records during my tenure as MEC (2009-2012); 

98.3. Travel records of Mr Magashule as Premier during 2009-2012; 

98.4. The presentation regarding the initial presentation on the data hub concept; 

98.5. My diary during my tenure as MEC 2009-2012; and 

98.6. Any electronic document such as emails in my official email account relating 

to state capture activity. 

99. This is all I have to say in the circumstances. 

�OLISI DUKOANA 

I hereby certify that the deponent knows and understands the contents of this 
affidavit and that it is to the best of the deponent's know�4 bo�h t�e an� correct. 
This �avit was signed and sworn to before me at I\) 0 ( QI\ on this 
the/-f-='day of MARCH 2019. 

COMMISSIONER OF OATHS 

Comm�e� of Oaths ex Officio 

Advocat .J.; .. M ..... 01.b.B.\D. ... 
Advocate of the High Court 

of South Africa 
1 �tea�· Sandown 'I ,a.' Date J fv\ f'&c+f CX:. � ..... ········································· 
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AFFIDAVIT 

I the undersigned, 

JOHAN WESSEL BOOYSEN 

do hereby state under oath that: 

1. 

I am an adult male South African citizen residing in Pretoria, Gauteng Province. 

2. 
All facts stated herein are, unless the context indicates otherwise, within my own 

personal knowledge and are to the best of my belief both true and correct. 

3. 

I will attempt to keep my submission brief in order to avoid prolixity and to 

unnecessarily burden the Commission. I will seek to highlight key aspects, events 

and dramatis personae. Should it become necessary I will provide additional facts. 

MY POLICE CAREER AND QUALIFICATIONS 

4. 

I was a career policeman having joined the South African Police in 1976. I was an 

officer before our democracy in 1995 and was part of the transformation process 

from a Police Force to a Police Service. I regard my integration into the new Police 

Service, including my promotion to the ranks of Colonel, Brigadier and Major 

General subsequent to the democratic dispensation in South Africa, as one of my 
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was suspended. My suspension was found to be unlawful. I attach a copy of the 

judgement by Van Zyl J, as Annexure "JWB 21." 

156. 

After Dramat settled his own disputes with SAPS in around April 2015 and retired 

with a special dispensation, the post for National Head of the HAWKS was 

advertised. During an open meeting in Polokwane with all the Provincial Heads and 

National Heads in the HAWKS, Ntlemeza stated that he did not apply for the post. I 

applied for the post and was shortlisted for the interviews. 

157. 

THE APPOINTMENT OF THE HEAD OF THE HAWKS: MY EXPERIENCE AT 

THE GUPTA SAXON WORLD COMPOUND 

158. 

On 16 August 2015, a few days before I was interviewed for the post as Head of the 

Hawks, I was contacted by Captain Dirk Swart ("Swart'') from Durban SAPS, on 

behalf of Duduzane Zuma ("Duduzane"), the former President's son who wanted to 

meet me which I agreed to. I knew Duduzane as a result of a fraud investigation in 

which he was a co-complainant in a criminal matter. The investigation related to a 

complaint by Duduzame and 'one' Winston Innes against Ian Endres ("Endres") 

concerning a fraud in an on-line betting scam (gambling). At the time I had appointed 

Lieutenant Colonel Marthinus Botha ("Botha") from the Hawks in KZN to investigate 

the alleged fraud. I had previously met Duduzane a few times when he had enquired 

about progress in the investigation. One of these meetings took place at his office in 

Sandton when I was in Gauteng for a meeting. 
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159. 

I met Dududzane at the Sandton Gautrain station where I took it he wanted to 

discuss his matter. Duduzane was driving a black Rolls Royce. Duduzane had 

suggested that I get into the vehicle with him. I told my son who was with me at the 

time, that I would be driving with Duduzane and that he should follow us. My son 

followed us in his own vehicle. I took it that we were going to his office in Sandton. 

We chatted about odds and ends. There was no discussion about his fraud matter. 

Prior to our arrival Duduzane had made no mention that we were in fact going to the 

Gupta Compound or anything regarding my interview to the position of National 

Head of the HAWKS. 

160. 

The next moment we pulled up at a residence in Sandton which I recognised as the 

Guptas' Saxonwold compound. I alighted from the vehicle by which time my son had 

walked up to me and asked me "whether we were where he thought we were". I 

responded and told him that I thought so. Although I was caught by surprise I 

decided to see how things would unfold. We were escorted by security guards and 

entered the house where we handed our cell phones over to them before entering 

the lounge. Tony Gupta ("Tony"), was the only Gupta brother present. 

161. 

There were also house staff present, which I gathered were from India, who served 

us some light Asian snacks. 

162. 

Tony spoke to my son, who is an IT specialist and told him if he wanted to go into a 

business venture he should speak to them. 
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163. 

There were no significant discussions, but what I indeed considered curious, was 

that Tony knew that I was about to be interviewed a few days later, for the post of 

National Head of the HAWKS, although I recall that a daily local newspaper in KZN, 

The Mercury, at the time, reported that I had applied for the post as National Head of 

the HAWKS. Tony said that if I was appointed we should have supper together in 

Durban. I did not know what to make of his statement, but suspected that he wanted 

to create the impression that should I be appointed, he had had a hand in it and that 

I would consequently be indebted to him. I would like to reiterate that Tony did not 

say this directly and that it is merely speculation on my part. I laughed and said that 

we could. 

164. 

Duduzane, who was present, did not partake in the conversation other than 

discussing generalities. After having had refreshments my son and I left. I did not 

hear from the Guptas again. This was my one and only visit to the premises. 

165. 

Since I did not trust Ntlemeza, my Commander at the time, I did not report this to 

him. 

166. 

On 13 June 2017 at 15:30 after the Supreme Court of Appeal removed Ntlemeza 

from office, I handed an unsigned affidavit, see Annexure "JWB 22.", to the Acting 

Head of the HAWKS Major-General Matakata ("Matakata"), who succeeded 

Ntlemeza, in which I described how I was taken to the Gupta residence. I met her at 

the Irene Mc Donald's and she was in a hurry because she had to catch a flight to 
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Cape Town. I told her that I will be available to sign and commission the statement, 

but I have not heard from anyone in this regard. 

167. 

THE APPOINTMENT OF NTLEMEZA AS HEAD OF THE HAWKS 

The following week three other candidates and I had to present ourselves for 

interviews at Minister Nhleko's office at Parliament in Cape Town. The secretary was 

Major-General Matakata from the HAWKS. Ntlemeza, who was not present on the 

day of the interviews, was ultimately appointed as National Head of the HAWKS. I do 

not know if he was interviewed and if he was, why he was treated differently to the 

rest of the candidates. 

168. 

One of the first things Ntlemeza did after his permanent appointment, was to 

suspend me unlawfully based on a false allegation of fraud concerning a 

performance incentive. I took the decision by Ntlemeza to suspend me on review. 

The High Court in Durban declared my suspension unlawful and I was awarded a 

punitive cost order. 

169. 

In the judgement of review, Justice Van Zyl found no evidence that I could be 

implicated in wrongdoing. He commented as follow, "A strong suggestion arises that 

there is an ongoing move. possibly even a campaign to unseat the applicant." 

{Booysen.). [Emphasis added by me]. 

170. 

I am aware of instances after Zikhali was appointed that Ntlemeza started ostracising 

HAWKS members that were perceived to be associated with me. One such membe 
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I certify that the deponent who acknowledges that he knows and understands the 

contents of this affidavit; that it is the truth to the best of his knowledge and belief 

and that he has no objection to taking the prescribed oath and regards the same 

as binding on the deponent's conscience and the administration of the oath 

complied with the Regulations contained in Government Gazette No. R1258 of 

21 July 1972, as amended. This affidavit is signed and sworn to before me at 

Centurion on this the 2nd Day of April 2019 at 14 : 3 2' 

EX OFFICIO: -- - 
IOU'fH AftMIQAN .-&16! &eRV16E 

MANAGEMENT INTERVENTION 
HEAD OFFICE PRETORIA 

2019 �4- 0 2 

HEAD: MIAC 
SUIO-AFRIKAANSE POLISIEDIENS 

FULL NAMES: 

�� ::)o.�\J\<;;_.s. � 

PHYSICAL ADDRESS: 

C�� :f���Dy��� -- 

DESIGNATION: 

���"-- 
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ANNEXURE ''JWB22'' 
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JOHAN WESSEL BOOYSEN 

STATES IN ENGLISH UNDER OATH 

1. 
I am an adult male aged 59. I can be contacted on 082 632 4025. 

2. 
I retired from the SAPS DPCI (HAWKS) on 28 February 2017 with the rank of Major General. 

3. 
Prior to my retirement I was involved in a protracted litigation dispute against the erstwhile national 
Head of DPCI Lieutenant General Berning Ntlemeza. The High Court in Kwazulu-Natal had ruled in my 
favor after which Ntlemeza applied for leave to appeal - which was rejected. He subsequently 
petitioned the Supreme Court of appeal. The matter did not proceed since my retirement had made the 
SCA matter moot, and Ntlemeza thus did not prosecute the appeal. 

4. 
From the onset I want to state that I did not trust Ntlemeza. I will expound on the reasons should it be 
required. 

5. 
Ntlemeza has now been effectively removed from the office by virtue of a High Court order. His 
subsequent appeal to the SCA has now been disposed of. I have good reason to believe that he will not 
return to office. Hence I want to make the following disclosure to the current acting Head of DPCI 
Lieutenant General Matakata, whom I trust. 

6. 
During 2014, after the suspension and early retirement of Lieutenant General Dramat, Ntlemeza was 
appointed as acting Head of the DPLI. 

7. 
The vacant post was later advertised. I applied for the position and was shortlisted for an interview in 
the minister's office. The interview took place on the 19th August 2014 in Cape Town. 

8. 
However the following transpired before the interview at Minister Nhleko's office. 

9. 
On the 16th of August 2015 at about 14:50 I was met by Duduzane Zuma the son of the State President. 
(I will detail the circumstances that led to this meeting more fully if so required.) 

10. 
At the time my son Eben was present and we traveled in his vehicle. 

11. 
The arrangement was to meet Duduzane Zuma near Sandton Gautrain station. After missing each other 
we eventually met near the Gautrain station. I was standing outside Eben's car when I noticed a bl/ 
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Rolls Royce pull up behind us. I noticed the driver was Duduzane Zuma. After telling Eben to follow us, J 

got into the Rolls Royce with Duduzane. I was under the impression that it was a courtesy meeting. We 
drove off and had a general conversation about run of the mill issues. After driving for about fifteen 
minutes we entered an area called Saxon World. We pulled up in front of a heavily guarded gate. After 
entering Eben alighted from his car and asked me if we were at the place he thought we were. I responded 
in the affirmative. It was evident to me that we were at the Gupta's residents. 

12. 
We were taken into the house. In the foyer we were asked for our cellphones to be handed over. We 
were then taken to what appeared to be a lounge. One of the persons present was introduced as Mr. 
Gupta. I did not hear the name, but it appeared to me as Tony Gupta from newspaper photographs I had 
seen before. 

13. 
We spoke about school education and other daily issues whilst having refreshments. At one stage Mr. 
Gupta said to Eben if he had any business ventures that he needed to get off the ground that he should 
talk to them. 

14. 
Later on the conversation moved on to the possibility that I may become the new Head of the DPCI. I 
was surprised and somewhat shocked that Mr. Gupta was privy to the fact that I had been shortlisted to 
become the Head of DPCI. Being alive to the media hype around the Gupta's, I was hesitant to engage 
with him. Mr. Gupta jokingly said to me that should I be appointed that we should meet in Durban for 
supper. I laughed and said we can. At this juncture I felt uncomfortable and asked Eben to leave to 
room. 

15. 
I was not appointed in the post, but Ntlemeza was. His appointment came as a surprise to me because I 
never saw him during the interviews in the Ministers office. He also made a public statement at a 
National meeting in Polokwane that he had not applied for the post. Unless of course he had been 
interviewed separately which begs the question why he was treated differently? 

16: 
I want to be clear that he did not make any promises or create any expectations regarding my possible 
appointment as DPO Head. I did however find it odd and disconcerting that he knew that I was a 
possible candidate for the post and secondly that the meeting had taken place. I certainly never solicited 
a meeting with the Gupta's. 

17. 
I do not know why I was taken to the Gupta's premises. I do however find it odd that I had been lured to 
their premises, three days before my interview with Minister Nathi Nhleko and a panel in the minister's 
office in Cape Town. The only possible yet speculative reason I can conceive of is that if I would have 
been appointed he wanted to create the impression that it was of his doing or input, with the resultant 
possible expectation of a quid pro quo in one form or another. 
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I know and understand the contents of this declaration. 
I have no objection to take the prescribed oath. 
I consider the oath to be binding on my conscience. 

JW Booysen 
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